
Tudalen 1

Mark James  LLM, DPA, DCA
Prif Weithredwr,
Chief Executive,
Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin.  SA31 1JP
County Hall, Carmarthen.  SA31 1JP

DYDD IAU, 1AF MAWRTH, 2018

AT:  HOLL AELODAU’R CYNGOR SIR

YR WYF DRWY HYN YN EICH GALW I FYNYCHU CYFARFOD O’R CYNGOR 
SIR A GYNHELIR YN Y SIAMBR, NEUADD Y SIR, CAERFYRDDIN AM 10.00 
A.M. AR DDYDD MERCHER, 7FED MAWRTH, 2018 ER MWYN CYFLAWNI'R 
MATERION A AMLINELLIR AR YR AGENDA SYDD YNGHLWM

Mark James DYB

PRIF WEITHREDWR

 AILGYLCHWCH OS GWELWCH YN DDA
Swyddog Democrataidd: Michelle Evans Thomas
Ffôn (llinell uniongyrchol): 01267 224470
E-bost: MEEvansThoms@sirgar.gov.uk
Cyf: AD016-001

Pecyn Dogfennau



Tudalen 2

A G E N D A  

1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB. 

2. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANNAU PERSONOL. 

3. CYHOEDDIADAU'R CADEIRYDD. 

4. LLOFNODI YN GOFNOD CYWIR COFNODION CYFARFOD Y 
CYNGOR A GYNHALIWYD AR YR 14EG CHWEFROR, 2018 

5 - 16

5. CYFLWYNIAD GAN FWRDD IECHYD PRIFYSGOL HYWEL DDA 
YNGHYLCH EI RAGLEN TRAWSNEWID GWASANAETHAU 
CLINIGOL. 

6. CWESTIYNAU GAN Y CYHOEDD (NID OEDD DIM WEDI DOD I 
LAW). 

7. CWESTIYNAU GAN AELODAU:- 

7 .1 CWESTIWN GAN Y CYNGHORYDD JOHN PROSSER I'R 
CYNGHORYDD DAVID JENKINS, AELOD Y BWRDD 
GWEITHREDOL AR GYFER ADNODDAU

 

“Yng nghyllideb Plaid a’r aelodau annibynnol ar gyfer 2018 / 2019, 
roeddech wedi cyhoeddi cynnydd yn uwch na chwyddiant o 10 
ceiniog y pryd am brydau ysgol.

Ar ôl imi gwestiynu pa mor ddoeth yr oedd y penderfyniad hwn a'r 
effeithiau y byddai hyn yn eu cael ar deuluoedd sy'n gweithio'n galed 
yn Sir Gaerfyrddin, safodd yr aelod o'r bwrdd gweithredol dros 
addysg a gwneud tro pedol ar yr hyn roeddech wedi'i ddweud, ac 
rwy'n dyfynnu, “Roeddem wedi penderfynu eleni na fyddai cynnydd o 
ran cost prydau ysgol, ond yn y trafodaethau a gefais gyda'r 
cyfarwyddwr a'r swyddogion, derbyniwyd y llynedd y dylai fod 
cynnydd o 10 ceiniog. Wel, gallaf ddweud wrthych fy mod i'n 
ymdrechu, ynghyd â'r swyddogion, i gadw cost prydau ysgol yn 
£2.50. Nid wyf yn credu y byddwn yn gweld cynnydd o ran cost 
prydau ysgol eleni. Rydym yn gweithio'n galed i sicrhau hynny.”
A allwch chi gadarnhau i ni ac i drigolion Sir Gaerfyrddin faint y bydd 
yn rhaid i rieni ei dalu yn 2018 / 2019 am bryd eu plentyn, neu a 
fyddwch yn gwneud tro pedol ar eich tro pedol?”

7 .2 CWESTIWN GAN Y CYNGHORYDD BILL THOMAS I'R 
CYNGHORYDD JANE TREMLETT, AELOD Y BWRDD 
GWEITHREDOL AR GYFER GOFAL CYMDEITHASOL AC 
IECHYD

 

“Yn ystod cyfarfod y Cyngor Sir ar 14 Chwefror 2018, atebodd 
Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Cymunedol nifer o gwestiynau ar eich 
rhan, ond nid oedd yn gallu dweud faint y mae'r cyngor wedi'i dalu 



Tudalen 3

hyd yma i ymgynghorwyr am y prosiect i sefydlu Llesiant Delta 
Wellbeing Ltd. A allech roi'r wybodaeth hon nawr? Dywedodd 
Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Cymunedol wrth y cyfarfod y bydd 
trefniant Trosglwyddo Ymgymeriadau a Diogelu (TUPE) yn diogelu 
telerau ac amodau'r staff am y diwrnod trosglwyddo yn unig.  Gan y 
bydd y cwmni newydd ym mherchnogaeth lwyr y cyngor, pam na 
allwn sicrhau y bydd telerau unrhyw staff a drosglwyddir yn cael eu 
diogelu am oes y cwmni?”

8. YSTYRIED Y RHYBUDD O GYNNIG CANLYNOL:- 

8 .1 CYNNIG A GYFLWYNWYD GAN Y CYNGHORYDD CARL 
HARRIS

 

Bod Cyngor Sir Caerfyrddin:

 Yn cydnabod ymgyrch Menywod yn Erbyn Anghydraddoldeb 
yn y Pensiwn Gwladol (WASPI);

 Yn cydnabod bod llawer o fenywod Sir Gaerfyrddin a aned yn 
yr 1950au bellach yn wynebu heriau sylweddol wrth geisio 
dal dau ben llinyn ynghyd;

 Yn deall nad yw menywod WASPI eisiau gostwng yr oedran 
ymddeol ond yn hytrach eu bod eisiau gweld trefniadau 
pontio teg o ran y pensiwn gwladol i bob menyw yr 
effeithiwyd arni gan y cyfreithiau pensiwn gwladol;

 Yn penderfynu cefnogi ymgyrch WASPI a chyflwyno 
sylwadau i Lywodraeth y DU ar ran menywod Sir 
Gaerfyrddin. 

9. PENNU TRETH Y CYNGOR AM FLWYDDYN ARIANNOL 2018/19 17 - 34

10. DATGANIAD POLISI TALIADAU 2018-2019 35 - 288

11. YSTYRIED ARGYMHELLION Y BWRDD GWEITHREDOL O RAN 
YR EITEM CANLYNOL: 

11 .1 GOSTYNGIADAU'R DRETH GYNGOR I'R SAWL SY'N 
GADAEL GOFAL

289 - 296

12. COFNODION ER GWYBODAETH (AR GAEL AR Y WEFAN) 

12 .1 PWYLLGOR CRAFFU POLISI AC ADNODDAU - 12FED 
IONAWR, 2018;

12 .2 PWYLLGOR CRAFFU DIOGELU'R CYHOEDD A'R 
AMGYLCHEDD - 15FED IONAWR, 2018;

12 .3 PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO - 23AIN IONAWR, 2018;
12 .4 PWYLLGOR CRAFFU GOFAL CYMDEITHASOL AC 

IECHYD - 24AIN IONAWR, 2018;



Tudalen 4

12 .5 PWYLLGOR CRAFFU ADDYSG A PHLANT - 25AIN 
IONAWR, 2018;

12 .6 PWYLLGOR CRAFFU CYMUNEDAU - 30AIN IONAWR, 
2018;

12 .7 PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO - 8FED CHWEFROR, 2018



CYNGOR SIR

DYDD MERCHER, 14 CHWEFROR 2018 

YN BRESENNOL: Cynghorydd  H.I. Jones (Cadeirydd)

Y Cynghorwyr:-
S.M. Allen L.R. Bowen K.V. Broom C.A. Campbell
J.M. Charles D.M. Cundy S.A. Curry C.A. Davies
T.A.J. Davies G. Davies J.A. Davies S.L. Davies
W.R.A. Davies E. Dole J.S. Edmunds P.M. Edwards
D.C. Evans H.A.L. Evans L.D. Evans R.E. Evans
W.T. Evans A.L. Fox S.J.G. Gilasbey C.J. Harris
P. Hughes-Griffiths T.M. Higgins J.K. Howell P.M. Hughes
A. James J.D. James R. James D.M. Jenkins
J.P. Jenkins G.H. John C. Jones B.W. Jones
D. Jones G.R. Jones T.J. Jones A. Lenny
M.J.A. Lewis K. Lloyd K. Madge A.S.J. McPherson
E. Morgan A.G. Morgan S. Najmi D. Nicholas
B.D.J. Phillips J.S. Phillips D. Price J.G. Prosser
B.A.L. Roberts E.M.J.G. Schiavone H.B. Shepardson B. Thomas
D. Thomas E.G. Thomas G. Thomas J. Tremlett
A. Vaughan Owen D.T. Williams D.E. Williams J.E. Williams

Yr oedd y swyddogion canlynol yn gwasanaethu yn y cyfarfod:-
M. James, Prif Weithredwr
J. Morgan, Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Cymunedau
C. Moore, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol
G. Morgans, Cyfarwyddwr Addysg a Phlant
P.R. Thomas, Prif Weithredwr Cynorthwyol (Rheoli Pobl a Pherfformiad)
R. Dawson, Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Integredig
L.R. Jones, Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth a'r Gyfraith
S. Watkins, Rheolwr Gwybodaeth, Cyngor a Chymorth
J. Owen, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd
E. Bryer, Swyddog Cynnal Aelodau.

Hefyd yn bresennol:

Prif Swyddog Tân, Chris Davies, Gwasanaeth Tân ac Achub Canolbarth a Gorllewin 
Cymru (ar gyfer eitem 5),  
Dirprwy Brif Swyddog Tân, Rob Quin, Gwasanaeth Tân ac Achub Canolbarth a Gorllewin 
Cymru (ar gyfer eitem 5).

Siambr, Neuadd y Sir - 10.00 am - 1.00 pm

1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB

Derbyniwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb gan y Cynghorwyr F. Akhtar, A. 
Davies, H.L. Davies, I.W. Davies, A.D. Harries, S. Matthews, A.D.T. Speake, L.M. 
Stephens, G.B. Thomas.

Tudalen 5

Eitem Rhif  4



2. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANNAU PERSONOL.

Cynghorydd/Cynghorwyr Rhif y Cofnod Y Math o 
Fuddiant

J.M. Charles;
D.C. Evans;
K. Madge;
E.G. Thomas;
D.E. Williams.

5. Eitem 5 - 
Cyflwyniad gan Brif Swyddog 
Tân Gwasanaeth Tân ac Achub 
Canolbarth a Gorllewin Cymru. 

Aelod o Awdurdod 
Tân Canolbarth a 
Gorllewin Cymru.

C.A. Davies Eitem 10.1 -
Symud Ymlaen yn Sir 
Gaerfyrddin - Y Pum Mlynedd 
Nesaf.
 

Llwybr Dyffryn 
Tywi yn rhedeg 
drwy dir y mae'n 
berchen arno.

K. Madge Eitem 10.2 – 
Sefydlu Cwmni Masnachu 
Awdurdod Lleol a adwaenir fel 
‘Llesiant Delta Wellbeing Ltd’ ar 
gyfer Llinell Gofal.

Ei ferch yn 
gweithio i'r 
Gwasanaethau 
Cymdeithasol.

3. CYHOEDDIADAU'R CADEIRYDD.

Bu i'r Cadeirydd gydymdeimlo â'r Cynghorydd Dai Nicholas a'i deulu ar farwolaeth 
ei fam. 

Dymunodd y Cadeirydd yn dda i'r Cynghorydd A. Davies a oedd yn cael triniaeth 
yn yr ysbyty ar y pryd. 

Estynnodd y Cadeirydd ei longyfarchiadau i Shaun Miles, Swyddog Rheoli 
Adeiladu gyda'r Awdurdod, a oedd wedi ei ddewis i chwarae dros Dîm Rygbi Saith 
Bob Ochr Byddar Cymru ym Mhencampwriaethau'r Byd ac mewn gêm brawf 15 
dyn i'w chynnal yn Sydney, Awstralia ym mis Ebrill. 

Estynnodd y Cadeirydd ei longyfarchiadau i Cory Baldwin, a oedd wedi sgorio 2 
gais yn erbyn yr Alban, ac i Dan Davies, a sgoriodd 1 cais, ill dau'n byw yn 
etholaeth y Cynghorydd Edward Thomas. Hefyd cafodd Aron Hemmings, sy'n byw 
yn etholaeth y Cynghorydd Joseph Davies, ei longyfarch ar chwarae dros dîm dan 
20 Cymru yn erbyn Lloegr. 

Estynnwyd llongyfarchiadau arbennig i Nancy Williams o Gapel Seion, Drefach a 
oedd wedi dathlu ei phen-blwydd yn 100 oed ym mis Ionawr eleni, yng Nghartref 
Gofal Gwernllwyn, Gorslas. 

Estynnwyd llongyfarchiadau i'r Cynghorwyr Sharen Davies a Shahana Najmi ar 
basio eu ILM (Sefydliad Arweinyddiaeth a Rheolaeth) Lefel 5 yn ddiweddar, ac 
ennill Gradd Dosbarth 1af mewn Rheolaeth. Byddant yn graddio ym Mhrifysgol y 
Drindod Dewi Sant ym mis Gorffennaf eleni. 

Diolchwyd i holl staff yr Adran Priffyrdd am eu gwaith caled yn sicrhau bod y ffyrdd 
yn Sir Gaerfyrddin yn ddiogel yn ystod y tywydd garw a gafwyd yn ddiweddar. 

Tudalen 6



4. LLOFNODI YN GOFNOD CYWIR COFNODION Y CYFARFODYDD A 
GYNHALIWYD AR Y DYDDIADAU CANLYNOL:-

4.1. 13EG RHAGFYR, 2017;

PENDERFYNWYD llofnodi bod cofnodion cyfarfod y Cyngor a gynhaliwyd 
ar 13 Rhagfyr 2017 yn gofnod cywir.

4.2. 10FED IONAWR, 2018.

PENDERFYNWYD llofnodi bod cofnodion cyfarfod y Cyngor a gynhaliwyd 
ar 10 Ionawr 2018 yn gofnod cywir.

5. CYFLWYNIAD GAN PRIF SWYDDOG TAN, GWASANAETH TAN AC ACHUB 
CANOLBARTH A GORLLEWIN CYMRU

[SYLWER: Roedd y Cynghorwyr J.M. Charles, D.C. Evans, K. Madge, E.G. 
Thomas, a D.E. Williams wedi datgan buddiant yn yr eitem hon yn gynharach.]

Croesawyd y Prif Swyddog Tân, Chris Davies, a'r Dirprwy Brif Swyddog Tân, Rob 
Quin, o Wasanaeth Tân ac Achub Canolbarth a Gorllewin Cymru i'r cyfarfod gan y 
Cadeirydd.  

Rhoddodd y Prif Swyddog Tân drosolwg ar waith y Gwasanaeth Tân ac Achub. 
Cyfeiriodd y cyflwyniad at y materion canlynol:

 Ardal ddaearyddol y Gwasanaeth a heriau cysylltiedig 
 Strwythur rheoli gan gynnwys Bwrdd Gweithredol y Cyfarwyddwyr a chwe 

Ardal Reoli sirol 
 Yr Awdurdod Tân 
 Arbedion ariannol oedd wedi'u gwneud eisoes 
 Perfformiad o ran tanau bwriadol, tanau damweiniol mewn preswylfeydd, 

marwolaethau ac anafiadau a damweiniau traffig ffyrdd 
 Newidiadau gwariant gwirioneddol ac o ran gwerth cyhoeddus  
 Canlyniadau arolwg cyhoeddus diweddar 
 Dyletswyddau statudol y gwasanaeth.
 Newidiadau i'r modd y darperir y gwasanaeth
 Y Prif Ddangosyddion Perfformiad.

Nododd yr Aelodau fod gweithio ar y cyd ac addysg wedi bod yn allweddol o ran y 
gostyngiad mewn digwyddiadau.

Cynhaliwyd sesiwn holi ac ateb ar ôl y cyflwyniad.  

Diolchodd y Cadeirydd i'r Prif Swyddog Tân a'r Dirprwy Brif Swyddog Tân am ddod 
i'r cyfarfod ac am y cyflwyniad. 

6. CWESTIYNAU GAN Y CYHOEDD (NID OEDD DIM WEDI DOD I LAW).

Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau wedi dod i law gan y cyhoedd.

Tudalen 7



7. CWESTIYNAU GAN AELODAU:-

7.1. CWESTIWN GAN Y CYNGHORYDD LOUVAIN ROBERTS  I'R 
CYNGHORYDD LINDA EVANS, AELOD O'R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL 
DROS TAI

“Ar ddiwedd 2017 bu tân ar risiau mewn bloc o 6 o fflatiau yn Ward 
Glanymôr. 

Ers y digwyddodd hwn, rwyf wedi cael gwybod nad oes unrhyw ffenestri 
PLYGU a THROI mewn unrhyw breswylfa debyg ei math. Hefyd, nid oes 
unrhyw fath o Systemau Chwistrellu yn yr eiddo hyn, na Diffoddiaduron Tân 
ychwaith. 

Mae'r un sefyllfa'n bodoli mewn Canolfannau Tai yn Ward Glanymôr, a 
hefyd nid oes allanfeydd tân ar gyfer Preswylfeydd ar y Llawr Cyntaf. 

Teimlaf fod y math hwn o ffenestr yn hanfodol ar gyfer iechyd a diogelwch y 
preswylwyr. Mae gan y Canolfannau Tai ffenestri y gellir eu gwneud ychydig 
yn lletach. 

Mae rhai preswylwyr yn eiddil iawn ac rwyf yn sylweddol bod rhai wedi 
gwrthod cael eu symud i'r llawr gwaelod. 

Ond mae Cyngor Sir Caerfyrddin yn rhwym wrth Ddyletswydd Gofal i 
sicrhau bod preswylwyr yn ddiogel bob amser. 

Fyddech chi cystal â rhoi sicrwydd imi y bydd y materion rwyf wedi eu codi 
gyda chi heddiw, yn ogystal â chael sylw gan y Cyngor hwn, yn cael eu 
hunioni'n syth.”

Ymateb gan y Cynghorydd Linda Evans, sef yr Aelod o’r Bwrdd 
Gweithredol dros Dai:-

Diolch i'r Cynghorydd Roberts, mae hyn yn rhoi cyfle imi ddangos i chi fel 
Cyngor pa mor ddifrifol rydym yn ystyried iechyd a diogelwch yng nghartrefi 
ein tenantiaid, ac efallai fod hynny hyd yn oed yn fwy perthnasol heddiw ar 
ôl y cyflwyniad y bore yma. Yn anffodus ym mis Tachwedd cafodd tân 
bwriadol ei gynnau gan rywun ar un o'r grisiau cymunol yn Granby Close. O 
ganlyniad i hyn, treuliodd un tenant amser yn yr ysbyty yn dioddef o sgil-
effeithiau'r mwg cyn cael ei ryddhau'n ddiweddarach ac effeithiwyd ar chwe 
fflat. Mae 5 tenant wedi cael eu hailgartrefu. Cyn mynd ymhellach, hoffwn 
gymryd y cyfle hwn unwaith eto i ddiolch i bawb oedd yn gysylltiedig â'r 
digwyddiad hwn, gan gynnwys y gwasanaethau brys, y tenantiaid, y 
gymuned, staff y Cyngor a aeth y filltir ychwanegol, contractwyr a'r ddau 
aelod lleol sef y Cynghorydd Roberts a'r Cynghorydd Prosser. Hoffwn 
ddiolch iddynt nid yn unig am eu hymateb cyflym wrth ddelio â chanlyniadau 
uniongyrchol y digwyddiad, ond am y gefnogaeth barhaus sydd wedi cael ei 
rhoi i'r tenantiaid yr effeithiwyd arnynt. Mae hyn yn cynnwys ailgartrefu, 
taliadau brys, trefniadau o ran celfi, parseli bwyd ac ati. Cafwyd 
cydweithredu rhagorol rhwng pawb a diolch unwaith yn rhagor ichi i gyd.  

Tudalen 8



Gaf i ddweud hefyd ein bod, trwy gydweithio'n agos â'r Awdurdod Tân, wedi 
gallu sicrhau ein bod hefyd yn dysgu gwersi yn dilyn hyn. Fel y dywedais, 
cafodd y tân ei gynnau'n fwriadol ac o ganlyniad rydym wedi gwneud llawer 
o waith manwl ac wedi rhoi nifer o gamau ar waith i sicrhau bod pob 
grisiau'n cael eu cadw'n glir. Rydym yn cynnal ymweliadau'n rheolaidd a 
hefyd wedi cymryd camau gorfodi os nad yw tenantiaid yn barod i 
gydymffurfio. O hyn ymlaen ni fydd dim goddefgarwch o gwbl o ran y mater 
hwn. Bydd hyn yn parhau nid yn unig yn Granby Close, ond ymhob bloc 
cymunol.

Nid yw ffenestri plygu a throi yn rhan o Safon Tai Sir Gaerfyrddin nac 
ychwaith Safon Tai Cymru, ac mae rhesymau ymarferol iawn dros hyn. Mae 
fflatiau a chynlluniau gwarchod wedi cael eu dylunio fel na ddylai fod angen 
cael mynediad drwy ffenestr mewn sefyllfaoedd o'r fath. Mae'r risg i 
denantiaid mewn blociau o fflatiau o achos tân yn dibynnu ar y system 
larymau mwg sydd wedi cael ei gosod, yn hytrach na pha fath o le yw'r 
cartref. O ran diogelwch, mae ffenestri plygu a throi hefyd yn creu 
problemau, a gallai fod yn risg sylweddol, yn enwedig os oes plant bach yn 
y fflat.  Nid oes gennym systemau chwistrellu yn ein tai na'n fflatiau lle mae 
mynediad drwy risiau cymunol. 

Nid oes unrhyw reolyddion gofynnol i'w gosod yn ein cartrefi presennol, ond 
fel y gwyddoch, nid ydynt yn rhan o Safon Tai Sir Gaerfyrddin a Mwy na 
Safon Tai Cymru. Wedi dweud hynny, rydym yn cynnal asesiad risg tân yn 
ein holl flociau cymunol a bydd unrhyw waith gwella'n cael ei seilio ar 
ganlyniadau'r asesiad hwnnw. Rydym wedi dechrau gosod systemau 
chwistrellu yn ein cynlluniau gwarchod wrth inni fynd ati i'w gwella. Mae'r 
systemau hyn eisoes yng Nghwrt Waddle a'r Hafan, a chaiff yr un gwaith ei 
wneud mewn canolfannau eraill wrth inni eu gwella.  Fel yr ydych yn 
gwybod Gynghorydd Roberts, addawyd ichi yng nghyfarfod y Pwyllgor 
Craffu - Cymunedau ar 19 Ionawr y byddai adroddiad cyffredinol ar 
ddiogelwch tân, gan gynnwys ffenestri plygu a throi a chwistrellwyr, yn cael 
ei roi ger eich bron fel Pwyllgor Craffu yn y dyfodol. Gall diffoddiaduron tân 
mewn grisiau cymunol greu problemau hefyd; nid oes disgwyl i denantiaid 
fynd i'r afael â thân a thorri'r brif reol, sef aros yn eu cartrefi â'r drysau 
ynghau tan fod cymorth yn cyrraedd. Fodd bynnag, yn ein cynlluniau 
gwarchod ceir diffoddiaduron tân yn yr ardal gymunol, oherwydd ystyrir y 
man hwn yn weithle. Yn ystod y blynyddoedd diwethaf mae ffocws wedi bod 
ar reoli tân yn ein cynlluniau gwarchod, ac mae cryn waith wedi cael ei 
wneud i sicrhau diogelwch ein tenantiaid. Mae'r hyn rydym wedi'i wneud 
wedi cael ei ganmol gan y Gwasanaeth Tân ac Achub a ddywedodd am Sir 
Gaerfyrddin, "system rheoli tân gadarn sy'n ceisio sicrhau bod y risg cyn 
lleied â'r hyn sy'n ymarferol bosibl”.

Ac yn wir, dyma'r hyn rydym yn ei wneud i geisio cyflawni hynny. Rydym 
wedi gwario £800,000 ar wella'r systemau larymau tân a'r goleuadau 
argyfwng, gan wneud hyn yn dilyn asesiadau manwl ym mhob cynllun 
gwarchod. Mae gan y Gwasanaeth Tân fynediad at ein gwybodaeth ddigidol 
am statws anabledd ein tenantiaid.  Mae hwn yn arf pwysig ar gyfer 
clustnodi ein tenantiaid mwyaf agored i niwed.  

Tudalen 9



Mae'r wybodaeth hon yn hanfodol bwysig mewn sefyllfa lle na fyddai'n 
bosibl i denant adael y fflat heb gymorth. Mae'r Gwasanaeth Tân yn gallu 
rhoi protocolau penodol ar waith drwy ddefnyddio'r wybodaeth hon cyn 
cyrraedd yr adeilad, ac unwaith eto mae hyn wedi'i amlygu fel arfer da. 

I grynhoi Gadeirydd, rwyf yn gobeithio bod yr hyn rwyf wedi siarad amdano'r 
bore yma wedi rhoi tawelwch meddwl i'r Aelodau o ran sut ydym yn mynd 
ati i gyflawni ein dyletswyddau gofal i denantiaid o ran diogelwch rhag tân. 
Mae diogelwch tenantiaid yn hollbwysig, ac yn bwysicach na dim arall, ac 
mae ein proses rheoli tân yn cael ei hadolygu'n gyson. Ni fyddai'r un 
ohonom yn disgwyl dim llai, diolch. 

Gofynnodd y Cynghorydd Roberts y cwestiwn atodol canlynol:-

Diolch yn fawr ichi'r Cynghorydd Evans am eich adroddiad. Beth pe na 
fyddai grisiau wedi bod gen i, mae drysau grisiau'r fflatiau i gyd yn blastig ac 
wedi eu breuo a'u crebachu ac roedd y tân wedi gwaethygu o achos hynny.  
Roedd angen bod y ffenestri'n gallu plygu a throi mwy. Roedd y ffenestr 
wedi torri ac anafwyd y person yn y fflat honno o achos hynny. Fflatiau un 
ystafell wely yw'r rhain, nad oes modd plygu na throi'r ffenestri o gwbl. Fy 
mhryder i, ac mae hyn yn berthnasol ledled Sir Gaerfyrddin, yw y byddai 
ffenestri plygu a throi wedi bod llawer gwell. Fe ategwyd hyn gan y 
swyddogion tân oedd yno a dyna'r hyn rwy'n anelu amdano. 

Ymateb gan y Cynghorydd Linda Evans, sef yr Aelod o’r Bwrdd 
Gweithredol dros Dai:-

I ailadrodd yr hyn a ddywedais, rydym yn cynnal asesiad o'r holl fflatiau 
cymunol a byddwn yn gweithredu ynghylch canlyniadau'r asesiadau hynny. 

7.2. CWESTIWN GAN Y CYNGHORYDD TINA HIGGINS  I'R CYNGHORYDD 
HAZEL EVANS, AELOD O'R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL DROS 
AMGYLCHEDD

Gan fod Tsieina wedi datgan yn ddiweddar na fydd yn derbyn plastigion i'w 
hailgylchu mwyach, pa gamau y mae'r Cyngor yn eu cymryd i sicrhau bod 
targedau ailgylchu Sir Gaerfyrddin yn cael eu cyrraedd o hyd?"

Ymateb y Cynghorydd Hazel Evans, yr Aelod o’r Bwrdd Gweithredol 
dros yr Amgylchedd:-

Ym mis Gorffennaf 2017 dywedodd Tsieina ei bod yn mynd i wahardd 
mewnforio deunyddiau penodol. Arweiniodd hyn at leihad sylweddol mewn 
marchnadoedd posibl ar gyfer plastigion a phapur cymysg. Ar 1 Ionawr 
2018, daeth y gwaharddiad ar fewnforio 24 math o wastraff plastig a phapur 
cymysg i rym.  Yn 2017, anfonodd Cwm 38% o'i bapur i'w ailgylchu i 
Tsieina, ond ni allforiwyd unrhyw blastig i Tsieina.  O ganlyniad i'r sefyllfa 
hon yn Tsieina, bydd yn rhaid inni ddod o hyd i farchnadoedd ailgylchu 
papur eraill. Ar hyn o bryd mae gan Cwm ddwy farchnad - un yn Indonesia 
ac un yn y farchnad Ewropeaidd ddomestig.   Mae llawer cwmni o'r DU yn 
allforio eu plastigion i Tsieina, ond nid felly y Cwm. O ganlyniad i'r 
gwaharddiad gan Tsieina mae'n rhaid ailgyfeirio plastigion i leoedd eraill yn 

Tudalen 10



y marchnadoedd sydd ar gael, a gallai hyn leihau'r pris mae Cwm yn ei gael 
yn y dyfodol ac o'r herwydd, gallai ychwanegu at wasgfeydd ariannol. 

Serch hynny, mae'n ymddangos bod y marchnadoedd ar gyfer plastigion yn 
gymharol sefydlog ar hyn o bryd o ystyried yr amgylchiadau ac er gwaethaf 
y gost.  Ar hyn o bryd mae Cwm mewn trafodaeth â phroseswyr eraill mewn 
ymgais i sicrhau trefniadau prosesu mwy ffafriol lle mae gwaith da 
chynnydd da wedi cael eu gwneud. 

Ar hyn o bryd mae papur cymysg a phlastigion yn dal i gyrraedd y 
marchnadoedd ailgylchu, ac o ganlyniad maent yn dal i gyfrannu at ein 
ffigurau ailgylchu yn y tymor byr. Fodd bynnag, bydd yn rhaid i Cwm a'r 
Cyngor barhau i fonitro'r sefyllfa'n agos ac adolygu ein sefyllfa'n briodol, gan 
ddibynnu ar yr amgylchiadau a'r farchnad ar y pryd. 

7.3. CWESTIWN GAN Y CYNGHORYDD ANDRE MCPHERSON  I'R 
CYNGHORYDD EMLYN DOLE, ARWEINYDD Y CYNGOR

“Yng nghyfarfod y Cyngor Sir ym mis Rhagfyr, mewn cysylltiad â'm cynnig 
"9.2 ein bod yn codi Baner Enfys LGBTQ dros adeiladau'r Cyngor Sir bob 
blwyddyn yn ystod Mis Hanes LGBTQ", dywedwyd wrth y Cyngor llawn y 
byddid yn ei anfon i'w ystyried gan Weithgor Adolygu'r Cyfansoddiad.

Rwyf am ofyn i'r Cynghorydd Dole beth oedd ymateb y Gweithgor, ac, os 
nad yw'r cynnig wedi bod yn llwyddiannus, beth yw'r rhesymau dros 
hynny?”

Ymateb y Cynghorydd Emlyn Dole, Arweinydd y Cyngor:- 

Dylid gwneud yn glir o'r dechrau y cytunwyd ym mis Rhagfyr, pan godwyd y 
mater, y dylai'r Cyngor barhau i ddathlu a chefnogi amrywiaeth LGBTQ o 
fewn y gymuned.  Yr unig bwynt na chytunwyd arno oedd a ddylai'r Cyngor 
godi baner enfys LGBTQ dros adeiladau'r Cyngor Sir yn ystod mis hanes 
LGBTQ. 

Mae gan y Cyngor bolisi sydd wedi'i hen sefydlu ar gyfer codi baneri y tu 
allan i'r prif adeiladau dinesig yng Nghaerfyrddin, Llanelli a Rhydaman, a 
chan fod y cais y tu hwnt i'r polisi presennol, rhoesom gerbron y Cyngor y 
dylid cyfeirio'r mater i Weithgor Adolygu'r Cyfansoddiad, sy'n drawsbleidiol 
ac yn wleidyddol gytbwys, er eglurhad. Gallaf ddweud wrthych fod y grŵp 
wedi cwrdd ddydd Llun ac edrych yn fanwl ar y polisi presennol o ran codi 
baneri a chawsom drafodaeth lawn a manwl ar y mater. Roeddem wedi 
ystyried eich cais yng nghyd-destun y gwaith mae'r Awdurdod eisoes yn ei 
wneud i hyrwyddo cydraddoldeb i bawb, a'r angen i werthfawrogi ein staff 
a'n trigolion beth bynnag eu cyfeiriadedd rhywiol. Cydnabuwyd bod gan y 
Cyngor ystod o bolisïau, gwasanaethau a rhwydweithiau cysylltiedig â 
chydraddoldeb ac amrywiaeth ar waith eisoes i gefnogi ein staff i gyd. 

Yn 2016, graddiodd Stonewall Cyngor Sir Caerfyrddin fel un o'r 12 o 
gyflogwyr gorau yng Nghymru ar gyfer staff lesbiaidd, hoyw a deurywiol. 
Mae Mynegai Cydraddoldeb yn y Gweithle Stonewall yn gosod yr Awdurdod 
yn yr unfed safle ar ddeg ledled Cymru gyfan. 

Tudalen 11



Mae'r mynegai'n rhestru'r cyflogwyr gorau ar gyfer hybu gweithle teg a 
chyfiawn a chyfranogiad cymunedol ar gyfer pobl lesbiaidd, hoyw, deurywiol 
a thrawsrywiol.  Mae'r Awdurdod wedi bod yn aelod o Stonewall am dros 5 
mlynedd ac wedi cymryd camau i hybu rhaglen hyrwyddwyr amrywiaeth 
Stonewall, a'n nod yw creu'r amgylchedd iawn lle gall yr holl staff roi o'u 
gorau a chael eu trin ag urddas a pharch. 

Gan ymateb yn uniongyrchol i'ch Rhybudd o Gynnig mae'r Cyngor hefyd 
wedi gwneud ymrwymiad i ddangos cadernid gyda phobl ag HIV+ a'r bobl 
yn Sir Gaerfyrddin sy'n byw ag AIDS, trwy annog pawb i wisgo rhuban coch, 
sef y symbol ar gyfer diwrnod AIDS y Byd ar 1 Rhagfyr bob blwyddyn, fel yr 
ydym yn ei wneud gyda'r rhuban wen ar gyfer cam-drin domestig. 

Rwyf am droi'n benodol at eich cais am i faner enfys LGBTQ gael ei chodi 
dros adeiladau'r Cyngor Sir bob blwyddyn yn ystod mis hanes LGBTQ. 
Trafododd Gweithgor Adolygu'r Cyfansoddiad y nifer o geisiadau a geir bob 
blwyddyn gan fudiadau yn gofyn am i'w baneri gael eu codi dros safleoedd 
y Cyngor Sir, er mwyn cefnogi achosion penodol a dynodi digwyddiadau 
arbennig. Bu inni hefyd ystyried a ddylid codi'r baneri hyn ar gyfer 
diwrnodau penodedig neu am gyfnodau penodol. Rwyf wedi ei gwneud yn 
glir ers dod yn Arweinydd mai fy safbwynt cyson o ran hyn yw mai ymateb i 
bolisi a bennwyd gan y Cyngor hwn ac a ystyriwyd gan Weithgor Adolygu'r 
Cyfansoddiad ydym, ac felly gwrthod unrhyw geisiadau sydd y tu hwnt i'n 
protocol presennol. Roeddem wedi ystyried mai'r penderfyniad unfrydol a 
wnaed gan holl aelodau Gweithgor Adolygu'r Cyfansoddiad oedd peidio â 
chodi unrhyw faneri ac eithrio'r hyn sydd yn y polisi presennol. 

Eto yng nghyd-destun eich cais penodol iawn chi, roedd aelodau'r Pwyllgor 
uchod yn unfrydol o'r farn na ddylid newid y polisi, sy'n golygu bod eich cais 
am godi Baner Enfys LGBTQ dros adeiladu'r Cyngor Sir bob blwyddyn yn 
ystod mis hanes LGBTQ wedi cael ei wrthod.

8. AELODAETH PWYLLGORAU CRAFFU, PWYLLGORAU RHEOLEIDDIO A 
PHWYLLGORAU ERAILL Y CYNGOR A PHENODI AELODAU I WASANAETHU 
ARNYNT

Yn unol â gofynion Deddf Llywodraeth Leol a Thai 1989 a Rheoliadau Llywodraeth 
Leol (Pwyllgorau a Grwpiau Gwleidyddol) 1990, fel y'u diwygiwyd, rhoddwyd 
ystyriaeth i adroddiad yn manylu ar ganlyniad adolygiad o gyfansoddiad 
Pwyllgorau Craffu, Pwyllgorau Rheoleiddio a phwyllgorau eraill y Cyngor yn dilyn 
ymddiswyddiad y Cynghorydd A. James o'r Grŵp Annibynnol a'r hysbysiad o'i 
ddymuniad i ymuno â Phlaid Cymru.  Ystyriodd y Cyngor adroddiad a nodai 
fanylion y newidiadau arfaethedig i'r aelodaeth gan Grwpiau Annibynnol a Phlaid 
Cymru.

Nododd y Cyngor nad oedd newid i ddyraniad y seddi i'r Grŵp Llafur a'r Aelod 
heb gysylltiad pleidiol, fodd bynnag byddai'r Grŵp Annibynnol yn colli un sedd 
Graffu ac un sedd Reoleiddio a byddai Plaid Cymru'n ennill un sedd Graffu ac 
un sedd Reoleiddio. 

Tudalen 12



Mewn ymateb i'r newidiadau gofynnol fel y'u nodwyd yn nhabl 2B yn yr adroddiad,  
roedd y Grŵp Annibynnol wedi cytuno i ildio un sedd ar y Pwyllgor Craffu - 
Diogelu'r Cyhoedd a'r Amgylchedd ac roedd Plaid Cymru wedi enwebu'r 
Cynghorydd Andrew James i lenwi'r sedd ychwanegol ar y Pwyllgor hwn.

O ran y newidiadau sy'n effeithio ar y sedd Reoleiddio, fel y nodwyd yn Nhabl 3 o 
fewn yr adroddiad, roedd y Grŵp Annibynnol wedi cytuno i ildio un sedd ar y 
Pwyllgor Safonau ac roedd Grŵp Plaid Cymru wedi enwebu'r Cynghorydd 
Jeanette Gilasbey i lenwi'r sedd ychwanegol ar y Pwyllgor Safonau. 

At hynny, yn unol â Rhan 6 o Fesur Llywodraeth Leol (Cymru) 2011, sy'n gosod y 
gofynion ar gyfer penodi Pobl i Gadeirio Pwyllgorau Craffu a Throsolwg, nododd y 
Cyngor, gan fod y Cynghorydd James wedi symud rhwng dau grŵp sy'n rhan o'r 
Weithrediaeth, nad oedd unrhyw newid o ran dyraniad 5 Cadeirydd y Pwyllgorau Craffu. 

PENDERFYNWYD o ganlyniad i newidiadau i aelodaeth wleidyddol 
gyffredinol y Cyngor, 

8.1fabwysiadu'r newidiadau i nifer y seddi sy'n cael eu dal gan y Grŵp 
Annibynnol a Grŵp Plaid Cymru, fel y nodir yn Nhablau 1, 2 a 3 yr 
adroddiad, yn benodol y seddi a ddyrennir parthed Pwyllgor Craffu - 
Diogelu'r Cyhoedd a'r Amgylchedd, Pwyllgor Craffu - Polisi ac Adnoddau 
a'r Pwyllgor Safonau;

8.2nodi nad oes dim newidiadau i nifer y seddi sy'n cael eu dal gan y Grŵp 
Llafur a'r Aelod heb Gysylltiad Pleidiol;

8.3yn unol â Rheol Gweithdrefn Gorfforaethol 2 (2) (n), gymeradwyo 
newidiadau yn Aelodaeth y Pwyllgor o ganlyniad i argymhelliad 8.1 
uchod (fel y manylir yn yr adroddiad);

8.4yn unol â Rhan 6 o Fesur Llywodraeth Leol (Cymru) 2011, nodi nad yw 
dyraniad y 5 Cadeirydd Craffu yn newid.

9. PENODI AELODAU I WASANAETHU AR BWYLLGORAU YMGYNGHOROL Y 
CYNGOR AC AR GYRFF ALLANOL YN AMODOL AR Y GOFYNION O RAN 
CYDBWYSEDD GWLEIDYDDOL

O ganlyniad i adolygiad yn dilyn ymddiswyddiad y Cynghorydd A. James o'r Grŵp 
Annibynnol a'r hysbysiad o'i ddymuniad i ymuno â Grŵp Plaid Cymru, ystyriodd y 
Cyngor adroddiad a bennai'r newidiadau dilynol i gyfansoddiad gwleidyddol cyffredinol 
y Cyngor ac adolygu'r trefniadau ar gyfer dyrannu seddi i grwpiau gwleidyddol. 

Nododd y Cyngor mai'r unig newidiadau yr effeithiwyd arnynt oedd y dyraniad 
seddi i'r grwpiau gwleidyddol ar gyfer Awdurdod Parc Cenedlaethol Bannau 
Brycheiniog ac Awdurdod Tân ac Achub Canolbarth a Gorllewin Cymru. 

Roedd enwebiadau wedi dod i law ar gyfer y trefniadau newydd o ran 
cynrychiolaeth ar Awdurdod Parc Cenedlaethol Bannau Brycheiniog ac Awdurdod 
Tân ac Achub Canolbarth a Gorllewin Cymru, ac roeddent wedi'u hatodi i'r 
adroddiad yn Atodiad A.  

Tudalen 13



 PENDERFYNWYD:

9.1 cymeradwyo'r enwebiadau diwygiedig o ran yr Aelodau sy'n eistedd ar 
Awdurdod Parc Cenedlaethol Bannau Brycheiniog ac ar Awdurdod 
Tân ac Achub Canolbarth a Gorllewin Cymru, fel y nodir yn Atodiad A 
yr adroddiad; 

9.2 nodi nad oedd dim newidiadau'n ofynnol o ran yr aelodaeth a dyraniad 
y seddi ar gyfer y canlynol:
- Panel Heddlu a Throseddu Dyfed-Powys;
- Gweithgor Adolygu'r Cyfansoddiad;
- Y Panel Ymgynghorol ynghylch y Polisi Tâl. 

10. YSTYRIED ARGYMHELLION Y BWRDD GWEITHREDOL O RAN Y MATERION 
CANLYNOL:-

10.1. SYMUD YMLAEN YN SIR GAERFYRDDIN Y 5 MLYNEDD NESAF

[SYLWER: Roedd y Cynghorydd C. A. Davies wedi datgan buddiant yn yr 
eitem hon yn gynharach].

Hysbyswyd y Cyngor fod y Bwrdd Gweithredol, yn ei gyfarfod ar 8 Ionawr 
2018 (gweler cofnod 5), wedi ystyried adroddiad a oedd yn cynnwys cynllun 
a amlinellai gynigion y Bwrdd Gweithredol ar gyfer Symud Ymlaen yn Sir 
Gaerfyrddin dros y pum mlynedd nesaf. 

Roedd y cynllun yn nodi dyheadau'r Bwrdd Gweithredol i'w cyflawni a 
cheisiai wella llesiant economaidd, amgylcheddol, cymdeithasol a 
diwylliannol yn barhaus, a thrwy hynny sicrhau bod preswylwyr, 
cymunedau, sefydliadau a busnesau yn cael cefnogaeth a'u bod yn gallu 
datblygu a ffynnu. 

Nododd y Cyngor y byddai'r prosiectau a'r rhaglenni allweddol yn y cynllun 
yn cael eu cynnwys yn Strategaeth Gorfforaethol newydd y Cyngor, a fyddai 
hefyd yn cael eu datblygu'n unol â Deddf Llesiant Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol 
(Cymru) 2015 a chynlluniau datblygu. At hynny, nododd y Cyngor y byddai 
adroddiadau manwl ac argymhellion ar brosiectau/rhaglenni penodol yn 
cael eu cyflwyno drwy brosesau democrataidd y Cyngor dros y 5 mlynedd 
nesaf er mwyn gwneud cynnydd o ran yr ymrwymiadau hyn.

Cyfeiriwyd at bwynt 72(a) ar dudalen 15 o'r adroddiad, lle gofynnwyd am i 
adroddiad statws llawn ynghylch y cynnydd ar ddatblygiadau grwpiau 
ffocws  Rhydaman, Caerfyrddin a Llanelli gael eu rhoi gerbron y Cyngor er 
ystyriaeth. Dywedodd yr Arweinydd fod elfennau penodol wedi'u rhoi 
gerbron y Cyngor, fodd bynnag cytunodd i ddarparu adroddiad llawn. 

PENDERFYNWYD bod cynllun y Bwrdd Gweithredol ar gyfer Symud 
Ymlaen yn Sir Gaerfyrddin dros y 5 mlynedd nesaf yn cael ei 
gymeradwyo. 

Tudalen 14



10.2. SEFYDLU CWMNI MASNACHU AWDURDOD LLEOL A ADWAENIR FEL 
'LLESIANT DELTA WELLBEING LTD' AR GYFER LLINELL GOFAL

[SYLWER: Roedd y Cynghorydd K. Madge wedi datgan buddiant yn yr 
eitem hon yn gynharach].

Hysbyswyd y Cyngor fod y Bwrdd Gweithredol, yn ei gyfarfod ar 22 Ionawr 
2018 (gweler cofnod 8) wedi ystyried adroddiad a nodai'r rhesymau dros 
sefydlu Cwmni Masnachu a oedd yn berchen yn ei gyfanrwydd i'r Awdurdod 
Lleol ar gyfer Llinell Gofal, a elwid yn 'Llesiant Delta Wellbeing Ltd,' a'r 
elfennau ymarferol oedd yn perthyn i hynny. 

Cafodd y Cyngor adroddiad manwl i'w ystyried a ddangosai'r gallu i gael 
mynediad i farchnadoedd a ffrydiau incwm llawer ehangach nag oedd y 
gwasanaeth Llinell Gofal yn gallu ei wneud. 

Nododd y Cyngor hefyd, er mwyn mynd i'r afael â'r heriau a amlinellwyd yn 
yr adroddiad, fod y Bwrdd Gweithredol wedi penderfynu sefydlu Cwmni 
Masnachu Awdurdod Lleol o'r enw "Llesiant Delta Wellbeing Ltd" i redeg y 
gwasanaeth Llinell Gofal. 

Yn dilyn nifer o ymholiadau a godwyd, pwysleisiodd Cyfarwyddwr y 
Gwasanaethau Cymunedol i aelodau'r Cyngor y byddai'r cwmni'n berchen 
yn llwyr ac o dan reolaeth lwyr y Cyngor, ac mai'r Cyngor fyddai'n gyfrifol 
am reoli unrhyw atebolrwydd ariannol oedd ynghlwm wrth y cwmni 
masnachu. 

 PENDERFYNWYD

10.2.1 adennill costau sefydlu'r Cwmni drwy drefnu benthyciad rhwng 
y Cyngor Sir a'r Cwmni ar gyfradd log fasnachol. Bydd y gwerth 
yn cael ei bennu yng nghynllun busnes manwl y Cwmni a bydd 
y Bwrdd Gweithredol yn cytuno arno;

10.2.2 bod y Cyngor Sir yn cytuno i ddarparu benthyciad llif arian i'r 
Cwmni o hyd at £250k (bydd Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau 
Corfforaethol yn cytuno ar y gwerth o fewn y terfyn hwn) ar 
gyfer gwaith y cwmni o ddydd i ddydd a'r costau sefydlu (gweler 
rhif 10.2.1 uchod). Y gyfradd log fasnachol fydd 3.5% yn uwch 
na chyfradd adeg aeddfedu benthyciad 5 mlynedd y Bwrdd 
Benthyciadau Gwaith Cyhoeddus bob chwe mis. Cyfnod y 
benthyciad fydd 5 mlynedd ar y mwyaf;

10.2.3 pe na fyddai'r Cwmni'n cael ei sefydlu, yna bydd y costau 
sefydlu'n dod o gyllideb y Cyngor Sir (drwy gronfeydd wrth 
gefn);

10.2.4 bod y Cyngor yn gwarantu rhwymedigaethau pensiwn y staff a 
gyflogir gan y Cwmni. 

Tudalen 15



11. AELODAETH PWYLLGORAU:

11.1. NODI BOD Y GRWP PLAID CYMRU WEDI ENWEBU'R CYNGHORYDD 
KIM BROOM I GYMERYD LLE'R CYNGHORYDD DAI NICHOLAS AR Y 
PWYLLGOR CRAFFU POLISI AC ADNODDAU

Yn unol â Rheol Gweithdrefn Gorfforaethol 2 (2)(n), roedd yr enwebiadau 
canlynol gan Grŵp Plaid Cymru wedi dod i law a 

PHENDERFYNWYD nodi bod y Cynghorydd Kim Broom yn cymryd 
lle'r Cynghorydd Dai Nicholas ar y Pwyllgor Craffu - Polisi ac 
Adnoddau.

12. DERBYN ADRODDIAD CYFARFOD Y BWRDD GWEITHREDOL A 
GYNHALIWYD AR:

12.1. 8FED IONAWR, 2018;

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL dderbyn adroddiad cyfarfod y 
Bwrdd Gweithredol a gynhaliwyd ar 8 Ionawr, 2018.

12.2. 22AIN IONAWR, 2018.

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL dderbyn adroddiad cyfarfod y 
Bwrdd Gweithredol a gynhaliwyd ar 22 Ionawr, 2018.

________________________ __________________
CADEIRYDD DYDDIAD

Tudalen 16



Y CYNGOR SIR
DYDDIAD: 7 Mawrth 18

PENNU TRETH Y CYNGOR AM FLWYDDYN ARIANNOL 2018/19

Yr Argymhellion / Penderfyniadau Allweddol Sydd Eu Hangen:

Bod yr Aelodau yn mabwysiadu’r argymhellion sydd yn yr adroddiad 

Y Rhesymau: 
Pennu Treth y Cyngor am y flwyddyn 2018/19

Ymgynghorwyd â’r Pwyllgor Craffu perthnasol DO
Angen i’r Bwrdd Gweithredol wneud penderfyniad       OES
Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad  OES

YR AELOD O'R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:-

Cyng. David Jenkins (Adnoddau)

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth:
Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol 

Enw:
Chris Moore

Awdur yr Adroddiad:
Owen Bowen

Swyddi:

Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau 
Corfforaethol

Rhif ffôn:
01267 224121

Cyfeiriadau E-bost:
CMoore@sirgar.gov.uk  

Tudalen 17

Eitem Rhif  9

mailto:CMoore@sirgar.gov.uk


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
COUNTY COUNCIL 7th March 2018

SETTING THE COUNCIL TAX FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2018/19

The County Council is required annually to set its Council Tax for the forthcoming Financial 
Year.

This Report sets out the financial details relevant to the setting of the Council Tax for 2018/19 
together with the Council Tax amounts in respect of the different Council Tax Valuation 
Bands, as applicable to each of the individual Community and Town Council area.

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED ? YES 

Tudalen 18



IMPLICATIONS

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this 
report :

Signed:  C Moore                                                                Director of Corporate Services                           

Policy, Crime 
& Disorder 
and 
Equalities

Legal Finance ICT Risk 
Management 
Issues 

Staffing 
Implications

Physical 
Assets  

YES YES YES NONE NONE NONE NONE

1. Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities
The Budget has been prepared having regard for the Corporate Strategy

2. Legal  
Budget setting process complies with legislative requirements

3. Finance  
The Authority’s Council Tax (exclusive of Town/Community Council precepts) will increase by 
4.45% with the Band D Council Tax = £1,196.60
Average Council Tax (Band D) inclusive of Community/Town Council precepts will be set at 
£1275.79 as per section 33 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.

Tudalen 19



CONSULTATIONS

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below

Signed:       C Moore                            Director of Corporate Services                                                

1. Scrutiny Committee
All scrutiny committees have been consulted during December 2017 and January 2018, with the 
feedback included in the Revenue Budget Strategy report to full Council on 21st February 2018

2.Local Member(s)  
Not Applicable

3.Community / Town Council 
Full consultation has been undertaken in respect of the County Council budget and was 
detailed in the Revenue Budget Strategy 2018/19 to 2020/21 report to County Council on 21st 
February 2018.

4.Relevant Partners  
Full consultation has been undertaken in respect of the County Council budget and was 
detailed in the Revenue Budget Strategy 2018/19 to 2020/21 report to County Council on 21st 
February 2018.

5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations  
Full consultation has been undertaken in respect of the County Council budget and was 
detailed in the Revenue Budget Strategy 2018/19 to 2020/21 report to County Council on 21st 
February 2018.

Tudalen 20



Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information

List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

Title of Document File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection 

Council Tax Base –
2018/19 Base report to 
Executive Board 18th 
December 2017

County Hall 

Revenue Budget 
Strategy 2018/19 to 
2020/21 and Capital 
Investment Programme 
2018/23 - County 
Council Reports 21st  
February 2018

County Hall

Dyfed Powys Police 
Authority precept 
Town/Community 
Council precepts 

County Hall 

Local Government Act 
1992

Tudalen 21



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES
COUNTY COUNCIL

7th March 2018

SETTING THE COUNCIL TAX FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR BEGINNING   1st APRIL 2018

Name:
C Moore, Director of Corporate Services

DIRECTORATE
Corporate Services

TELEPHONE NO.
01267 224121

AUTHOR &  DESIGNATION 
O Bowen, Strategic Finance Officer

DIRECTORATE
Corporate Services

TELEPHONE NO
01267 282721

The Revenue Budget 2018/19 was finalised and presented to County Council on the 21st 
February 2018 and the Authority has now received all the precept requirements from the 
Town and Community Councils and Police and Crime Commissioner for Dyfed Powys.

This report now concludes the formal budget setting process and requires County Council to 
formally set the Budget Requirement and Council Tax for 2018/19.

Recommendations  

1. That it be noted that the Revenue Budget 2018/19, together with outlook for 2019/20 and 
2020/21, and the Five Year Capital Programme (Council Fund) 2018/23 was approved by 
County Council on the 21st February 2018.

2. That it be noted that:

a. the County Council General Fund Reserve at 31st March 2018 is estimated to 
be £8.6m and that the Revenue Budget for 2018/19 includes no proposals for 
the use of the General Fund Reserve.

b. the Director of Corporate Services after taking account of the above confirms 
that the estimated level of financial reserves is adequate for the financial year 
2018/19.

c. the Director of Corporate Services confirms that the build up of the County 
Council estimates for the purpose of the calculation under section 32 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992 has been undertaken in a robust manner. 

3. That it be noted that at its meeting on 18th December 2017, the Executive Board 
calculated the following amounts for the year 2018/19 in accordance with regulations 
made under Section 33(5) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992: -

(a) 72,153.24   being the amount calculated by the Council, in accordance with the Local 
Authorities (Calculation of Tax Base) (Wales) Regulations 1995, as its 
council tax base for the year.

   

Tudalen 23



    (b)
COMMUNITY TAX 

BASE COMMUNITY TAX 
BASE

ABERGWILI 722.09 LLANYCRWYS 105.63 
ABERNANT 126.88 PENCARREG 530.26 
BRONWYDD 271.97 NEWCASTLE EMLYN TOWN 453.52 
CILYMAENLLWYD 335.01 CARMARTHEN TOWN 5,422.37 
CYNWYL ELFED 451.46 AMMANFORD TOWN 1,911.79 
EGLWYS GYMYN 181.85 CWMAMMAN TOWN 1,542.82 
GORSLAS 1,922.83 LLANDEILO TOWN 783.82 
HENLLAN FALLTEG 219.43 LLANDOVERY TOWN 777.70 
LAUGHARNE TOWN 552.75 BETTWS 876.61 
LLANARTHNE 393.84 CILYCWM 223.21 
LLANBOIDY 432.32 CYNWYL GAEO 434.45 
LLANDDAROG 541.73 DYFFRYN CENNEN 515.47 
LLANDDOWROR & LLANMILOE 338.06 LLANDDEUSANT 126.98 
LLANDYFAELOG 610.50 LLANDYBIE 4,260.77 
LLANGAIN 286.10 LLANEGWAD 695.25 
LLANGYNDEYRN 1,393.33 LLANFAIR AR Y BRYN 265.60 
LLANGUNNOR 1,142.79 LLANFIHANGEL ABERBYTHYCH 573.03 
LLANGYNIN 132.28 LLANFYNYDD 228.61 
LLANGYNOG 230.04 LLANGADOG 615.90 
LLANLLAWDDOG 323.75 LLANGATHEN 264.61 
LLANPUMPSAINT 327.47 LLANSADWRN 224.01 
LLANSTEFFAN & LLANYBRI 553.14 LLANSAWEL 197.16 
LLANWINIO 198.93 LLANWRDA 234.41 
MEIDRIM 260.90 MANORDEILO & SALEM 772.79 
NEWCHURCH & MERTHYR 308.15 MYDDFAI 178.76 
PENDINE 156.94 QUARTER BACH 940.64 
ST CLEARS TOWN 1,304.06 TALLEY 244.59 
ST ISHMAEL 761.65 LLANELLI TOWN 8,734.29 
TRELECH 322.18 LLANELLI RURAL 8,031.32 
WHITLAND 703.21 PEMBREY & BURRY PORT 3,189.81 
CENARTH 525.84 KIDWELLY TOWN 1,365.51 
LLANFIHANGEL-AR-ARTH 897.99 LLANEDI 2,182.84 
LLANFIHANGEL RHOS-Y-CORN 216.52 LLANGENNECH 1,947.92 
LLANGELER 1,480.81 LLANNON 1,920.59 
LLANLLWNI 316.62 PONTYBEREM 1,003.87 
LLANYBYDDER 583.68 TRIMSARAN 849.23 
    
  TOTAL 72,153.24 

being the amounts calculated by the Council, in accordance with Regulation 6 of the 
above Regulations, as the amounts of its council tax base for the year for dwellings in 
those parts of its area to which one or more special  items relate.

Tudalen 24



4. That the following amounts be now calculated by the Council for the year 2018-19 in 
accordance with sections 32 to 36 of the Local Government  Finance Act 1992: -

(a)  £562,052,740 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the 
items set out in Section 32(2)(a) to (e) of the Act (including Community 
Council Precepts totaling £5,714,034)

(b) £210,687,064    being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the 
items set out in Section 32(3)(a) to (c) of the Act.

(c) £351,365,676  being the amount by which the aggregate at 4(a) above exceeds the 
aggregate at 4(b) above, calculated by the Council, in accordance with 
Section 32(4) of the Act, as its budget requirement for the year.

(d) £259,313,242 being the aggregate of the sums which the Council estimates will be 
payable for the year into its council fund in respect of redistributed non-
domestic rates, revenue support grant, or additional grant less 
discretionary non-domestic rate relief. 

(e)  £1,275.79  being the amount at 4(c) above less the amount at 4(d) above, all divided 
by the amount at 3 above, calculated by the Council, in accordance with 
Section 33(1) of the Act, as the basic amount of its council tax for the 
year.

(f)  £5,714,034 being the aggregate amount of all special items referred to in Section 
34(1) of the Act.

(g)  £1,196.60 being the amount at 4(e) above less the result given by dividing the
amount at 4(f) above by the amount at 3 above, calculated by the  
Council, in accordance with section 34(2) of the Act, as the basic amount 
of its council tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of its area to 
which no special item relates.

Tudalen 25



(h)
 BASIC  BASIC

COMMUNITY AMOUNT 
OF COMMUNITY AMOUNT 

OF
 COUNCIL  COUNCIL 

 TAX  TAX
          £          £

ABERGWILI 1,237.22 LLANYCRWYS 1,207.49
ABERNANT 1,220.24 PENCARREG 1,221.12
BRONWYDD 1,230.19 NEWCASTLE EMLYN 1,256.90
CILYMAENLLWYD 1,214.51 CARMARTHEN 1,326.88
CYNWYL ELFED 1,224.10 AMMANFORD 1,268.24
EGLWYSCUMMIN 1,229.59 CWMAMAN 1,340.76
GORSLAS 1,238.88 LLANDEILO 1,275.79
HENLLANFALLTEG 1,212.55 LLANDOVERY 1,270.24
LAUGHARNE 1,250.03 BETWS 1,227.40
LLANARTHNE 1,244.84 CILYCWM 1,219.00
LLANBOIDY 1,232.36 CYNWYL GAEO 1,210.41
LLANDDAROG 1,228.77 DYFFRYN CENNEN 1,206.30
LLANDDOWROR & LLANMILOE 1,245.70 LLANDDEUSANT 1,214.71
LLANDYFAELOG 1,230.67 LLANDYBIE 1,238.85
LLANGAIN 1,229.53 LLANEGWAD 1,210.98
LLANGYNDEYRN 1,232.77 LLANFAIR-AR-Y-BRYN 1,213.54
LLANGUNNOR 1,222.85 LLANFIHANGEL ABERBYTHYCH 1,227.14
LLANGYNIN 1,221.71 LLANFYNYDD 1,227.22
LLANGYNOG 1,231.38 LLANGADOG 1,229.07
LLANLLAWDDOG 1,218.03 LLANGATHEN 1,223.81
LLANPUMSAINT 1,218.60 LLANSADWRN 1,223.38
LLANSTEFFAN & LLANYBRI 1,235.47 LLANSAWEL 1,221.96
LLANWINIO 1,226.76 LLANWRDA 1,230.73
MEIDRIM 1,234.93 MANORDEILO & SALEM 1,216.01
NEWCHURCH & MERTHYR 1,217.69 MYDDFAI 1,212.82
PENDINE 1,243.60 QUARTER BACH 1,286.09
ST CLEARS 1,259.09 TALLEY 1,229.31
ST ISHMAELS 1,239.93 LLANELLI TOWN 1,299.64
TRELECH A'R BETWS 1,196.60 LLANELLI RURAL 1,322.49
WHITLAND 1,256.93 PEMBREY & BURRY PORT 1,322.50
CENARTH 1,213.72 KIDWELLY 1,295.35
LLANFIHANGEL-AR-ARTH 1,246.71 LLANEDI 1,293.33
LLANFIHANGEL RHOS-Y-CORN 1,231.24 LLANGENNECH 1,303.97
LLANGELER 1,217.74 LLANNON 1,345.33
LLANLLWNI 1,237.66 PONTYBEREM 1,306.84
LLANYBYDDER 1,264.27 TRIMSARAN 1,272.36

being the amounts given by adding to the amount at 4(g) above, the amounts of the 
special items relating to dwellings in those parts of the Council's area mentioned above 
divided in each case by the amount at 3(b) above, calculated by the Council in 
accordance with Section 34(3) of the Act, as the basic amounts of its council tax for the 
year for dwellings in those parts of its area to which one or more special items relate.

Tudalen 26



(i) 
     2018-19     

COMMUNITY BAND A BAND B BAND C BAND D BAND E BAND F BAND G BAND H BAND I
 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
ABERGWILI 824.81 962.28 1,099.75 1,237.22 1,512.16 1,787.09 2,062.03 2,474.44 2,886.85
ABERNANT 813.49 949.08 1,084.65 1,220.24 1,491.40 1,762.57 2,033.73 2,440.48 2,847.23
BRONWYDD 820.12 956.82 1,093.50 1,230.19 1,503.56 1,776.94 2,050.31 2,460.38 2,870.45
CILYMAENLLWYD 809.67 944.62 1,079.56 1,214.51 1,484.40 1,754.29 2,024.18 2,429.02 2,833.86
CYNWYL ELFED 816.06 952.08 1,088.08 1,224.10 1,496.12 1,768.14 2,040.16 2,448.20 2,856.24
EGLWYSCUMMIN 819.72 956.35 1,092.96 1,229.59 1,502.83 1,776.07 2,049.31 2,459.18 2,869.05
GORSLAS 825.92 963.57 1,101.22 1,238.88 1,514.19 1,789.49 2,064.80 2,477.76 2,890.72
HENLLANFALLTEG 808.36 943.10 1,077.82 1,212.55 1,482.00 1,751.46 2,020.91 2,425.10 2,829.29
LAUGHARNE 833.35 972.25 1,111.13 1,250.03 1,527.81 1,805.60 2,083.38 2,500.06 2,916.74
LLANARTHNE 829.89 968.21 1,106.52 1,244.84 1,521.47 1,798.10 2,074.73 2,489.68 2,904.63
LLANBOIDY 821.57 958.50 1,095.43 1,232.36 1,506.22 1,780.07 2,053.93 2,464.72 2,875.51
LLANDDAROG 819.18 955.71 1,092.24 1,228.77 1,501.83 1,774.89 2,047.95 2,457.54 2,867.13
LLANDDOWROR & LLANMILOE 830.46 968.88 1,107.28 1,245.70 1,522.52 1,799.34 2,076.16 2,491.40 2,906.64
LLANDYFAELOG 820.44 957.19 1,093.92 1,230.67 1,504.15 1,777.63 2,051.11 2,461.34 2,871.57
LLANGAIN 819.68 956.30 1,092.91 1,229.53 1,502.76 1,775.99 2,049.21 2,459.06 2,868.91
LLANGYNDEYRN 821.84 958.82 1,095.79 1,232.77 1,506.72 1,780.67 2,054.61 2,465.54 2,876.47
LLANGUNNOR 815.23 951.11 1,086.97 1,222.85 1,494.59 1,766.34 2,038.08 2,445.70 2,853.32
LLANGYNIN 814.47 950.22 1,085.96 1,221.71 1,493.20 1,764.69 2,036.18 2,443.42 2,850.66
LLANGYNOG 820.92 957.74 1,094.56 1,231.38 1,505.02 1,778.66 2,052.30 2,462.76 2,873.22
LLANLLAWDDOG 812.02 947.36 1,082.69 1,218.03 1,488.70 1,759.37 2,030.05 2,436.06 2,842.07
LLANPUMSAINT 812.40 947.80 1,083.20 1,218.60 1,489.40 1,760.20 2,031.00 2,437.20 2,843.40
LLANSTEFFAN & LLANYBRI 823.64 960.92 1,098.19 1,235.47 1,510.02 1,784.57 2,059.11 2,470.94 2,882.77
LLANWINIO 817.84 954.15 1,090.45 1,226.76 1,499.37 1,771.98 2,044.60 2,453.52 2,862.44
MEIDRIM 823.28 960.50 1,097.71 1,234.93 1,509.36 1,783.79 2,058.21 2,469.86 2,881.51
NEWCHURCH & MERTHYR 811.79 947.09 1,082.39 1,217.69 1,488.29 1,758.88 2,029.48 2,435.38 2,841.28
PENDINE 829.06 967.25 1,105.42 1,243.60 1,519.95 1,796.31 2,072.66 2,487.20 2,901.74
ST CLEARS 839.39 979.29 1,119.19 1,259.09 1,538.89 1,818.68 2,098.48 2,518.18 2,937.88
ST ISHMAELS 826.62 964.39 1,102.16 1,239.93 1,515.47 1,791.01 2,066.55 2,479.86 2,893.17
TRELECH A'R BETWS 797.73 930.69 1,063.64 1,196.60 1,462.51 1,728.42 1,994.33 2,393.20 2,792.07

T
udalen 27



     2018-19     
COMMUNITY BAND A BAND B BAND C BAND D BAND E BAND F BAND G BAND H BAND I

 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
WHITLAND 837.95 977.61 1,117.27 1,256.93 1,536.25 1,815.56 2,094.88 2,513.86 2,932.84
CENARTH 809.14 944.01 1,078.86 1,213.72 1,483.43 1,753.15 2,022.86 2,427.44 2,832.02
LLANFIHANGEL-AR-ARTH 831.14 969.66 1,108.18 1,246.71 1,523.76 1,800.80 2,077.85 2,493.42 2,908.99
LLANFIHANGEL RHOS-Y-CORN 820.82 957.63 1,094.43 1,231.24 1,504.85 1,778.46 2,052.06 2,462.48 2,872.90
LLANGELER 811.82 947.13 1,082.43 1,217.74 1,488.35 1,758.96 2,029.56 2,435.48 2,841.40
LLANLLWNI 825.10 962.63 1,100.14 1,237.66 1,512.69 1,787.73 2,062.76 2,475.32 2,887.88
LLANYBYDDER 842.84 983.32 1,123.79 1,264.27 1,545.22 1,826.17 2,107.11 2,528.54 2,949.97
LLANYCRWYS 804.99 939.16 1,073.32 1,207.49 1,475.82 1,744.15 2,012.48 2,414.98 2,817.48
PENCARREG 814.08 949.76 1,085.44 1,221.12 1,492.48 1,763.84 2,035.20 2,442.24 2,849.28
NEWCASTLE EMLYN 837.93 977.59 1,117.24 1,256.90 1,536.21 1,815.52 2,094.83 2,513.80 2,932.77
CARMARTHEN 884.58 1,032.02 1,179.44 1,326.88 1,621.74 1,916.60 2,211.46 2,653.76 3,096.06
AMMANFORD 845.49 986.41 1,127.32 1,268.24 1,550.07 1,831.90 2,113.73 2,536.48 2,959.23
CWMAMAN 893.84 1,042.81 1,191.78 1,340.76 1,638.71 1,936.65 2,234.60 2,681.52 3,128.44
LLANDEILO 850.52 992.28 1,134.03 1,275.79 1,559.30 1,842.81 2,126.31 2,551.58 2,976.85
LLANDOVERY 846.82 987.97 1,129.10 1,270.24 1,552.51 1,834.79 2,117.06 2,540.48 2,963.90
BETWS 818.26 954.65 1,091.02 1,227.40 1,500.15 1,772.91 2,045.66 2,454.80 2,863.94
CILYCWM 812.66 948.11 1,083.55 1,219.00 1,489.89 1,760.78 2,031.66 2,438.00 2,844.34
CYNWYL GAEO 806.94 941.43 1,075.92 1,210.41 1,479.39 1,748.37 2,017.35 2,420.82 2,824.29
DYFFRYN CENNEN 804.20 938.23 1,072.26 1,206.30 1,474.37 1,742.43 2,010.50 2,412.60 2,814.70
LLANDDEUSANT 809.80 944.78 1,079.74 1,214.71 1,484.64 1,754.58 2,024.51 2,429.42 2,834.33
LLANDYBIE 825.90 963.55 1,101.20 1,238.85 1,514.15 1,789.45 2,064.75 2,477.70 2,890.65
LLANEGWAD 807.32 941.87 1,076.42 1,210.98 1,480.09 1,749.19 2,018.30 2,421.96 2,825.62
LLANFAIR-AR-Y-BRYN 809.02 943.87 1,078.70 1,213.54 1,483.21 1,752.89 2,022.56 2,427.08 2,831.60
LLANFIHANGEL ABERBYTHYCH 818.09 954.44 1,090.79 1,227.14 1,499.84 1,772.53 2,045.23 2,454.28 2,863.33
LLANFYNYDD 818.14 954.51 1,090.86 1,227.22 1,499.93 1,772.65 2,045.36 2,454.44 2,863.52
LLANGADOG 819.38 955.94 1,092.50 1,229.07 1,502.20 1,775.32 2,048.45 2,458.14 2,867.83
LLANGATHEN 815.87 951.85 1,087.83 1,223.81 1,495.77 1,767.72 2,039.68 2,447.62 2,855.56
LLANSADWRN 815.58 951.52 1,087.44 1,223.38 1,495.24 1,767.10 2,038.96 2,446.76 2,854.56
LLANSAWEL 814.64 950.41 1,086.18 1,221.96 1,493.51 1,765.05 2,036.60 2,443.92 2,851.24

T
udalen 28



     2018-19     
COMMUNITY BAND A BAND B BAND C BAND D BAND E BAND F BAND G BAND H BAND I

LLANWRDA 820.48 957.24 1,093.98 1,230.73 1,504.22 1,777.72 2,051.21 2,461.46 2,871.71
MANORDEILO & SALEM 810.67 945.79 1,080.89 1,216.01 1,486.23 1,756.46 2,026.68 2,432.02 2,837.36
MYDDFAI 808.54 943.31 1,078.06 1,212.82 1,482.33 1,751.85 2,021.36 2,425.64 2,829.92
QUARTER BACH 857.39 1,000.29 1,143.19 1,286.09 1,571.89 1,857.68 2,143.48 2,572.18 3,000.88
TALLEY 819.54 956.13 1,092.72 1,229.31 1,502.49 1,775.67 2,048.85 2,458.62 2,868.39
LLANELLI TOWN 866.42 1,010.83 1,155.23 1,299.64 1,588.45 1,877.26 2,166.06 2,599.28 3,032.50
LLANELLI RURAL 881.66 1,028.60 1,175.54 1,322.49 1,616.38 1,910.26 2,204.15 2,644.98 3,085.81
PEMBREY & BURRY PORT 881.66 1,028.61 1,175.55 1,322.50 1,616.39 1,910.28 2,204.16 2,645.00 3,085.84
KIDWELLY 863.56 1,007.50 1,151.42 1,295.35 1,583.20 1,871.06 2,158.91 2,590.70 3,022.49
LLANEDI 862.22 1,005.92 1,149.62 1,293.33 1,580.74 1,868.14 2,155.55 2,586.66 3,017.77
LLANGENNECH 869.31 1,014.20 1,159.08 1,303.97 1,593.74 1,883.51 2,173.28 2,607.94 3,042.60
LLANNON 896.88 1,046.37 1,195.84 1,345.33 1,644.29 1,943.25 2,242.21 2,690.66 3,139.11
PONTYBEREM 871.22 1,016.43 1,161.63 1,306.84 1,597.25 1,887.66 2,178.06 2,613.68 3,049.30
TRIMSARAN 848.24 989.61 1,130.98 1,272.36 1,555.11 1,837.85 2,120.60 2,544.72 2,968.84

being the amounts given by multiplying the amounts at 4(h) above by the number which, in the proportion set out in Section 5(1) of the Act, 
is applicable to dwellings listed in a particular valuation band divided by the number which in that proportion is applicable to dwellings listed 
in valuation band D, calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 36(1) of the Act, as the amounts to be taken into account for the 
year in respect of categories of dwellings listed in different valuation bands.

T
udalen 29



5. That it be noted for the year 2018/19 that the Police and Crime Commissioner for Dyfed Powys has stated the following amounts in a 
precept issued to the Council, in accordance with Sections 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, for each of the categories of 
dwellings shown below: -

Band 
A

Band 
B

Band 
C

Band 
D

Band 
E

Band 
F

Band 
G

Band 
H

Band 
I 

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

149.71 174.66 199.61 224.56 274.46 324.36 374.27 449.12 523.97

6. That, having calculated the aggregate in each case of the amounts at 4(i) and 5 above, the Council in accordance with Section 30(2) of 
the Local government Finance Act 1992, hereby sets the following amounts as the amounts of council tax for the year 2018/19 for each 
of the categories of dwellings shown overleaf:-

T
udalen 30



     2018-19     
COMMUNITY BAND A BAND B BAND C BAND D BAND E BAND F BAND G BAND H BAND I

 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
ABERGWILI 974.52 1,136.94 1,299.36 1,461.78 1,786.62 2,111.45 2,436.30 2,923.56 3,410.82
ABERNANT 963.20 1,123.74 1,284.26 1,444.80 1,765.86 2,086.93 2,408.00 2,889.60 3,371.20
BRONWYDD 969.83 1,131.48 1,293.11 1,454.75 1,778.02 2,101.30 2,424.58 2,909.50 3,394.42
CILYMAENLLWYD 959.38 1,119.28 1,279.17 1,439.07 1,758.86 2,078.65 2,398.45 2,878.14 3,357.83
CYNWYL ELFED 965.77 1,126.74 1,287.69 1,448.66 1,770.58 2,092.50 2,414.43 2,897.32 3,380.21
EGLWYSCUMMIN 969.43 1,131.01 1,292.57 1,454.15 1,777.29 2,100.43 2,423.58 2,908.30 3,393.02
GORSLAS 975.63 1,138.23 1,300.83 1,463.44 1,788.65 2,113.85 2,439.07 2,926.88 3,414.69
HENLLANFALLTEG 958.07 1,117.76 1,277.43 1,437.11 1,756.46 2,075.82 2,395.18 2,874.22 3,353.26
LAUGHARNE 983.06 1,146.91 1,310.74 1,474.59 1,802.27 2,129.96 2,457.65 2,949.18 3,440.71
LLANARTHNE 979.60 1,142.87 1,306.13 1,469.40 1,795.93 2,122.46 2,449.00 2,938.80 3,428.60
LLANBOIDY 971.28 1,133.16 1,295.04 1,456.92 1,780.68 2,104.43 2,428.20 2,913.84 3,399.48
LLANDDAROG 968.89 1,130.37 1,291.85 1,453.33 1,776.29 2,099.25 2,422.22 2,906.66 3,391.10
LLANDDOWROR & LLANMILOE 980.17 1,143.54 1,306.89 1,470.26 1,796.98 2,123.70 2,450.43 2,940.52 3,430.61
LLANDYFAELOG 970.15 1,131.85 1,293.53 1,455.23 1,778.61 2,101.99 2,425.38 2,910.46 3,395.54
LLANGAIN 969.39 1,130.96 1,292.52 1,454.09 1,777.22 2,100.35 2,423.48 2,908.18 3,392.88
LLANGYNDEYRN 971.55 1,133.48 1,295.40 1,457.33 1,781.18 2,105.03 2,428.88 2,914.66 3,400.44
LLANGUNNOR 964.94 1,125.77 1,286.58 1,447.41 1,769.05 2,090.70 2,412.35 2,894.82 3,377.29
LLANGYNIN 964.18 1,124.88 1,285.57 1,446.27 1,767.66 2,089.05 2,410.45 2,892.54 3,374.63
LLANGYNOG 970.63 1,132.40 1,294.17 1,455.94 1,779.48 2,103.02 2,426.57 2,911.88 3,397.19
LLANLLAWDDOG 961.73 1,122.02 1,282.30 1,442.59 1,763.16 2,083.73 2,404.32 2,885.18 3,366.04
LLANPUMSAINT 962.11 1,122.46 1,282.81 1,443.16 1,763.86 2,084.56 2,405.27 2,886.32 3,367.37
LLANSTEFFAN & LLANYBRI 973.35 1,135.58 1,297.80 1,460.03 1,784.48 2,108.93 2,433.38 2,920.06 3,406.74
LLANWINIO 967.55 1,128.81 1,290.06 1,451.32 1,773.83 2,096.34 2,418.87 2,902.64 3,386.41
MEIDRIM 972.99 1,135.16 1,297.32 1,459.49 1,783.82 2,108.15 2,432.48 2,918.98 3,405.48
NEWCHURCH & MERTHYR 961.50 1,121.75 1,282.00 1,442.25 1,762.75 2,083.24 2,403.75 2,884.50 3,365.25
PENDINE 978.77 1,141.91 1,305.03 1,468.16 1,794.41 2,120.67 2,446.93 2,936.32 3,425.71
ST CLEARS 989.10 1,153.95 1,318.80 1,483.65 1,813.35 2,143.04 2,472.75 2,967.30 3,461.85
ST ISHMAELS 976.33 1,139.05 1,301.77 1,464.49 1,789.93 2,115.37 2,440.82 2,928.98 3,417.14
TRELECH A’R BETWS 947.44 1,105.35 1,263.25 1,421.16 1,736.97 2,052.78 2,368.60 2,842.32 3,316.04

T
udalen 31



     2018-19     
COMMUNITY BAND A BAND B BAND C BAND D BAND E BAND F BAND G BAND H BAND I

 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
WHITLAND 987.66 1,152.27 1,316.88 1,481.49 1,810.71 2,139.92 2,469.15 2,962.98 3,456.81
CENARTH 958.85 1,118.67 1,278.47 1,438.28 1,757.89 2,077.51 2,397.13 2,876.56 3,355.99
LLANFIHANGEL-AR-ARTH 980.85 1,144.32 1,307.79 1,471.27 1,798.22 2,125.16 2,452.12 2,942.54 3,432.96
LLANFIHANGEL RHOS-Y-CORN 970.53 1,132.29 1,294.04 1,455.80 1,779.31 2,102.82 2,426.33 2,911.60 3,396.87
LLANGELER 961.53 1,121.79 1,282.04 1,442.30 1,762.81 2,083.32 2,403.83 2,884.60 3,365.37
LLANLLWNI 974.81 1,137.29 1,299.75 1,462.22 1,787.15 2,112.09 2,437.03 2,924.44 3,411.85
LLANYBYDDER 992.55 1,157.98 1,323.40 1,488.83 1,819.68 2,150.53 2,481.38 2,977.66 3,473.94
LLANYCRWYS 954.70 1,113.82 1,272.93 1,432.05 1,750.28 2,068.51 2,386.75 2,864.10 3,341.45
PENCARREG 963.79 1,124.42 1,285.05 1,445.68 1,766.94 2,088.20 2,409.47 2,891.36 3,373.25
NEWCASTLE EMLYN 987.64 1,152.25 1,316.85 1,481.46 1,810.67 2,139.88 2,469.10 2,962.92 3,456.74
CARMARTHEN 1,034.29 1,206.68 1,379.05 1,551.44 1,896.20 2,240.96 2,585.73 3,102.88 3,620.03
AMMANFORD 995.20 1,161.07 1,326.93 1,492.80 1,824.53 2,156.26 2,488.00 2,985.60 3,483.20
CWMAMAN 1,043.55 1,217.47 1,391.39 1,565.32 1,913.17 2,261.01 2,608.87 3,130.64 3,652.41
LLANDEILO 1,000.23 1,166.94 1,333.64 1,500.35 1,833.76 2,167.17 2,500.58 3,000.70 3,500.82
LLANDOVERY 996.53 1,162.63 1,328.71 1,494.80 1,826.97 2,159.15 2,491.33 2,989.60 3,487.87
BETWS 967.97 1,129.31 1,290.63 1,451.96 1,774.61 2,097.27 2,419.93 2,903.92 3,387.91
CILYCWM 962.37 1,122.77 1,283.16 1,443.56 1,764.35 2,085.14 2,405.93 2,887.12 3,368.31
CYNWYL GAEO 956.65 1,116.09 1,275.53 1,434.97 1,753.85 2,072.73 2,391.62 2,869.94 3,348.26
DYFFRYN CENNEN 953.91 1,112.89 1,271.87 1,430.86 1,748.83 2,066.79 2,384.77 2,861.72 3,338.67
LLANDDEUSANT 959.51 1,119.44 1,279.35 1,439.27 1,759.10 2,078.94 2,398.78 2,878.54 3,358.30
LLANDYBIE 975.61 1,138.21 1,300.81 1,463.41 1,788.61 2,113.81 2,439.02 2,926.82 3,414.62
LLANEGWAD 957.03 1,116.53 1,276.03 1,435.54 1,754.55 2,073.55 2,392.57 2,871.08 3,349.59
LLANFAIR-AR-Y-BRYN 958.73 1,118.53 1,278.31 1,438.10 1,757.67 2,077.25 2,396.83 2,876.20 3,355.57
LLANFIHANGEL ABERBYTHYCH 967.80 1,129.10 1,290.40 1,451.70 1,774.30 2,096.89 2,419.50 2,903.40 3,387.30
LLANFYNYDD 967.85 1,129.17 1,290.47 1,451.78 1,774.39 2,097.01 2,419.63 2,903.56 3,387.49
LLANGADOG 969.09 1,130.60 1,292.11 1,453.63 1,776.66 2,099.68 2,422.72 2,907.26 3,391.80
LLANGATHEN 965.58 1,126.51 1,287.44 1,448.37 1,770.23 2,092.08 2,413.95 2,896.74 3,379.53
LLANSADWRN 965.29 1,126.18 1,287.05 1,447.94 1,769.70 2,091.46 2,413.23 2,895.88 3,378.53
LLANSAWEL 964.35 1,125.07 1,285.79 1,446.52 1,767.97 2,089.41 2,410.87 2,893.04 3,375.21

T
udalen 32



     2018-19     
COMMUNITY BAND A BAND B BAND C BAND D BAND E BAND F BAND G BAND H BAND I

 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
LLANWRDA 970.19 1,131.90 1,293.59 1,455.29 1,778.68 2,102.08 2,425.48 2,910.58 3,395.68
MANORDEILO & SALEM 960.38 1,120.45 1,280.50 1,440.57 1,760.69 2,080.82 2,400.95 2,881.14 3,361.33
MYDDFAI 958.25 1,117.97 1,277.67 1,437.38 1,756.79 2,076.21 2,395.63 2,874.76 3,353.89
QUARTER BACH 1,007.10 1,174.95 1,342.80 1,510.65 1,846.35 2,182.04 2,517.75 3,021.30 3,524.85
TALLEY 969.25 1,130.79 1,292.33 1,453.87 1,776.95 2,100.03 2,423.12 2,907.74 3,392.36
LLANELLI TOWN 1,016.13 1,185.49 1,354.84 1,524.20 1,862.91 2,201.62 2,540.33 3,048.40 3,556.47
LLANELLI RURAL 1,031.37 1,203.26 1,375.15 1,547.05 1,890.84 2,234.62 2,578.42 3,094.10 3,609.78
PEMBREY & BURRY PORT 1,031.37 1,203.27 1,375.16 1,547.06 1,890.85 2,234.64 2,578.43 3,094.12 3,609.81
KIDWELLY 1,013.27 1,182.16 1,351.03 1,519.91 1,857.66 2,195.42 2,533.18 3,039.82 3,546.46
LLANEDI 1,011.93 1,180.58 1,349.23 1,517.89 1,855.20 2,192.50 2,529.82 3,035.78 3,541.74
LLANGENNECH 1,019.02 1,188.86 1,358.69 1,528.53 1,868.20 2,207.87 2,547.55 3,057.06 3,566.57
LLANNON 1,046.59 1,221.03 1,395.45 1,569.89 1,918.75 2,267.61 2,616.48 3,139.78 3,663.08
PONTYBEREM 1,020.93 1,191.09 1,361.24 1,531.40 1,871.71 2,212.02 2,552.33 3,062.80 3,573.27
TRIMSARAN 997.95 1,164.27 1,330.59 1,496.92 1,829.57 2,162.21 2,494.87 2,993.84 3,492.81

T
udalen 33



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



AILGYLCHWCH OS GWELWCH YN DDA – PLEASE RECYCLE

Y CYNGOR SIR
7ed O Fawrth 2018

Datganiad Polisi Taliadau 2018-2019

Yr Argymhellion / Penderfyniadau allweddol sydd eu hangen:

 I gymeradwyo’r datganiad polisi taliadau amgaeëdig ac i ymgynghori ar  
gynnwys.y datganiad polisi taliadau ar gyfer 2018-2019.

Rhesymau: 

 Er mwyn cydymffurfio â gofynion Rhan 38(1) o’r Ddeddf Lleoliaeth.

Angen i’r Bwrdd Gweithredol wneud 
penderfyniad: 
Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad:

AMHERTHNASOL 

OES

Aelod y Bwrdd Gweithredol sy’n gyfrifol am y Portffolio: 
Cyng. Mair Stephens (Adnoddau Dynol, Effeithlonrwydd a Chydweithio) 

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth:
Prif Weithredwr 

Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth:
Paul R. Thomas 

Awdur yr Adroddiad:
Paul R. Thomas 

Swydd:

Prif Weithredwr Cynorthwyol 
(Rheoli Pobl a Pherfformiad) 

Rhif Ffôn / Cyfeiriad E-Bost:

01267 2246123
prthomas@sirgar.gov.uk 

Tudalen 35

Eitem Rhif  10

mailto:prthomas@sirgar.gov.uk


AILGYLCHWCH OS GWELWCH YN DDA – PLEASE RECYCLE

COUNTY COUNCIL

7th March 2018
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Pay Policy Statement 2018-2019

Summary

The Localism Act received Royal Assent on 15th November 2011. The Act’s provisions 
include a requirement for Local Authorities to prepare a pay policy statement for the 
financial year 2018 – 2019 and each subsequent financial year.

The pay policy statement for a financial year will require the approval of full Council, and 
cannot be delegated to the Authority’s Executive, and must set out the Authority’s 
policies for the financial year relating to the remuneration of its Chief Officers, the 
remuneration of its lowest-paid employees and the relationship between the 
remuneration of its Chief Officers, and its employees who are not Chief Officers.

The politically balanced Pay Policy Advisory Panel is mandated to input into the 
formulation of the Pay Policy Statement, and any recommendations of that Panel will be 
incorporated into final document for approval by County Council.

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES  

Tudalen 36



AILGYLCHWCH OS GWELWCH YN DDA – PLEASE RECYCLE

IMPLICATIONS
I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate 
Directors / Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications 
associated with this report.

Signed:  Paul R. Thomas            Assistant Chief Executive (People Management & Performance) 

Policy, 
Crime & 
Disorder 
and 
Equalities

Legal Finance ICT Risk 
Management 
Issues

Staffing 
Implications 

Physical 
Assets 

YES YES YES NONE YES YES NONE 

1. Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities 

Pay and Grading structures have been Equality Impact assessed where appropriate and 
a programme of Equal Pay audits is in place.

2. Legal

Under Section 38(1) of the Localism Act 2011, the Council is required to approve its Pay 
Policy Statement by 31st March each year.

3. Finance 

The contents of the Pay Policy will reflect the Revenue Budget approved by County 
Council in February 2018.

5. Risk Management Issues

The Council is statutorily bound to have a pay policy in place by 31st March each year 
prior to the commencement of the forthcoming financial year.

6. Staffing Implications

This Pay Policy is applicable to all staff with the exception of teachers who are covered 
by a statutory pay framework.

Tudalen 37



AILGYLCHWCH OS GWELWCH YN DDA – PLEASE RECYCLE

CONSULTATIONS
I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below:

Signed:  Paul R. Thomas            Assistant Chief Executive (People Management & Performance) 

1. Scrutiny Committee – N/A

2. Local Member(s) – N/A

3. Community / Town Council – N/A

4. Relevant Partners – N/A

5. Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations 

The politically balanced Pay Policy Advisory Panel has input into the formulation of the 
Pay Policy Statement, and the recommendations of that Panel are incorporated into final 
document for approval by County Council.

The recognised Trade Unions are consulted on the Pay Policy Statement 2018-2019.

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

THERE ARE NONE 

Title of Document File Ref No. / Locations that the papers are available for public inspection

Tudalen 38



Pay Policy Statement
2018-19

February 2018

Tudalen 39



2

Table of Contents
1.0 Leader’s Introduction .....................................................................................3
2.0 Purpose............................................................................................................4
3.0 Legislative Framework ...................................................................................4
4.0 Scope of the Pay Policy .................................................................................5
5.0 Terms and Conditions of Employment..........................................................6
6.0 Decision Making including Consideration of Value for Money...............10
7.0 Collective Bargaining Arrangements with Trade Unions ..........................11
8.0 Senior Pay Remuneration ............................................................................12
9.0 Talent Management.....................................................................................19
10.0 Performance Related Pay............................................................................19
11.0 Support for Lower Paid Staff .........................................................................20
12.0 Off Payroll Arrangements………………………………………………………..20
13.0 Exit Policy ......................................................................................................21
14.0 Pay Relativities within the Council ..............................................................23
15.0 Publication ....................................................................................................25
Appendix A – NJC Pay Scales ...............................................................................26
Appendix B – Salaries for Chief Executive/Chief Officers w.e.f. 01/04/2017.....27
Appendix C – Recruitment of Chief Executive and Chief Officers.....................28
Appendix D – Soulbury Pay Scales........................................................................30
Appendix E – Joint Negotiating Committee for Youth and Community Workers
..................................................................................................................................36
Appendix F – Acting Up and Honoraria Policy.....................................................38
Appendix G – Market Supplement Scheme Policy .............................................45
Appendix H – Discretionary Compensation Regulations ....................................58
Appendix I – Severance Scheme..........................................................................61
Appendix J – Flexible / Phased Retirement..........................................................65
Appendix K - Joint Negotiating Committee for Local Authority Chief 
Executives National Salary Framework & Conditions of Service Handbook ....76
Appendix L - Joint Negotiating Committee for Local Authority Chief Officer 
Conditions of Service Handbook.........................................................................194
Appendix M – Sample Written Statement of Particulars....................................209

Tudalen 40

file://ntcarmcc/cfp/People%20Management/PMP/SMT/Pay%20Policy%202018%2019/2018%202019%20FINAL%20-%20Pay%20PolicyPTFEB1.docx%23_Toc506387650
file://ntcarmcc/cfp/People%20Management/PMP/SMT/Pay%20Policy%202018%2019/2018%202019%20FINAL%20-%20Pay%20PolicyPTFEB1.docx%23_Toc506387655
file://ntcarmcc/cfp/People%20Management/PMP/SMT/Pay%20Policy%202018%2019/2018%202019%20FINAL%20-%20Pay%20PolicyPTFEB1.docx%23_Toc506387656
file://ntcarmcc/cfp/People%20Management/PMP/SMT/Pay%20Policy%202018%2019/2018%202019%20FINAL%20-%20Pay%20PolicyPTFEB1.docx%23_Toc506387658
file://ntcarmcc/cfp/People%20Management/PMP/SMT/Pay%20Policy%202018%2019/2018%202019%20FINAL%20-%20Pay%20PolicyPTFEB1.docx%23_Toc506387662


3

1.0 Leader’s Introduction

Carmarthenshire Council recognises the 
public interest in public sector pay and is 
committed to being open, transparent 
and accountable, and as Leader, I want to 
ensure that our Council tax payers have 
access to information about how we pay 
people.  

Council services are delivered by people, 
and the majority of the people we employ 
live and work in this County.  I want to ensure that our services are the best they can 
possibly be, and that the pay policy seeks to ensure we can attract, retain and 
motivate the best employees with the right skills to deliver first class services to our 
Council Tax payers and other stakeholders, that represent excellent Value for Money.  

Public sector finances continue to be squeezed under the Westminster government’s 
austerity policy, with financial settlements falling year on year in real terms. Whilst the 
“pay freeze” has given way to a “pay cap”, this has now also been, if not dropped, 
then at least relaxed. The forecast costs of uplifts for lowest paid staff, in line with 
minimum wage legislation, and an overall pay award which reflects the increases in 
living costs, is the single largest financial pressure faced by the council.    

The Council is one of the main employers in this area and it is important that it can 
offer good quality employment on reasonable terms and conditions and fair rates of 
pay.  This has a beneficial impact on the quality of life within the community as well as 
on the local economy.   

The Council is committed to taking an open and transparent approach to pay, which 
will enable the local taxpayer to readily access our pay policy statement, understand 
and take an informed view of whether local decisions on all aspects of remuneration 
are fair and make best use of public funds. To assist with this, Carmarthenshire County 
Council has a cross party politically balanced Members Pay Advisory Group that 
advises the Council on the content of its Pay Policy Statement.

Councillor Emlyn Dole

 

Leader Carmarthenshire County Council

Tudalen 41



4

2.0 Purpose

Under section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has the 
“power to appoint officers on such reasonable terms and conditions as the 
authority thinks fit”. This Pay Policy Statement (the ‘statement’) sets out the 
Councils approach to pay in accordance with the requirements of Section 38 
of the Localism Act 2011. It takes account of the “Pay Accountability in Local 
Government in Wales” Statutory Guidance issued by the Welsh Government in 
May 2017 which has regard to the Public Services Staff Commission Guidance 
published in December 2016. 

The purpose of the statement is to provide transparency with regard to the 
Council’s approach to setting the pay of its employees (excluding those 
working in local authority schools) by identifying the methods by which salaries 
of all employees are determined. This requires English and Welsh Local 
Authorities to produce and publish a Pay Policy Statement for each financial 
year detailing:

 The Council’s policies towards all aspects and elements of the 
remuneration of its Officers and Chief Officers are included within 
Appendices A to M of this Pay policy Statement;

 The approach to the publication of, and access to, information relating 
to all aspects of the remuneration of Chief Officers;

 The Council’s policy on the remuneration of its lowest paid employees;

 The relationship between the remuneration of its Chief Officers and other 
employees.

This is Carmarthenshire County Council’s seventh annual Pay Policy Statement.  
This Statement covers the period 1st April 2018 to 31st March 2019.

Once approved by the full Council, this policy statement will supersede the 
2017/2018 Pay Policy Statement, and will be subject to review in accordance 
with the relevant legislation prevailing at that time.

Under Section 39 of the Localism Act, the Pay Policy Statement must be 
approved by a resolution of the Authority before it comes into force and be 
approved before 31st March immediately preceding the financial year to 
which it applies.

3.0 Legislative Framework

Tudalen 42



5

In determining the pay and remuneration of all of its employees, the Council 
will comply with all relevant employment legislation. This includes the Equality 
Act 2010, Part Time Employment (Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) 
Regulations 2000, The Agency Workers Regulations 2010 and where relevant, 
the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Earnings) Regulations.  With regard 
to the Equal Pay requirements contained within the Equality Act, the Council 
aims to ensure there is no pay discrimination within its pay structures and that 
all pay differentials can be objectively justified through the use of equality 
proofed Job Evaluation mechanisms which directly relate salaries to the 
requirements, demands and responsibilities of the role.

In accordance with the Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties and Public 
Authorities) Regulations 2017, the Authority also undertakes an equal pay audit 
and the report is published on our website. 

4.0 Scope of the Pay Policy

The Localism Act 2011 requires local authorities to develop and make public 
their Pay Policy on all aspects of Chief Officer remuneration (including on 
ceasing to hold office), and also in relation to the “lowest paid” in the Council, 
explaining their Policy on the relationship between remuneration for Chief 
Officers and other groups. 

The provisions in the Localism Act 2011 which relate to Pay Policy statements 
only apply to employees directly appointed and managed by the Council. 
Employees who are appointed and managed by school head 
teachers/Governing Bodies are, therefore, not required to be included within 
the scope of Pay Policy statements. This reflects the unique employment 
legislation position whereby all schools employees are employed by the local 
authority but decisions about the appointment and management of such 
employees are mostly discharged by head teachers/governing bodies, as 
appropriate. However, all Governing Bodies within Carmarthenshire (including 
Voluntary Aided Schools) have formally agreed to adopt the Single Status Pay 
Model and associated terms and conditions of employment for all locally 
employed staff, with the exception of Teachers who are employed under the 
nationally agreed Teachers Pay and Conditions. 

In the interests of consistency and transparency, the pay-related data which is 
set out in this Pay Policy statement takes into account the position not including 
those employees who are appointed and managed by head 
teachers/governing bodies.

Tudalen 43



6

5.0 Terms and Conditions of Employment

The Council employs approximately 8000 employees.  Their employment is 
covered by a range of terms and conditions drawn from either:

 National Joint Council for Local Government Services
 Joint National Council for Chief Executives
 Joint National Council for Chief Officers
 Soulbury Committee
 The Joint National Council for Youth and Community Workers
 School Teachers Pay and Conditions

The following are provided as Appendices to this policy:

 Carmarthenshire County Council’s Pay Grades - Local Government Services 
Employees (Appendix A)

 Carmarthenshire County Council’s JNC Chief Executive and Chief Officer 
Pay Grades (Appendix B)

 Officer Employment Procedure Rules ( Appendix C)
 National Pay Grades - Soulbury (Appendix D)
 National Pay Grades - JNC Youth & Community Worker (Appendix E)
 Local Government Services Employees - Acting Up and Honoraria Schemes 

(Appendix F)
 Market Supplement Scheme (Appendix G)
 Discretionary Compensation Regulations (Appendix H)
 Severance Scheme (Appendix I)
 Flexible Retirement Policy (Appendix J)
 JNC Local Authority Chief Executives Conditions of Service (Appendix K)
 JNC Local Authority Chief Officers Conditions of Service (Appendix L)
 Sample Written Statement of Particulars (Appendix M)

A breakdown of staff numbers by pay band and gender is included in the 
Equal Pay Audit/Equalities Report which is published separately.

National Pay Awards

For all employee groups, any nationally agreed pay awards, negotiated at 
a national level by the local government employers in conjunction with the 
recognised Trade Unions will be applied, including Chief Officers and the 
Chief Executive. The Council will pay these nationally agreed pay awards as 
and when determined unless full Council decides otherwise. 

Tudalen 44



7

At the time of writing, a National pay award for the period 1st April 2018 to 31st 
March 2020 was being consulted upon.  This includes:

Year 1

Higher increases at lower pay points (SCP 6 to 19) to continue to close the gap 
between NJC pay and the National Living Wage (NLW).  The new bottom rate 
would be £8.50 per hour on SCP 6.

2% increase for SCP 20 and above.

Year 2 (from 1/4/2019)

Bottom rate of £9 per hour.  The National Pay Spine will be remodelled on SCP’s 
6 to 28 to manage the compacting of differentials at the lower end of the Pay 
Structure.

The Council’s current pay model starts at SCP 9 which will increase to £8.68 per 
hour from 1st April 2018 and is therefore in excess of the National Living Wage 
of £7.83 per hour and very close to the Foundation Living Wage (non statutory) 
of £8.75 per hour.

The calculation of the Foundation Living Wage takes account of all pay 
including allowances such as the Council’s weekend working supplement and 
term time allowance so in effect this provides the higher Foundation Living 
Wage levels to large numbers of our lower paid staff.

Job Evaluation

Job evaluation is a systematic way of determining the value/worth of a job 
in relation to other jobs within an organisation. It aims to make a systematic 
comparison between jobs to assess their relative worth for the purpose of 
establishing a rational pay structure and pay equity between jobs.  The 
Council completed a job evaluation exercise in 2010/2011 in relation to posts 
governed by NJC employee conditions of service. A new pay and grading 
Structure, which was consulted upon with the recognised Trade Unions and 
based on the outcome of the job evaluation exercise, was introduced in 
2011/12. 

The Council uses the Greater London Provincial Council (GLPC) Scheme for 
evaluating all NJC jobs.  This is a recognized scheme within local government 
and was developed in conjunction with Trade Unions.

Tudalen 45



8

All evaluated NJC jobs are allocated a grade which maps across to the 
Council’s pay model which is based upon the nationally negotiated pay 
spine.  This determines the salaries of the large majority of the Council’s non-
teaching workforce.

All other pay-related terms and conditions are the subject of national and/or 
locally negotiated arrangements and referred to the Executive Board 
and/or Full Council as appropriate.

The senior manager grade (O) was introduced during 16/17 to address the 
differential between the top of this locally agreed grading structure and the 
bottom of the JNC pay scales. This is to provide the Authority with greater 
flexibility in the reallocation of responsibilities following the reduction in the 
number of Head of Service posts.  It is intended that a small number of posts 
will fall into this grade.  Any proposal to apply Grade O to any post must be 
agreed and authorised by the Chief Executive.

Starting salaries

All appointments to jobs with the Council are made at the minimum of the 
relevant pay grade, although this can be varied where necessary. 

The Recruiting Manager in conjunction with HR can authorise a variation of 
starting salary for all jobs other than those employed on Chief Officer terms 
and conditions.  The Appointments  Panel ‘A’ ( for Corporate Directors) will 
determine the staring salary of Directors and  Panel ‘B’  ( for Heads of Service) 
will determine the starting salary of Heads of Service. Full Council will 
determine the starting salary of the Chief Executive.

Other pay-related terms and conditions

All other pay-related allowances are the subject of national and/or locally 
negotiated agreements.  

The terms and conditions of employment relating to annual leave, hours of 
work, overtime payments, weekend working arrangements and sick pay for 
all employee groups (with the exception of teaching staff) are set out in our 
relevant People Management policies.

Acting Up and Honoraria Payments

There may be occasions when an employee is asked to carry out duties 
which are additional to those of their substantive post, for a period of time, 
or to ‘act up’ into a more senior job within the Council, covering the full 

Tudalen 46



9

range of duties of the higher job. In such circumstances an additional 
payment may be made in line with the Council’s policy on payment of 
acting up or honoraria.  The schemes can be found at Appendix F.  

The Chief Executive must approve any acting up or honoraria payments 
proposed for Chief Officers, or where the acting up or honoraria payments 
would result in the total pay package exceeding £100,000, then approval 
must be sought from full Council in consultation with the Independent 
Remuneration Panel.

Payment of honoraria will only apply to situations of more than four weeks 
duration and will normally be for the maximum period of up to 12 months, 
and subject to three monthly interval review unless otherwise agreed.

Market Supplement Scheme

The use of job evaluation enables the Council to set appropriate remuneration 
levels based on internal job size relativities within the Council.  However, from 
time to time, in exceptional circumstances it may be necessary to take account 
of the external pay market in order to attract and retain employees with the 
necessary specific experience, skills and capacity where these attributes are in 
short supply.

The Council has a Market Supplement Scheme to ensure that the requirement 
for any market pay supplements is objectively justified by reference to clear 
and transparent evidence of relevant market comparators, using appropriate 
data sources. It is the Council’s policy that any such additional payments are 
kept to a minimum and reviewed on a regular basis so that they can be 
withdrawn where no longer considered necessary for recruitment and 
retention. The principles underpinning this Market Supplement Scheme are 
equally applicable to all other employee groups within the Council and may 
be implemented accordingly.

Currently the Council pays the following market supplements in recognition of 
the significant recruitment and retention difficulties the service faces:

 Benefit Assessors 7.5% of basic salary
 Approved Mental Health Practitioners – £1000 allowance p.a. for 33 

sessions on day rota and £1500 p.a. allowance for 24 sessions on out of 
hours rota.

Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)

Tudalen 47



10

The Government has introduced auto-enrolment to encourage saving for 
retirement.  Subject to qualifying conditions, employees have a right to join 
the Local Government Pension Scheme (or the Teachers’ Pension Scheme, 
where applicable) and are contractually enrolled into the LGPS.  The 
Authority operates within the auto-enrolment framework set out within the 
Occupational and Personal Pension Schemes (Automatic Enrolment) 
Regulations 2010.

The employee contribution rates, which are defined by statute currently 
range between 5.5% and 12.5% of actual pensionable pay depending on 
the full time equivalent salary levels.  The employer contribution rate is set by 
actuaries who advise the Dyfed LGPS Fund and is reviewed on a triennial 
basis in order to ensure that it is appropriately funded.  The employer’s 
contribution rate effective from 1st April 2018 is 17.8%.

Other employee benefits

The Council believes that it has a responsibility to help support the health, safety 
and wellbeing of its employees in order to ensure that they are able to perform 
at their best.  As part of this approach and in common with other large 
employers the Council offers staff benefits in line with its statutory obligations 
and employment good practice, such as eye test vouchers for users of display 
screen equipment at work, and salary sacrifice schemes including Cycle to 
Work and Car Salary Sacrifice Scheme.

6.0 Decision Making including Consideration of Value for Money

In accordance with the Constitution of the Council, the Executive Board are 
responsible for decision making in terms of pay, terms and conditions and 
severance arrangements in relation to employees of the Council. The Council 
has agreed that a politically balanced Pay Policy Advisory Panel be established 
to consider the Council’s Pay Policy prior to its submission to County Council for 
approval.

Under the Local Authorities (Standing Order) (Wales) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 any decision to determine or vary the remuneration of chief 
officers, or those to be appointed as chief officers, must be made by full 
Council.  

Since 2002, the Council has reduced the number of senior posts significantly 
from 39 Heads of Service to 14 and has reduced the number of Directors by 

Tudalen 48



11

1 and Assistant Chief Executives by 1.  (See section on Senior Pay 
Remuneration).

These reductions have been made possible by reviewing and 
amalgamating roles and responsibilities to deliver value for money.  

This principle is applied to all posts which become vacant or via restructuring 
if appropriate, to ensure that the service can be provided as effectively and 
cost efficiently as possible.

7.0 Collective Bargaining Arrangements with Trade Unions

The following trade unions are part of the national machinery for pay 
bargaining and terms and conditions:     

NJC for Local Government Services

UNISON

GMB

UNITE

JNC for Chief Officers

UNISON

GMB

Soulbury Committee

Association of Educational Psychologists (AEP)

PROSPECT

NEU

JNC for Youth & Community Workers

UNISON

UNITE

NEU 

Teachers

NAHT

NASUWT

Tudalen 49



12

NEU

UCAC

ASCL

Many of these trade unions are also recognised for the purposes of 
consultation and negotiation on a collective basis in relation to other 
matters, which are not determined by national negotiating bodies.   
Carmarthenshire County Council provides three trade unions with a Facilities 
Time Agreement to undertake representation and consultation/negotiation 
on behalf of non-teaching staff.  The three recognised Trade Unions are 
currently UNISON, GMB and UNITE.  Negotiations are conducted with the aim 
of reaching agreement and avoiding disputes.  

8.0 Senior Pay Remuneration

The Chief Executive

Mr. Mark James has been the Chief Executive of Carmarthenshire County 
Council since 2002.  He has over 40 years’ experience in local government and 
has worked at the heart of government in Westminster, where he represented 
33 London Boroughs.  He also worked for the City of Westminster and London 
Borough of Barnet before becoming the Chief Executive of Boston, Lincolnshire 
in 1993.    

Mr James has been/is involved in a number of National Boards including the 
21st Century Schools Board.  He has been the national lead on education in 
Wales for SOLACE and has been the regional lead Chief Executive for school 
improvement in the South West and Mid Wales area, advising the Regional 
Consortia Joint Committee.

Mr James led the Swansea Bay City Deal bid for governments in Westminster 
and Cardiff, securing a £1.3billion programme of investment in the region which 
was signed by the Prime Minister and the First Minister for Wales in March 2017.

The Chief Executive has overall corporate management and operational 
responsibility for all staff and ensures the provision of professional and impartial 
advice in the decision making process to the Executive Board, Scrutiny 
committees, the Full Council and other committees. The Chief Executive is also 
required to represent the Authority on partnership and external bodies (as 
required by statute or the council) and provides these services, on a politically 

Tudalen 50



13

neutral basis. In essence, the Chief Executive is the senior Officer who leads and 
takes responsibility for the Council.

The Council is a large organisation with an annual revenue budgeted spend of 
some £553m, and a 5 year capital investment programme of £199m, delivering 
a wide and diverse range of services which the citizens of the County depend 
upon. Responding to the ongoing reductions in public service spending 
requires authorities to significantly change the way that they manage their 
services. The Council also has an annual spend of £47m on its Housing revenue 
account together with a, £56m capital investment programme in respect of its 
Housing stock.

The role of the Chief Executive is a full-time and permanent position, and the 
post holder is selected on merit, against objective criteria, following public 
advert. The Chief Executive is appointed by full Council.

As the Head of Paid Service, the Chief Executive works closely with Councillors 
to deliver the strategic aims of the Council and the following priorities are 
included in our Well-being objectives:

Start Well 

1. Help to give every child the best start in life and improve their early life 
experiences 

2. Help children live healthy lifestyles 

3. Continue to improve learner attainment for all 

4. Reduce the number of young adults that are Not in Education, Employment 
or Training 

Live Well 

5. Tackle poverty by doing all we can to prevent it, help people into work and 
improve the lives of those living in poverty 

6. Create more jobs and growth throughout the county 

7. Increase the availability of rented and affordable homes 

8. Help people live healthy lives (tackling risky behaviour and obesity) 

9. Support good connections with friends, family and safer communities 

Age Well 

10. Support the growing numbers of older people to maintain dignity and 
independence in their later years 

11. A Council wide approach to support Ageing Well in Carmarthenshire 

Tudalen 51



14

In a Healthy and Safe Environment 

12. Look after the environment now and for the future 

13. Improve the highway and transport infrastructure and connectivity

14. Promote Welsh Language and Culture

The salary of the Chief Executive as Head of Paid Service with effect from the 
1st April 2017 is £171,539 and falls within a range of four incremental points 
between £159,201 rising to a maximum of £171,539 per annum.   The Council 
has a statutory duty to appoint a Returning Officer for specified Elections and 
Referenda. The Chief Executive undertakes this role. The returning Officer is 
personally responsible for a wide range of functions in relation to the conduct 
of Elections and Referenda, and is paid for discharging these functions in 
accordance with prescribed fees.

Fees for local elections were agreed by the Policy and Review Committee in 
April 1999.  Fees for non-local elections are set and reimbursed by the Cabinet 
Office or Welsh Government over which the Council has no jurisdiction.  

Expenses in relation to car mileage, public transport, overnight 
accommodation and parking etc. are claimed back in accordance with the 
Council’s Travel and Subsistence Policy.

The Chief Executive is not an active member of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme as detailed in the Authority’s published Statement of Accounts. There 
have been no increases or enhancements to the pension outside of standard 
arrangements. 

The notice period is 3 months.

Chief Officers – Senior Staff

For the purposes of this Pay Policy statement, “Chief Officers” are as defined 
within Section 43 of the Localism Act. 

The 21 Chief Officer posts within the substantive structure at Carmarthenshire 
County Council which fall within the statutory definition of Section 43, as at 
31st March 2018 are:

 Chief Executive (1 post)
 Corporate Directors (5 posts)
 Assistant Chief Executive (1 post)
 Heads of Service (14 posts) 

Tudalen 52



15

In addition to the substantive structure the following posts are shared regionally 
with our partners:

 Head of Regional Collaboration (funded by CCC & 5 Regional Partners)
 Head of Integrated Services (funded by CCC/Health) 
 Head of School Effectiveness (funded CCC/Pembs)
 Head of Commissioning (funded CCC/Pembs)

The Council does not permit an employee occupying any post on the Council’s 
agreed establishment to be paid other than via the Council’s payroll.

Pay

The Pay Advisory Group recommends that Senior Officer Remuneration be 
subject to National Pay Awards only, and that no further independent 
evaluation be undertaken for the year 2018-2019.

For the purposes of this statement, senior management means ‘chief officers’ 
as defined within S43 of the Localism Act.  The posts falling within the statutory 
definition are set out below, with details of their basic salary as at 1st April 2018.  
These details are available on the Council’s website. 

 Chief Executive as the head of paid service - the salary of the post falls within 
a range of four incremental points between £159,201 rising to a maximum of 
£171,539 per annum;   

 Corporate Directors as statutory and non-statutory chief officers - The salary 
of the posts fall within a range of four incremental points between £114,523 
rising to a maximum of £123,218 per annum;

 Assistant Chief Executive as direct report to the Head of Paid Service - The 
salary of the posts fall within a range of four incremental points between 
£97,122 rising to a maximum of £102,917 per annum;

 Heads of Service (including the Monitoring Officer) as direct reports to 
statutory and non-statutory chief officers - The salary of the posts fall within a 
range of four incremental points between £85,042 rising to a maximum of 
£90,709 per annum.

These are current salaries relevant at the date of publication.  They will be 
subject to change following a decision regarding national pay awards and it is 
recommended that Council agree that this Policy will be updated to reflect the 
revised salaries as appropriate. 

Following appointment and on completion of a satisfactory probationary 
period, progression through the incremental scale of the relevant grade is 

Tudalen 53



16

subject to satisfactory performance assessed on an annual basis. The Council 
does not pay bonus or performance related pay to any of its staff.

Details of Chief Officers’ pay are published in the Statement of Accounts.

Additions to Salary of Chief Officers

Chief Officers are remunerated in accordance with their contracts of 
employment, which provide for a four point incremental salary scale, pension 
contributions, professional fees and relevant telephone allowances.

Where Chief Officers (and all other employees) use their private vehicles on 
Council business, the Council pays a standard mileage rate of 45 pence per 
mile.  The Council also reimburses any other reasonable expenses, incurred by 
the Chief Officer whilst on Council business, on production of receipts and in 
accordance with JNC conditions and other local conditions.

In addition to the above, the Chief Officers who undertake the following roles 
receive an additional allowance of 10% of basic salary:

 Deputy Chief Executive
 JNC Heads of Service fulfilling a statutory role, or where significant Head of 

Service responsibilities have been transferred following a merger of 
portfolios.

Changes to Chief Officer Remuneration

Any determination of the level or changes to the level or remuneration to be 
paid to a Chief Officer will be determined by Full Council in line with the 
requirements of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (Wales) Regulations 
(Amendment) Regulations 2014.

The Council employs Chief Officers under JNC terms and conditions which are 
incorporated into individual contracts of employment. The JNC for Chief 
Officers negotiates on national (UK) annual cost of living pay increases for this 
group, and any award of same is determined on this basis. Chief Officers 
employed under JNC terms and conditions are contractually entitled to any 
national JNC determined pay rises and this council will therefore pay these as 
and when determined in accordance with current contractual requirements.

Recruitment and Appointment of Chief Officers

Tudalen 54



17

The Council’s Policy and Procedure relating to the recruitment of Chief Officers 
is contained within the Officer Employment Procedure Rules as set out in the 
Council’s Constitution.  

The determination of the remuneration to be offered to any newly appointed 
Chief Officer will be in accordance with the approved pay structure and 
relevant Council policies in place at the time of recruitment.

Any salary that exceeds the threshold of £100,000 must be approved 
beforehand by Full Council. 

Where the Council remains unable to recruit Chief Officers under a contract of 
employment or there is a need for interim support to provide cover for a vacant 
substantive Chief Officer post, the Council will, where necessary, consider 
temporary internal acting up arrangements in line with the Council’s Payment 
of Acting Up and Honoraria Policy or external interim appointments. Internal 
acting up arrangements can be appointed up to a maximum of 12 months in 
line with the Standing Order Regulations.

Any appointments or severance payments above £100k and any amendments 
to this Pay Policy will require the approval of Full Council. This figure may be 
affected by the Public Sector Exit Payment Cap and Recovery Regulations (set 
out in the Small Business, Enterprise and Employment Act 2015), currently 
deferred for further public consultation. The Pay Policy will be updated 
accordingly following any such legislative changes.

Joint Appointments

The White Paper ‘Reforming Local Government: Power to Local People’ is the 
Welsh Government’s statement of intent about the future of Local Government 
in Wales. The White Paper sets out the Welsh Government’s proposals for reform 
in the following fields: local democracy, the roles and remuneration of Elected 
Members and senior officers, community governance and Community 
Councils, community rights, corporate improvement, service performance, 
scrutiny, audit, inspection and regulation, and finance. 

One of the main themes is the importance of working collaboratively, therefore 
when senior vacancies arise, including at Chief Officer level, the views of 
elected members will be sought as to whether consideration of a joint 
appointment would be appropriate. If members are supportive, discussions will 
take place with partners and neighbouring authorities to determine whether 

Tudalen 55



18

the post can be reconfigured as a joint appointment, instead of automatically 
being filled on a like for like basis. 

If a decision is made to progress with a joint appointment, both partners will 
need to reach agreement on the job profile, salary and overall remuneration 
package of the post, together with the proportion that each party will fund. 
Where the Council will be the employer of the joint appointee, the 
determination of the salary and other pay arrangements will be in accordance 
with the Pay Policy.

Any Chief Officer appointment will be made in accordance with the 
Constitution.

Independent Remuneration Panel

Section 143A of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 refers to the 
Independent Remuneration Panel in Wales (“the IRP”) and sets out their 
functions in relation to salaries of heads of paid service.  The IRP may make 
recommendations about any policy in this Pay Policy Statement which relates 
to the salary of the Council’s head of paid service and any proposed change 
to the salary of the Council’s Head of Paid Service.  The Council, will, as 
required, consult the IRP in relation to any change to the salary of the head of 
paid service which is not commensurate with a change of the salaries of the 
Council’s other staff, and will have regard to any recommendation received 
from the IRP when deciding whether or not to proceed with making the 
change.  

The Council is required to identify in this pay policy statement whether any such 
referral has been made to the IRP, and if so, the nature of the referral, the IRP’s 
decision and the Council’s response.  The Council has not made any such 
referral to the IRP.

An authority which chooses not to follow the advice of the Panel may become 
subject to a Ministerial direction to reconsider their position.  The Act also 
provides that authorities will be able to reduce (but not increase) the salary 
payable to their head of paid service in advance of a recommendation from 
the IRP, so long as the contract under which the salary is payable does not 
prevent the authority from changing the salary after receiving a 
recommendation. The Local Government (Wales) Act 2015 extends the power 
of the IRP, under section 143A of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 
2011 to cover salaries payable to chief officers (using the Localism Act 
definition) as well as the head of paid service.

Tudalen 56



19

9.0 Talent Management

Our strategic approach to supporting Talent Management across the Council 
is underpinned by our People Strategy and the standards by which we strive as 
an Investors in People employer.  We aim to support a workforce that is 
innovative, skilled, motivated, well informed, high performing, proud to work for 
Carmarthenshire County Council and committed to delivering high quality 
services to the public. 

Key to delivering this is our ability to successfully recruit, retain and develop our 
employees to realise their full potential.  The following provides an overview of 
our strategic approach to Talent Management: 

Performance Management - Our ‘Helping People Perform’ (Appraisal) process 
which as well as placing an emphasis on performance, seeks to put in place 
personal development plans, developing the skills necessary not only for current 
roles, but with a future focus to support career development and succession 
planning. We have a supportive framework for Mentoring and Coaching at all 
levels and collaborate with key partners in providing this support. 

Career Development – In addition to operating internal and external 
secondment opportunities, we encourage effective Career Development 
Conversations – providing potential future leaders and managers with the 
means to identify effective learning opportunities e.g. shadowing /attachments 
to projects  that support organisational improvement  such as our Transform, 
Innovate and Change programme,  Internal Reviewers for Investors in People 
as well as those that offer both experiential and qualification opportunities e.g. 
Future Leaders Programme, Academi Wales Summer School . 

Succession Planning – Our Work Ready Programme has successfully supported 
Apprentices and Graduates to gain permanent employment in key service 
areas. Some of our most critical and effective areas for succession planning 
include occupations within social care. Our Workforce Development 
programme equips newly qualified social workers with the advanced 
knowledge, skills and qualifications they need as they progress to experienced 
practitioners and, in some cases to more senior practice roles.  Our Language 
Skills Strategy not only supports statutory requirements for Welsh Language but 
ensures that we are planning for future skills development to sustain excellent 
service provision. 

10.0 Performance Related Pay

Tudalen 57



20

The Council does not apply any bonuses or performance related pay to its staff.

11.0 Support for Lower Paid Staff

SCP 6, SCP 7 and SCP 8 have been incrementally removed from the Council’s 
Pay Structure to ensure that the Council meets the requirement of the statutory 
National Minimum Wage (NMW).  Currently the lowest point of the Council’s 
pay scale (SCP9) is £7.97 per hour which is above the statutory National 
Minimum Wage of £7.50 per hour. 

This Authority pays supplements for weekend working (8%) and term time 
working (4%) which increase the pay of mainly lower paid staff to a minimum of 
£8.61for weekend workers and £ 8.29 for term time workers.  

Upon implementation of the  nationally negotiated pay award, the Council has 
decided that it will pay its lowest paid staff a “living wage supplement” where 
appropriate, to ensure that all our staff receive a minimum payment which is 
equivalent to the £8.75 – the rate set by the Living Wage Foundation.  This will 
be effective from 1st April 2018.

12.0 Off Payroll Arrangements

Where the Council is unable to recruit to a job under a contract of employment 
or where there is a need for specialist support for a specific project, the Council 
will where necessary consider engaging individuals under a contract for 
services.  These will be sourced through the relevant procurement process 
contained with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules, ensuring the council is 
able to demonstrate value for money from competition in securing the relevant 
service.

Where the contract for service is to provide cover for a vacant post, in addition 
to ensuring adherence to Contract Procedure Rules, decision making in relation 
to the appointment will be in accordance with the Council’s rules in relation to 
appointments i.e. Appointments Panel A will determine appointments at 
Director level and Appointments Panel B will determine appointments at Heads 
of Service level.  Heads of Service or their nominated officer will determine 
appointments at Accountable Manager level and below.

Tudalen 58



21

With effect from April 2017, the UK Government introduced “Intermediaries 
Legislation” known as IR35 that reformed tax rules of off payroll working in the 
public sector.  The Council is compliant with this revised legislation.

13.0 Exit Policy

Early Retirement, Voluntary Redundancy and Compulsory Redundancy

The Council’s approach to statutory and discretionary payments on termination 
of employment of employees, prior to reaching normal retirement age, is set 
out within its Discretionary Compensation Policy statement. This discretionary 
policy was agreed by County Council on 9th August 2014, in accordance with 
Local Government Pension Regulations and is attached at Appendix H.  

Any other payments falling outside the provisions or the relevant periods of 
contractual notice shall be subject to a formal decision made in accordance 
with the Scheme of Delegation as contained within the Council’s Constitution.

The Council operates a Severance Scheme for all its employees, payments 
under which are authorized in accordance with the above discretionary policy. 
Our current Severance Scheme is attached at Appendix I.

The Authority will comply with the Welsh Government’s guidance that full 
Council should be given the opportunity to vote before large severance 
packages beyond a particular threshold are approved for Chief Officers 
leaving the organisation. The guidance states that “as with salaries on 
appointment, the Welsh Ministers consider £100,000 is the right level for that 
threshold to be set. Members must be made aware of any statutory or 
contractual entitlements due to the employee and the consequences of a 
non-approval by Council, in which failure to fulfil the statutory or contractual 
obligations may enable the employee to claim damages for breach of 
contract”. 

When calculating the value of a severance package, the following payments 
will be included:

a. Salary paid in lieu of notice
b. Lump sum redundancy/severance payment
c. Cost to the Council of the strain on the pension fund arising from early 

access to an unreduced pension.

Flexible Retirement

Tudalen 59



22

Chief Officers and all other eligible Council Employees are permitted to take 
flexible retirement in accordance with the provisions of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme and the Council’s Flexible Retirement Scheme.

Exit Cap and Recovery Provisions

The UK Government intends to introduce Regulations that will impose a cap of 
£95,000 on exit payments for public sector workers.  It also intends to develop 
regulations to enable the recovery of exit payments made to employees who 
leave the public sector and return within 12 months, although the timetable for 
these regulations remains unclear.  The minimum salary to which the recovery 
provisions will apply is £80,000 per annum.  If and when the UK Government 
introduces these Regulations, Council policies will be updated as appropriate 
to take this into account. 
 
Welsh Ministers will have the power to relax the cap in relation to exit payments 
made by authorities that wholly or mainly exercise devolved functions – this 
includes (but is not limited to) exit payments made to staff of NHS bodies, local 
authorities, fire and rescue services, National Park authorities and sponsored 
bodies in Wales. This power will come into effect when the cap is introduced 
although until the regulations are finalised it is difficult to be clear on how Welsh 
Ministers will decide to operate this waiver in practice. 

Re-employment

Employees who voluntarily leave the Council’s employment under the 
Council’s Severance Scheme cannot be re-employed in any capacity 
including on a casual basis, until at least 1 year has elapsed.  Under no 
circumstances should an employee be re-appointed into the same or similar 
job to the one in which s/he was employed at the time of leaving. All such 
appointments should be made via the usual Authority’s recruitment 
procedures. 

However, in exceptional circumstances only, employees may be re-employed 
by the Council prior to 1 year, subject to the agreement of the Chief Executive 
and Leader of the Council. In approving a re-employment the Authority will 
need to be satisfied that: 

 The employee is not being re-employed in a role or capacity, which is 
broadly similar to the role from which they left voluntarily

 The rate of pay applied to the work undertaken by the re-engaged 
employee should be that appropriate to the work to be done and not the 

Tudalen 60



23

grading which applied to the employee prior to the end of their current 
contract

 The employment should be for a fixed term, not exceeding one year, unless 
there are exceptional circumstances; and 

 The arrangement must provide financial / operational advantage to the 
Council. 

This will be operated entirely at the Council’s discretion and the decision in 
respect of each application will be final.

14.0 Pay Relativities within the Council

Lowest Paid Employees

The Council’s definition of lowest paid persons for the purposes of this statement 
is:

 Those employed under a contract of employment with the Council who are 
employed on full time 37 hours per week equivalent salaries; and 

 Whose total remuneration is equivalent to Spinal Column Point (SCP) 9 of the 
nationally negotiated pay spine used within the Council’s local grading 
structure.  

This definition is adopted to correlate with the National Joint Council (NJC) for 
Local Government Services recognition of lower paid employees within the 
national pay spine.  

The relationship between the rate of pay for the “lowest paid” employees and 
the Council’s Chief Officers is regulated by the processes used for determining 
pay and grading structures as set out in this Pay Policy Statement. 

The statutory guidance under the Localism Act recommends the use of pay 
multiples as a means of measuring the relationship between pay rates across 
the workforce and that of senior managers, as included within the Hutton 
“Review of Fair Pay in the Public Sector” (2010). 

Will Hutton was asked by the UK Government to explore the case for a fixed 
limit on dispersion of pay through a requirement that no public sector manager 
can earn more than 20 times the lowest paid person in the organization.

 Hutton concluded that the relationship to median earnings was a more 
relevant measure and the Government’s Code of Recommended Practice on 
Data Transparency recommends the publication of the ratio between the 

Tudalen 61



24

highest rate of pay and the median average pay of the whole of the Council’s 
workforce (but excluding teachers and other employees appointed and 
managed by schools, in the case of local authorities). 

The relationship between the rate of pay for the lowest paid and chief officers 
is determined by the processes used for determining pay and grading structures 
as set out earlier in this policy statement.  

As part of its commitment to pay transparency, and following the 
recommendations of the Hutton “Review of Fair Pay in the Public Sector” (2011), 
the Council publishes the following information on an annual basis:

 The multiple between the annual salary of the lowest paid Council 
employee and the Chief Executive (full-time equivalent basis) as a ratio 

 The multiple between the annual salary of the lowest paid Council 
employee and the average Chief Officer (full-time equivalent basis) as a 
ratio 

 The multiple between median earning of Council employees and the Chief 
Executive (fulltime equivalent basis) as a ratio 

 The multiple between median earning of Council employees and the 
average Chief Officer (full-time equivalent basis) as a ratio.

The information for 2018-2019 is as follows:

Multiple of Salary Ratio

 The multiple between the annual salary of the lowest paid Council 
employee and the Chief Executive (full-time equivalent basis) as a ratio 
11.16:1

 The multiple between the annual salary of the lowest paid Council 
employee and the average Chief Officer (full-time equivalent basis)as a 
ratio 6.53:1

 The multiple between median earning of Council employees and the Chief 
Executive (full-time equivalent basis) as a ratio 9.13:1

 The multiple between median earning of Council employees and the 
average Chief Officer (full-time equivalent basis) as a ratio 5.34:1

The median salary in the Council is £18,793 (all staff managed by schools have 
been excluded from the calculation).

All other pay related allowances are subject to either nationally or locally 
negotiated rates, that are determined in accordance with collective 
bargaining machinery and/or Council Policy.  In determining its grading 
structure and setting remuneration levels for all posts, the Council takes 

Tudalen 62



25

account of the need to ensure value for money against the ability to recruit 
and retain appropriately skilled and experienced employees that can deliver 
high quality services to the public.

New appointments will normally be made at the minimum of the relevant 
grade, although this can be varied where necessary subject to the qualifying 
criteria within the Council’s Recruitment Salaries Guidance and/or Market 
Supplement Scheme.

15.0 Publication

Upon approval by the full Council, this Pay Policy statement will be published 
on the Council’s website. 

In addition, for posts where pay is at least £60,000 per annum, as required under 
the Accounts and Audit (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2014, the Council’s 
Annual Statement of Accounts will include a note setting out the total amount 
of: 

a) Salary, fees or allowances paid to or receivable by the person in the 
current and previous year

b) any bonuses so paid or receivable by the person in the current and 
previous year

c) any sums payable by way of expenses allowance that are chargeable 
to UK income tax

d) any compensation for loss of employment and any other payments 
connected with termination

e) any benefits received that do not fall within the above 

The authority will present this statement to full council before it is formally 
adopted and before the end of each financial year, i.e. 31 March.  

(If you require this information in an alternative format (for example large print), 
please contact People Management on Ext: 6184 or email: 
PMBusinessSupportUnit@carmarthenshire.gov.uk) 

Tudalen 63



26

Spinal Apr-17 Apr-17 Apr-17 Apr-17 Apr-17 Apr-17
Point Salary(£'s) Hrly Rate Salary(£'s) Hrly Rate Salary(£'s) Hrly Rate ManualAPT&C

Grade Structure Old Scales
BASIC + 8% BASIC + 4%BASIC ONLY

7 Grade 4
8 Grade 5

Grade A 9 15,375 7.9693 16,605 8.6068 15,990 8.2880 Grade 6
Grade B 10 15,613 8.0926 16,862 8.7400 16,238 8.4166

Grad
e C

11 15,807 8.1932 17,072 8.8489 16,439 8.5208
12 16,123 8.3570 17,413 9.0256 16,768 8.6913
13 16,491 8.5477 17,810 9.2314 17,151 8.8898
14 16,781 8.6980 18,123 9.3936 17,452 9.0458

Grad
e C

Sc
ale

 2

Sc
ale

 3

Grad
e D

15 17,072 8.8489 18,438 9.5569 17,755 9.2029
16 17,419 9.0287 18,813 9.7513 18,116 9.3900
17 17,772 9.2117 19,194 9.9488 18,483 9.5802

Sc
ale

 3

Grad
e D

18 18,070 9.3662 19,516 10.1157 18,793 9.7409
19 18,746 9.7165 20,246 10.4940 19,496 10.1053
20 19,430 10.0711 20,984 10.8766 20,207 10.4738
21 20,138 10.4381 21,749 11.2731 20,944 10.8558

Grad
e D

Sc
ale

 4

Grad
e E

22 20,661 10.7091 22,314 11.5659 21,487 11.1373
23 21,268 11.0238 22,969 11.9054 22,119 11.4649
24 21,962 11.3835 23,719 12.2942 22,840 11.8386
25 22,658 11.7442 24,471 12.6840 23,564 12.2138

Grad
e E

Sc
ale

 5

Grad
e F

26 23,398 12.1278 25,270 13.0981 24,334 12.6130
27 24,174 12.5300 26,108 13.5325 25,141 13.0312
28 24,964 12.9395 26,961 13.9746 25,963 13.4573

Grad
e F

Sc
ale

 6

Grad
e G

29 25,951 13.4511 28,027 14.5271 26,989 13.9891Grad
e G

SO
130 26,822 13.9026 28,968 15.0149 27,895 14.4587

31 27,668 14.3411 29,881 15.4881 28,775 14.9148

Grad
e H

Grad
e G

SO
1

32 28,485 14.7645 30,764 15.9458 29,624 15.3549
Grad

e H

SO
233 29,323 15.1989 31,669 16.4149 30,496 15.8069

34 30,153 15.6291 32,565 16.8793 31,359 16.2542
35 30,785 15.9567 33,248 17.2333 32,016 16.5947
36 31,601 16.3796 34,129 17.6900 32,865 17.0348

Grad
e I

POB

Grad
e H

SO
2

POA

37 32,486 16.8384 35,085 18.1855 33,785 17.5117Grad
e I

POB
38 33,437 17.3313 36,112 18.7178 34,774 18.0243
39 34,538 17.9020 37,301 19.3341 35,920 18.6183
40 35,444 18.3716 38,280 19.8415 36,862 19.1066

Grad
e I

POB

POC

Grad
e J

41 36,379 18.8562 39,289 20.3645 37,834 19.6104

POC

Grad
e J

POD42 37,306 19.3367 40,290 20.8834 38,798 20.1100
43 38,237 19.8193 41,296 21.4048 39,766 20.6118

Grad
e K

Grad
e J

POD

44 39,177 20.3065 42,311 21.9309 40,744 21.1187
45 40,057 20.7626 43,262 22.4238 41,659 21.5930Grad

e K

POE

POD

46 41,025 21.2643 44,307 22.9655 42,666 22.1149
47 41,967 21.7526 45,324 23.4926 43,646 22.6229
48 42,899 22.2357 46,331 24.0146 44,615 23.1251
49 43,821 22.7136 47,327 24.5308 45,574 23.6222

Grad
e K

POE

POF

Grad
e L

50 44,708 23.1733 48,285 25.0274 46,496 24.1001
51 45,632 23.6523 49,283 25.5447 47,457 24.5982
52 46,532 24.1188 50,255 26.0485 48,393 25.0834
53 47,436 24.5873 51,231 26.5544 49,333 25.5706
54 49,220 25.5120 53,158 27.5532 51,189 26.5326
55 51,749 26.8229 55,889 28.9688 53,819 27.8958
56 54,267 28.1280 58,608 30.3781 56,438 29.2533
57 56,791 29.4363 61,334 31.7910 59,063 30.6139
58 61,032 31.6345 65,915 34.1655 63,473 32.8997
59 64,163 33.2574 69,296 35.9180 66,730 34.5879
60 67,456 34.9642 72,852 37.7611 70,154 36.3627
61 70,916 36.7576 76,589 39.6981 73,753 38.2281

Grad
e O

Grad
e L

POG

Grad
e M

Sn
r M

gr

Grad
e N

Appendix A – NJC Pay Scales

SCP 8removed from pay scale on 1st October 2015 as agreed by Full Council on 24th February 2015

Tudalen 64



27

Appendix B – Salaries for Chief Executive/Chief Officers w.e.f. 
01/04/2017

Chief Executive

£ Incremental Point
171,539 4
168,287 3
165,041 2
159,201 1

Directors

£ Incremental Point
123,218 4
121,045 3
118,873 2
114,523 1

Assistant Chief Executive

£ Incremental Point
102,917 4
102,240 3
100,535 2
97,122 1

Heads of Service (1)

£ Incremental Point
90,709 4
89,290 3
87,875 2
85,042 1

Tudalen 65



28

Appendix C – Recruitment of Chief Executive and Chief Officers

1. Recruitment of Chief Executive and Chief Officers -Officer Employment Procedure 
Rules

These Rules are designed to conform with the requirements of the Local 
Authorities (Standing Orders) (Wales) Regulations 2006 (“the Regulations”) as 
amended by the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (Wales) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 (“the Amending Regulations”). Some of the Rules are also 
locally determined but in the event of any conflict with the Regulations, the 
latter shall prevail.  The Rules covered by the Regulations cannot be amended 
other than by legislation. These Rules need to be read in conjunction with the 
full Regulations and Amending Regulations, copies of which are available from 
Legal Services.  

In these Rules, the following terms have the meaning prescribed by the 
Regulations:

(a) “Chief Officer” means the Head of its Paid Service ; a statutory Chief Officer 
in paragraph (a), (c) or (d) of Section 2(6) of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 (“the 1989 Act”); a non-statutory Chief Officer within the 
meaning of Section 2(7) of the 1989 Act above; the Monitoring Officer and 
Head of Democratic Services; and any reference to an appointment or 
purported appointment of a Chief Officer includes a reference to the 
engagement or purported engagement of such an Officer under a contract 
of employment.

(b) “Head of Paid Service” means the officer designated under Section 4(1) of 
the 1989 Act.

(c) “Chief Finance Officer” means the officer having responsibility for the 
purposes of Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972.

(d) “Monitoring Officer” means the officer designated under Section 5(1) of the 
1989 Act.

(e) “Head of Democratic Service” means the officer designated under Section 
8 of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011.

(f) “Deputy Chief Officer” means a person within the meaning of Section 2(8) 
of the 1989 Act.

(g) “disciplinary action” in relation to a member of staff of the Council means 
any action occasioned by alleged misconduct which, if proved, would, 

Tudalen 66



29

according to the usual practice of the Council, be recorded on the member 
of staff’s personal file, and includes any proposal for dismissal of a member of 
staff for any reason other than redundancy, permanent ill-health or infirmity of 
mind or body, but does not include failure to renew a contract of employment 
for a fixed term. 1

(h) "member of staff" means a person appointed to or holding a paid office or 
employment, under the Council.

(i) “remuneration” has the same meaning as in Section 43(43) of the Localism 
Act 2011

2. Recruitment of Chief Officers

2.1. Where the Council propose to appoint a Chief Officer within the terms 
of the Regulations and the remuneration which it proposes to pay to the 
Chief Officer is £100,000 or more per annum it shall take the steps set out 
in paragraph 2.2.3.

2.2. Where the Council proposes to appoint a Chief Officer and where it is 
not proposed to pay to the Chief Officer the remuneration mentioned in 
paragraph 2.1 and it is not proposed that the appointment be made 
exclusively from among its existing officers it shall take the steps set out in 
paragraph 2.2.3.

2.2.3. The Council shall:-

a. draw up a statement specifying

i) the duties of the officer concerned, and
ii) any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be appointed

b) make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is likely to 
bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply for it  and 

c) make arrangements for a copy of the statement mentioned in paragraph (a) 
to be sent to any person on request.

2.2.4. The requirement to advertise contained in paragraph 2.2.3. (b) does not 
apply where the proposed appointment under paragraph 2.1 is for a 
period of no longer than twelve months.

1 This definition derives from Regulation 2 of the Regulations 

Tudalen 67



30

Appendix D – Soulbury Pay Scales

Educational Improvement Professionals 

SCP Current 01.09.16 01.09.17 

1 33396 33730 34067 

2 34592 34938 35287 

3 35721 36078 36439 

4 36865 37234 37606 

5 38003 38383 38767 

6 39142 39533 39928 

7 40338 40741 41148 

8 41487* 41902* 42321* 

9 42828 43256 43689 

10 44023 44463 44908 

11 45203 45655 46112 

12 46346 46809 47277 

13 47640** 48116** 48597** 

14 48792 49280 49773 

15 50066 50567 51073 

16 51219 51731 52248 

17 52373 52897 53426 

18 53507 54042 54582 

19 54676 55223 55775 

20 55280*** 55833*** 56391*** 

21 56441 57005 57575 

22 57452 58027 58607 

23 58566 59152 59744 

24 59564 60160 60762 

Tudalen 68



31

25 60633 61239 61851 

26 61674 62291 62914 

27 62740 63367 64001 

28 63819 64457 65102 

29 64902 65551 66207 

30 65983 66643 67309 

31 67054 67725 68402 

32 68143 68824 69512 

33 69232 69924 70623 

34 70347 71050 71761 

35 71458 72173 72895 

36 72603 73329 74062 

37 73728 74465 75210 

38 74866 75615 76371 

39 75988 76748 77515 

40 77109 77880 78659 

41 78237 79019 79809 

42 79362 80156 80958 

43 80488 81293 82106

44 81619 82435 83259 

45 82747 83574 84410 

46 83876 84715 85562 

47 85010 85860 86719 

48 86134**** 86995**** 87865**** 

49 87262**** 88135**** 89016****

50 88391**** 89275**** 90168****

Notes: 

Salary scales to consist of not more than four consecutive points based on the duties 

Tudalen 69



32

and responsibilities attaching to posts and the need to recruit and motivate staff. 

* normal minimum point for EIP undertaking the full range of duties at this level. 
** normal minimum point for senior EIP undertaking the full range of duties 
at this level. 
*** normal minimum point for leading EIP undertaking the full range of duties 
at this level. 
**** extension to range to accommodate structured professional assessments 

Young People's / Community Service Manager 

SCP Current 01.09.16 01.09.17 

1 34637 34983 35333 

2 35770 36128 36489 

3 36903 37272 37645 

4 38059* 38440* 38824* 

5 39234 39626 40023 

6 40380 40784 41192 

7 41553** 41969** 42388** 

8 42885 43314 43747 

9 43620 44056 44497 

10 44754 45202 45654 

11 45883 46342 46805 

12 47013 47483 47958 

13 48135 48616 49103 

14 49269 49762 50259 

15 50404 50908 51417 

16 51542 52057 52578 

17 52686 53213 53745 

18 53822 54360 54904 

19 54952 55502 56057 

20 56107*** 56668*** 57235*** 

21 57284*** 57857*** 58435***

Tudalen 70



33

22 58487*** 59072*** 59663*** 

23 59715*** 60312*** 60915*** 

24 60969*** 61579*** 62194*** 

Notes

The minimum Youth and Community Service Officers' scale is 4 points. 

Other salary scales to consist of not more than four consecutive points based on 

duties and responsibilities attaching to posts and the need to recruit retain 

and motivate staff. 

* normal minimum point for senior youth and community service officers 

undertaking the full range of duties at this level (see paragraph 5.6 of the Soulbury Report). 

** normal minimum point for principal youth and community service officer 

undertaking the full range of duties at this level (see paragraph 5.8 of the Soulbury Report). 

*** extension to range to accommodate discretionary scale points 

and structured professional assessments. 

Trainee Educational Psychologists 

SCP Current 01.09.16 01.09.17 

1 22503 22728 22955 

2 24151 24393 24636 

3 25796 26054 26314 

4 27444 27718 27996 

5 29090 29381 29675 

6 30737 31044 31355 

Assistant Educational Psychologists 

SCP Current 01.09.16 01.09.17 

1 27662 27939 28218 

2 28792 29080 29371 

3 29922 30221 30523 

Tudalen 71



34

4 31045 31355 31669 

Educational Psychologists - Scale A 

SCP Current 01.09.16 01.09.17 

1 35027 35377 35731 

2 36805 37173 37545 

3 38583 38969 39359 

4 40360 40764 41171 

5 42137 42558 42984 

6 43914 44353 44797 

7 45588 46044 46504 

8 47261 47734 48211 

9 48829* 49317* 49810* 

10 50398* 50902* 51411* 

11 51861* 52380* 52903*

Salary scales to consist of six consecutive points based on the duties and
responsibilities attaching to posts and the need to recruit retain and motivate staff. 

* Extension to scale to accommodate structured professional assessment points. 

Senior and Principal Educational Psychologists
 
SCP Current 01.09.16 01.09.17 
1 43914 44353 44797 
2 45588 46044 46504 
3 47261 47734 48211 
4 48829 49317 49810 
5 50398 50902 51411 
6 51861 52380 52903 
7 52462 52987 53516 
8 53584 54120 54661 
9 54696 55243 55795 
10 55828 56386 56950 
11 56937 57506 58081 
12 58068 58649 59235 
13 59219 59811 60409 
14 60330 60933 61543 

Tudalen 72



35

15 61495 62110 62731 
16 62649 63275 63908 
17 63810 64448 65093 
18 64970 65620 66276 

Salary scales to consist of not more than four consecutive points based on the duties 

and responsibilities attaching to posts and the need to recruit retain and motivate staff

* Normal minimum point for the principal educational psychologist undertaking the 
full range of duties at this level. 
** Extension to range to accommodate discretionary scale points and structured 

professional assessments. 

Tudalen 73



36

Appendix E – Joint Negotiating Committee for Youth and 
Community Workers

Youth and Community Support Worker 
Range

Pay 
Points w.e.f 1.9.09

       1        14,143 

       2        14,733 

       3        15,324 

       4        15,917 

       5        16,509 

       6        17,100 

       7        17,697 Professional Range

       8        18,291 

       9        19,047 

     10        19,636 
Pay 
Points w.e.f 1.9.09

     11        20,591         11        20,591 

     12        21,525         12        21,525 

     13        22,489         13        22,489 

     14        23,485         14        23,485 

     15        24,166         15        24,166 

     16        24,875         16        24,875 

     17        25,574         17        25,574 

        18        26,279 

        19        26,975 

        20        27,673 

        21        28,461 

        22        29,352 

        23        30,219 

        24        31,091 

        25        31,968 

        26        32,847 

        27        33,726 

        28        34,613 

        29        35,496 

        30        36,377 

   JESC 172

Tudalen 74



37

Professional / Full-time Staff

Support Worker 10-13 YOUTH1

Youth Worker 14-15(Bar)16-17 YOUTH2

Project Staff (Streets, Dr Mz) 17-20 YOUTH3

Sessional Staff

Support Worker 1 3-4(Bar)5-6 YOUTH4

Support Worker 2 6-7(Bar)8-9 YOUTH5

Leader 12(Bar)13-15 YOUTH6

Tudalen 75



38

Acting up and honoraria policy

August 2017

Appendix F – Acting Up and Honoraria Policy

Tudalen 76



39

1. Policy Statement 

1.1 The Council recognises that it may be necessary from time to time to apply 
an additional payment when an employee is requested to ‘act up’ into a 
higher graded post or temporarily undertake additional duties. 

1.2 Where changes to the job are likely to be permanent, a revised job profile 
should be submitted to the Pay and Reward team and the post should be 
re-evaluated under the Council’s Job Evaluation scheme.

1.3 Where changes are of a temporary nature, and will be in place for 12 
months or less, an honorarium, or acting up payment, may apply.

1.4 The purpose of this Policy is to ensure that the additional payments are 
properly evaluated and applied on a consistent basis. 

1.5 This procedure covers all employees including centrally employed school 
staff    except centrally employed teachers and staff on the complement of 
locally managed schools.

2. Honorarium
 
2.1 Where there is the need for an employee to either act up into a higher 

graded post or take on some additional duties on a temporary basis, if there 
is more than one suitable employee with the appropriate skills and 
experience to undertake the additional duties and/or responsibilities, then 
a selection process will need to be followed to determine the best person 
to undertake those duties and/or responsibilities. Please contact your HR 
Advisor regarding the appropriate process to follow.

2.2 Honorarium payments will only apply once the acting up / additional duties 
have been undertaken for a period of 28 days. Payment will be backdated 
to day one. 

2.3 Any honorarium payment will be for a maximum of 12 months and will be 
reviewed and authorised on a three-monthly basis. If the acting up / 
additional duties are going to continue longer than 12 months then the 
manager should seek advice from their HR Advisor. 

3. Exceptions – emergency acting up 

3.1 There will be occasions where an employee is required to act up as 
emergency cover, e.g. to cover sickness absence. This will usually apply to 
frontline services where the service will be unable to run without someone 
covering the post, for example a Refuse / Recycling Loader acting up into 
the role of an absent Refuse / Recycling Driver.

Tudalen 77



40

3.2 An exception to the 28 day rule will be made in these instances as the acting 
up is likely to be for a short period and on an ad hoc basis. If you are unsure 
whether emergency acting up is applicable, please consult with your HR 
Advisor.

3.3 Care should still be taken to ensure fair application of the acting up 
opportunity where there is more than one employee with the appropriate 
skills to undertake the role. 

3.4 Emergency acting up will only apply when an employee is covering the full 
role of the higher graded post. The full amount of the difference between 
the existing salary and the minimum salary of the higher grade should be 
paid. If the minimum salary of the acting up grade is lower, or the same as, 
the employee’s current salary, they should be paid the honorarium at the 
next SCP above their current salary.

3.5 In cases of emergency cover, payment will be made from day 1 of the 
acting up. Details of the acting up should be submitted to Payroll by the 
manager.

4. Procedure 

4.1 A business case must be made by the relevant manager to support the 
application for an honorarium payment using the “Request for an 
Honorarium
Payment” form (Appendix 1) and submitted to the departmental Director 
for approval. 

Types of evidence include: 

 The reason for the payment, e.g. to cover for long term absence, or 
to undertake a specific piece of work. 

 Details of the post affected and the grades of the substantive and 
higher graded post.

 Whether the extent of the duties are full or partial – if partial, the duties 
must have been evaluated by the Pay and Reward team before 
submitting the business case.

 Cost – calculation of the amount per month the employee would be 
entitled to receive. 

4.2 The full amount of the difference between the existing salary and the 
minimum salary of the higher grade should be paid. If the minimum salary 
of the acting up grade is lower, or the same as, the employee’s current 
salary, they should be paid the honorarium at the next SCP above their 
current salary.

Tudalen 78



41

4.3 Where longer term situations may apply, e.g. maternity cover, the 
Authority’s Recruitment and Selection policy should be followed. 

4.4 Where the additional duties are evaluated as being the same grade as the 
employee’s substantive post, no payment will be made. It is for the manager 
to ensure that the additional workload is manageable within the 
employee’s standard working hours, or, with the appropriate approval, 
authorise overtime where necessary.

5 Method of payment 

5.1 Honorarium payments will be made on a monthly or four-weekly basis in line 
with the employee’s normal pay periods and will be shown as a separate, 
identifiable payment on the payslip.

6 Authorisation

6.1 Once the business case has been agreed by the Director it should be 
forwarded to the HR Business Partner for their consideration. Where the 
payment request is in relation to additional duties, and the role is covered 
by the Job Evaluation scheme, the Pay and Reward team will also need to 
authorise to confirm that the grade being applied is correct.

6.2 The business case will then be passed to Payroll for the payment to be set 
up.

7.0 Monitoring

7.1 Honorarium and acting up payments will be regularly monitored by the 
People Management division.

8.0 Employees on protected salaries 

Employees who are on protected salaries and who undertake duties of a 
higher grade than their substantive grade, but not higher than their 
protected salary, are not entitled to receive any additional remuneration. 
They should still be encouraged to undertake the opportunity of acting up 
as part of their development to assist them in improving their promotion 
prospects.

9.0 Ending the acting up / temporary additional responsibilities

The employee should be fully supported, and their performance regularly 
reviewed, whilst undertaking additional duties. Additional training and 
support may be required during the acting up period. If concerns regarding 
performance do arise then these should be discussed before the decision is 

Tudalen 79



42

taken to end the acting up / temporary additional responsibilities 
arrangement. 

If a post that has been covered by acting up arrangements is advertised 
and the employee who has been covering the role is the successful 
applicant, the period of acting up will be taken into account when 
agreeing the spinal column point they will be paid on.

When the arrangement is ended, at least one week’s notice should be 
given and a further change of circumstance form must be completed by 
the manager to ensure that payment for acting up/additional duties is 
ended. Settling back in to their original role can be difficult for an employee 
and managers need to be sensitive to potential concerns in this respect. 
Employees who have acted up into a role have no automatic right to it on 
a more permanent basis. 
However, employees who have acted up/taken on additional 
responsibilities who are not subsequently appointed to a higher graded post 
following competitive interviews must receive constructive feedback as to 
why they were not successful. 

This is with the exception of acting up arrangements due to health & safety 
and/or minimum staffing requirements which can be reviewed on a daily 
basis by the operating manager. 

10.0 CONCERNS BY EMPLOYEES 

The fair application of the above policy is designed to avoid concerns 
raised by employees in respect of acting up/ temporary additional 
responsibility arrangements. However, where an employee has a concern 
they should first seek to resolve the matter informally by discussing it with 
their line manager, in keeping with the Council’s Grievance Procedure. The 
advice of the HR Advisor should be sought at an early stage in these 
circumstances in order to avoid any ongoing concerns.

This policy must be applied consistently to all employees irrespective of race, 
colour, nationality (including citizenship), ethnic or national origins, language, 
disability, religion, belief or non-belief, age, sex, gender reassignment, sexual 
orientation, parental, marital or civil partnership status, pregnancy or maternity.

If you have any equality and diversity concerns in relation to the application of 
this policy and procedure, please contact a member of the HR Team

If you require this information in an alternative format (for example 
large print), please contact People Management on Ext: 6184 or 
email PMBusinessSupportUnit@carmarthenshire.gov.uk.

Tudalen 80

mailto:PMBusinessSupportUnit@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


43Tudalen 81



44

APPENDIX A

Business case – application for honorarium payment

Department
Division

Employee name
Employee number
Substantive job title
Post number – substantive post

Current salary

Reason for payment:  (please include title, post number and grade of post being 
covered or, if taking on additional duties, include full details of the duties being 
undertaken over and above the substantive role)

Period of payment * dd/mm/yy  to dd/mm/yy
Amount of payment £
Monthly or four-weekly (delete as 
applicable)

Monthly / four-weekly

*payment should be for a maximum of 3 months. If payment needs to be 
extended past this a new form must be submitted for authorisation. Honorarium 
payment should not exceed 12 months in total. 

Tudalen 82



45

Authorisation by line manager
Full name
Job title
Signature
Date

Approved by Director
Full name
Job title
Signature
Date

Agreed by Pay and Rewards section
Full name
Job title
Signature
Date

Agreed by HR section
Name
Job title
Signature
Date

NB: no payments will be processed until all sections have been completed

Tudalen 83



46

Market supplement scheme policy

1st May 2017

Appendix G – Market Supplement Scheme Policy

Tudalen 84



47

 1. Purpose of scheme

The use of a Job Evaluation scheme allows for the creation of a fair and 
equitable pay structure which ensures rates of pay are based on robust criteria 
across the organisation. However, the resulting rates of pay may not necessarily 
reflect the value of jobs in the wider external market place.

This market supplement scheme has been developed to recognise that there 
may be times when specific skills and experiences are in short supply. Use of 
market supplement payments is one way of ensuring we secure sufficient 
employees with the required skills to safeguard the provision of these services.

A key purpose of the scheme is to ensure that any market supplements are 
paid fairly and consistently to avoid the risk of non-compliance with equal pay 
legislation. There would need to be clear evidence that the basic rate of pay 
being paid by Carmarthenshire County Council for a specific job is significantly 
lower than the market rate for a relevant and equivalent post in a similar market 
and that any recruitment or retention problems are due to rates of pay.

However, the introduction of market supplements must be properly controlled 
in order to avoid the creation of potentially unlawful pay disparities and Equal 
Pay Act risks. There are, therefore, very specific rules to the application of 
market supplements to ensure that they can be objectively justified. 

Market Supplements must be:

I. restricted to a limited number of jobs where there is clear evidence that the 
Council’s own pay is significantly lower and / or demonstrably competitive to 
the market rate for specific jobs and there are enduring recruitment or retention 
problems.

II. applied only where there are recruitment or retention problems in relation to 
a very specific role (a generic application to, for example, all social workers, 
could not be justified if the problems related to childcare social workers alone).

III. designated as temporary and subject to regular review and monitoring as 
to outcomes.

IV. applied to existing as well as newly recruited post-holders in the relevant job.

V. clearly identified as separate from basic pay (so that their basis is understood 
by the employee and they can be justified if an equal pay issue arises).

VI. ideally paid separately from basic pay, either monthly, quarterly, half yearly 
or as an annual payment (whichever best serves as a recruitment and/or 
retention measure).

Tudalen 85



48

VII. capable of being withdrawn. The contractual terms and a process for 
withdrawal should be clear and established.

VIII. phased out or withdrawn if a review shows they are not consistent with the 
above criteria.

IX. payments will not normally be made to employees still in their probation 
period or during any other initial training period. This will be agreed with the 
department when payment of a market supplement is being considered.

2. Scope of the scheme

This procedure covers all employees including centrally employed school staff 
except centrally employed teachers and staff on the complement of locally 
managed schools.

3. Use of scheme

This scheme replaces any earlier scheme operated by Carmarthenshire
County Council and will be operated alongside the Carmarthenshire County 
Council pay and grading structure.

The scheme will be applied to specific posts on a temporary basis where a 
suitable business case is developed and approved. The scheme is not designed 
to reflect an individual’s performance.

The scheme will be subject to periodic review to ensure it remains relevant.

4. Preparation of a market supplement business case

Before a business case is put forward for a market supplement, the Head of 
Service must satisfy him/herself that all non-pay related measures to 
successfully recruit and / or retain a staff member have been reasonably 
explored, including a review of the skills, qualifications and experiences 
required for the post.

If a market supplement is still considered appropriate, the Head of Service 
should develop a business case which should be submitted to the Assistant 
Chief Executive (People Management), or nominated representative, with 
evidence of failure to recruit and / or retain staff as well as evidence of pay 
rates for the role in other relevant organisations.

The Assistant Chief Executive (People Management) or their nominated 
representative, in conjunction with the Organisational Support team, will 

Tudalen 86



49

respond to the Head of Service to either recommend the market supplement 
be paid or to refuse the request.

The following information will be taken into account when making the decision 
whether it is appropriate to pay a market supplement.

 Evidence demonstrating the nature and extent of the recruitment / retention 
difficulties;

 The extent of the potential impact on services if the recruitment / retention 
difficulties are not resolved;

 The likely duration of the problem;

 Evidence of pay data from the relevant comparator organisations. This may 
be based on local, regional or national data depending on what is relevant for 
the post. Ideally this data should include the whole package not just basic pay 
so total packages can be compared.

There are a number of indicators that may suggest that there is a severe 
recruitment and / or retention problem within a particular service. It is important 
to note that these are merely indicators; they do not mean that a post will 
attract a market supplement.

The indicators are as follows:-

 The post has been advertised externally on three occasions and those three 
attempts have resulted in failure to appoint an individual to the post.

 Information concerning turnover within a post or a group of posts within the 
Council.

 Information concerning the external labour market, e.g. awareness of the 
failure of universities to recruit students to particular courses.

 Information gained through the medium of exit questionnaires or Interviews.

 Any other significant retention issues.

Tudalen 87



50

Managers should explore alternative recruitment solutions when a post is 
advertised for the second and third time; managers must not advertise the post 
three times without reviewing the documentation and methods used. At the 
same time, a manager does not have to advertise a post on three separate 
occasions if there is substantial evidence from other sources of information that 
there may be a case of paying a market supplement.

5. Funding

The payment of market supplements will be funded by the division in which the 
post lies. If the post is cross-divisional then the cost will be shared by those 
divisions concerned.

6. Payment of market supplements

Payment will be calculated by the Assistant Chief Executive (People 
Management) or nominated representative in conjunction with the Pay and 
Reward Team. The payment will be based on the median salary for the 
equivalent roles, taken from an independent external salary survey.

7. Calculation of a market supplement

All supplements will be calculated as additional increments based on the 
evidence supplied and will be the nearest increment below the comparator 
salary. The payment should be set at a level that is considered will alleviate the 
recruitment and retention / operational difficulties but which is not excessive 
and can be justified in terms of salary paid to the comparator jobs in the 
market.

The purpose, justification and extent of any market supplement must be 
transparent and records maintained to demonstrate this so that the Council 
can respond effectively to any challenge regarding the rationale for such a 
payment.

Market supplements will be identified as a separate item on payslips and do 
not form part of the basic pay for the post. They will be subject to tax, NI and 
pension contributions in the normal way.

Market supplements will be taken into account for overtime calculations and 
any other enhancements / allowances.

8. Duration and Review of payments

The duration of the payment will be determined at the outset based upon how 
long the recruitment difficulties are likely to continue and will be confirmed in 

Tudalen 88



51

writing to the employee. The initial supplement payment period will be for a 
maximum of 12 months.

The market supplement will be reviewed at least every 12 months or earlier if 
necessary. If the departmental manager believes the market supplement 
needs to continue they will need to provide a new business case, containing 
up to date information, at each review. This business case will be considered 
by the Assistant Chief Executive (PM) or nominated representative along with 
any other relevant information.

Where the business case to support the continued payment is no longer 
relevant and sustainable the supplement shall be withdrawn and contractual 
notice given to the post holder(s) in writing.

Where the decision to withdraw a market supplement is made, this will apply 
to all posts within the same job group (e.g. all Social Workers within Children’s 
Services) and their post holders simultaneously.

There are a number of situations which may trigger a withdrawal of market 
supplement payment and these include:-

 Job group no longer has any vacancies
 Posts can be filled after first advertisement
 Turnover has reduced to an acceptable level
 Market research shows there is no longer any justification for the payment

This list is not exclusive.

9. Management of the scheme

The scheme and all payments made under it will be monitored and reviewed 
annually and the outcome reported to the Assistant Chief Executive (PM) or
their nominated representative and the department. 

Vacancies should be advertised in the usual way, denoting the grade and 
salary for the post. The market supplement should be quoted as a separate 
figure, as follows:-

Salary £XX,XXX to £XX,XXX (plus additional market supplement up to a
maximum of £xxx where appropriate).

10. Interpretation

Any matters of interpretation arising from the scheme are to be determined by 
the Assistant Chief Executive (People Management).

11. Ensuring equality of treatment

Tudalen 89



52

This scheme must be applied consistently to all employees irrespective of race, 
colour, nationality (including citizenship), ethnic or national origins, language, 
disability, religion, belief or non-belief, age, sex, gender reassignment, sexual 
orientation, parental or marital status, pregnancy or maternity.

If you require this information in alternative format (for example large print), 
please contact People Management on ext. 6184 or email
PMBusinessSupportUnit@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

Tudalen 90



53

Appendix 1

APPLICATION FOR APPROVAL FOR PAYMENT OF A MARKET SUPPLEMENT

This form is to be completed and signed by the manager requesting a market 
supplement payment and then forwarded to the Senior Pay and Reward 
Advisor for agreement at Organisational Support Team.

1. POST DETAILS

Post title
New or existing post?
Post number(s) if existing 
post(s)
Number of staff in this 
post (including any 
vacancies)
Department
Division
Grade
Salary range
Total amount of market 
supplement requested 
(monthly amount)
Period for which the 
payment of a market 
supplement is sought 
(maximum initial period 
12 months)

2. JUSTIFICATION FOR PAYMENT

This section asks for evidence in support of the request for payment of a market 
supplement (all boxes must be completed).

1. Describe the job or group of jobs for which payment of a market supplement 
is requested. Give a brief outline of responsibilities. 

(Attach the job description, person specification and organisation chart)

2. Please confirm that the job profile and evaluation of the post(s) has been 
checked recently to ensure it is up to date.

Confirmed (please tick):

Tudalen 91



54

(1) What evidence is there of pay-related recruitment and / or retention 
difficulties?
(a)Number of times the post has been advertised (including dates of 

adverts

(b)Number of responses to job adverts

(c)Assessment of the quantity of responses (adequate, inadequate)

(d) Assessment of the quality of responses (e.g. satisfactory, below required 
standard)

(e) Turnover statistics for the post(s)

(f) Supporting data from exit interviews, staff surveys or other feedback

(g) Articles in professional bodies’ journals / websites, press etc. re: skill 
shortages and / or evidence from national pay surveys

(2) What evidence is there that pay (and not other factors) is causing the 
recruitment / retention problems being experienced?

(3) What other recruitment / retention initiatives have been tried / exhausted? 
(e.g. change is methods / types of advertising; changes to information for 
potential job applicants)

Tudalen 92



55

(4) Have alternatives to paying a market supplement been considered, i.e. 
measures to resolve ‘non-pay’ issues. If so, please specify. For example:

 Is there a regional / national shortage for which new / alternative 
training schemes would be a more appropriate solution?

 Are there issues within the occupational group, service or team 
that could be more appropriately resolved by management 
action?

 What other measures have been explored (e.g. appropriate 
changes to the job role / responsibilities; qualification / 
knowledge / experience requirements; changes to working 
arrangements including flexible working options?

(5) Is filling the post(s) essential to maintaining adequate staffing levels to ensure 
service delivery requirements? (Include any legal implications and how long 
the post(s) have been vacant)

(6) Has the impact of making the payment on other staff in the team / service 
been considered and how do you intend to deal with this?

(7) Labour market data: the ‘going rate’ for the job:
(a)What appears to be the going rate per annum?

(b) Is this local, regional or national?

Tudalen 93



56

(c) What sources have been used to obtain this data (e.g. recent media 
advertisements, survey data, pay databases, other organisations)?

8. Comparable posts
Comparable posts are those which are comparable to the post being 
assessed for a market supplement on the basis of the criteria below. 
Please provide the following information for comparable posts in three 
organisations.

 Job title
 Salary range
 Other benefits
 Authority / organisation
 Key requirements in the job description / person specification and 

how these compare to those for the internal post
 How does the comparable post compare in terms of job size, 

type/size of organisation, scope and responsibilities (e.g. local 
population, number of people supervised, number employed in 
service area, size of budget etc.

 Any additional supporting data
 What is the source of the information?

3. PAYMENT AMOUNT AND TYPE

Total amount of payment requested 
per annum

£

Basis (or rationale) for the calculation 
of the payment

If approved, how will the market supplement be paid?

Instalment amount £
Frequency – monthly, quarterly, bi-
annually, annually

4. SOURCE OF FUNDING

Please specify where the additional payment will be funded from (e.g. 
existing budget
new budget, grant funding)

Tudalen 94



57

5. ANY OTHER COMMENTS

Include any additional information in support of this application not mentioned 
elsewhere.

6. SIGNATURE OF MANAGER MAKING THE APPLICATION

Signature:

Your job title:

Department / division:

Date:

7. APPROVAL BY ORGANISATIONAL SUPPORT TEAM

I agree that payment of a market supplement is appropriate and that all 
necessary checks have been carried out in line with Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s policies and procedures and that all other avenues have 
been explored.

Date of Organisational Support Team 
agreement:
Agreed Yes / No
If no, what is the reason?

Details of any amendment to the 
original proposal and reasons

Signed:

Tudalen 95



58

Job title:

8. ADMINISTRATION

Date manager informed of decision
Effective date of payments / start of 
payment
HR service / department informed
Names of staff to be paid the 
supplement and date they are 
informed of the decision.
Review date (maximum 12 months 
from start date of payment)

Tudalen 96



59

Appendix H – Discretionary Compensation Regulations

Discretions to be introduced on 9th August 2014

The Authority is required to publish its policy in respect of the Discretionary 
Compensatory Regulations under the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).  
These discretions are subject to change, either in line with any change in 
regulations or by due consideration by the Authority.  These provisions do not 
confer any contractual rights.

LGPS Regulations 2013

 The Authority has used its discretion not to contribute to a shared cost APC scheme 
(Regulation 16 (2)(e) and 16 (4)(d).

 The Authority will consider whether all or some benefits can be paid if an 
employee reduces his/her hours or grade (flexible retirement). Each 
application will be considered on its own merits following full consideration of 
all financial and service delivery implications. The Authority may waive the 
resulting actuarial reduction on benefits paid on flexible retirement, in whole 
or in part, providing that appropriate supporting evidence is presented 
(Regulation 30 – 6 -8). 

 The Authority may waive, in whole or in part, the actuarial reduction on benefits which 
a member draws before normal pension age (early retirement), providing 
appropriate supporting evidence is presented and full consideration of all financial 
and service delivery implications (Regulation 30 – 8)  

 The Authority has used its discretion not to grant additional pension to an active 
member or within 6 months of ceasing to be an active member by reason of 
redundancy or business efficiency (Regulation 31)

LGPS (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulation 2014

 The Authority will consider all requests to “switch on” the 85 year rule for a member 
drawing benefits on or after age 55 and before age 60, providing that appropriate 
supporting evidence is presented and full consideration of all financial and service 
delivery implications (Schedule 2, para. 1(2) and 2(2))

 The Authority may waive, on compassionate grounds, the  resulting actuarial 
reduction applied to benefits from pre 1 April 2014 membership, providing that 
appropriate supporting evidence is presented and full consideration of all financial 
and service delivery implications (Schedule 2, para. 2(3))

Tudalen 97



60

LGPS (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) 
Regulations 2006 

 The Authority will base the redundancy pay at actual weeks pay where this exceeds 
the statutory weeks pay limit (Regulation 5).

 The calculation for redundancy pay will be based on the statutory redundancy 
weeks pay x 1.5. e.g. under the statutory redundancy table  the maximum 
redundancy weeks calculation is 30 weeks, the Authority will pay up to a maximum 
of 45 weeks.  Where an individual has reached aged 55  they will also receive 
release of unreduced pension benefits built up to the date of termination 
(Regulation 6).

 For efficiency of service retirements where an individual has reached aged 55 they 
will receive release of unreduced pension benefits built upto the date of termination 
(Regulation 6).

 Where there is a mutual agreement for the release of  an individual under the 
Authority’s Severance Scheme the Authority will use its discretion to give 
compensation payments based on actual salary.  The discretionary payments will 
be based on age and service, with a multiplier to be applied of 1.5, and limited to 
a maximum of 45 weeks.  Where an individual has reached aged 55 they will also 
receive release of unreduced pension benefits built up to the date of termination.

 2 years continuous qualifying service is required to access these Compensation 
Arrangements.

LGPS (Benefits, Membership and Contributions) Regulations 2007

 Each request for early payment of deferred benefits on or after age 55 and 
before age 60 will be considered on its own merits following full consideration 
of all financial and service delivery issues.  The Authority may waive the 
resulting actuarial reduction on compassionate grounds applied to deferred 
benefits paid early, providing that appropriate supporting evidence is 
presented. (Regulation 30 - 2 and 5).

 The Authority has used its discretion not to augment membership for a member 
leaving on the grounds of redundancy or business efficiency on or before 31st 
March 2014 (Regulation 12).

 The Authority will consider all requests to grant an application for early payment or 
suspended tier 3 ill health pension on or after age 55 and before age 60, providing 
that appropriate supporting evidence is presented and full consideration of all 
financial and service delivery implications. The Authority may waive, on 
compassionate grounds, the actuarial reduction applied to benefits paid early, 
providing that appropriate supporting evidence is presneted.(Regulation 30A -3 
and 5)

Tudalen 98



61

LGPS Regulations 1997 (as amended)

 The Authority may grant application, from a post 31.3.98 / pre 1.4.08 leaver or from 
a councillor, for early payment of benefits on or after age 55 and before age 60, as 
appropriate and in light of the circumstances relating to each case. The Authority 
may waive, on compassionate grounds, the actuarial reductions applied to 
benefits paid early for a post 31.3.98 / pre 1.4.08 leaver or a councillor leaver, as 
appropriate and in light of the circumstances relating to each case (Regulation 31 
– 2 and 5)

 The Authority may grant to councillor optants out and pre 1.04.08 employee optants 
who continue in service, to receive a pension and lump sum from their NRD without 
reduction, after taking into account the circumstances relating to each case 
(Regulation 31 – 7A)

Dyfed Pension Fund Administering Authority discretions are available on 
www.dyfedpensionfund.org.uk.  The full list of discretionary policies for 
Carmarthenshire County Council can also be found on this site.

If you require this information in any other format please contact your HR 
team on 01267 246141.

Tudalen 99

http://www.dyfedpensionfund.org.uk/


62

Severance scheme

January 2018

Appendix I – Severance Scheme

Tudalen 100



63

General Principles

Carmarthenshire County Council (CCC) is committed to working with 
employees and trade unions to minimise the impact of budget reductions on 
its services and workforce.  However, over the coming years, Local 
Government faces a difficult economic future which could result in significant 
budget reduction.  This will inevitably affect the way we provide services and 
the employees who provide those services.  The Severance Scheme provides 
financial support to employees who leave their employment early due to 
efficiency. 

Scope

This scheme applies to employees of Carmarthenshire County Council who 
have a minimum of 2 years qualifying service, excluding staff employed by 
locally managed schools where the governing body will determine the policy.  

In line with the business case approval process, any employee subject to 
disciplinary or capability (health or performance) triggers or procedures will be 
precluded from the Severance Scheme, until it can be demonstrated that due 
process has been followed. Managers are advised to speak to an HR Advisor 
prior to agreeing any provisional support for an application for release under 
the Severance Scheme.

The Scheme

The scheme will follow the principles of the Discretionary Compensatory 
Regulations. The Council’s Policy in respect of the Discretionary Policy 
Regulations are subject to change, either in line with any change in regulations 
or by due consideration by the Authority.  These provisions do not confer any 
contractual rights.

Severance payments will be made in accordance with the attached table – 
see Appendix 2 and will be paid through the first available payroll after the 
termination date.

Release of pension benefits will be considered for those LGPS members aged 
55 or over.

Voluntary severance ends the employment contract through mutual consent 
on an agreed date.

Process

The criteria for eligibility is as follows – each department will need to critically 
review the expression of interest to determine how many requests can be 

Tudalen 101



64

supported and whether business cases can be made to release these staff on 
an operationally and financially viable basis.  

There is no right to these severance arrangements. The decision made by the 
Authority will be final therefore there is no appeals process within this scheme.

If you are interested in exploring the possibility of voluntary severance, please 
complete the enclosed expression of interest form and discuss your request with 
your line manager.  

Please do not contact the Pensions Section to request an estimate of your 
benefits. This will only be provided if the expression of interest form is completed 
and returned. 

However, some useful guidance and information can be found on the Dyfed 
Pension Scheme Website including an online calculator: 
https://mypensiononline.dyfedpensionfund.org.uk/altairMSSWeb/login

Following receipt of your expressions of interest your Head of Service will 
consider each case and determine which are viable for fuller consideration. 
Once this exercise has been completed you will be contacted to explore your 
request in more detail and to discuss the implications. 

Staff will not be committed to any expressions of interest until required to sign 
an acceptance form and Settlement Agreement, as appropriate, which 
confirm termination of employment on a mutually agreeable date. Once 
signed, the Authority is not obliged to accept any subsequent request you may 
make to withdraw from the agreement. 

Employees leaving the Council’s employment on the grounds of Voluntary 
Severance will do so on the basis of a mutually agreed termination date, with 
no notice period being applicable on either side and with no payment in lieu 
for any outstanding holidays, time off in lieu or flexi leave.

Employees who voluntarily leave the Council’s employment under this Scheme 
cannot work for Carmarthenshire County Council again in any capacity, 
including on a casual basis, until at least 1 year has elapsed.  Under no 
circumstances should an employee be re-appointed into the same or similar 
job to the one in which s/he was employed at the time of leaving. All such 
appointments should be made via the usual Authority’s recruitment 
procedures. 

However, in exceptional circumstances an employee may be re-employed by 
the Council prior to 1 year, subject to the joint agreement of the Chief 
Executive and Leader of the Council. In approving a re-employment the 
Authority will need to be satisfied that: 

Tudalen 102

https://mypensiononline.dyfedpensionfund.org.uk/altairMSSWeb/login


65

 the employee is not being re-employed in a role or capacity, which is 
broadly similar  to the role from which they left voluntarily; 

 the rate of pay applied to the work undertaken by the re-engaged 
employee should be that appropriate to the work to be done and not 
the grading which applied to the employee prior to the end of their 
current contract; 

 the employment should be for a fixed term, not exceeding one year, 
unless there are exceptional circumstances; and 

 the arrangement must provide financial / operational advantage to the 
Council. 

This will be operated entirely at the Council’s discretion and the decision in 
respect of each application is final.

Further information can also be found via the HR pages on the intranet. If you 
are unable to access these pages, please contact your line manager.

Please contact your departmental HR Advisor should you require any further 
clarification in respect of the Scheme. 

Ensuring Equality of Treatment
This policy must be applied consistently to all employees irrespective of race, 
colour, nationality (including citizenship), ethnic or national origins, language, 
disability, religion, belief or non-belief, age, sex, gender reassignment, sexual 
orientation, parental, marital or civil partnership status, pregnancy or maternity.

If you have any equality and diversity concerns in relation to the application of 
this policy and procedure, please contact a member of the HR Team 

If you require this information in an alternative format 

(for example large print), please contact People 

Management, Extension 6184 or email 

PMBusinessSupportUnit@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

Tudalen 103

mailto:PMBusinessSupportUnit@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


66

Appendix J – Flexible / Phased Retirement

Introduction

The Authority is committed to providing more choice and flexibility to its 
employees who wish to make a gradual adjustment from work into retirement, 
or stay in work beyond Normal Pension Age (NPA), making their transition from 
working life to retirement an enjoyable one. 

The Authority recognises that attracting and retaining a well-trained, well-
motivated, flexible and mixed age workforce, with a wide range of skills and 
experience, is essential to the provision of quality services.

This policy sets out how managers and employees can work together to 
achieve flexibility for employees approaching retirement. 

In keeping with legislation, the Authority has not operated a compulsory 
retirement age for its employees since 1 October 2011.  

Scope

This policy applies to all employees who are active members of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) but excluding support staff and teachers 
employed by locally managed schools where the governing body will 
determine the policy and unattached teachers who are not active members 
of the Teachers’ Pension scheme.  

Unattached teachers who are active members of the Teachers’ Pension 
scheme (TPS) should refer to the section of the scheme which applies to them. 

This Policy should be read in conjunction with the Authority’s Discretionary 
Compensation Regulations.

It should also be read in conjunction with the Authority’s Redeployment Policy 
which offers support to employees who are ‘at risk’ of losing their employment. 

Staff who are not members of the LGPS or TPS and who wish to be considered 
for reduced hours working should refer to the Authority’s Flexible Working Policy.

Key Points

 Flexible/phased retirement is a planned approach to retirement that 
involves a voluntary reduction in hours and/or move to a lower graded post 
and at the same time allowing access to accrued pension benefits.

 There is no automatic right for employees to work on reduced hours or 
grade, whilst drawing pension benefits. However, all such requests will be 
considered in a reasonable manner.

 It is necessary to obtain the relevant approval in line with the Authority’s 
Retirement Business Case procedure.

Tudalen 104



67

 Employees who have been an active member of the LGPS/TPS for at least 
2 years or have transferred previous pension rights into the scheme, can 
consider the possibility of Flexible/Phased Retirement.

 Employees may voluntarily draw their LGPS/TPS pension benefits without a 
reduction on attaining Normal Pension Age (NPA).

 Employees must seek the Authority’s agreement to draw their pension 
benefits at the earliest from the age of 55 whilst continuing to work on 
reduced hours or in a job on a lower salary. 

 Pension benefits must be drawn, at the latest one day before reaching the 
age of 75.

 Guidance for LGPS members on the 85 year rule is provided at Appendix 1
 Guidance for TPS members on phased retirement is provided at Appendix 

2

What is Normal Pension (NPA) Age?

The NPA for the purposes of the LGPS is the same as the State Pension Age 
(SPA), although there are other options to retire earlier or to continue working, 
within the LGPS regulations. Employees can check their state pension age by 
visiting the government website at: www.gov.uk/calculate-state-pension  

NPA for the purposes of TPS is explained in Appendix 2 due to changes to the 
scheme that will come into effect on 1st April 2015.

What is flexible/phased retirement?

Flexible/phased retirement enables employees to access their LGPS/TPS 
pension (actuarial reductions may apply) and phase into retirement by: 

 reducing their working hours and/or 
 moving to a job on a lower salary

Alternatively, employees can request to continue to work on reduced hours or 
grade and decide not to access any pension benefits until NPA, when there 
would be no actuarial reductions.

What are the benefits of having a flexible/phased retirement policy?

This is a change from retiring at a specified age to a much more flexible 
approach so that employees can plan, financially and socially, and make a 
gradual adjustment from work into retirement.

There are also benefits to the Council by retaining experienced staff with 
valuable skills and enabling better succession planning. 

Tudalen 105

http://www.gov.uk/calculate-state-pension


68

Eligibility for flexible/phased retirement

Members of the LGPS/TPS2 may, from the age of 55, approach their line 
manager regarding an application for flexible/phased retirement.  It will be 
important for the employee to carefully consider the proposed working 
pattern, any financial implications, including their pension and any effects such 
a request will have on the Authority and consider how the request can be 
accommodated.

It is also the line manager’s responsibility to carefully consider an application 
for flexible retirement and examine how the flexible retirement application and 
desired working pattern can be accommodated within a particular service 
area or function. Where the request cannot be supported the line manager 
should explore alternative options with the employee which may be mutually 
agreeable.

Where the application can be supported the line managers must present a 
retirement business case which must be approved in relation to both: 

 reduction in hours and/or grade; and 
 early payment of the pension benefits. 

The business case should include details of the impact on service delivery and 
the benefit to the Department as well as the individual and the associated 
costs.  The following criteria must be satisfied:

 the employee must be employed by the Authority with a permanent 
contract of employment; and

 For LGPS members it is recommended that there should be a reduction in 
hours of at least 20% or a reduction in grade. The Authority will consider all 
applications taking into account all financial and service delivery issues on 
a case by case basis.

 For TPS members please refer to Appendix 2.

In all cases, including  where the employee requests a gradual reduction in 
hours over a period of time, the business case should detail the proposed 
reductions in hours; the dates of the reduction and the proposed final 
retirement date at the outset.  This is to ensure succession planning. 

Where flexible retirement applications and the subsequent business case 
demonstrate a cost to the Authority, the business case must clearly set out the 
cost and service benefits of agreeing the application.  It is the manager’s 
responsibility to ensure that the business case provides all the information 
required.

There is no trial period for flexible retirement under the LGPS and, once it has 
been agreed, the decision cannot be reversed, because of the direct impact 

2  Non LGPS/TPS Members should refer to the Flexible Working Policy

Tudalen 106



69

upon the pension benefits.  There can be no reversal of the decision to reduce 
the number of hours whilst still in the same post. 

For phased retirement under TPS the reduction must be for a minimum period 
of 12 months.

Conditions of Service 

In the event of an employee reducing his/her hours in the same job, all the 
conditions of his/her contract of employment will be retained, pro rata part 
time, including recognition of continuous service for purposes of annual leave 
and sick pay, and for employment rights such as redundancy payments.  

If the employee starts a new job, s/he will receive a new contract of 
employment and, provided local government service is continuous without a 
break, this will be recognised for purposes of annual leave and sick pay, and 
for employment rights, such as redundancy payments.

Financial implications of flexible/phased retirement

The annual pension and  lump sum retirement grant (if applicable) are paid 
with effect from the date of flexible/phased retirement and Additional 
Voluntary Contributions (AVC’s) may be accessed if the employee so chooses.

Employees taking flexible retirement may contribute to the LGPS in the new or 
part time job and start an additional pension that will be accessed when they 
finally retire.  It is important to note that the new local government pension 
record is a separate pension accrual.  This means that the previous service 
(relating to the pension put into payment as a result of flexible retirement) will 
not count as accrued service in respect of the later benefits.  

Employees taking phased retirement under TPS please refer to Appendix 2.

Employees are responsible for obtaining their own independent financial 
advice as the Council is not able to provide this but the following information 
might be helpful:

 Flexible/phased retirement will have the effect of reducing salary and 
partially replacing this with pension benefits.  Depending on the level of 
salary reduction and the amount of accrued pension benefits, the overall 
level of income received during the period of flexible/phased retirement, or 
at the eventual date of retirement from the Council, might be less than that 
received by continuing to work in the original contract until the LGPS/TPS 
normal pension age or beyond

 the pension is treated as taxable income and will, therefore, be subject to 
income tax deductions, in the same way as salaries

 on reaching state pension age, employees might become entitled to state 
pension benefits over and above their LGPS/TPS pension benefits.  
Employees are advised to seek advice from the relevant government 
department

Tudalen 107



70

Pension reduction & implications

The amount of pension benefits awarded under flexible/phased retirement is 
calculated in the same way as for voluntary early retirement (LGPS) or 
actuarially adjusted benefits (TPS). Pension benefits will be subject to a 
reduction if they are drawn before the LGPS/TPS deemed NPA.

The employee may remain in the pension scheme and accrue a second 
pension (LGPS) or continue to accrue additional pensionable service (TPS) 
based on the reduced hours/grade. These benefits will become payable 
without actuarial reduction at NPA, or anytime thereafter should the employee 
choose to remain working beyond NPA, but must be accessed at least 1 day 
before the member’s 75th birthday. The employee will be covered for all 
pension benefits such as ill health retirement and death in service. They can 
also purchase Additional Pension Contributions or pay Additional Voluntary 
Contributions.

 Waiving the pension reduction

The LGPS regulations allow employers the discretion to waive the pension 
reduction.  This will only be possible in exceptional circumstances in 
accordance with the Authority’s Discretionary Policies. Managers must seek 
advice from the HR team before proceeding with any flexible retirement 
application where it is proposed that the Authority bears the cost of the pension 
reduction and the reasons for doing so must be set out clearly within the 
Business Case. 

In the event that the Authority agrees to waive the pension reduction and the 
flexible retirement application is approved, should the employee subsequently 
submit his/her resignation; voluntarily increase his/her hours of work or applies 
for another job within the Authority prior to the agreed retirement date, the 
Authority reserves the right to recover from the employee the full cost of the 
actuarial strain incurred. 

Flexible Retirement Applications Procedure

Applications will be processed as follows:

 individuals can review current pension information via Pension online via 
www.dyfedpensionfund.org.uk  or www.teacherspensions.co.uk 

 the employee makes a formal request in writing to his/her line manager 
outlining the reduction in hours or grade requested and proposed dates 

 the line manager arranges a mutually convenient time to discuss the 
application with the employee

 the line manager will confirm if the application can be supported subject to 
the approval of the Flexible Retirement Business Case

 the line manager will contact the HR Team to obtain pension figures for the 
business case and to provide actual figures for individual request

Tudalen 108

http://www.dyfedpensionfund.org.uk/
http://www.teacherspensions.co.uk/


71

 The individual will confirm with his/her line manager if s/he wishes to proceed 
with the application

 the line manager completes the Flexible Retirement Business Case and 
submits for approval to his/her Head of Service or Director in accordance 
with the Retirement Business Case Guidelines 

Once approved

 for reduced working hours: the line manager must confirm the variation in 
working hours and commencement date to the HR Support Team

 for a reduction in grade: the employee should apply for suitable vacancies 
in accordance with the Authority’s Recruitment and Selection policy or if 
eligible, the Redeployment Policy where the employee is deemed ‘at risk. 
Once successful in being offered/redeployed in an alternative post, the 
employee should seek confirmation of the pension benefits payable. If the 
employee  wishes to proceed with the application final approval must be 
sought from the existing Head of Service who will be required to finalise the 
Flexible Retirement Business Case for approval in accordance with agreed 
procedures 

Flexible/Phased Retirement is discretionary on the part of the Council and 
therefore there is no right of appeal where an application is not approved.

However, where an application cannot be supported the line manager should 
seek advice from the HR Team in advance of confirmation to the employee to 
ensure that the case has been reasonably considered and to explore any 
alternative solutions

Ensuring Equality of Treatment

This policy must be applied consistently to all employees irrespective of race, 
colour, nationality (including citizenship), ethnic or national origins, language, 
disability, religion, belief or non belief, age [subject to statutory regulations], sex, 
gender reassignment, sexual orientation, parental, marital or civil partnership 
status, pregnancy or maternity.

If you have any equality and diversity concerns in relation to the application of 
this policy and procedure, please contact a member of the HR Team 

If you require this information in an alternative format (for example large print), 
please contact People Management on Ext: 6184 or email 
PMBusinessSupportUnit@carmarthenshire.gov.uk.

Tudalen 109

mailto:PMBusinessSupportUnit@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


72

Appendix 1

LGPS 2014 ALL Wales Pension Fund Factsheet

85 year Rule

 When can I retire? 
The Normal Pension Age (NPA) under the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) 2014 is linked to your State Pension Age (SPA). However, you may 
voluntarily retire from age 55, but your benefits will be actuarially reduced to 
take account of early payment before your NPA. 

What is the 85 Year Rule? 
The 85 year rule is a test to assess whether a member’s benefits would be 
actuarially reduced, if retiring before their Normal Retirement Age. If a 
member’s age and ‘calendar length’ Scheme membership (measured in 
whole years), when added together, equalled 85 or more, a member’s benefits 
would NOT be actuarially reduced after the age of 60. If the rule was NOT 
satisfied or the employee is between 55 and 59, a full actuarial reduction was 
applied to a member’s benefits. 

When was the ‘85 Year Rule’ removed? 
On 1 October 2006, the 85 year rule was removed from the Regulations as it 
was found to be in breach of age discrimination laws. If you were an active 
member as at 30 September 2006, you will have been afforded protection to 
31 March 2008, with additional protection awarded to certain members. If you 
joined the LGPS on or after 1 October 2006, the 85 Year Rule will have NO 
bearing on your circumstances. 

Am I protected under the 85 Year Rule? 
If you were an active member as at 30 September 2006 and choose to retire 
before your NPA, having satisfied the 85 rule, you will have some form of 
protection: 

 If you were born on or before 31 March 1956, ALL benefits built up to 31 
March 2016 will be protected in full. However, benefits accrued from 1 April 
2016 to 31 March 2020 will be reduced on a ‘tapered’ basis, and reduced 
in full if accrued after 1 April 2020. 

 If you were born on or between 1 April 1956 and 31 March 1960, ALL benefits 
built up to 31 March 2008 will be protected in full, BUT benefits accrued 
between 1 April 2008 and 31 March 2020 WILL be reduced on a ‘tapered’ 
basis in accordance with the shortfall from your date of leaving to age 65 
(the normal retirement age under the 2008 Scheme). Any benefits built up 
after 1 April 2020 will be reduced in FULL in accordance with your SPA. 

 If you were born on or after 1 April 1960, ALL benefits built up to 31 March 
2008 will be protected in full. However, benefits built up from 1 April 2008 until 
your date of leaving will be subject to a full actuarial reduction. For 

Tudalen 110



73

membership from 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2014, the reduction will fall in line 
with your 65th birthday, whereas your membership from 1 April 2014 will be 
reduced in accordance with your SPA. 

How much of an ‘actuarial reduction’ will apply? 
Your benefits will be actuarially reduced in accordance with the following 
guidance, as issued by the Government Actuary’s Department (GAD). The 
shortfall from your date of leaving to the appropriate retirement age will be 
measured in years and days, therefore the percentage reduction may need 
to be interpolated.

Years 
Paid Early

Pension 
Reduction % 
(men) 

Pension 
Reduction % 
(women) 

Lump Sum 
Reduction % 
(both) 

0 0 0 0
1 6 5 3
2 11 11 6
3 16 15 8
4 20 20 11
5 25 24 14
6 29 27 16
7 32 31 19
8 36 34 21
9 39 37 23
10 42 40 26
11 45 44 N/A
12 48 47 N/A
13 52 50 N/A

Will the ‘85 Year Rule’ apply if I retire from age 55? 
With the introduction of the LGPS 2014 from 1 April 2014, you are able to 
voluntarily retire from age 55 (without your Employer’s consent). However, if you 
do choose to voluntarily retire between age 55 to 60, any protection that you 
have been afforded in respect of the 85 Year Rule will NOT apply and your 
benefits will therefore be reduced in FULL upon your retirement. 

Alternatively, if you choose to retire on or after age 60, any 85 Year Rule 
protection WILL apply. The ability to apply the 85 Year Rule to voluntary 
retirement between age 55 and 60 is at the discretion of your Employer. Your 
Employer will have formulated a policy on this matter. 

What if I am made redundant or have to retire on the grounds of efficiency? 
If you are made redundant by your Employer or if you have to retire on the 
grounds of efficiency provided you are age 55 or over, your benefits will come 
into payment immediately WITHOUT actuarial reduction. 

Further Information 

Tudalen 111



74

This factsheet gives general guidance only. For further information, please 
contact: 

Tel: 01267 224 043 Email: pensions@carmarthenshire.gov.uk

Tudalen 112

mailto:pensions@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


75

Appendix 2

Phased Retirement for members of the Teachers’ Pensions scheme

Unattached teachers may want to continue working while drawing some of 
their accrued pension benefits. 

Phased retirement under the TPS allows an employee to decide how much to take of 
the benefits s/he has accrued (up to a maximum of 75% of total benefits). 

Phased retirement is a practical option, as long as some simple guidelines are 
followed. 

If an unattached teacher requests phased retirement

1. The teacher’s Pensionable Salary must reduce by at least 20% for a 
minimum of 12 months following the date of phased retirement.  For 
example, this could be because his/her hours have reduced or he/she has 
taken up a post of lesser responsibility. 

2. The teacher may take phased retirement and following a break in service 
start a new appointment in a support role in an educational establishment, 
such as a classroom assistant. The new appointment can be with the same 
or a different employer but must be within six months of the previous job 
ceasing.

3. The teacher may take phased retirement if s/he has a break in employment 
provided it is not more than six months of the previous job ceasing.

4. The application form for phased retirement must be signed by the employer 
responsible for the new working arrangement and must be made within 
three months of the teacher taking up employment. 

5. The teacher can only take a maximum of two phased retirements.  

However, from April 2015 changes to the Teachers’ Pension scheme will affect some 
teachers interested in taking phased retirement.  It is strongly advised to consult the 
Teachers’ Pensions website for up to date information prior to making a request.

Normal Pension Age (NPA) for TPS?

The NPA for the purposes of the TPS depends when you joined the scheme. If 
you've only been a member of the TPS Scheme since 1 January 2007 you will 
have a Normal Pension Age (NPA) of 65. 

However, if you were a member of the Teachers’ Pension Scheme before 1 January 
2007 then your normal pension age will be 60 – provided you haven’t had a break in 
service of more than five years. 

If you had a break of more than five years, your NPA remains at 60 for service 
up to the end of the break in service, but it will be 65 for any future service. In 
pension terms you’ll be classed as a ‘member with mixed service’.

Tudalen 113



76

Please note changes to NPA effective from 1st April 2015: There is no change to 
members’ final salary normal pension age from 1 April 2015. With effect from 1 
April 2015 members’ career average normal pension age will be equal the 
state pension age (SPA) or 65 where that is higher. Employees can check their 
state pension age by visiting the government website at: 
www.gov.uk/calculate-state-pension. For the latest information please visit 
www.teacherspensions.co.uk 

Tudalen 114

http://www.gov.uk/calculate-state-pension
http://www.teacherspensions.co.uk/


77

Appendix K - Joint Negotiating Committee for Local Authority Chief 
Executives National Salary Framework & Conditions of Service 
Handbook

 

JOINT NEGOTIATING COMMITTEE
for

LOCAL AUTHORITY CHIEF EXECUTIVES

NATIONAL SALARY FRAMEWORK
&

CONDITIONS OF SERVICE

HANDBOOK

UPDATED 13 OCTOBER 2016

Tudalen 115



78

PREAMBLE 

 

The Joint Negotiating Committee (JNC) for Chief Executives of Local Authorities is 
the national negotiating body for the pay and conditions of service of chief 
executives in England and Wales. 

 

The Authorities’ Side consists of elected members nominated by the Local 
Government Association and the Welsh Local Government Association. The Staff 
Side consists of chief executives nominated by the Association of Local Authority 
Chief Executives and Senior Managers (ALACE). ALACE is registered as an 
independent trade union. 

 

Employers’ Secretary: 

 

Officers’ Side Secretary: 

 

SARAH MESSENGER 

LGA, Local Government House 

Smith Square 

London SW1P 3HZ 

 

Tel:  020 7187 7373 

Email: info@local.gov.uk 

 

IAN MILLER Hon Secretary ALACE 
www.alace.org.uk  

 

 

Tel: 07515 190917 

Email: alacehonsec@yahoo.co.uk 

Tudalen 116

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.alace.org.uk/
mailto:alacehonsec@yahoo.co.uk


79

 

NB:  

All hyperlinks and email addresses contained in this Agreement are correct at the 
time of publication. Please notify the Joint Secretaries of any discrepancies by 
emailing them at the addresses shown on the cover page. 

 

Appendix 1  Constitution 

 

15 

Appendix 2 Joint Guidance on Appraisal 
of the Chief Executive 

18 

Appendix 3 Considerations in 
Developing Remuneration 
Committees – Joint 
Guidance 

21 

Appendix 4 JNC agreed protocols for 
Joint Secretarial conciliation 

23 

Appendix 5 A: The Model disciplinary 
procedure & guidance to the 
procedure England (page 
30) 

25 

B: The Model disciplinary 
procedure & guidance to the 
procedure Wales (page 55) 

Appendix 5a Flow diagram relating to 
Model Disciplinary 
Procedure England 

76 

Appendix W5a Flow diagram relating to 
Model Disciplinary 
Procedure Wales 

78 

Appendix 5b Flow diagram relating to 
Model Disciplinary 
Procedure (relationship to a 
council’s sickness 
procedure) 

79 

Appendix 5c Flow diagram relating to 
Model Disciplinary 
Procedure (relationship to a 
council’s capability & 
performance procedure) 

80 

Appendix 5d Potential ‘reasons for 
termination’ table relating 
to the model disciplinary 
procedure 

81 

Appendix 6 JNC guidance for 
Designated Independent 
Persons (DIPs) Wales 

82 

Appendix 7 Model Grievance 
Procedures 

87 

Tudalen 117



80

THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 

1. DEFINITION 

 

 The term “chief executive” means the officer who is the head of the council’s paid 
service. The duties and responsibilities of the post shall be determined by the 
individual employing authority. They shall include the statutory responsibilities of the 
head of the paid service, and such other duties as determined by the authority, 
which should include the following:- 

 

 (i) Responsibility for: 

 

(a) leading the management team or equivalent, in particular in securing a 
corporate approach 

(b) securing the provision of advice on the forward planning of objectives and 
services 

(c) ensuring the efficient and effective implementation of the council’s 
programmes and policies across all services and the effective deployment of the 
authority’s resources to those ends. 

 

 For these purposes the chief executive has authority over all other employees of 
the council. 

 

(ii) Advising the council, its executive and its committees on all matters of general 
policy and all other matters upon which his or her advice is necessary, with the 
right of attendance at all committees of the council and all subcommittees and 
working parties. 

(iii) Advising the leader or elected mayor of the council, or where appropriate the 
party group leaders, on any matter relevant to the council’s functions. 

 

(iv) Representing and negotiating on behalf of the council on external bodies and 
networks. 

 

Tudalen 118



81

(v) Advising or making suitable arrangements for advising the Lord Mayor, Mayor 
or Chair of the council on all matters within the duties of that office. 

 

2. ADVICE TO POLITICAL GROUPS 

 

 The chief executive shall not be required to advise any political group of the 
council, either as to the work of the group or as to the work of the council, neither 
shall he or she be required to attend any meetings of any political group. This shall 
be without prejudice to any arrangements to the contrary which may be made in 
agreement with the chief executive and which includes adequate safeguards to 
preserve the political neutrality of the chief executive in relation to the affairs of 
the council. 

3. WHOLE-TIME SERVICE 

 

 The chief executive shall devote his or her whole-time service to the work of the 
council and shall not engage in any other business or take up any other additional 
appointment without the express consent of the council. He or she shall not 
subordinate his or her duty as chief executive to his or her private interests or put 
himself or herself in a position where his or her duty and private interests conflict. 

 

4. PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL 

 

This guidance is intended for use by senior elected members and the chief 
executive when agreeing a process for appraising the performance of the chief 
executive. The focus of this process should be on clarifying what the chief 
executive is expected to achieve and on identifying any continuing development 
needs which, if met, would maintain a high level of performance.  The process of 
setting objectives should be by agreement and the result should be to identify 
objectives which are relevant and challenging but achievable. The LGA, Regional 
Employers’ Organisations, ALACE and SOLACE are potential sources of advice and 
assistance. Guidance is attached at Appendix 2. 

 

5. FIXED TERM CONTRACTS 

 

 Fixed term contracts can raise issues of considerable legal complexity. It is 
important for both sides to understand the implications of the contract before 
completing it. The joint secretaries are available to act in an impartial role in that 

Tudalen 119



82

process if requested by either side. Paragraph 13.4 contains further information 
regarding procedures for the ending of a fixed-term contract.  

 

SALARIES 

 

6. SALARY FRAMEWORK  

 

 The salary paid to a chief executive will be that determined by the employing 
local authority. Salaries shall be deemed to be inclusive, and all other fees and 
emoluments, unless they are covered by Paragraph 7 or the authority expressly 
agrees that they shall be retained by the officer, shall be paid by the officer into 
the council’s accounts. 

 

7. RETURNING OFFICER FEES 

 

 The chief executive shall be entitled to receive and retain the personal fees arising 
from such of the duties of returning officer, acting returning officer, deputy 
returning officer or deputy acting returning officer and similar positions as he or she 
performs subject to the payment of pension contributions thereon, where 
appropriate, Unless a specific term has been included in the chief executive’s 
contract referring to alternative arrangements. 

8. SETTING REMUNERATION LEVELS  

 

The Localism Act 2011 requires councils to produce and publish a pay policy 
statement. According to the Act and statutory guidance published in 2012 and 
2013, the statement should include the local authority’s policy on specific aspects 
of chief officers’ remuneration: remuneration on recruitment, increases and 
additions to remuneration, use of performance-related pay and bonuses, 
termination payments, and transparency arrangements. It should also set out the 
approach to be adopted towards pay dispersion, (i.e. differentials). In addition, 
the Local Government Transparency Code 2015 requires councils to publish the 
differential between the taxable benefits of senior managers and the median 
taxable earnings figure for the council’s whole workforce, and details of senior 
employee salaries (above £50,000), names (with the option for individuals to refuse 
to consent for their name to be published), job descriptions, responsibilities, 
budgets and numbers of staff. 

 

Tudalen 120



83

In this context it is essential for good governance that local authorities can 
demonstrate that decisions on pay and reward packages for chief executives 
have been made in an open and accountable way.   

 

One option is for a council to establish a remuneration committee. The issues that 
local authorities will need to consider if they set up such a committee are set out 
at Appendix 3.  

 

The establishment of a remuneration committee is of course optional and different 
models may well suit individual authorities. What is clear though is that more than 
lip service must be paid to the notion of providing a verifiable and accountable 
process for recommending the remuneration level of the most highly-paid official. 

 

OTHER CONDITIONS OF SERVICE 

 

9. APPLICATION OF TERMS AND CONDITIONS GENERALLY 

 

 A chief executive shall enjoy terms and conditions in other respects not less 
favourable than those accorded to other officers employed by the council. Such 
terms and conditions may include: 

 

Adoption Scheme 

Car Allowances 

Continuous Service 

Grievance 

Health, Safety & Welfare 

Maternity / Paternity Scheme 

Official Conduct 

Reimbursement of Expenditure 

Sickness Scheme 

Training & Development 

 

 10. REMOVAL EXPENSES:  NEW APPOINTMENTS 

Tudalen 121



84

 

 In the case of officers taking up new appointments, authorities may (in the 
interests of local government and to facilitate the moving of officers) reimburse 
fully or contribute towards the costs reasonably incurred in removal and in setting 
up a new home, and other costs reasonably incurred in taking up a new 
appointment. 

 

11. ANNUAL LEAVE 

 

 The chief executive shall be entitled to a minimum of 30 days’ annual leave (in 
addition to statutory and other public holidays but inclusive of any long service 
leave, extra statutory and local holidays). In exceptional circumstances and by 
mutual agreement annual leave may be carried forward to the next leave year. 

 

12. RESTRICTIONS ON RE-EMPLOYMENT 

 

 After termination of the chief executive’s employment he / she: 

 

(i) will not divulge any information to any third party which is confidential to the 
authority 

(ii) will not, without the consent of the authority, within a period of 12 months take 
up employment with or provide services for reward to any body: 

 

(a) if during the chief executive’s last two years of employment the authority has 
been involved in transactions with that body for which the offer of employment or 
provision of services could reasonably be regarded as a reward 

(b) which is likely to benefit from commercially sensitive information which is known 
to the chief executive by virtue of his / her past employment by the authority 

 

13. PROCEDURES FOR, DISCIPLINE, CAPABILITY, REDUNDANCY AND OTHER 
DISMISSALS 

 

13.1 In principle it is for each local authority to determine its procedures and 
practical arrangements for the handling of disciplinary action and termination of 
the employment contract, taking into account the relevant considerations in 
general employment law. However, in the case of a chief executive (head of paid 

Tudalen 122



85

service) there are further legal requirements for certain types of disciplinary action 
and dismissal. 

 

13.2 In England, the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 
(as amended by the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2015) and in Wales, the Local Authorities Standing Orders (Wales) 
Regulations 2006 provide a degree of protection for chief executives against 
unwarranted political interference in their role as heads of paid service of local 
authorities. In England, the Regulations require that the council takes into account 
any advice, views or recommendations of an independent panel before a chief 
executive can be dismissed, for any reason other than redundancy, permanent ill-
health or the expiry of a fixed term contract unless the authority has undertaken to 
renew that fixed term contract. In Wales, the regulations require that a Designated 
Independent Person is required to investigate and make a recommendation in the 
event of disciplinary action being taken against the chief executive on the 
grounds of misconduct or if there is any other proposal to dismiss the chief 
executive for any reason other than redundancy, permanent ill-health or the 
expiry of a fixed term contract unless the authority has undertaken to renew that 
fixed term contract.  The considerations and the management of these different 
types of disciplinary action and potential dismissal therefore will vary. 

 

13.3 There are, therefore, differences between the English and Welsh regulations 
and accordingly there are two separate procedures (one for local authorities in 
England and one for local authorities in Wales). The model procedures with 
guidance on their application and operation in both countries are introduced 
below A England and B Wales, and contained at Appendix 5a (England) and 
Appendix W5a (Wales). 

 

A  ENGLAND 

 

Redundancy, Permanent Ill-Health and the expiry of Fixed Term Contracts 

 

13.4 Proposed dismissals on the grounds of redundancy, permanent ill-health and 
the expiry of a fixed term contract where there has been no commitment to renew 
it, do not require the involvement of an Independent Investigator or Independent 
Panel (England Page 49). 

   

However, the authority should follow appropriate and fair procedures in these 
cases and have mechanisms in place, including appropriate delegated 

Tudalen 123



86

authorities, to manage such eventualities. In addition, dismissals for all reasons 
including those set out in this paragraph must be approved by the Council itself.  

 

Disciplinary action on grounds of conduct, proposals to dismiss on the grounds of 
misconduct and proposals to dismiss for other reasons such as capability and 
some other substantial reason 

 

13.5 Disciplinary action or situations in which there is the potential to dismiss on the 
grounds of misconduct and potential to dismiss for other reasons such as capability 
and some other substantial reason will require the involvement of an Independent 
Investigator. Where it results in a proposal to dismiss, it will require the involvement 
of an Independent Panel before the Council considers the proposal.  

 

13.6 The JNC has developed model procedures to use in these cases where an 
Independent Investigator and Independent Panel may be required and the 
matter cannot be resolved informally.  

 

13.7 A summary table at Appendix 5d indicates the appropriate procedures to 
follow for the different types of situations, i.e. whether the issue should follow a local 
procedure or whether it should follow the JNC model procedure. 

Considerations prior to contemplating disciplinary action 

 

13.8 Taking disciplinary action against a chief executive can be a difficult, time-
consuming and potentially very expensive process made more complex because 
it happens so rarely that many elected members and senior staff will be unfamiliar 
with the relevant legal and employment contract provisions. 

 

13.9 A key issue is whether formal disciplinary action is necessary at all or whether 
informal resolution to a problem could provide a better solution in the 
circumstances. This will sometimes be the case and the Joint Secretaries may be 
able to assist. (See paragraphs 13.11 – 13.14). 

 

13.10 Where formal procedures are to be engaged, the JNC urges elected 
members and those who advise them to ensure that they understand the 
procedure, seek appropriate advice at every stage and do not compromise the 
outcome of any proceedings. (See paragraphs 13.15 – 13.20). 

 

Tudalen 124



87

Early informal resolution and joint secretarial conciliation 

 

13.11 Authorities should have regard to the ACAS advisory handbook Discipline 
and Grievance at Work. A key message in this guidance is that prevention is better 
than cure: “The use of formal disciplinary procedures should be considered a ‘last 
resort’ rather than the first option. Many problems can be sorted out through 
informal dialogue”. 

 

13.12 The JNC encourages authorities to adopt this informal approach. Experience 
shows that once formal disciplinary procedures have been instituted against a 
chief executive the inevitable high profile of the case can make it more difficult 
for normal working relationships to be resumed. There might also be an effect on 
staff morale and it is possible for there to be negative publicity in the local and 
sometimes national media. 

 

13.13 A guiding principle of the early informal approach is therefore to obtain 
improvement and remedy problems. Where potential disciplinary problems (either 
conduct or performance) are identified then either of the parties may wish to 
approach the appropriate JNC Side Secretary. The Joint Secretaries are available 
at any stage in the proceedings to facilitate discussions between the parties and 
act as impartial conciliators. Appendix 4 sets out the JNC’s protocol for Joint 
secretarial conciliation. Joint secretarial assistance can also be requested during 
the formal stages of the procedure although the scope for resolution may be 
reduced by then as the parties are more likely to have adopted adversarial 
positions. 

 

13.14 Conciliation is preferable to the use of formal procedures if it can bring about 
a mutually agreed solution to any problems. While the process itself is informal any 
resolution should make it clear what specific changes in behaviour and / or 
performance are expected and within what timescales. Depending on the nature 
of the case, a mutually agreed resolution could include, for example: 

 

 For minor performance and conduct issues it may make sense for there to be an 
off-the-record agreement that an informal warning will be issued. If the chief 
executive is prepared to accept such a warning in the appropriate spirit then it 
may not be in either party’s interest for the formal procedures to be initiated. 

 

Tudalen 125

http://www.acas.org.uk/index.aspx?articleid=2179
http://www.acas.org.uk/index.aspx?articleid=2179


88

 Where there are performance shortcomings with a relatively inexperienced chief 
executive then one solution could be for a more experienced, possibly retired, 
chief executive to act as a mentor. 

The formal JNC procedure and associated guidance 

 

13.15 The model procedures have been agreed by the JNC in the light of the 
experience of the Joint Secretaries in their involvement in individual cases. The 
procedure includes appropriate variations for application in councils with leader / 
cabinet executives, mayor / cabinet executives and those operating a committee 
system. 

 

13.16 Where informal resolution is not possible the model procedure should apply 
unless alternative arrangements have been agreed by both parties locally. The 
model procedure can also be modified by mutual agreement to suit the particular 
circumstances of the case, but not so as to contradict the requirements of the 
Standing Orders Regulations. There is an obligation on both the authority and its 
chief executive to give fair consideration to reasonable proposals from the other 
party to modify the model procedure to suit local circumstances. 

 

13.17 The principles of natural justice and good management practice must 
govern the conduct of any proceedings against the chief executive. Authorities 
should also have full regard to the principles and standards set out in Discipline 
and Grievance - ACAS Code of Practice. 

 

13.18 The procedure should be handled as quickly as is consistent with the need 
to investigate the case and to give the chief executive a fair opportunity to reply 
fully to complaints. In order to use the model procedure, authorities will need to do 
some preparatory work by considering appropriate committees and delegated 
powers before incidents which might engage the procedure arise. 

 

13.19 The Joint Secretaries of the JNC should be notified as soon as it is proposed 
to use the procedure and it is recommended that both parties contact the 
appropriate side secretary as soon as possible to ascertain whether more detailed 
assistance might be desirable 

 

13.20 The range of possibilities is difficult to cover completely within the content of 
this handbook. However, the handbook contains the model procedure and 
guidance on the operation of the procedure and associated issues. There are also 

Tudalen 126

http://www.acas.org.uk/index.aspx?articleid=2174
http://www.acas.org.uk/index.aspx?articleid=2174


89

flow diagrams to assist in making the process as clear as possible. Further advice 
and guidance can be sought from the Joint Secretaries. 

  B  WALES 

 

Redundancy, Permanent Ill-Health and the expiry of Fixed Term Contracts 

 

W13.4 Proposed dismissals on the grounds of redundancy, permanent ill-health 
and the expiry of a fixed term contract where there has been no commitment to 
renew it, do not require the involvement of a Designated Independent Person. 
However, the authority should follow appropriate and fair procedures in these 
cases and have mechanisms in place, including appropriate delegated 
authorities, to manage such eventualities. 

 

Disciplinary action on grounds of conduct, proposals to dismiss on the grounds of 
misconduct and proposals to dismiss for other reasons such as capability and 
some other substantial reason 

 

W13.5 Disciplinary action or situations in which there is the potential to dismiss on 
the grounds of misconduct and potential to dismiss for other reasons such as 
capability and some other substantial reason will require the involvement of a 
Designated Independent Person. There are also additional considerations as to the 
impact of the Standing Orders Regulations such as limits on suspension of the chief 
executive and the powers and method of appointment of the Designated 
Independent Person, which authorities and chief executives need to be aware of. 

 

W13.6 The JNC has developed model procedures to use in these cases where a 
Designated Independent Person may be required and the matter cannot be 
resolved informally. The model procedures with guidance on their application and 
operation are contained at Pages 54-75. 

 

W13.7 A summary table at Appendix 5d indicates the appropriate procedures to 
follow for the different types of situations, i.e. whether the issue should follow a local 
procedure or whether it should follow the JNC model procedure. 

 

Considerations prior to contemplating disciplinary action 

 

Tudalen 127



90

W13.8 Taking disciplinary action against a chief executive can be a difficult, time-
consuming and potentially very expensive process made more complex because 
it happens so rarely that many elected members and senior staff will be unfamiliar 
with the relevant legal and employment contract provisions. 

 

W13.9 A key issue is whether formal disciplinary action is necessary at all or whether 
informal resolution to a problem could provide a better solution in the 
circumstances. This will sometimes be the case and the Joint Secretaries may be 
able to assist. (See paragraphs W13.11 – W13.14). 

 

W13.10 Where formal procedures are to be engaged the JNC urges elected 
members to ensure that they understand the procedure, seek appropriate advice 
at every stage and do not compromise the outcome of any proceedings. (See 
paragraphs W13.15 – W13.21). 

 

Early informal resolution and joint secretarial conciliation 

 

W13.11 Authorities should have regard to Discipline and Grievances at Work: The 
ACAS Guide. A key message in this guidance is that prevention is better than cure: 
“The use of formal disciplinary procedures should be considered a ‘last resort’ 
rather than the first option. Many problems can be sorted out through informal 
dialogue”. 

 

W13.12 The JNC encourages authorities to adopt this informal approach. 
Experience shows that once formal disciplinary procedures have been instituted 
against a chief executive the inevitable high profile of the case can make it more 
difficult for normal working relationships to be resumed. There might also be an 
effect on staff morale and it is possible for there to be negative publicity in the 
local and sometimes national media. 

 

W13.13 A guiding principle of the early informal approach is therefore to obtain 
improvement and remedy problems. Where potential disciplinary problems (either 
conduct or performance) are identified then either of the parties may wish to 
approach the appropriate JNC Side Secretary. The Joint Secretaries are available 
at any stage in the proceedings to facilitate discussions between the parties and 
act as impartial conciliators. Appendix 4 sets out the JNC’s protocol for Joint 
Secretarial conciliation. Joint Secretarial assistance can also be requested during 
the formal stages of the procedure although the scope for resolution may be 
reduced by then as the parties are more likely to have adopted adversarial 
positions. 

Tudalen 128

http://www.acas.org.uk/index.aspx?articleid=2179
http://www.acas.org.uk/index.aspx?articleid=2179


91

 

W13.14 Conciliation is preferable to the use of formal procedures if it can bring 
about a mutually agreed solution to any problems. While the process itself is 
informal any resolution should make it clear what specific changes in behaviour 
and / or performance are expected and within what timescales. Depending on 
the nature of the case, a mutually agreed resolution could include, for example: 

 

 For minor performance and conduct issues it may make sense for there to be an 
off-the-record agreement that an informal warning will be issued. While the law is 
clear that to take any sort of disciplinary action the Designated Independent 
Person process has to be used, it may be sufficient for elected members to express 
their concerns informally and let the matter rest there. If the chief executive is 
prepared to accept such a warning in the appropriate spirit then it may not be in 
neither party’s interest for the formal procedures to be initiated. 

  Where there are performance shortcomings with a relatively inexperienced 
chief executive then one solution could be for a more experienced, possibly 
retired, chief executive to act as a mentor. 

 The formal JNC procedure and associated guidance 

 

W13.15 The model procedures have been agreed by the JNC in the light of 
leading counsel’s opinion and the experience of the Joint Secretaries in their 
involvement in individual cases. The procedure is suitable for application in 
councils with leader/cabinet executives and mayor / cabinet executives.  

 

W13.16 Where informal resolution is not possible the model procedure should apply 
unless alternative arrangements have been agreed locally. The model can also 
be modified by mutual agreement to suit the particular circumstances of the case, 
but not so as to contradict the requirements of the Standing Orders Regulations.  
There is an obligation on both the authority and their chief executive to give fair 
consideration to reasonable proposals from the other party to modify the model 
procedure to suit local circumstances. 

 

W13.17 The principles of natural justice and good management practice must 
govern the conduct of any proceedings against the chief executive. Authorities 
should also have full regard to the principles and standards set out in Discipline 
and Grievance - ACAS Code of Practice 

 

Tudalen 129

http://www.acas.org.uk/index.aspx?articleid=2174
http://www.acas.org.uk/index.aspx?articleid=2174


92

W13.18 The procedure should be handled as quickly as is consistent with the need 
to investigate the case and to give the chief executive a fair opportunity to reply 
fully to complaints. In order to use the model procedure, authorities will need to do 
some preparatory work by considering appropriate committees and delegated 
powers before incidents which might engage the procedure arise. 

 

W13.19 The Joint Secretaries of the JNC should be notified as soon as it is proposed 
to use the procedure and it is recommended that both parties contact the 
appropriate side secretary as soon as possible to ascertain whether more detailed 
assistance might be desirable. 

 

W13.20 The range of possibilities is difficult to cover completely within the content 
of this handbook. However, the handbook contains the model procedure and 
guidance on the operation of the procedure and associated issues. There are also 
flow diagrams to assist in making the process as clear as possible. Further advice 
and guidance can be sought from the Joint Secretaries. 

 

W13.21 In the event that as a result of following the formal procedure the decision 
is taken to appoint a DIP, the JNC has produced a brief Guidance Note (Appendix 
6) to assist members, Chief Executives and the DIP to understand the role. 

14.  Grievance Procedures 

 

In principle it is for each local authority to determine its procedures and practical 
arrangements for the handling of grievances, taking into account the relevant 
considerations in general employment law. However, in the case of a chief 
executive, there are particular factors which may need to be borne in mind in the 
case of a grievance against a chief executive or a grievance brought by a chief 
executive, and the JNC has therefore adopted model procedures for use in such 
circumstances. These are set out in Appendix 7. 

 

Tudalen 130



93

APPENDIX 1 

 

C O N S T I T U T I O N 

 

1. TITLE 

 

 The Committee shall be known as the Joint Negotiating Committee for Chief 
Executives of Local Authorities (hereinafter referred to as “the Committee”). 

 

2. SCOPE 

 

 The Committee shall have within their scope all chief executives of all principal 
local authorities in England and Wales as defined in paragraph 1 of the national 
conditions of service. 

 

3. MEMBERSHIP 

  

 The Committee shall consist of not more than 11 members on each side. The 
current membership is appointed as follows:- 

 

 Representing local authorities: 

 

 Local Government Association    9 

 Welsh Local Government Association    1 

 

 Representing chief executives: 

 

 Association of Local Authority Chief Executives  

and Senior Managers     11 

 

Tudalen 131



94

4. If any  of the organisations named in paragraph 3 hereof fail to appoint the 
number of representatives provided for by the constitution, such failure to appoint 
shall not vitiate the decisions of the Committee always providing the quorum 
referred to in paragraph 13 is met. In the event of any member of the Committee 
or any sub-committee thereof being unable to attend any meeting of the 
Committee or of the sub-committee, as the case may be, the organisation 
represented by such member shall be entitled to appoint another representative 
to attend and vote in his / her place. 

 

5. A member of the Committee shall automatically retire on ceasing to be a 
member of the organisation which he / she represents. 

 

6. On the occurrence of a casual vacancy, a new member shall be appointed by 
the organisation in whose representation the vacancy occurs and shall sit until the 
end of the period for which his / her predecessor was appointed. 

 

FUNCTIONS 

 

7. The functions of the Committee shall be to consider from time to time the salary 
framework and general conditions of service of the officers named in paragraph 
2 hereof and to make recommendations in regard to such scales and conditions 
to the local authorities by which such officers are employed. 

 

 Provided that, in considering general conditions of service, the Committee shall 
have regard to the general conditions of service now or hereafter recommended 
by the National Joint Council for Local Government Services or to any agreed 
alternative local conditions. 

 

 All recommendations made by the Committee to local authorities shall be sent 
simultaneously to the bodies named in paragraph 3 hereof. 

 

PROCEDURE 

 

8. Sub-Committees The Committee may appoint from their own members such 
sub-committees as they may consider necessary and with such authorities as they 
may from time to time determine. The reports of all sub-committees shall be 
submitted to the full Committee. 

Tudalen 132



95

 

9. Chair and Vice-Chair The Committee shall appoint annually a Chair and Vice-
Chair. The Chair, or in his / her absence the Vice-Chair, shall preside at all meetings 
of the Committee. In the absence of both the Chair and the Vice-Chair at any 
meeting, a Chair shall be elected to preside. In no case shall a Chair have a 
second or casting vote. 

 

10. Officers   Each side shall appoint a joint secretary. 

 

11. Meetings Meetings of the Committee shall be held as often as may be 
necessary, and the Chair shall call a special meeting if so requested by one-third 
of either side of the Committee. The notice summoning any special meeting shall 
state the nature of the business proposed to be transacted thereat, and no other 
matters shall be discussed. A special meeting shall take place within fourteen days 
after the request has been received. 

 

12. Voting The voting in the Committee and in sub-committees shall be by show of 
hands or otherwise as the Committee or sub-committee, as the case may be, shall 
determine. No resolution shall be regarded as carried unless it has been approved 
by a majority of the members entitled to vote present on each side of the 
Committee or sub-committee, as the case may be. 

 

13. Quorum The quorum of the Committee shall be 8, consisting of 4 
representatives from each side. In the absence of a quorum the Chair shall vacate 
the chair, and the business then under consideration shall be the first business to 
be discussed either at the next ordinary meeting or at a further special meeting to 
be held within fourteen days after the date fixed for the first special meeting, as 
the case may be. The quorum of a sub-committee shall, subject to any directions 
given by the Committee, be determined by the sub-committee. 

 

14. Notices of meetings All notices of meetings of the Committee and of any sub-
committee thereof shall be sent to the respective members at least seven clear 
days before the date of the meeting. 

Tudalen 133



96

FINANCE 

 

15. Each side shall meet its own expenses. 

 

APPLICATION 

 

16. In the event of any question arising as to the interpretation of 
recommendations issued by the Committee and their application to a particular 
chief executive or of any other question arising relating to salaries which cannot 
be settled by the employing authority and the officer concerned, the Committee 
shall at the request of either party consider the matter and endeavour to assist 
them in securing a settlement. 

 

ARBITRATION 

 

17. In the event of a dispute over terms and conditions of employment arising 
between the two sides of the Committee on any matter, the dispute shall, at the 
request of either side, be reported to the Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration 
Service (ACAS) by the Joint Secretaries with a request that the matter be referred 
for settlement by arbitration. The arbitration award shall be accepted by the two 
sides, and shall be treated as though it were an agreement between the two sides. 

 

AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTION 

 

18. Alterations in the constitution of the Committee shall be made as follows: 

 

(a) in paragraph 3 of this constitution any change to the organisations represented 
on each Side, shall be a matter for each Side to determine 

(b) all other clauses can only be changed with the assent of both bodies named 
in paragraph 3 

Tudalen 134



97

APPENDIX 2 

 

JOINT GUIDANCE ON APPRAISAL OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1 This guidance is intended for use by senior elected members and the chief 
executive when agreeing a process for appraising the performance of the chief 
executive. The focus of this process should be on clarifying what the chief 
executive is expected to achieve and on identifying any continuing 
developmental needs which, if met, would maintain a high level of performance. 
The process of setting objectives should be by agreement and the result should be 
to identify objectives which are relevant and challenging but achievable. 

 1.2 The process should not become complex. At all times it needs to focus clearly 
on a few basic issues: what the chief executive’s job is; what has been done well; 
what could have been done better; the major issues over the next year; and what 
developmental needs the process clearly identifies. 

 

2. RESPONSIBILITY FOR APPRAISAL 

 

2.1 The responsibility for appraising the chief executive lies with senior elected 
members. It is a contractual obligation on the part of both the chief executive and 
the employing council to engage in a regular process of appraisal. 

 

2.2 It will be for local decision in the light of local circumstances whether the 
appraisal should be carried out by a small committee representing all political 
groups or by a senior representative or representatives of the controlling group. 
Whichever approach is adopted, those conducting the appraisal need to bear in 
mind at all times that the chief executive is employed by the council as a whole, 
not by the controlling group, and is therefore required to serve all of the council. 

 

3. AIMS OF APPRAISAL 

 

 To identify and clarify the key objectives, priorities and targets of the council and 
appropriate timescales for their achievement over the next (e.g. twelve) months 

Tudalen 135



98

 

 Agree what the chief executive should personally achieve over the next (e.g. 
twelve) months and identify required standards of performance, in order to deliver 
the council’s key objectives, priorities and targets. Wherever possible standards of 
performance should be expressed in ways which can be monitored objectively 

  Discuss positive achievements over the past (e.g. twelve) months and identify 
reasons for good performance 

 Discuss instances over the past (e.g. twelve) months where targets have not 
been met, identifying the factors preventing the achievements of agreed goals 

  Discuss developmental requirements. The chief executive will have strengths 
and weaknesses and the parties should identify the professional development 
necessary to equip the chief executive with the requisite skills to meet the council’s 
objectives. The parties should be proactive and anticipate future developmental 
needs in the context of the council’s changing priorities. This discussion could lead 
to the design of a formal programme of continuous professional development 
(CPD). Equally this discussion may lead to agreement on changes to the working 
relationship between leading members and the chief executive.  It should not be 
assumed that it is only the chief executive who may need to adjust his / her 
approach to the working relationship 

 3.1 Appraisal should be set in the context of the council’s objectives, priorities and 
targets, generally expressed in corporate plans. Appraisal targets when taken as 
a whole should be related to agreed targets for the council as a whole. 

 

4. THE APPRAISAL CYCLE 

 

4.1 Appraisal should take place on a predetermined date, at least annually, 
backed up by regular monitoring meetings at which targets can be reviewed for 
continuing relevance. A formal system of appraisal should not prevent the 
continuous review of progress and performance. 

 

5. KEY ELEMENTS OF THE APPRAISAL PROCESS 

 

 Continuous two-way monitoring of performance against objectives 

Tudalen 136



99

  Preparation for an appraisal interview 

  An appraisal interview where recent and current performance, future 
objectives and development needs are discussed 

  Agreement on action required from either party to ensure required 
performance is achievable 

 

 A continuing process of informal discussion regarding performance 

 6. The appraisal interview and afterwards 

 

 Both parties should be well informed and prepared for the interview 

 

 The process should be two-way 

  The interview should be free from interruptions, and notes should be taken when 
necessary 

 

 The parties should concentrate as far as possible on established facts rather than 
unsubstantiated opinions 

  Targets which are realistic and capable of being monitored should be agreed 

  Any agreed personal development plans should be implemented within the 
agreed timescale 

  The chief executive should be given a reasonable opportunity to correct any 
shortfalls in performance 

Tudalen 137



100

 

 A date for the next review should be agreed 

 7. EXTERNAL ASSISTANCE 

 7.1 External assistance in facilitating the appraisal process can be helpful in 
providing an independent perspective.   

 

7.2 Within the local government ‘family’, it may be sought from the Local 
Government Association or by contacting the Employers’ Secretary or from the 
appropriate Regional Employers’ Organisation or ALACE or SOLACE. Alternatively 
such assistance may be available from commercial sources, such as consultancy 
firms. 

 

7.3 Such assistance from the aforementioned organisations may take the form of 
them either directly participating in the process for which a fee may be requested 
to cover staff time or the recommendation of, for example, a suitably experienced 
recently retired senior officer or other independent individual. 

 

Note: If external assistance is sought, it must have the agreement of both sides. 

 

8. OTHER MATTERS 

 

8.1 The detailed content of appraisal interviews should normally be treated as 
confidential to the participants, unless both parties agree that it would be helpful 
for the targets agreed for the ensuing period to be shared more widely. However, 
it may be useful to report to an appropriate committee meeting that an appraisal 
interview has taken place. 

 

8.2 This may be useful in acting as a reminder that the chief executive and 
members need to ensure that chief officers are in their turn appraised. 

 

8.3 It should, however, not be assumed that the process for appraising the chief 
executive should be followed in precise detail for other staff. There is a 
fundamental difference between elected members appraising the chief 

Tudalen 138

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
mailto:alacehonsec@yahoo.co.uk
http://www.solace.org.uk/


101

executive and managers appraising subordinates. The principles, nevertheless, are 
the same. 

 APPENDIX 3  

 

CONSIDERATIONS IN DEVELOPING REMUNERATION COMMITTEES – JOINT GUIDANCE 

 

1. Composition 

 

1.1 In order to be representative but viable, the Committee needs to be small but 
it can be useful to have an odd number of members to ensure that clear decisions 
can be taken. Working by consensus is also a viable option. It is suggested that the 
Committee should have no more than 5 members. 

 

1.2 The Committee can be composed entirely of elected members if this is the 
most workable solution in an authority but consideration may be given to having 
some external representation. Any external members should of course have no 
conflicts of interest and should be experienced in managing large organisations.  

 

2. Remit 

 

2.1 The Committee will be responsible for providing advice and will have 
delegated authority for making decisions or recommendations to the full council 
(or another committee) on pay and remuneration issues within its agreed remit in 
relation to the chief executive. 

 

2.2 To make properly informed decisions on pay policy the Committee will need to 
ensure that it has comprehensive, relevant and reliable advice and market data 
provided by the online pay benchmarking system epaycheck (incl hyperlink). 
Further advice is also available from the Local Government Association or by 
contacting the Employers’ Secretary or from the appropriate Regional Employers’ 
Organisation or ALACE or SOLACE. Alternatively such assistance may be available 
from commercial sources, such as consultancy firms. 

 

2.3 The remit of the Committee would include all those elements of the 
remuneration package which are not set nationally (e.g. pensions) or by overall 
council policy, including: 

Tudalen 139



102

 

 Fixed point salary 
 Variable pay elements  
 Some additional benefits within the context of overall pay.   

 2.4 It would also be responsible for oversight of any performance / contribution-
related pay scheme for the chief executive (targets to be set and reviewed 
elsewhere as part of the chief executive’s appraisal process).  

 

2.5 The Committee would not be responsible for the actual operation of any 
appraisal processes, which should be kept separate. 

 3. Process 

 

3.1 The Committee should meet at least annually to: 

 

 Determine any requirement for a formal review of the relevant pay market 
 (Where determined necessary) commission relevant research and analysis and 
make recommendations thereon 
 Review any remuneration issues arising from established performance / 
contribution-related pay assessment  

 4.  Recommendations  

 

4.1 The Committee’s recommendations should be based on data / advice / 
evidence / views collected from a number of possible sources, including (but not 
limited to): 

 

 The council’s own personnel / HR function, possibly in the form of a report on 
current issues 
 National and / or Regional Employers’ Organisations 
 Independent external pay data / advice / facilitation from: 

 

 External consultancy organisations with relevant experience in pay market 
analysis  

Tudalen 140



103

 Pay benchmark information (from local employers / other similar local 
authorities) 

 

 Performance data drawn from council-wide performance management 
indicators 
 Submissions made by the Association of Local Authority Chief Executives and 
Senior Managers on behalf of their members 

 

4.2 The Committee would then make reasoned recommendations to the relevant 
Committee of the council or would be in a position to act with delegated 
authority, as defined within the constitution.  

 

4.3 In addition, in the first year of operation, the Committee would need to meet 
initially to agree the pay data to be collected and to agree its expectations of the 
process. The Committee would also need to determine what it would recommend 
as an overall executive pay policy, having regard to the general pay and 
employment strategy of the council.   

 

4.4 The Committee may also need to hold additional meetings at the request of 
the council, when advice is required for example on changes to existing systems 
or if a new appointment is to be made.   

 

5. Confidentiality and Protocols 

 

5.1 Confidentiality should always be maintained whilst discussions are taking place 
and until decisions are published. It may well be advisable to agree other protocols 
for the operation of the Committee, to which members would be expected to 
adhere.  

APPENDIX 4 

 

JNC AGREED PROTOCOLS FOR JOINT SECRETARIAL CONCILIATION 

 

1. General principles 

Tudalen 141



104

 

1.1 Conciliation is an informal process designed to assist the parties in exploring the 
ground for possible agreement between them. 

 

1.2 If conciliation is to work the participants must therefore have the confidence 
to float suggestions without compromising their respective positions. It is therefore 
essential that, if ultimately no agreement is possible, any avenues explored 
informally should not then be used in any subsequent discussions, unless agreed 
by both parties. 

 

1.3 To achieve this objective the conciliation needs to be underpinned by the 
following principles: 

 

 Informality 

 The conciliation process is informal, which means that the proceedings  should be 
off the record and non-legalistic 

 

 No pre-conditions 

 Neither side should seek to impose any pre-conditions on the process,  unless by 
joint agreement 

 

 Without prejudice 

This is probably the most important principle. Neither party will have the  
confidence to float suggestions for resolution if they are likely to prejudice their 
position later on. The parties must therefore mutually respect this principle and 
guarantee that they will not use anything discussed in  conciliation at a later stage 
or publicise it 

 

 No publicity 

These principles could be undermined if either of the parties used the  media to 
publicise its case. Accordingly there should not be any publicity unless the parties 
agree to the contrary     

 

2. Process for the conciliation meeting 

Tudalen 142



105

 

2.1 As conciliation is an informal process there is no need for case statements. 
However, the Joint Secretaries need to familiarise themselves with the case 
beforehand so the respective parties are asked to provide a briefing note for this 
purpose which indicates what they are seeking to achieve. 

 

2.2 It is for the individual parties to decide who will represent them at the 
conciliation meeting. For the council the Joint Secretaries believe that there should 
be a minimum of a politician with sufficient authority to make decisions and / or 
provide policy direction (this would probably need to be the leader of the council) 
together with a technical adviser (who may be an officer of the council or other 
appropriate person). For ALACE it would normally be the chief executive and 
ALACE adviser. This is not intended to constrain the number of people participating 
in the process but, if the number of representatives from either side is large, it would 
be helpful to restrict the number during any face-to-face discussions (see below). 

 

2.3 The Joint Secretaries will conduct the conciliation meeting along the “shuttle-
diplomacy” lines used by ACAS. This means that any of the following is possible as 
a formulation for discussions: 

 

 The Employers’ Secretary (or their representative) will probably start with a 
briefing from council representatives while the Staff Side Secretary (or their 
representative) will probably start with a briefing from their member 
 The Joint Secretaries are likely to have their own private discussions at various 
points during the proceedings 
 The Joint Secretaries together may ask to have discussions with either or both of 
the respective parties 
 The Joint Secretaries may judge that it would be helpful for them to have 
discussions with the two parties together. In this event, if either party has brought a 
large team, it would be helpful if only a few representatives were present during 
such joint discussions 

 2.4 The council is asked to provide at least three suitable rooms. The nature of 
conciliation means that discussions may be long and there may be periods when 
one or both of the parties is waiting for other discussions to take place.  

 

2.5 Where the matter is resolved the parties will have to agree how it is to be 
processed and any joint communications. If no resolution is possible then it is 
important that the principles outlined above in paragraph 1.3 are observed. 

Tudalen 143



106

 APPENDIX 5 

 

THE MODEL DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES & GUIDANCE TO THE PROCEDURES (A. 
ENGLAND and B. WALES) 

 

CONTENTS OF MODEL PROCEDURES & GUIDANCE  

                 England      Wales 

Tudalen 144



107

 Introduction 28 28 

1. Issues requiring 
investigation 

29 54 

 The Local Authorities 
Standing Orders 
Regulations – i.e. 
which cases engage 
the procedure 

Structures to Manage 
the Procedure – 
standing committees 
and delegated powers 

Managing Access to 
the Procedure – 
systems for filtering 
appropriate allegations 
to the investigating 
and Disciplinary 
Committee, 
relationship with other 
procedures, e.g. 
performance, sickness. 

  

 

 

 

 

2. Timescales 32 57 

 Statutory and 
indicative timescales – 
need for expeditious 
but fair conduct of 
proceedings within 
time limits. 

Avoiding delays in the 
procedure – avoiding 
common causes of 
delay particularly the 
availability of key 
people, i.e. designated 
independent person, 
chief executive, chief 
executive’s 
representative, 
witnesses, committee 
members. 

  

 

 

 

3. Suspension 36 60 

 Powers to suspend, 
limits on suspension, 
alternatives to 
suspension, 
suspension protocols. 

  

4. Right to be 
accompanied 

38 62 

 General rights for 
chief executive to be 
accompanied through 
the stages of the 
procedure. 

  

5. Considering the 
allegations or other 
issues under 
investigation 

39 64 

 Considerations of the 
Investigating and 
Disciplinary 
Committee, threshold 
test for the 
appointment of an 
Independent 
Investigator 
(England) or 
Designated 

  

Tudalen 145



109

Independent Person 
(Wales). 

Conducting the initial 
investigation, 
treatment of witness 
evidence, conflicts of 
interest, maintaining 
the fairness of the 
procedure, other 
possible actions, 
power to agree 
financial settlements, 
access to appropriate 
professional, 
independent or 
medical advice, 
evidence of 
performance issues. 

6. Appointment of an 
Independent 
Investigator 
(England) or  
Designated 
Independent Person 
(Wales)  

44 69 

 Power to appoint the 
Designated 
Independent Person, 
agreeing terms of 
reference and 
remuneration. 

  

7. The Independent 
(Person) 
investigation 

45 70 

 Resources, working 
arrangements, powers 
to extend or end 
suspensions, 
confidential contact at 
authority. 

  

8. Receipt and 
consideration of the 
Independent 
Investigator / 
Designated 
Independent 
Person’s Report by 
the Investigating and 
Disciplinary 
Committee 

47 72 

 The report of the 
Independent 
Investigator / 
Designated 
Independent Person, 
consideration of new 
material evidence, 
recommendations by 
the Independent 
Investigator / 
Designated 
Independent Person, 
decision by the 
Investigating and 
Disciplinary 
Committee. 

  

9. Action short of 
dismissal 

48 73 

 Action short of 
dismissal to be taken 
by the Investigating 
and Disciplinary 
Committee. 

  

10. Where the 
Investigating and 
Disciplinary 
Committee propose 
dismissal 

49 73 

 Proposal to dismiss to 
be approved by 
council, executive 
objections procedure 
to be followed in 
leader / cabinet and 
mayor / cabinet 
constitution (in 
England), the role of 
the independent panel 
(in England), the role 
of the council. 

 

  

Tudalen 146



110

11. Appeals 52 74 

 Appeals against 
proposals to dismiss to 
the council, appeals 
against action short of 
dismissal to Appeals 
Committee. 

  

Tudalen 147



111

Introduction 

 

The model procedures should be followed except in so far as the parties locally 
agree to vary them.  The council has discretion in how far to follow the agreed 
guidance. The Local Government Association (LGA) and the Association of Local 
Authority Chief Executives and Senior Managers (ALACE) through the JNC for Chief 
Executives commend this model procedure because: 

 

 The procedure and guidance have been drawn-up in light of the experience of 
the Joint Secretaries in their involvement with individual cases;  
 Its variants apply to constitutions with council leader / cabinet executives, 
mayor/cabinet executives and those councils operating a committee system;  

 

Local authority chief executives are protected under specific regulations that 
make distinctive provisions, compared to other employees. The Local Authorities 
(Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 (as amended by the Local 
Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2015) and the 
Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (Wales) Regulations 2006 aim to protect the 
chief executive from unwarranted political interference in their role as head of 
paid service of the authority. High levels of accountability work most effectively 
within clear criteria for responsibilities. Even with the distinctive role of Head of Paid 
Service, disciplinary action will need to be based on clear evidence. 

 

Local authority elected members will want to ensure that they: 

 

 Understand the procedure to be used; 
 Seek appropriate advice at every stage; 
 Do not compromise the outcome of any proceedings;  
 Allow every opportunity for fair procedures to operate. 

 

This guidance outlines the key elements of procedures for disciplining chief 
executives.     

 

Tudalen 148



112

The elements of what is procedure and what is guidance to the procedure is 
arranged in such a way as to present each element of the model procedure – 
immediately followed by the relevant part of the guidance for ease of reference.  

 

As there are significant differences between the English and Welsh regulations, for 
ease of understanding there are two separate sections: 

 

 A. THE MODEL DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE AND GUIDANCE – ENGLAND (from page 
29) 

 

B. THE MODEL DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE AND GUIDANCE – WALES (from page 54)  

  

Tudalen 149



113

Further guidance on process applying to both procedures is expressed in flow 
diagram format which is provided as Appendices 5a, W5a, 5b and 5c. 

 

A. THE MODEL DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE AND GUIDANCE – ENGLAND 

 

 1. Issues requiring investigation – (guidance) 

 

1.1 The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 as 
amended 

1.1.1. The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 (the 
Regulations) (as amended by the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2015) provide that the dismissal of a chief executive in 
cases of disciplinary action (as defined in the Regulations) may only take place if 
the proposal to dismiss is approved by way of a vote at a meeting of the authority, 
after they have taken into account: 

 

 any advice, views or recommendations of a panel (the Independent Panel) 
 the conclusions of any investigation into the proposed dismissal and 
 any representations from the protected officer concerned 

 

1. Issues requiring investigation – (procedure) 

 

Where an allegation is made relating to the conduct or capability of the chief executive or there is 
some other substantial issue that requires investigation, the matter will be considered by the 
Investigating & Disciplinary Committee (IDC). 

 

This Committee will be a standing committee appointed by the council. Arrangements for 
flexibility are recommended in the event that a member of the standing committee has a conflict 
of interest. 

 

Other structures are necessary to manage the whole process, including an Independent Panel 
should there be a proposal for the dismissal of the chief executive.  This will be comprised of 
independent persons, appointed in accordance with The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) 
(England) Regulations 2001 as amended. 

 

Tudalen 150



114

 

1.1.2 Disciplinary action: in relation to a member of staff of a local authority is 
defined in the Regulations as “any action occasioned by alleged misconduct 
which, if proved, would, according to the usual practice of the authority, be 
recorded on the member of staff's personal file, and includes any proposal for 
dismissal of a member of staff for any reason other than redundancy, permanent 
ill-health or infirmity of mind or body, but does not include failure to renew a 
contract of employment for a fixed term unless the authority has undertaken to 
renew such a contract”.    

 

The definition of disciplinary action would therefore include other reasons for 
dismissal such as capability or some other substantial reason including a 
breakdown in trust and confidence between the chief executive and the 
authority.   

 

1.1.4 The attached Appendix 5d (potential reasons for termination table) sets out 
those circumstances that could potentially result in dismissal and whether or not 
they are covered by this procedure. 

 

1.2 Structures to manage the procedure 

 

1.2.1 A key feature of the model procedure is the specific roles envisaged by the 
Investigating and Disciplinary Committee (IDC), the Appeals Committee, the 
Independent Panel and the council. Authorities will need to consider a number of 
important issues around the composition of committees and the delegation of 
appropriate powers.  In particular, it must be borne in mind that staffing issues are 
a non-executive function and so these bodies have to be put in place by the 
council not the Leader / Mayor or executive.  

 

1.2.2 The IDC must be a politically balanced committee comprising, it is suggested, 
five members. Where authorities operate a leader / cabinet or mayor / cabinet 
executive structure, this must include at least one member of the executive. This 
Committee may need to be in a position to take decisions and appropriate 
actions as a matter of urgency. It may need to meet at very short notice to 
consider allegations and decide whether there is a case to answer and to consider 
whether suspension of the chief executive might be appropriate. It is also possible 
that in some circumstances members of the IDC may find themselves in a position 
where they have a conflict of interest. It is therefore recommended that authorities 
take this into account when constructing the committee and its powers, including 
the quorum and substitutes. The IDC also has an important role in considering the 
report of an Independent Investigator.  The role of the IDC is explained further at 

Tudalen 151



115

appropriate stages in the guidance.  (The Committee that performs this function 
may locally be known by a different name although its role and responsibilities will 
be that outlined throughout this document and referred to herein as the IDC.  This 
Committee may also fulfil other functions). 

 

1.2.3 The Appeals Committee must be a politically balanced committee of, it is 
suggested, five members who are not members of the IDC. Where authorities 
operate an executive structure this must include at least one member of the 
executive. The Appeals Committee will have a more limited role. Its purpose will 
be to hear appeals against action taken short of dismissal and to take a decision 
either to confirm the action or to impose no sanction or a lesser sanction. 

 

1.2.4 The JNC has agreed that the Independent Panel should comprise of 
independent persons (at least two in number) who have been appointed by the 
council, or by another council, for the purposes of the council members’ conduct 
regime under section 28(7) of the Localism Act 2011. Councils are required to issue 
invitations for membership of the Panel in accordance with the following priority 
order: 

 (a) an independent person who has been appointed by the council and who is 
a local government elector in the authority’s area 

(b) any other independent person who has been appointed by the council and 

(c) an independent person who has been appointed by another council or 
councils 

 

1.2.5 Appropriate training should be provided for Independent Panel members. 

 

1.2.6 It should be noted that any remuneration paid to members of an 
Independent Panel may not exceed that payable in respect of their role under 
the Localism Act. 

 

1.2.7 A requirement for any disciplinary process is to carry out an investigation of 
the allegations to establish the facts of the case and to collate evidence for use 
in the disciplinary hearing.  In the case of a chief executive, it will normally be 
necessary to engage an independent person for this purpose, and this person is 
referred to here as the Independent Investigator. Arrangements have been 
agreed to enable the speedy appointment of a competent and experienced 
person to perform this role, with the assistance of the Joint Secretaries. 

 

Tudalen 152



116

1.3 Managing access to the procedure (See also Para 5 of this guidance) – 
considering the allegations or other issues under investigation 

 

1.3.1 The procedure itself does not require that every single issue which implies 
some fault or potential error on the part of the chief executive be investigated 
using this process. It is for the authority to decide the issues that will engage the 
formal process.  

 

1.3.2 Authorities will therefore need to consider what constitutes an ‘allegation’ 
made relating to the conduct or capability of the chief executive and what it 
considers are other substantial issues requiring investigation. Clearly the route for 
complaints against the council and the chief executive and for issues that might 
be substantial and require some form of investigation, and possibly formal 
resolution, is varied. Ideally, procedures need to be in place which can filter out 
and deal with ‘allegations’ against the chief executive which are clearly 
unfounded, or trivial or can best be dealt with under some other procedure.  

 

1.3.3 For example, allegations and complaints that are directed at the chief 
executive, but are actually complaints about a particular service, should be dealt 
with through the council’s general complaints procedure. If the matter is a 
grievance from a member of staff directed against the chief executive, it may be 
appropriate to first deal with it through the council’s grievance procedure. Of 
course if the matter were a serious complaint against the chief executive’s 
personal behaviour such as sexual or racial harassment, the matter would be one 
that would be suitable for an investigation under the disciplinary procedure. 

1.3.4 An authority will need to put into place arrangements that can manage the 
process. In particular - that records are kept of allegations and investigations and 
that there is a clear route into the disciplinary procedure. It could be, for example, 
that in the case of allegations against the chief executive, the monitoring officer 
and the Chair of the IDC would oversee referrals to that Committee. 

 

1.3.5 Where the issue to be investigated is related to the sickness absence or 
capability of the chief executive in terms of performance, there is likely to be a link 
with the authority’s sickness procedure or appraisal / performance management 
procedure.   

 1.3.6 Where management action is required in respect of the normal sickness of 
the chief executive, the authority needs to be clear about who takes appropriate 
actions. Initially, it could be the Director of HR (according to local procedures) who 

Tudalen 153



117

will follow the authority’s normal sickness absence procedures. Whoever is 
responsible will report to the IDC as appropriate to the matter being investigated 
– in particular where procedures have been followed to the point where dismissal 
appears to be a possibility (see flow diagrams Appendices 5a, 5b & 5c for 
reference). 

 

1.3.6 Any shortcomings in a chief executive’s performance can be better 
identified, and therefore remedied, at an early stage if there is an objective 
performance appraisal system in place as required by the JNC agreement (see 
Appendix 2).  

 1.3.7 For a chief executive the system is likely to be linked to objectives in the 
authority’s community plan and the performance objectives should be specific, 
measurable, achievable, realistic and time-related. It may, but will not necessarily, 
be the system against which pay progression is measured (see flow diagram 
Appendix 5c). 

 

 

2. Timescales – (guidance) 

 

2.1 An important principle when taking disciplinary action is that the process should 

be conducted expeditiously but fairly. There is, therefore, a need to conduct 
investigations with appropriate thoroughness, to arrange hearings and allow for 
representation. It is not in the interests of the council, or the chief executive, that 
proceedings are allowed to drag on without making progress towards a 
conclusion. 

 

 

2. Timescales – (procedure) 

 

 It is in the interests of all parties that proceedings be conducted expeditiously. 

 

 It is recognised that it would be inappropriate to impose timescales that could in practical terms 
be difficult to achieve.   

 

Tudalen 154



118

2.2 Statutory and indicative timescales 

 

2.2.1 The procedure does not set out explicit timescales except the specific 
requirement in the Local Authority (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 
for the appointment of the Independent Panel at least 20 working days before the 
meeting of the council at which consideration as to whether to approve a 
proposal to dismiss is to be given. In this guidance we make reference to other 
statutory timescales and restrictions which are applicable to disciplinary 
procedures more generally, such as those contained in the Employment Relations 
Act 1999 (in connection with the right to be accompanied).  

 

2.3 Avoiding delays in the procedure 

 

 One cause of delay in the procedure is the availability of the key people 
necessary to manage and control the process. 

 

2.3.1 Availability of Independent Investigator 

 

An Independent Investigator should only be formally appointed once the IDC has 
determined that there is a case that requires further investigation.  However to 
minimise delays in any potential investigation, steps should be taken to identify a 
shortlist of three potential Independent Investigators from the list held by the JNC 
Joint Secretaries (see paras 6.3 and 6.4) concurrently with arrangements for the 
initial meeting of the IDC. This is not pre-judging whether an investigator will be 
needed, but a practical step to assist in minimising any delays. 

 

2.3.2 Availability of the chief executive in case of sickness 

 

(a) It is possible that the sickness of the chief executive could impact on the ability 
to follow the disciplinary procedure. This may be because: 

 

 the issue under investigation is the chief executive’s sickness in itself (ie. a  
capability issue); or alternatively,  

 

Tudalen 155



119

 while during an investigation for another reason such as allegations about the 
chief executive’s conduct, the chief executive commences sickness absence 
during the disciplinary process. 

 (b) In principle, the sickness of the chief executive will invoke the local authority’s 
normal sickness procedures. The nature of the investigation and facts surrounding 
the sickness will dictate the appropriate way of dealing with the issue. 

 

(c) If the investigation is about the long-term sickness or frequent ill-health problems 
experienced by the chief executive the authority should have already obtained 
appropriate medical information and advice by following its local processes. This 
would normally include referral to the authority’s occupational health adviser who 
would examine the chief executive and / or seek further medical information from 
the chief executive’s GP or any specialist dealing with the case. However, the IDC 
or Independent Investigator may feel the need for further or more up-to-date 
advice and again they should use the authority’s normal processes and 
procedures to obtain this. If the chief executive’s absence or problems at work are 
as a result of a disability which places him / her at a substantial disadvantage 
compared to others without the disability, then the authority must consider and 
undertake reasonable adjustments in order to remove the disadvantage. The IDC 
must satisfy itself that this has been fully considered and that no further reasonable 
adjustments could be made which would remedy the situation.  

 

(d) Where the issue under investigation is not health-related and is, for example, 
the conduct of the chief executive and he / she then commences sickness 
absence then the approach will depend on the type and length of the illness and 
exactly when it occurs during the process. 

 

(e) A short period of illness should not normally create a major problem although 
the timing of the illness can create difficulties if it coincides with scheduled 
meetings for investigating or hearing aspects of the case. If this occurs then 
reasonable efforts should be made to rearrange the meeting. However, if the 
sickness becomes more persistent or is likely to become longer term then the 
authority will take steps to identify whether the chief executive, although possibly 
not fit to perform the full range of duties, is fit enough to take part in the 
investigation or disciplinary hearing.  

 

(f) If it appears that there will be a long period of ill health which will prevent the 
chief executive taking part in the process, the authority and possibly the 
Independent Investigator will have to make a judgement as to how long to wait 
before proceeding. In some cases it may be appropriate to wait a little longer 
where a prognosis indicates a likely return within a reasonable timescale. 

Tudalen 156



120

 

(g) However, where this is not the case, the authority will in most cases need to 
press ahead given the importance of resolving issues which can have a significant 
impact on both parties due to the nature and high profile of the role of chief 
executive. If this is the case the authority should ensure that the chief executive is 
given the opportunity to attend any meetings or hearings. However, the chief 
executive should be informed that if they cannot attend the meetings or hearings 
then they would proceed without them. If this is the case the chief executive may 
make written submissions to be considered and may also send their representative 
to speak on their behalf before a decision is taken.  

 

2.3.3 Availability of representative 

 

The availability of the chief executive’s representative can also be a possible 
cause of delay. Reasonable account should be taken of the availability of all 
relevant parties when setting dates and times of meetings. Where it is simply not 
possible to agree dates to suit everybody the authority needs to be aware of the 
statutory right to be accompanied at disciplinary hearings and to take this into 
account when setting dates (see Paragraph 4). 

2.3.4 Availability of witnesses 

 

If the Independent Investigator or the IDC allows either party to call witnesses and 
the witnesses are unable to attend, their evidence should not be discounted and 
should still be considered. Alternatives may include written statements or minutes 
/ records where individuals have been interviewed as part of the investigation. 
However, such evidence may not carry the same weight as evidence that can be 
subjected to cross-examination. 

 

2.3.5 Availability of committee members 

 

(a) It is recommended that, in establishing the IDC and the Appeals Committee, 
authorities take availability issues into account and any operational quorum when 
considering the numbers of members to serve on these committees.   

 

(b) It should be particularly borne in mind that the IDC might need to be able to 
meet at short notice to consider serious allegations against the chief executive. 

 

Tudalen 157



121

2.3.6 Availability of Independent Panel members 

  The Independent Panel must be appointed at least 20 days before the council 
meeting at which consideration whether or not to approve a proposal to dismiss is 
to be given. The appointment of Independent Panel members should, therefore, 
take into account their availability to undertake their role within that timescale. 

 

 3. Suspension – (guidance) 

 

3.1 Although suspension in order to investigate an allegation or a serious issue is not 
disciplinary action in itself, it is a serious step in the process that should be managed 
well. Unlike with most other posts, the suspension of the chief executive may come 
immediately to the attention of the local and perhaps national media with 
potentially damaging consequences for the reputation of the chief executive and 
the authority.  

 

3. Suspension – (procedure) 

 

Suspension will not always be appropriate as there may be alternative ways of managing the 
investigation. 

 

However, the IDC will need to consider whether it is appropriate to suspend the chief executive. 
This may be necessary if an allegation is such that if proven it would amount to gross 
misconduct. It may also be necessary in other cases if the continuing presence at work of the 
chief executive might compromise the investigation or impair the efficient exercise of the 
council’s functions. 

 

In any case, the chief executive shall be informed of the reason for the proposed suspension and 
have the right to present information before such a decision is taken. 

 

An elected member should hold the delegated power to suspend the chief executive 
immediately in an emergency if an exceptional situation arises whereby allegations of 
misconduct by the chief executive are such that his / her remaining presence at work poses a 
serious risk to the health and safety of others or the resources, information or reputation of the 
authority. It is suggested that this power might be held by the Chair of the IDC or the Chair of 
the Urgency Committee.  

 

The continuance of a suspension should be reviewed after it has been in place for two months. 

 

Tudalen 158



122

 

3.2 Where a chief executive is suspended and facing allegations this is potentially 
stressful for the individual and disruptive to the council. It is therefore in the interests 
of all parties that such cases are dealt with as expeditiously as possible. 

 

3.3 Alternatives to suspension 

 

Suspension will not be appropriate in every case, as this will depend on the nature 
of the allegation or seriousness of the issue. Before suspending the chief executive, 
careful consideration should be given to whether it is necessary and whether there 
are any other suitable alternative ways of managing the situation, for example by 
agreeing particular working arrangements such as working from home for a period 
or working in some other way that protects the chief executive and authority from 
further allegations of a similar nature. 

 

3.4 Power to suspend 

 

(a) The chief executive is the head of paid service and normally bears the 
delegated responsibility for implementing council policy on staffing matters. 
However, when it is the chief executive who is the subject of an allegation or 
investigation, the authority will need to be clear about who has the power to 
suspend the chief executive and in what circumstances.   

 

(b) The point at which it may become clear that suspension is an appropriate 
action is likely to be at the stage where the IDC has conducted its initial 
assessment. The model procedure therefore envisages that the IDC should have 
the power to suspend the chief executive. 

 

3.5 Short notice suspension 

 

(a) The procedure also recognises that in exceptional circumstances it may be 
necessary to suspend at very short notice and before the IDC can meet, e.g. 
because the remaining presence of the chief executive could be a serious danger 
to the health and safety of others, or a serious risk to the resources, information or 
reputation of the authority. An elected member should hold the delegated power 
to suspend in an emergency. It is suggested that this power might be held by the 
Chair of the IDC or the Chair of the Urgency Committee.  

 

Tudalen 159



123

3.6 Suspension protocols 

 

If suspension were deemed appropriate, the IDC (or in exceptional circumstances, 
the chair) would also be the appropriate body to agree or authorise any protocols 
which are necessary to manage the suspension and the investigation. For 
example, the chief executive might request access to workplace materials and 
even witnesses. Arrangements should be made to manage such requests and 
facilitate appropriate access. Another general principle would be that whilst 
suspended, the chief executive would remain available to participate in the 
investigation and to attend any necessary meetings. Therefore other important 
issues would include communication channels for day-to-day communication 
and any stipulations for reporting any scheduled or unscheduled absence from 
the area, e.g. pre-arranged holiday.  

 

3.7 Review of suspension 

 

  Where the chief executive is suspended, the suspension should be reviewed after 
two months, and only continued following consultation with the Independent 
Investigator and after taking into account any representations made by the chief 
executive.  

 

 4. Right to be accompanied – (guidance) 

 

4.1 Although the statutory right to be accompanied applies only at a disciplinary 
hearing, the JNC procedure provides the opportunity for the chief executive to be 
accompanied at all stages by their trade union representative or some other 
person of their choice, at their own cost. 

 

4.2 The procedure recognises that there may be, in exceptional circumstances, a 
need to suspend the chief executive at short notice, when it is not possible to 
arrange for their trade union representative to be present. These circumstances 
might include for example where there is a serious risk to the health and safety of 
others or serious risk to the resources, information, or reputation of the authority. 

 

 

4. Right to be accompanied – (procedure) 

 

Other than in circumstances where there is an urgent requirement to suspend the chief 
executive, he or she will be entitled to be accompanied at all stages. 

 

Tudalen 160



124

4.3 Although it would be beneficial to agree dates for the necessary meetings 
required, the procedure cannot be allowed to be delayed owing to the 
unavailability of a representative. The statutory right to be accompanied in a 
disciplinary hearing contained in s.10 of the Employment Relations Act 1999 
applies only to hearings where disciplinary action might be taken or be confirmed, 
that is to say when a decision may be taken on the sanction, or a decision may 
be confirmed during an appeal. In this model procedure the statutory entitlement 
to be accompanied would arise:  

 

 where the IDC considers the report of the Independent Investigator and provides 
the chief executive with the opportunity to state their case before making its 
decision. 

 during any appeal against the decision taken by the IDC. 
 at a council meeting considering a proposal for dismissal and also fulfilling the 
requirement relating to a right of appeal 

 4.4 At these important stages (IDC receiving the report of the Independent 
Investigator and any appeal against the decision taken by the IDC), if the chief 
executive’s trade union representative is unavailable for the date set then the 
chief executive will have the right under the provisions of the Employment 
Relations Act 1999, to postpone the meeting for a period of up to one week.   

 

4.5 If the representative is unable to attend within that period the authority will 
have the right to go ahead with the hearing without further delay, although 
reasonable consideration should be given to arranging an alternative date. 

 

Tudalen 161

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1999/26/section/10


125

 

5. Considering the allegations or other issues under investigation – (guidance) 

 

5.1 The range of issues and to some extent the seriousness of the issues, which 
come before the IDC, will depend on the filter that the council adopts. Issues such 
as those relating to sickness absence and performance are likely to arise at the 
IDC having followed the authority’s sickness absence or performance 
management / appraisal procedures (see Paragraph 1.3). 

 

5.2 It is possible in some cases that with some minimal investigation the IDC can 
dismiss the allegation without even the need to meet with the chief executive. 
However, this procedure is aimed at dealing with situations where the matter is not 
so easily disposed of. It therefore provides a process whereby the chief executive 
is made aware of the allegations and provided with the opportunity to challenge 
the allegations or to make their response. 

 

 

5.      Considering the allegations or other issues under investigation –  

         (procedure) 

 

The IDC will, as soon as is practicable inform the chief executive in writing of the allegations 
or other issues under investigation and provide him / her with any evidence that the Committee 
is to consider, and of his / her right to present oral evidence. 

 

The chief executive will be invited to put forward written representations and any evidence 
including written evidence from witnesses he / she wishes the Committee to consider. The 
Committee will also provide the opportunity for the chief executive to make oral 
representations. At this initial consideration of the need to investigate further, it is not 
anticipated that witnesses will be called. The discretion to call witnesses lies solely with the 
IDC. 

 

The IDC will give careful consideration to the allegations or other issues, supporting evidence 
and the case put forward by the chief executive before taking further action.  

 

The IDC  shall decide whether: 

 

 the issue requires no further formal action under this procedure or 

 the issue should be referred to an Independent Investigator  

 

The IDC shall inform the chief executive of its decision without delay. 

 

Tudalen 162



126

5.3 When an issue comes before the IDC it needs to make a judgement (see 
paragraph 5.4.1) as to whether the allegation can be dismissed or whether it 
requires more detailed investigation, in which case this will be undertaken by an 
Independent Investigator. If the IDC is of the opinion that the allegations do not 
warrant an investigation, this should be immediately notified to the chief executive 
without delay, and, if necessary, the complainant informed accordingly. If the IDC 
is of the opinion that the matter is not serious but there is some minor fault or error, 
then it can issue an unrecorded oral warning in accordance with its standard 
procedures. 

 

5.4 The appointment of an Independent Investigator is a serious step but does not 
mean that the chief executive is guilty of some misdemeanour. In some cases the 
eventual result of the investigation will be to absolve the chief executive of any 
fault or wrongdoing. The appointment of an Independent Investigator operates so 
that both the authority and the chief executive can see that matters are dealt with 
fairly and openly. However, the matter still needs to be handled carefully in public 
relations terms due to the potential damage to the reputation of the chief 
executive or the local authority. 

 

5.4.1 Threshold test for the appointment of an Independent Investigator 

 

Cases will vary in complexity but the threshold test for the IDC in deciding whether 
to appoint an Independent Investigator is to consider the allegation or matter and 
assess whether: 

 

 if it were to be proved, it would be such as to lead to the dismissal or 

 other action which would be recorded on the chief executive’s personal  file and 

 there is evidence in support of the allegation sufficient to require further 

 investigation 

  

5.4.2 Conducting the initial IDC investigation 

 (a) It is intended that this stage is conducted as expeditiously as possible with due 
regard to the facts of the case. At this stage it is not necessarily a fully detailed 
investigation of every aspect of the case as that will be the responsibility of the 
Independent Investigator (if appointed). In order to avoid delay the IDC will want 
to explore the availability of potential Independent Investigators on the list 

Tudalen 163



127

maintained by the JNC Joint Secretaries at an early stage (see paras 6.3 and 6.4). 
However, it is important that before any decision is taken to formally appoint an 
Independent Investigator, the chief executive is aware of the allegations that 
have been made against him / her (or the issue to be addressed) and given the 
opportunity to respond.  

 

(b) This will be achieved by: 

 

 The IDC writing to the chief executive setting out the allegations / issues and 
providing any evidence to be considered 
 Providing the opportunity for the chief executive to respond to the allegations in 
writing and to provide personal evidence or witness statements. The calling of 
witnesses at this stage is at the discretion of the IDC 
 Providing the opportunity for the chief executive to appear before the IDC  

 

(c) Fair notice should be given to enable the chief executive adequate time to 
prepare a response to the allegations or issues under investigation. During the initial 
hearing by the Committee, the chief executive is entitled to attend and can be 
accompanied by a representative (subject to paragraph 2.3.3 and paragraph 4). 

 

5.4.3 Treatment of witness evidence 

 

 In general, if the authority has witness evidence relating to an allegation this 
should be presented in written form to the chief executive, although in exceptional 
cases it might be appropriate to anonymise the evidence in order to protect the 
identity of a witness. However, it remains important that the detail of the allegation 
is put to the chief executive in order that he / she understands the case against 
him / her.  

 

5.4.4 Conflicts of interest  

 

(a) The model procedure envisages, and it is strongly recommended that the 
authority take steps to establish, a standing IDC. Paragraph 1.2 indicates the basic 
rules concerning its membership. However, because a standing committee will 
comprise named councillors, there may be occasions when this presents problems 
of conflict of interest, for example where a member of the committee is a witness 
to an alleged event, or is the person who makes the original complaint or 
allegation. Councillors in this position should take no part in the role of the 
Committee, although they will of course be able to give evidence, if required. The 

Tudalen 164



128

authority should attempt to construct its Committees, and establish quorums and 
substitution rules in order to minimise the likelihood of an individual conflict of 
interest delaying the procedure. Where a number of members find themselves in 
a prejudiced position, there may be no alternative but for the council to establish 
a new Committee to perform the function of the IDC. 

 

(b) Declarations of interest are matters for individual councillors who are required 
to follow their authority’s code of conduct for elected members and can seek 
advice from their Monitoring Officer. Problems could follow for the speed at which 
the case is conducted if the chief executive considers there are valid grounds for 
making a formal complaint to the council about the involvement of a councillor 
in a case.  

 

5.4.5 Maintaining the fairness and integrity of the procedure 

 

Where there is a matter that requires investigation it is important that a fair and 
correct procedure is followed. Allegations against the chief executive or serious 
issues that require resolution should follow this procedure. It is important that 
councillors do not undermine the fairness of the procedure by for example putting 
motions to full council about the case as there is a serious risk that it could prejudice 
the disciplinary procedure. Additionally, such actions will not only create adverse 
publicity for the authority and the chief executive but may create conflicts of 
interest and could limit the role that those councillors can then take as the case 
progresses.  

 5.4.6 Other appropriate actions 

 

(a) It could be that when faced with an issue, whether it be an allegation of 
misconduct, or connected with the capability of the chief executive, or some 
other substantial issue, the IDC might be in a position to consider alternatives to 
immediately moving to the appointment of an Independent Investigator or 
alternatively to dismiss the allegation or issue.  

 

(b) Clearly this will depend on the facts of the matters being investigated. It could 
be that the authority has another more appropriate policy or procedure to follow. 
Alternatively, it could be that the issue is one which might benefit from some 
mediation or attempts to resolve the particular issue in dispute prior to moving 
formally to appointing an Independent Investigator.  

 

(c) It is possible at any stage to consider the mutual termination of the contract 
and sometimes this will be a suitable alternative for all concerned. This might 

Tudalen 165



129

particularly be the case where relationships are breaking down but there is no 
evidence of misconduct attached to the chief executive. The Joint Secretaries 
could be available to assist (see Appendix 4). 

 

(d) If any financial settlements are considered, it is important that such an 
arrangement:  

 

 Falls within the authority’s discretions under The Local Government (Early 
Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2006, or 
 Is a payment in consideration of an agreement that compromises a genuine 
legal claim that the chief executive might have at a Court or Employment Tribunal 

 

In both cases the settlement must also comply with any other restrictions on exit 
payments, such as the £95,000 cap on such payments, including the 
circumstances in which the council may exercise powers to waive the cap. 

 

(e) The Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary 
Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006 are designed to enable a 
local authority to compensate employees whose employment terminates on 
grounds of redundancy or in the interests of the efficient exercise of the authority’s 
functions. It is therefore possible that a payment will be legitimate in certain 
circumstances. However, where there is an obvious case requiring disciplinary 
action and the allegation is such that dismissal is a likely outcome, it is not likely 
that an external auditor will sanction a deal under the current regulations. 

 

(f) The authority must take appropriate legal advice when attempting to reach a 
financial settlement to ensure that any payment is justified and lawful. Relevant 
considerations will include the likelihood of the claim succeeding and the amount 
of compensation that could be awarded by a Court or an Employment Tribunal. 

 5.4.7 Power to agree financial settlements 

 

When considering its delegation of power the authority must include consideration 
of which Committee or Officeholder has the authority to negotiate a settlement 
and also a process by which any settlement would be sanctioned including liaison 
with the external auditor. 

 

Tudalen 166



130

5.4.8 Access to appropriate professional / independent advice 

  

(a) Conducting an investigation into allegations or serious issues involving the chief 
executive can be demanding on the individuals involved. The IDC (and the 
Appeal Committee and council) will have access to the local authority’s officers, 
but given the closeness of relationships between the chief executive and the other 
senior officers this can be a difficult time for those required to advise the 
Committee, to conduct investigations internally, or to source advice from outside 
the authority.  

 

(b) The authority should provide that the IDC has powers to appoint external 
advisers as appropriate. Useful sources of general advice on the operation of the 
procedure and assistance with conducting investigations include the Local 
Government Association by contacting the Employers’ Secretary or from the 
appropriate Regional Employers’ Organisation or ALACE. 

 

In addition to this general advice and assistance, given the potential complexity 
of the issue, authorities might also require access to their own legal advice.   

 

5.4.9 Ill-health - medical advice 

 

 In cases of capability related to sickness or where during the course of any other 
investigation, the ill-health of the chief executive results in their unavailability it will 
be important that the IDC has access to appropriate medical advice from the 
council’s Occupational Health provider (see paragraph 2.3.2). 

 

5.4.10 Performance 

 

(a) Where the issue is one of capability in terms of performance or competence, 
other than ill-health, the council will need to be in a position to establish or 
demonstrate the nature of the concerns. Evidence will be necessary in order to 
justify a further investigation.  

 

(b) This might come from a variety of sources, e.g. performance appraisal records, 
inspection reports, etc. Where the council follows an established appraisal / 
performance management process, this can also provide an appropriate route to 
establishing issues suitable for referral to the IDC (see Appendix 2). 

Tudalen 167

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
mailto:alacehonsec@yahoo.co.uk


131

 

(c) Where the issue is breakdown of trust and confidence, the council will need to 
be able to establish that the fault for the breakdown could reasonably be 
regarded as resting solely or substantially with the chief executive. 

 

6. Appointment of an Independent Investigator - (guidance) 

 

6.1 Where a decision has been taken to appoint an Independent Investigator, it is 
important that the council moves quickly to take this forward. This is particularly 
important if the chief executive has been suspended. This can be assisted if the 
availability of potential Independent Investigators is explored at an early stage. 

 

6.2 This will require that the council is clear as to who has the power to appoint the 
Independent Investigator and to agree the terms of remuneration and working 
methods. The model procedure envisages that this will be the responsibility of the 
IDC. 

 

6.3 It is in the interests of the council and the chief executive that both sides should 
have confidence in the independence and relevant competence of the 
Independent Investigator, not least to avoid, or at least minimise, argument later 
in the process about the quality or credibility of the investigation. To this end, it has 
been agreed that the Joint Secretaries will maintain a list of potential Independent 
Investigators, who have been selected for their suitability and experience for this 
work. Independent Investigators on that list will be offered on a ‘taxi-rank’ basis 
subject to their availability within the desired timescales, and no material 
connections with the council or the chief executive nor any connection to the 
allegations.   

 

6.4 The Council will approach the National Joint Secretaries and will be supplied 
with the top three names from the list (if in exceptional circumstances three names 
are not available, both local parties will agree to choose from a shorter list). If these 
are acceptable to the council, the chief executive will be invited to select one of 

 

6. Appointment of an Independent Investigator - (procedure)  

 

The IDC will be responsible for appointing an Independent Investigator, providing the 
necessary facilities, paying the remuneration and providing all available information about the 
allegations.  

 

The Independent Investigator should be selected from the list maintained by the National Joint 
Secretaries. 

Tudalen 168



132

the names. The only acceptable reason for not selecting from the names supplied 
being conflict of interest. If an appointment is not agreed by the chief executive 
within 14 days of the date of the names being supplied, the council will be at liberty 
to select an Investigator from the names supplied. 

 

6.5 Terms of reference – allegations or issues to be investigated 

 

(a) When appointing an Independent Investigator it is important that they are 
provided with terms of reference. The Investigator will need to be: 

 

 aware of the precise allegation(s) or issue(s) to be investigated 

 provided with access to sources of information and people identified as relevant 
to the case 
 aware of expectations regarding timescales and any known factors which could 
hinder their investigation, e.g. the availability of key people 

 

(b) The IDC will be responsible for providing this information. It will also be in a 
position to discuss timescales for the investigation. 

 

6.6 Remuneration 

 

Remuneration for the Independent Investigator will be set at the Local  

Government Association’s normal consultancy rate for external consultancy work. 

 

Tudalen 169



133

 

7. The Independent investigation – (guidance) 

 

7.1 Resources 

 

7.1.1 The amount of time required to be spent on the investigation will depend on 
the case. Due to the demands on their time, the Independent Investigator could 

decide to delegate some of the investigation work to an assistant. This should be 
agreed with the IDC and the chief executive should be informed. If the work is 
delegated to someone else outside of the authority this might also 

 

7. The Independent investigation – (procedure)  

 

The ACAS Code of Practice on Discipline and Grievance requires there to be an 
investigation to establish the facts of the case before proceeding to the disciplinary hearing. The 
JNC believes that, for chief executives, this should be carried out by an Independent 
Investigator. He / she should determine the procedure for the investigation, either operating on 
the basis of an independent investigation using his / her powers to access information, or a 
formal hearing, at which the allegations and supporting evidence including evidence provided 
by witnesses are presented by the authority’s representative and the chief executive or his / her 
representative is able to present his / her case. While the recommended procedure allows for 
either option, on balance the JNC’s preference is for the ‘investigation’ model, but the decision 
on this remains with the Independent Investigator. 

 

Once appointed it will be the responsibility of the Independent Investigator to investigate the 
issue / allegation and to prepare a report stating in his/her opinion whether (and, if so, the extent 
to which) the evidence he / she has obtained supports any allegation of misconduct or 
incapability or supports a need for action under this procedure for some other substantial 
reason; and recommending any disciplinary action (if any is appropriate) or range of actions 
which appear to him / her to be appropriate for the authority to take against the chief executive. 

 

Tudalen 170



134

require further discussion on any difference in the terms of remuneration for the 
assistant to the Independent Investigator 

. 

7.2 Working arrangements 

 

7.2.1 Once appointed it will be the responsibility of the Independent Investigator 
to investigate the issue / allegation and to prepare a report: 

 

 stating in his / her opinion whether (and, if so, the extent to which) the evidence 
he / she has obtained supports any allegation of misconduct or other issue under 
investigation; and 
 to recommend any disciplinary action (if any is appropriate) or range of actions 
which appear to him / her to be appropriate for the authority to take against the 
chief executive. 

 

7.2.2 The methodology adopted by the Investigator should be confirmed with the 
parties. However, the JNC believes that the Independent Investigator should 
operate on the basis either of a process of evidence gathering, hearing 
submissions etc or a formal hearing, at which both parties will have the usual 
opportunities to present evidence, cross-examine witnesses etc.  Both parties can 
be represented by an individual of their choice (the chief executive’s 
representation should be obtained at his / her own expense). While the 
recommended procedure allows for either option, on balance the JNC’s 
preference is for the ‘investigation’ model, but the decision on this remains with 
the Independent Investigator. 

 

7.3 Suspension 

 

7.3.1 The Independent Investigator does not have the power to suspend the chief 
executive, but if the chief executive has been suspended for two months, the IDC 
is required to review the suspension (see paragraph 3.2.5). 

.  

7.4 Confidential contact at authority 

 

7.4.1 Although the Independent Investigator has a degree of independence, it is 
advisable to agree some protocols for his / her investigation in order that disruption 

Tudalen 171



135

to the council’s work is kept to a minimum at what can be a difficult time. The 
Independent Investigator will also require agreed contact and reporting 
arrangements with the parties. It is recommended therefore that the council 
designates an officer to administer the arrangements. 

 

7.4.2 During the investigation the Independent Investigator will as a matter of 
principle, make every attempt to ensure the appropriate confidentiality of any 
information obtained and discussed. 

 

 

8. Receipt and consideration of Independent Investigator’s report by the IDC - 
(guidance) 

 

8.1 Report of the Independent Investigator  

 

8.1.1 The report of the Independent Investigator is made to the IDC which will have 
delegated powers from the authority to receive the report and take a decision on 
the outcome. Unless the chief executive is exonerated by the report then at this 
stage the chief executive should be given the opportunity to state his/her case 
before the committee makes its decision. 

 

8.1.2 This may be done in one of two ways, according to the process followed by 
the Independent Investigator: 

 

8. Receipt and consideration of the Independent Investigator’s report by the IDC – (procedure) 

 

The IDC will consider the report of the Independent Investigator, and also give the chief 
executive the opportunity to state his / her case and, to question witnesses, where relevant, before 
making a decision.  

 

Having considered any other associated factors the IDC may: 

 

 Take no further action 

 Recommend informal resolution or other appropriate procedures 

 Refer back to the Independent Investigator for further investigation and report 

 Take disciplinary action against the chief executive short of dismissal 

 Propose dismissal of the chief executive to the Council  

 

Tudalen 172



136

 

 If the Independent Investigator has proceeded by way of an evidence-
gathering process, the Committee should hold a hearing, giving both the 
Independent Investigator and the chief executive the right to call and question 
each other’s witnesses 

   If the Independent Investigator has held a full hearing, the Committee may 
choose to limit their meeting to a consideration of the Independent Investigator’s 
report. However, the Committee will need to consider whether to call witnesses for 
clarification, bearing in mind the ACAS Code of Practice requirement that the 
employee should be given a reasonable opportunity to call relevant witnesses. The 
Independent Investigator and the chief executive should both attend the meeting 
and be given an opportunity to summarise their case.   

 

Under both options the IDC hearing should be conducted in accordance with the 
ACAS Code of Practice. 

8.2 New material evidence 

 

8.2.1 Where there is, at this stage, new evidence produced which is material to the 
allegation / issue and may alter the outcome, the IDC may: 

 

 take this into account in making their decision or  
 request that the Independent Investigator undertake some further investigation 
and incorporate the impact of the new evidence into an amended report 

 8.3 Recommendations by the Independent Investigator – outcomes or options 

 

8.3.1 The Independent Investigator is expected to recommend any disciplinary 
action that appears to be appropriate. At this stage clarity is to be welcomed and 
a clear reasoned recommendation should be given. However, it could be that 
there is not one obvious action and it may be that the Independent Investigator 
recommends a range of alternative actions.  

 

Tudalen 173



137

8.3.2 Whilst the Independent Investigator’s role is to make recommendations on 
disciplinary action, he / she may wish to comment on potential options for the way 
forward following the investigation process. 

 

8.4 Decision by the IDC 

 

8.4.1 The IDC should take its decision on the basis of the Independent Investigator’s 
report, and its own findings. It is open to the Committee to impose a lesser or 
greater sanction than that recommended and it is obviously important for later 
stages of the procedure that the reasons for doing so are recorded. 

 

 9. Action short of dismissal – (guidance) 

 

9.1 Where the chief executive is found to have no case to answer, appropriate 
communication should be prepared with the chief executive to ensure as far as 
possible that there is no damage to the chief executive’s reputation.   

 

9.2 Where the decision taken by the IDC is action short of dismissal, the action will 
be taken by the Committee itself. There is no requirement to seek confirmation by 
the council (or in authorities operating Mayor and cabinet or leader and cabinet 
executives, checking to see whether there are any objections raised by members 

of the executive). The constitution of the IDC will need to include the delegated 
power to take disciplinary action in these circumstances. 

 

 

9. Action short of dismissal – (procedure) 

  

The IDC may agree to impose no sanction, or to take action short of dismissal, in which case the 
Committee will impose an appropriate penalty / take other appropriate action.  

 

Tudalen 174



138

9.3 The chief executive has a right of appeal against the decision (see paragraph 

Tudalen 175



139

11). 
 

10. Where dismissal is proposed – (procedure)  

 Proposal to dismiss on the grounds of misconduct and for other 

reasons such as capability or some other substantial reason 

 

Executive constitutions only 

 

In Mayor / cabinet and leader / cabinet executive constitutions only. The IDC will inform the 
Proper Officer that it is proposing to the council that the chief executive be dismissed and that 
the executive objections procedure should commence. 

 

Executive objections procedure   

 

The Proper Officer will notify all members of the executive of: 

 

 The fact that the IDC is proposing to the council that it dismisses the chief executive 

 Any other particulars relevant to the dismissal 

 The period by which any objection to the dismissal is to be made by the leader / elected mayor 
on behalf of the executive, to the Proper Officer 

 

At the end of this period the Proper Officer will inform the IDC either: 

 

 that the leader / elected mayor has notified him / her that neither he / she nor any member of 
the executive has any objection to the dismissal 

 that no objections have been received from the leader / elected mayor in the period or 

 that an objection or objections have been received and provide details of the objections 

 

The IDC will consider any objections and satisfy itself as to whether any of the objections are 
both material and well founded. If they are, then the Committee will act accordingly, i.e. it will 
consider the impact of the executive objections on its proposal for dismissal, commission further 
investigation by the Independent Investigator and report if required, etc. 

 

Having satisfied itself that there are no material and well-founded objections to the proposal to 
dismiss, the IDC will inform the chief executive of the decision and put that proposal to the 
Independent Panel along with the Independent Investigator’s report and any other necessary 
material. 

 

Non-executive administration 

 

In local authorities with no executive and therefore operating a committee system, the IDC will 
inform the chief executive of the decision and put that 

Tudalen 176



140

proposal to the Independent Panel along with the Independent Investigator’s report and any other 
necessary material. This is not a full re-hearing and will not involve the calling of witnesses 

 

The role of the Independent Panel 

 

Where the IDC is proposing dismissal, this proposal needs to go before the Independent Panel. 

Both parties should be present or represented (the IDC might be represented by its Chair or other 
nominated person at the meeting). The Panel should receive any oral representations from the 
Chief Executive, in which case it should invite any response on behalf of the IDC to the points 
made, and may ask questions of either party. The Independent Panel should review the decision 
and prepare a report for Council. This report should contain a clear rationale if the Panel 
disagrees with the recommendation to dismiss. 

The role of the Council  

 

The council will consider the proposal that the chief executive should be dismissed, and must 
take into account: 

 

 Any advice, views or recommendations of the Independent Panel 

 The conclusions of the investigations into the proposed dismissal 

 Any representations from the chief executive 

 

The chief executive will have the opportunity to appear before the council and put his or her case 
to the council before a decision is taken. 

 

Redundancy, Permanent Ill-Health and the expiry of Fixed Term Contracts 

 

 Proposed dismissals on the grounds of redundancy, permanent ill-health and the expiry of a 
fixed term contract where there has been no commitment to renew it, do not require the 
involvement of an Independent Investigator or Independent Panel. 

   

However, the authority should follow appropriate and fair procedures in these cases and have 
mechanisms in place, including appropriate delegated authorities, to manage such eventualities. 
In addition, dismissals for all reasons including those set out in this paragraph must be approved 
by the Council itself.  

 

Tudalen 177



141

 

10. Where the IDC proposes dismissal – (guidance) 

 

10.1 Where the Committee proposes dismissal, the Regulations require that the 
council must approve the dismissal before notice of dismissal is issued. Additionally, 
in councils that operate with either a Mayor and cabinet executive or a leader 
and cabinet executive, notice of dismissal must not be issued until an opportunity 
has been given to members of the executive to object to the dismissal. 

 

10.2 Executive objections procedure  

 

10.2.1 The executive objections procedure set out in the model procedure reflects 
the requirements of the Standing Orders Regulations (see Schedule 1, Part 1 
(Mayor and cabinet executive), Paragraph 6 and Part 2 (leader and cabinet 
executive), Paragraph 6). 

     

10.2.2 It is important that the authority identify The ‘Proper Officer’ to undertake 
the role specified in the Regulations, i.e. notifying members of the executive of the 
proposal to dismiss, providing relevant information and the timescale during which 
any material and well-founded objections should be made.  

 

10.2.3 It will also be appropriate to explain that in order for an objection to be 
considered material and well-founded, the objection would need to be not only 
based on evidence (well-founded) but must also be relevant to the case 
(material). 

 

10.2.4 Given the procedure followed it would be unusual for a member of the 
executive to be in a position to raise an objection that would be sufficient to 
change the outcome significantly. However, this may be the case.  

 

10.2.5 It is for the IDC to decide whether any objections put forward by members 
of the executive are material and well-founded. If they are, then the Committee 
will need to consider the effect of the objection and act accordingly. For example, 
this may require further investigation. 

 

10.3 The role of the Independent Panel 

Tudalen 178

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2001/3384/contents/made


142

 

10.3.1 The Independent Panel must be appointed at least 20 days before the 
meeting of the council at which the recommendation for dismissal is to be 
considered.   

 

10.3.2 It is likely that Independent Panel members will be unfamiliar with their role 
under the Regulations and with matters relating to the working environment of 
chief executives. Accordingly, it is important for Panel members to be offered 
appropriate training for the role the Panel is to fulfil. 

 

10.3.3 The role of the Panel is to offer any advice, views or recommendations it 
may have to the council on the proposal for dismissal. The Panel will receive the 
IDC proposal and the reasons in support of the proposal, the report of the 
Independent Investigator and any oral and / or written representations from the 
chief executive. The Independent Investigator may be invited to attend to provide 
clarification if required. The Panel will be at liberty to ask questions of either party. 

 

10.3.4 The Panel should then formulate any advice, views or recommendations it 
wishes to present to the council. If the Panel is recommending any course of action 
other than that the council should approve the dismissal, then it should give clear 
reasons for its point of view. 

 

10.4   The role of the Council 

 

10.4.1 The Regulations require that in all constitutions, where there is a proposal to 
dismiss the chief executive, the council must approve the dismissal before notice 
of dismissal is issued. The council must therefore consider the proposal and reach 
a decision before the chief executive can be dismissed. 

 

10.4.2 Given the thoroughness and independence of the previous stages, in 
particular, the investigation of the Independent Investigator (where applicable), it 
will not be appropriate to undertake a full re-hearing of the case. Instead, 
consideration by the council will take the form of a review of the case and the 
proposal to dismiss, and any advice, views or recommendations of the 
Independent Panel. 

 

Tudalen 179



143

10.4.3 The chief executive will have the opportunity to attend and be 
accompanied by their representative and to put forward his / her case before a 
decision is reached. 

 

10.4.4 The Council is at liberty to reject the proposal to dismiss.  It can then decide 
on the appropriate course of action which could include substituting a lesser 
sanction or, in a case of misconduct or other reasons such as capability or some 
other substantial reason, referring it back to the IDC to determine that sanction. 

 

 11. Appeals – (guidance) 

 

11.1 Appeals against dismissal 

 

11.1.1 Discipline and Grievance – ACAS Code of Practice requires that an 
employee who has been dismissed is provided the opportunity to appeal against 
the decision. 

 

11. Appeals – (procedure) 

 

Appeals against dismissal 

 

Where the IDC has made a proposal to dismiss; the hearing by the council will also fulfil the 
appeal function.   

 

Appeals against action short of dismissal 

 

If the IDC takes action short of dismissal, the chief executive may appeal to the Appeals 
Committee. The Appeals Committee will consider the report of the Independent Investigator and 
any other relevant information considered by the IDC, e.g. new information, executive objections 
(if relevant), outcome of any further investigation, etc. The chief executive will have the 
opportunity to appear at the meeting and state his / her case. 

 

The Appeals Committee will give careful consideration to these matters and conduct any further 
investigation it considers necessary to reach a decision.  

 

The decision of the Appeals Committee will be final. 

 

Tudalen 180

file://ntcarmcc/cfp/People%20Management/PMP/SMT/Downloads/ACAS%20Code%20of%20Practice%201%20-%20Disciplinary%20and%20Grievance%20Procedures


144

 

11.1.2 As the Standing Orders Regulations require that the council approves the 
dismissal before notice of dismissal is issued, there might be some concerns about 
the ability to offer a fair appeal if the whole council was already familiar with the 
issues and had already taken the decision to dismiss. The model procedure 
therefore envisages that the council meeting fulfils the requirement for an appeal. 
Before the council takes a decision on the recommendation to dismiss the chief 
executive it will take representations from the chief executive. Those 
representations will constitute the appeals process. 

 

11.2 Appeals against action short of dismissal 

 

11.2.1 Appeals against actions short of dismissal will be heard by the Appeals 
Committee. The appeal hearing will take the form of a review of the case and the 
decision that was taken by the IDC. 

 

11.2.2 This process should follow the procedure that the local authority applies 
generally to its other employees. 

 

 

 

Tudalen 181



145

B. THE MODEL DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE AND GUIDANCE - WALES 

 

 

 

1. Issues requiring investigation – (guidance) 

 

1.1 The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (Wales) Regulations 2006 

 

1.1.1 The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (Wales) Regulations 2006 (Regulation 
8, and Schedule 4) require that no disciplinary action be taken against the chief 
executive other than in accordance with a recommendation in a report made by 
a Designated Independent Person (DIP). The definition of disciplinary action 
(Interpretation, Regulation 2) is wide.  

 

1.1.2 Disciplinary action: in relation to a member of staff of a relevant authority 
(county council or county borough council) means any action occasioned by 
alleged misconduct which, if proved, would, according to the usual practice of 
the authority, be recorded on the member of staff's personal file, and includes any 
proposal for dismissal of a member of staff for any reason other than redundancy, 
permanent ill-health or infirmity of mind or body, but does not include failure to 
renew a contract of employment for a fixed term unless the authority has 
undertaken to renew such a contract.  

 

This definition would therefore include other reasons for dismissal such as capability 
or some other substantial reason including a breakdown in trust & confidence 
between the chief executive and the authority.   

 

1.   Issues requiring investigation – (procedure) 

 

Where an allegation is made relating to the conduct or capability of the chief executive or there is 
some other substantial issue that requires investigation, the matter will be considered by the 
Investigating & Disciplinary Committee (IDC). 

 

This Committee will be a standing committee appointed by the council. Arrangements for 
flexibility are recommended in the event that a member of the standing committee has a conflict 
of interest. 

 

Tudalen 182

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2006/1275/contents/made


146

 

1.1.3 Therefore, although the definition refers to disciplinary action, it clearly 
requires that any action that could lead to a warning for misconduct or where 
there are circumstances which may result in a proposal for dismissal for any reason 
other than the following be covered by the process: 

 

 Redundancy; 
 Expiry of a fixed term contract; 
 Retirement or termination on permanent ill-health grounds. 

 

1.1.4 The attached Appendix 5d sets out those circumstances that could 
potentially result in dismissal and whether or not they are covered by this 
procedure.  

1.2 Structures to manage the procedure 

 

1.2.1 A key feature of the model procedure is the specific roles envisaged by the 
IDC, the Appeals Committee and the council. Authorities will need to consider a 
number of important issues around the composition of committees and the 
delegation of appropriate powers.  In particular, it must be borne in mind that the 
appointment and dismissal of staff are non-executive functions. Therefore these 
bodies have to be put in place by the council not the leader / Mayor or executive.  

 

1.2.2 The Welsh regulations require (Regulation 9 (1)) that when it appears that an 
allegation of misconduct which may lead to disciplinary action has been made 
against the head of paid service (chief executive) the authority must appoint a 
committee (“an investigation committee”) to consider the alleged misconduct. In 
this model the JNC envisages that for practical reasons, not explicitly set out in the 
regulations, this committee will have a wider function than performing only the 
initial investigation. For example it will also receive the report of the Designated 
Independent Person, may make recommendations to full council, may take 
disciplinary action itself in some circumstances (in accordance with the 
regulations) and have a number of other functions such as powers to suspend the 
chief executive and appoint a Designated Independent Person, etc. It is therefore 
referred to throughout as the Investigating and Disciplinary Committee (IDC) (It 
does not matter what the committee is called locally, and it could for example 
perform other local functions. The important feature is that it has appropriate 
powers and resources to perform its role and responsibilities). It is also envisaged 
and strongly advised that authorities should have a standing committee rather 

Tudalen 183



147

than attempt to set one up only when an allegation arises. The IDC must be a 
politically balanced committee comprising a minimum of three members 
(Regulation 9 (2)) although an authority might wish to have a larger committee, 
particularly if this is necessary to achieve political balance. Where authorities 
operate a leader / cabinet or mayor / cabinet executive structure, this must 
include one member of the executive but not more than half of the members of 
the committee are to be members of the executive. This Committee may need to 
be in a position to take decisions and appropriate actions as a matter of urgency. 
It may need to meet at very short notice to consider allegations and decide 
whether there is a case to answer and to consider whether suspension of the chief 
executive might be appropriate. It is also possible that in some circumstances 
members of the committee may find themselves in a position where they have a 
conflict of interest. It is therefore recommended that authorities take this into 
account when constructing the committee and its powers, including the quorum 
and substitutes. The role of the IDC is explained further at appropriate stages in the 
guidance.   

 

1.2.3 The Appeals Committee is not stipulated in the Standing Orders Regulations 
but again has a practical purpose in relation to the procedure. Again it must be a 
politically balanced committee and it is strongly recommended that it be a 
standing committee. The number of members is not specified but it is suggested, 
as with the IDC that there is a minimum of three members but that an authority 
might wish to have a larger committee. The members of the Appeals Committee 
should not be members of the IDC. Where authorities operate an executive 
structure this must include one member of the executive but not more than half of 
the members of the committee are to be members of the executive. The Appeals 
Committee will have a more limited role. Its purpose will be to hear appeals against 
action taken short of dismissal and to take a decision either to confirm the action 
or to award no sanction or a lesser sanction. 

 

1.3 Managing access to the procedure (see also paragraph 5.1) 

 

1.3.1 The procedure itself does not require that every single issue which implies 
some fault or potential error on the part of the Chief executive be investigated 
using this process. It is for the authority to decide the issues that will engage the 
formal process.  

 

1.3.2 Authorities will therefore need to consider what constitutes an ‘allegation’ 
made relating to the conduct or capability of the Chief executive and what it 
considers are other substantial issues requiring investigation. Clearly the route for 
complaints against the council and the chief executive and for issues that might 
be substantial and require some form of investigation, and possibly formal 
resolution, is varied. Ideally, procedures need to be in place which can filter out 

Tudalen 184



148

and deal with ‘allegations’ against the chief executive which are clearly 
unfounded, or trivial or can best be dealt with under some other procedure.  

 

1.3.3 For example, allegations and complaints that are directed at the chief 
executive, but are actually complaints about a particular service, should be dealt 
with through the council’s general complaints procedure. If the matter is a 
grievance from a member of staff directed against the chief executive, it may be 
appropriate to first deal with it through the council’s grievance procedure. Of 
course if the matter were a serious complaint against the chief executive’s 
personal behaviour such as sexual or racial harassment, the matter would be one 
that would be suitable for an investigation under the disciplinary procedure. 

 

1.3.4 An authority will need to put into place arrangements that can manage the 
process. In particular - that records are kept of allegations and investigations and 
that there is a clear route into the disciplinary procedure. It could be, for example, 
that in the case of allegations against the chief executive, the monitoring officer, 
and the Chair of the IDC would oversee referrals to that Committee. Alternatively, 
some authorities might prefer that the role were performed by the HR Director. 

 

1.3.5 Where the issue to be investigated is related to the sickness absence or 
capability of the chief executive in terms of performance, there is likely to be a link 
with the authority’s sickness procedure and appraisal / performance 
management procedure.   

 

1.3.6 Where management action is required in respect of the normal sickness of 
the chief executive, the authority needs to be clear about who takes appropriate 
actions. Initially, it could be the normal management team of elected members 
or Director of HR (according to local procedures) who will follow the authority’s 
normal sickness absence procedures. Whoever is responsible will report to the IDC 
as appropriate to the matter being investigated – in particular where procedures 
have been followed to the point where dismissal appears to be a possibility (see 
flow diagrams Appendices W5a, 5b and 5c). 

 

1.3.7 Any shortcomings in a chief executive’s performance can be better 
identified, and therefore remedied, at an early stage if there is an objective 
performance appraisal system in place as required by the JNC agreement (see 
Appendix 2). For a chief executive the system is likely to be linked to objectives in 
the authority’s community plan and the performance objectives should be 
specific, measurable, achievable, realistic, and time-related. It may, but will not 
necessarily, be the system against which pay progression is measured (see 
Appendix 5c). 

Tudalen 185



149

 

 

2. Timescales – (guidance) 

 

2.1 An important principle when taking disciplinary action is that the process should 
be conducted expeditiously but fairly. There is, therefore, a need to conduct 
investigations with appropriate thoroughness, to arrange hearings and allow for 

representation. It is not in the interests of the council, or the chief executive, that 
proceedings are allowed to drag on without making progress towards a 
conclusion. 

 

2.2 Statutory and indicative timescales 

 

2.2.1 The procedure does not set out explicit timescales except those specifically 
referred to in the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (Wales) Regulations 2006 (as 
amended). In this guidance we also make reference to other statutory timescales 
and restrictions which are applicable to disciplinary procedures more generally, 
such as those contained in the Employment Relations Act 1999 (in connection with 
the right to be accompanied).  

 2.3 Avoiding delays in the procedure 

 

 One cause of delay in the procedure is the availability of the key people 
necessary to manage and control the process. 

 

2.3.1 Availability of the Designated Independent Person (DIP) (see paragraph 6) 

 

(a) The Local Authority (Standing Orders) (Wales) Regulations 2006 require that the 
Designated Independent Person must be agreed between the council and the 
chief executive within 1 month of the date on which the requirement to appoint 

 

2. Timescales – (procedure) 

 

It is in the interests of all parties that proceedings be conducted expeditiously. It is recognised 
that it would be inappropriate to impose timescales that could in practical terms be difficult to 
achieve.  

  

Tudalen 186



150

the Designated Independent Person arose otherwise a Designated Independent 
Person will be nominated by Welsh Ministers for formal appointment by the council. 
The practicalities of discussing and agreeing on the DIP is a matter which could be 
delegated to an appropriate officer, eg, Monitoring Officer of HR Director. 

 

(b) There is no provision in the Regulations on the amount of the fee to be paid to 
the DIP for their work. However, the Regulations do provide that the authority must 
pay reasonable remuneration to the DIP, including any reasonable costs. 

 

(c) Where a decision has been taken to appoint a DIP it is important that the 
authority move quickly to achieve this to adhere to the timescale set out in the 
regulations in (a) above but also due to the two-month time limit on suspension, 
this is also particularly important where the chief executive has been suspended.   

 

(d) The regulations provide that it is the committee’s responsibility to appoint the 
Designated Independent Person. This would include agreeing the terms of 
remuneration and working methods for the Designated Independent Person.  

 

(e) The JNC Joint Secretaries maintain a list of individuals who have the necessary 
knowledge and experience of local government issues to act at this level and in 
this capacity. The list is intended to provide a resource to local authorities. It also 
provides a way to help avoid unnecessary delays.    

 

2.3.2 Availability of the chief executive in case of sickness 

 

(a) It is possible that the sickness of the chief executive could impact on the ability 
to follow the disciplinary procedure. This may be because: 

 

 the issue under investigation is the chief executive’s sickness in itself (i.e. a 
capability issue); or alternatively 
 while during an investigation for another reason such as allegations about the 
chief executive’s conduct, the chief executive commences sickness absence 
during the disciplinary process 

 

Tudalen 187



151

(b) In principle, the sickness of the chief executive will invoke the local authority’s 
normal sickness procedures. The nature of the investigation and facts surrounding 
the sickness will dictate the appropriate way of dealing with the issue. 

 

(c) If the investigation is about the long-term sickness or frequent ill-health problems 
experienced by the chief executive the authority should have already obtained 
appropriate medical information and advice by following its local processes which 
would normally include referral to the authority’s occupational health adviser who 
would examine the chief executive and / or seek further medical information from 
the chief executive’s GP or any specialist dealing with the case. However, the IDC 
or Designated Independent Person may feel the need for further or more up-to-
date advice and again they should use the authority’s normal processes and 
procedures to obtain this. If the chief executive’s absence or problems at work are 
as a result of a disability which places him / her at a substantial disadvantage 
compared to others without the disability, then the authority must consider and 
undertake reasonable adjustments in order to remove the disadvantage. The IDC 
must satisfy itself that this has been fully considered and that no further reasonable 
adjustments could be made which would remedy the situation.  

 

(d) Where the issue under investigation is not health-related and is e.g. the 
conduct of the chief executive and the chief executive then commences sickness 
absence then the approach will depend on the type and length of the illness and 
exactly when it occurs during the process. 

 

(e) A short period of illness should not normally create a major problem although 
the timing of the illness can create difficulties if it coincides with scheduled 
meetings for investigating or hearing aspects of the case. If this occurs then 
reasonable efforts should be made to rearrange the meeting. However, if the 
sickness becomes more persistent or is likely to become longer term then the 
authority will take steps to identify whether the chief executive, although possibly 
not fit to perform the full range of duties, is fit enough to take part in the 
investigation or disciplinary hearing.  

 

(f) If it appears that there will be a long period of ill health which will prevent the 
chief executive taking part in the process, the authority and possibly the DIP will 
have to make a judgement as to how long to wait before proceeding. In some 
cases it may be appropriate to wait a little longer where a prognosis indicates a 
likely return within a reasonable timescale. 

 

(g) However, where this is not the case, the authority will in most cases need to 
press ahead given the importance of resolving issues which can have a significant 
impact on both parties due to the nature and high profile of the role of chief 

Tudalen 188



152

executive. If this is the case the authority should ensure that the chief executive is 
given the opportunity to attend any meetings or hearings. However, the chief 
executive should be informed that if they cannot attend the meetings or hearings 
then they would proceed without them. If this is the case the chief executive may 
make written submissions to be considered and may also send their representative 
to speak on their behalf before a decision is taken.  

 

2.3.3 Availability of representative 

 

The availability of the chief executive’s representative can also be a possible 
cause of delay. Reasonable account should be taken of the availability of all 
relevant parties when setting dates and times of meetings. Where it is simply not 
possible to agree dates to suit everybody the authority needs to be aware of the 
statutory right to be accompanied at disciplinary hearings and to take this into 
account when setting dates (see Paragraph 4). 

2.3.4 Availability of witnesses 

 

If the Designated Independent Person allows either party to call witnesses and the 
witnesses are unable to attend, their evidence should not be discounted and 
should still be considered. Alternatives may include written statements or minutes 
/ records where individuals have been interviewed as part of the investigation. 
However, such evidence may not carry the same weight as evidence that can be 
subjected to cross-examination. 

 

2.3.5 Availability of committee members 

 

(a) It is recommended that, in addition to the requirements set out in paragraphs 
1.22 and 1.23 in establishing the IDC and the Appeals Committee, authorities take 
availability issues into account and any operational quorum when considering the 
numbers of members to serve on these committees.   

 

(b) It should be particularly borne in mind that the IDC might need to be able to 
meet at short notice to consider serious allegations against the chief executive. 

 

Tudalen 189



153

 

 

 3. Suspension – (guidance) 

 

3.1 Although suspension in order to investigate an allegation or a serious issue is not 
disciplinary action in itself it is a serious step in the process that should be managed 
well. Unlike with most other posts, the suspension of the chief executive may come 
immediately to the attention of the local and perhaps national media with 
potentially damaging consequences for the reputation of the chief executive and 
the authority.  

 

 

3. Suspension – (procedure) 

 

Suspension will not always be appropriate as there may be alternative ways of managing the 
investigation. 

 

However, the IDC will need to consider whether it is appropriate to suspend the chief executive. 
This may be necessary if an allegation is such that if proven it would amount to gross 
misconduct. It may also be necessary in other cases if the continuing presence at work of the 
chief executive might compromise the investigation or impair the efficient exercise of the 
council’s functions. 

 

In any case, the chief executive shall be informed of the reason for the proposed suspension and 
have the right to present information before such a decision is taken. 

 

An elected member should hold the delegated power to suspend the chief executive 
immediately in an emergency if an exceptional situation arises whereby allegations of 
misconduct by the chief executive are such that his / her remaining presence at work poses a 
serious risk to the health and safety of others or the resources, information or reputation of the 
authority. It is suggested that this power might be held by the Chair of the IDC or the Chair of 
the Urgency Committee.  

 

Any suspension must not last longer than 2 months unless the Independent Person has used his / 
her power to direct an extension to that period. 

Tudalen 190



154

3.2 Where a chief executive is suspended and facing allegations this is potentially 
stressful for the individual and disruptive to the council. It is therefore in the interests 
of the chief executive and the council that such cases are dealt with as 
expeditiously as possible. 

 

3.3 Alternatives to suspension 

 

Suspension will not be appropriate in every case, as this will depend on the nature 
of the allegation or seriousness of the issue. Before suspending the chief executive, 
careful consideration should be given to whether it is necessary and whether there 
are any other suitable alternative ways of managing the situation, for example by 
agreeing particular working arrangements such as working from home for a period 
or working in some other way that protects the chief executive and authority from 
further allegations of a similar nature. 

 

3.4 Power to suspend 

 

(a) The chief executive is the head of paid service and normally bears the 
delegated responsibility for implementing council policy on staffing matters. 
However, when it is the chief executive who is the subject of an allegation or 
investigation, the authority will need to be clear about who has the power to 
suspend the chief executive and in what circumstances.   

 

(b) The point at which it may become clear that suspension is an appropriate 
action is likely to be at the stage where the IDC has conducted its initial 
assessment. The model procedure therefore envisages that that Committee 
should have the power to suspend the chief executive. 

 

3.5 Short notice suspension 

 

 The procedure also recognises that in exceptional circumstances it may be 
necessary to suspend at very short notice and before the IDC can meet, e.g. 
because the remaining presence of the chief executive could be a serious danger 
to the health and safety of others, or a serious risk to the resources, information or 
reputation of the authority. An elected member should hold the delegated power 
to suspend in an emergency. It is suggested that this power might be held by the 
Chair of the IDC or the Chair of the Urgency Committee.  

 

Tudalen 191



155

3.6 Suspension protocols 

 

(a) If suspension were deemed appropriate, the IDC (or in exceptional 
circumstances, the chair) would also be the appropriate body to agree or 
authorise any protocols which are necessary to manage the suspension and the 
investigation. For example, the chief executive might request access to workplace 
materials and even witnesses. Arrangements should be made to manage such 
requests and facilitate appropriate access. Another general principle would be 
that whilst suspended, the chief executive would remain available to participate 
in the investigation and to attend any necessary meetings. Therefore other 
important issues would include communication channels for day-to-day 
communication and any stipulations for reporting any scheduled or unscheduled 
absence from the area, e.g. pre-arranged holiday.  

 

3.7 Time limits on suspension 

 

(a) Where the chief executive is suspended The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) 
(Wales) Regulations 2006 (Regulation 8, Schedule 4) specify that any suspension 
for the purposes of investigating the allegation must be on full pay and terminate 
no later than 2 months from the day the suspension takes effect. This period can 
be extended by the Designated Independent Person who also has the power to 
vary the terms on which any suspension has taken place. 

 

(b) Where a chief executive is suspended and it is decided that a Designated 
Independent Person shall be appointed, the authority must look to a speedy 

appointment. It is not always easy to identify and agree terms with a Designated 
Independent Person and any delay in commencing the process could create the 
danger that the 2-month period may expire before a DIP is in place. The 
regulations indicate that the chief executive would then be entitled to return to 
work. If such a situation arises it would be preferable to try to reach an agreement 
with the chief executive on an alternative to them returning to the office until the 
Designated Independent Person has been appointed.  

 

 

4. Right to be accompanied – (procedure) 

 

Other than in circumstances where there is an urgent requirement to suspend the chief 
executive, he or she will be entitled to be accompanied at all stages. 

 

Tudalen 192



156

4. Right to be accompanied – (guidance) 

 

4.1 Although the statutory right to be accompanied applies only at a disciplinary 
hearing, the JNC procedure provides the opportunity for the chief executive to be 
accompanied at all stages by their trade union representative or some other 
person of their choice, at their own cost. 

 

4.2 The procedure recognises that there may be, in exceptional circumstances, a 
need to suspend the chief executive at short notice, when it is not possible to 
arrange for their trade union representative to be present. These circumstances 
might include for example where there is a serious risk to the health and safety of 
others or serious risk to the resources, information, or reputation of the authority. 

 

4.3 Although it would be beneficial to agree dates for the necessary meetings 
required, the procedure cannot be allowed to drag on owing to the unavailability 
of a representative. The statutory right to be accompanied in a disciplinary hearing 
contained in s.10 of the Employment Relations Act 1999 applies only to hearings 
where disciplinary action might be taken or be confirmed. That is to say when a 
decision may be taken on the sanction or a decision may be confirmed during an 
appeal. In this model procedure the statutory entitlement to be accompanied 
would arise:  

 

 where the IDC  considers the report of the Designated Independent Person and 
provides the chief executive with the opportunity to state their case before making 
its decision 

 during any appeal against the decision taken by the IDC 
 At a council meeting considering a proposal for dismissal and also fulfilling the 
requirement relating to a right of appeal 

 

4.4 At these important stages (IDC receiving the report of the DIP and any appeal 
against the decision taken by that Committee), if the chief executive’s trade union 
representative is unavailable for the date set then the chief executive will have 
the right under the provisions of the Employment Relations Act 1999, to postpone 
the meeting for a period of up to one week.   

 

4.5 If the representative is unable to attend within that period the authority will 
have the right to go ahead with the hearing without further delay, although 
reasonable consideration should be given to arranging an alternative date. 

Tudalen 193



157

 

 5. Considering the allegations or other issues under investigation – (guidance) 

 

5.1 The range of issues and to some extent the seriousness of the issues, which 
come before the IDC, will depend on the filter that the council adopts. Issues such 
as those relating to sickness absence and performance are likely to arise at the 
IDC having followed the authority’s sickness absence or performance 
management / appraisal procedures (see paragraph 1.3). 

 

5.2 It is possible in some cases that with some minimal investigation the IDC can 
dismiss the allegation without even the need to meet with the chief executive. 
However, this procedure is aimed at dealing with situations where the matter is not 
so easily dismissed. It therefore provides a process whereby the chief executive is 
made aware of the allegations and provided with the opportunity to challenge 
the allegations or to make their response. The IDC has a number of specific powers. 
It  

 

5. Considering the allegations or other issues under investigation –     

           (procedure) 

 

The IDC will, as soon as is practicable inform the chief executive in writing of the allegations or 
other issues under investigation and provide him / her with any evidence that the Committee is to 
consider including the right to hear oral evidence. 

 

The chief executive will be invited to put forward written representations and any evidence 
including evidence from witnesses he / she wishes the Committee to consider.  

 

The Committee will also provide the opportunity for the chief executive to make oral 
representations. 

 

The IDC will give careful consideration to the allegations or other issues, supporting evidence 
and the case put forward by the chief executive before taking further action.  

 

The IDC shall decide whether: 

 

 the issue requires no further formal action under this procedure; or 

 the issue should be referred to a Designated Independent Person.  

 

The IDC shall inform the chief executive of its decision. 

 

Tudalen 194



158

 

(a) may make such enquiries of the chief executive or any other person it   
considers appropriate 

(b)  may request the chief executive or any other person it considers   appropriate 
to provide it with such information, explanation or documents as it considers 
necessary within a specified time limit, and (c)  may receive written or oral 
representations from the chief executive or any other person it considers 
appropriate 

 

5.3 When an issue comes before the IDC it needs to make a judgement as to 
whether the allegation can be dismissed or whether it requires more detailed 
investigation by a Designated Independent Person (DIP). The regulations (Reg 9 
(2)) require that the Committee must make its decision within 1 month of its 
appointment to consider the allegation. As the procedure envisages a standing 
committee in place to consider allegations we believe that the 1 month period 
would begin to run from the date that the ‘allegation’ was put to the Committee 
for consideration. 

 

5.4 The appointment of a Designated Independent Person is a serious step but 
does not mean that the chief executive is guilty of some misdemeanour. In some 
cases the eventual result of the investigation will be to absolve the chief executive 
of any fault or wrongdoing. The appointment of a Designated Independent Person 
operates independently so that both the authority and the chief executive can 
see that matters are dealt with fairly and openly. However, the matter still needs 
to be handled carefully in public relations terms due to the potential damage to 
the reputation of the chief executive or the local authority. 

 

5.4.1 Threshold test for the appointment of a DIP 

 

Cases will vary in complexity but the threshold test for the IDC in deciding whether 
to appoint a Designated Independent Person is to consider the allegation or 
matter and assess whether: 

 

 if it were to be proved, it would be such as to lead to the dismissal or other action 
which would be recorded on the chief executive’s personal file; and 
 there is evidence in support of the allegation sufficient to require further 
investigation. 

  

Tudalen 195



159

5.4.2 Conducting the initial IDC Investigation 

 

(a) It is intended that this stage is conducted as expeditiously as possible with due 
regard to the facts of the case. At this stage it is not necessarily a fully detailed 
investigation of every aspect of the case as that will be the responsibility of the 
Designated Independent Person (if appointed). However, it is important that 
before any decision is taken to appoint a Designated Independent Person the 
chief executive is aware of the allegations that have been made against him / her 
(or the issue to be addressed) and given the opportunity to respond.  

    

(b) This will be achieved by: 

 

 The IDC writing to the chief executive setting out the allegations / issues and 
providing any evidence to be considered. 
 Providing the opportunity for the chief executive to respond to the allegations in 
writing and to provide personal evidence or witness evidence. 

 Providing the opportunity for the chief executive to appear before the IDC and 
to call witnesses.  

 

(c) Fair notice should be given to enable the chief executive adequate time to 
prepare a response to the allegations or issues under investigation. During the initial 
hearing by the IDC, the chief executive is entitled to attend and can be 
accompanied by a representative (subject to paragraph 2.3.3 and paragraph 4). 

 

5.4.3 Treatment of witness evidence 

 

 In general, if the authority has witness evidence relating to an allegation this 
should be presented to the chief executive, although in exceptional cases it might 
be appropriate to anonymise the evidence in order to protect the identity of a 
witness. However, it remains important that the detail of the allegation is put to the 
chief executive in order that he / she understands the case against him / her.  

 

5.4.4 Conflicts of interest  

 

(a) The model procedure envisages, and it is strongly recommended that the 
authority take steps to establish, a standing IDC. Paragraph 1.2.2 indicates the 
basic rules concerning its membership. However, because a standing committee 

Tudalen 196



160

will comprise named councillors, there may be occasions when this presents 
problems of conflict of interest, for example where a member of the committee is 
a witness to an alleged event, or is the person who makes the original complaint 
or allegation. Councillors in this position should take no part in the role of the 
Committee, although they will of course be able to give evidence, if required. The 
authority should attempt to construct its Committees, established quorums, and 
substitution rules in order to minimise the likelihood of an individual conflict of 
interest delaying the procedure. Where a number of members find themselves in 
a prejudiced position, there may be no alternative but for the council to establish 
a new Committee to perform the function of the IDC. 

 

(b) Declarations of interest are matters for individual councillors who are required 
to follow the authority’s Code of Conduct for Members and can seek advice from 
their Monitoring Officer or Standards Committee. Considerable problems could 
follow for the speed at which the case is conducted if the chief executive 
considers there are valid grounds for making a formal complaint to the Public 
Services Ombudsman for Wales about the involvement of a councillor in a case.  

 

5.4.5 Maintaining the fairness and integrity of the procedure 

 

Where there is a matter that requires investigation it is important that a fair and 
correct procedure is followed. Allegations against the chief executive or serious 
issues that require resolution should follow this procedure. It is important that 
councillors do not undermine the fairness of the procedure by for example putting 
motions to full council about the case as there is a serious risk that it could prejudice 
the disciplinary procedure. Additionally, such actions will not only create adverse 
publicity for the authority and the chief executive but may create conflicts of 
interest and could limit the role that those councillors can then take as the case 
progresses.  

 

5.4.6 Other appropriate actions 

 

(a) It could be that when faced with an issue, whether it be an allegation of 
misconduct, or connected with the capability of the chief executive, or some 
other substantial issue, the IDC might be in a position to consider alternatives to 
immediately moving to the appointment of a Designated Independent Person or 
alternatively to dismiss the allegation or issue.  

 

(b) Clearly this will depend on the facts of the matters being investigated. It could 
be that the authority has another more appropriate policy or procedure to follow. 

Tudalen 197



161

Alternatively, it could be that the issue is one which might benefit from some 
mediation or attempts to resolve the particular issue in dispute prior to moving to 
appointing a Designated Independent Person.  

 

(c) It is possible at any stage to consider the mutual termination of the contract 
and sometimes this will be a suitable alternative for all concerned. This might 
particularly be the case where relationships are breaking down but there is no 
evidence of misconduct attached to the chief executive. The Joint Secretaries 
could be available to assist (see Appendix 4). 

 

(d) If any financial settlements are considered, it is important that such an 
arrangement:  

 

 Falls within the authority’s discretions under The Local Government (Early 
Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2006 or 
 Is a payment in consideration of an agreement that compromises a genuine 
legal claim that the chief executive might have at a Court or Employment Tribunal 

 

(e) The Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary 
Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006 are designed to enable a 
local authority to compensate employees whose employment terminates on 
grounds of redundancy or in the interests of the efficient exercise of the authority’s 
functions. It is therefore possible that a payment will be legitimate in certain 
circumstances. However, where there is an obvious case requiring disciplinary 
action and the allegation is such that dismissal is a likely outcome, it is not likely 
that a District Auditor will sanction a deal under the current regulations. 

 

(f) The authority must take appropriate legal advice when attempting to reach a 
financial settlement to ensure that any payment is justified. Relevant 
considerations will include the likelihood of the claim succeeding and the amount 
of compensation that could be awarded by a Court or an Employment Tribunal. 

 

 

Tudalen 198



162

5.4.7 Power to agree financial settlements 

 

When considering its delegation of power the authority must include consideration 
of which Committee or Officer has the authority to negotiate a settlement and 
also a process by which any settlement would be sanctioned including liaison with 
the appointed auditor. 

 

5.4.8 Access to appropriate professional / independent advice  

 

(a) Conducting an investigation into allegations or serious issues involving the chief 
executive can be demanding on the individuals involved. The IDC (and the 
Appeal Committee and council) will have access to the local authority’s officers, 
but given the closeness of relationships between the chief executive and the other 
senior officers this can be a difficult time for those required to advise the 
Committee, to conduct investigations internally, or to source advice from outside 
the authority.  

 

(b) The authority should provide that the IDC has powers to appoint external 
advisers as appropriate. Useful sources of general advice on the operation of the 
procedure and assistance with conducting investigations include the Local 
Government Association by contacting the Employers’ Secretary or from the Welsh 
Local Government Association or ALACE or SOLACE. 

 

In addition to this general advice and assistance, given the potential complexity 
of the issue, authorities might also require access to their own legal advice.   

 

5.4.9 Ill-health - medical advice 

 

 In cases of capability related to sickness or where during the course of any other 
investigation, the ill-health of the chief executive results in their unavailability it will 
be important that the Investigating and Disciplinary Committee has access to 
appropriate medical advice from the council’s Occupational Health provider (see 
paragraph 2.3.2).   

 

5.4.10 Performance 

 

Tudalen 199

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
mailto:jonathan.lloyd@wlga.gov.uk
mailto:jonathan.lloyd@wlga.gov.uk
mailto:alacehonsec@yahoo.co.uk
http://www.solace.org.uk/


163

(a) Where the issue is one of capability in terms of performance or competence, 
other than ill-health, the council will need to be in a position to establish or 
demonstrate the nature of the concerns. Evidence will be necessary in order to 
justify a further investigation.  

 

(b) This might come from a variety of sources, e.g. performance appraisal records, 
inspection reports, etc. Where the council follows an established appraisal / 
performance management process, this can also provide an appropriate route to 
establishing issues suitable for referral to the Investigating & Disciplinary Committee 
(see Appendix 2). 

 

(c) Where the issue is breakdown of trust and confidence, the council will need to 
be able to establish that the fault for the breakdown could reasonably be 
regarded as resting solely or substantially with the chief executive. 

  

6. Appointment of a Designated Independent Person - (guidance) 

 

6.1 Where a decision has been taken to appoint a Designated Independent 
Person it is important that the council moves quickly to achieve this. The 
Regulations provide that the authority and the chief executive must agree on a 
DIP within 1 month of the decision to appoint one. This may also be particularly 
important if the chief executive has been suspended because of the two-month 
time limit on suspension (see paragraph 2.3.1). 

 

6.2 The IDC is responsible for appointing the Designated Independent Person. This 
will include issues such as the terms of remuneration and working methods.  

6.2.1 Terms of reference – allegations or issues to be investigated 

 

 

6. Appointment of a Designated Independent Person – (procedure)  

 

The Designated Independent Person must be agreed between the IDC and the chief executive 
within 1 month of the decision to appoint a DIP. If there is a failure to agree on a suitable 
Designated Independent Person the council will appoint the person nominated by Welsh 
Ministers. 

 

Once a Designated Independent Person has been agreed, the IDC will be responsible for making 
the appointment, providing the necessary facilities, agreeing remuneration and providing all 
available information about the allegations. 

 

Tudalen 200



164

(a) When appointing the Designated Independent Person it is important that they 
are provided with terms of reference. The DIP will need to be: 

 

 aware of the precise allegation(s) or issue(s) to be investigated 
 provided with access to sources of information and people identified as relevant 
to the case 
 aware of expectations regarding timescales and any known factors which could 
hinder their investigation, e.g. the availability of key people  

 

(b) The IDC will be responsible for providing this information. It will also be in a 
position to discuss timescales for the Designated Independent Person’s 
investigation. The Committee must, after consulting the Designated Independent 
Person, attempt to agree a timetable within which the DIP is to undertake the 
investigation. Where there is no agreement the DIP must set a timetable which he 
/ she considers appropriate. 

 

6.2.2 Remuneration 

 

(a) There is no provision in the Regulations that stipulates the rate of remuneration 
to be paid to the Designated Independent Person for their work. However, the 
Regulations do provide (Regulation 9 (10)) that: 

‘A relevant authority must pay reasonable remuneration to a designated 
independent person appointed by the investigation committee and any costs 
incurred by, or in connection with, the discharge of functions under this regulation.’ 

 

(b) This is a fairly broad obligation on local authorities. One issue that has caused 
delay and failure to appoint in some cases is the issue of providing the Designated 
Independent Person with an indemnity. Some DIPs may decline to accept the role 
unless the authority indemnifies them against any future legal costs arising from the 
role performed. There has been a difference of opinion as to whether the DIP 
should have insurance in their own right to cover such an eventuality, or whether 
the council should provide this or indeed whether it has the power to do so. In the 
opinion of the CLG, at the time of implementation, this issue is to all intents and 
purposes resolved by the wording of Regulation 9(10), i.e. that the Regulations 
require the council to bear all of the costs of the DIP incurred by him / her in, or in 
connection with, the discharge of his / her functions under this Regulation.   

 

Tudalen 201



165

 

7. The Independent Person investigation – (guidance) 

 

7.1 Resources 

 

 The amount of time required to be spent on the investigation will depend on the 
case. Due to the demands on their time, the DIP could decide to delegate 

 

7. The Independent Person investigation – (procedure)  

 

The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (Wales) Regulations 2006 require the Designated 
Independent Person to investigate and make a report to the council. In this model procedure this 
would be the IDC. The JNC believes that the Designated Independent Person should operate on 
the basis of a combination of independent investigation using his / her powers to access 
information, and a formal hearing, at which the allegations and supporting evidence including 
evidence provided by witnesses are stated by the authority’s representative and the chief 
executive or his / her representative is able to present his / her case. 

 

Once appointed it will be the responsibility of the Designated Independent Person to investigate 
the issue / allegation and to prepare a report: 

 

stating an opinion as to whether (and, if so, the extent to which) the evidence obtained supports 
any allegation of misconduct or incapability or supports a need for action under this procedure 
for some other substantial reason; and recommending any disciplinary action (if any is 
appropriate) or range of actions which appear to him / her to be appropriate for the authority 
to take against the chief executive. 

 

Note: wording above not all in regulations but necessary to deal with other situations resulting 
in proposals to dismiss 

 

Tudalen 202



166

some of the investigation work to an assistant. This should be agreed with the IDC 
and the chief executive should be informed. If the work is delegated to someone 
else outside of the authority this might also require further discussion on any 
difference in the terms of remuneration for the assistant to the Designated 
Independent Person.  

 

7.2 Working arrangements 

 

7.2.1 Once appointed it will be the responsibility of the Designated Independent 
Person to investigate the issue / allegation and to prepare a report: 

 

 stating in his / her opinion whether (and, if so, the extent to which) the evidence 
he / she has obtained supports any allegation of misconduct or other issue under 
investigation and 
 to recommend any disciplinary action which appears to him / her to be 
appropriate for the council to take against the head of paid service / chief 
executive 

 

7.2.2 The IDC must, after consulting the Designated Independent Person, attempt 
to agree a timetable within which the DIP is to undertake the investigation. Where 
there is no agreement the DIP must set a timetable which he / she considers 
appropriate. 

 

7.2.3 The Regulations only require the Designated Independent Person to 
investigate and report to the council. The methodology should be confirmed with 
the parties. However, the JNC believes that the Designated Independent Person 
should operate on the basis of a combination of independent investigation using  
his / her powers to access information, and a formal hearing, at which details of 
the allegations and supporting evidence are stated by the authority’s 
representative and where the chief executive is given the opportunity to respond.  

 

7.3 Power to extend suspension 

 

7.3.1 The Regulations provide that suspension of the chief executive for the 
purposes of investigating the issue should last for no longer than two months.  

Tudalen 203



167

 

7.3.2 The DIP does not have the power to suspend the chief executive and neither 
is his / her permission required in order to suspend the chief executive. However, 
the Regulations provide that where the authority has suspended the chief 
executive, the Designated Independent Person has the power to direct: 

 

 that the authority terminate the suspension 
 that the suspension should continue beyond the two month limit 
 that the terms on which the suspension has taken place must be varied 

 

7.4 Confidential contact at authority 

 

7.4.1 Although the Designated Independent Person has a degree of 
independence, it is advisable to agree some protocols for his / her investigation in 
order that disruption to the council’s work is kept to a minimum at what can be a 
difficult time. The Designated Independent Person will also require agreed contact 
and reporting arrangements with the parties. It is recommended therefore that the 
council designates an officer to administer the arrangements. 

 

7.4.2 During the investigation the Designated Independent Person will as a matter 
of principle, make every attempt to ensure the appropriate confidentiality of any 
information obtained and discussed. 

 

8. Receipt and consideration of the Designated Independent Person’s report by the IDC– 
(procedure) 

 

The IDC will consider the report of the Designated Independent Person and also give the chief 
executive the opportunity to state his / her case before making a decision. Having considered any 
other associated factors the Committee may: 

 

 Take no further action 

 Recommend informal resolution or other appropriate procedures 

 Refer back to the Designated Independent Person for further investigation and report 

 Take disciplinary action against the chief executive short of dismissal 

 Recommend dismissal of the chief executive to the council  

 

Tudalen 204



168

 

8. Receipt and consideration of Designated Independent Person’s report by the 
IDC - (guidance) 

 

8.1 Report of the Designated Independent Person 

 

 The requirement is that the Designated Independent Person makes a report to the 
council and sends a copy to the chief executive simultaneously. In the JNC 
procedure it is envisaged that the report be made to the IDC which will have 
delegated powers from the authority to receive the report and take a decision on 
the outcome. Unless the chief executive is exonerated by the report then at this 
stage the chief executive should be given the opportunity to state his / her case 
before the committee makes its decision. 

 

8.2 New material evidence 

 

 Where there is, at this stage, new evidence produced which is material to the 
allegation / issue and may alter the outcome, the IDC may: 

 

 take this into account in making their decision or 
 request that the Designated Independent Person undertake some further 
investigation and incorporate the impact of the new evidence into an amended 
report 

 The way the evidence is taken into account will depend on its nature. The 
introduction of new evidence in itself cannot be used to justify a more serious 
sanction than recommended by the Designated Independent Person. If this is a 
possibility, the Designated Independent Person should review his / her decision 
taking into account the new evidence.  

 

8.3 Recommendations by the DIP - outcomes or options 

 

8.3.1 The Regulations require the Designated Independent Person to recommend 
any disciplinary action that appears to be appropriate. At this stage clarity is to be 
welcomed and a clear reasoned decision is preferable. However, it could be that 
there is not one obvious action and it may be that the Designated Independent 

Tudalen 205



169

Person recommends a range of alternative actions. In this case the IDC would 
need to select the action to be taken. 

 

8.3.2 Whilst the DIP’s role is to make recommendations on disciplinary action, he / 
she may wish to comment on potential options for the way forward following the 
DIP process. 

 

8.4 Decision by the IDC  

 

 The Committee is required to take a decision on the basis of the Designated 
Independent Person’s report. It is always open to the Committee to impose a lesser 
sanction than that recommended but it cannot impose a greater sanction. 

9. Action short of dismissal – (guidance) 

 

 Where the decision taken by the Committee is action short of dismissal the action 
will be taken by the Committee itself. There is no requirement to seek confirmation 
by the council. The constitution of the IDC will need to include the delegated 
power to take disciplinary action in these circumstances. 

 

 

10. Where the IDC proposes dismissal – (guidance) 

 

  Where the Committee proposes dismissal the Regulations require that the council 
must approve the dismissal before notice of dismissal is issued.  

 

10.2 Executive objections procedure  

 

 

9. Action short of dismissal – (procedure) 

  

Where the decision is to take action short of dismissal the IDC will impose the necessary penalty 
/ action, up to the maximum recommended by the Designated Independent Person.  

 

Tudalen 206



170

10.2.1 Although previous statutory guidance referred to conducting an executive 
objections procedure in authorities operating leader / cabinet and mayor / 
cabinet constitutions this is not required.  

 

10.3 The role of The Council 

 

10.3.1 The Regulations require that where there is a proposal to dismiss the chief 
executive, the council must approve the dismissal before notice of dismissal is 
issued. The Council must therefore consider the proposal from the IDC and reach 
a decision before the chief executive can be dismissed. 

 

10.3.2 Given the thoroughness and independence of the previous stages, in 
particular, the investigation of the Designated Independent Person it will not be 
appropriate to undergo a full re-hearing of the case. Instead, consideration by the 
council will take the form of a review of the case and the recommendation to 
dismiss. 

 

10.3.3 The chief executive will have the opportunity to be accompanied by their 
representative and to put forward his / her case before a decision is reached. 

 

11. Appeals – (guidance) 

 

11.1 Appeals against dismissal 

 

11.1.1 Discipline and Grievance at Work – The ACAS Guide requires that an 
employee who has been dismissed is provided the opportunity to appeal against 
the decision. 

 

11.1.2 As the Standing Orders Regulations require that the council approves the 
dismissal before notice of dismissal is issued, there might be some concerns about 
the ability to offer a fair appeal if the whole council was already familiar with the 
issues and had already taken the decision to dismiss. The model procedure 
therefore envisages that the council meeting fulfils the requirement for an appeal. 
Before the council takes a decision on the recommendation to dismiss the chief 
executive it will take representation from the chief executive. Those 
representations will constitute the appeals process. 

 

Tudalen 207

http://www.acas.org.uk/index.aspx?articleid=2179


171

11.2 Appeals against action short of dismissal 

 

11.2.1 Appeals against actions short of dismissal will be heard by the Appeals 
Committee. The appeal hearing will take the form of a review of the case and the 
decision that was taken by the IDC. 

 

11.2.2 This process should follow the procedure that the local authority applies 
generally to its other employees. 

Tudalen 208



172

Appendix 5a 

 

ENGLAND ONLY: Disciplinary Procedure for Local Authority Chief Executives 

 

 

Investigating and disciplinary committee convened (IDC) 

This should be a standing committee of the Council  

 

Option 1.  

No further action. This should be immediately communicated to the Chief Executive and the complainant notified if 
necessary. 

 

The IDC considers the allegation[s] 

The Chief Executive should be asked for comments. In the light of the Chief Executive’s comments and having carefully 
considered the complaint / allegation the IDC may decide on any of the following actions  

 

Option 3 

Case to answer / further investigation required 

If following consideration of the Chief Executive’s response the IDC believes that the case cannot be dismissed and 
requires further investigation and that, if the allegations were to be upheld they would result in a sanction greater than 
an informal warning, the IDC should appoint an Independent Investigator, II, and consider suspension. 

 

Option 2. 

Informal un-recorded oral warning 

If the matter is not serious but there is some minor fault or error on the part of the Chief Executive then the IDC can 
issue an informal un-recorded warning  

oral warning.  

 

 

 

 

The report of the II 

Irrespective of the manner in which the II investigates the case on completion of their investigation the 
II must prepare a report with recommendations and rationale for submission to the IDC. 

 

Suspension 

The chair of the IDC should have delegated authority to suspend. Suspension should be reviewed 

Tudalen 209



173

after a period of two months and only extended following consultation with the II and consideration of any objections 
/ representations from the Chief Executive 

 

Hearing the case 

Alternatively the II may hear the case. 

If the II hears the case both parties will have the usual opportunities to present evidence and cross examine witnesses 
etc.  At the hearing both parties are afforded the opportunity to be represented by an individual of their choice, 
although representation for the Chief Executive should be obtained at his / her expense. Following the hearing the II 
will produce a report for consideration by the IDC. 

Evidence collection and investigation 

It may be a process of evidence gathering, hearing submissions etc.  which will lead to the formulation of a 
recommendation for consideration by the IDC.  

 

Role of the II 

In practice it should be for the II to determine the process they will follow. This will be dependent upon the nature of 
the allegations and availability of information. However, the JNC’s preferred process is ‘Evidence Collection and 
Investigation’. 

Appointment of the Independent Investigator (II) 

An Independent Investigator is appointed- 

 A list of suitably qualified individuals should be maintained by the Joint Secretaries. This 
could operate as a taxi rank system or the authority could be given three names from which the Chief Executive could 
pick. Only genuine conflicts of interest etc. should be acceptable reasons for rejection by the Chief Executive. If the 
Chief Executive will not agree within 14 days the Council should be free to appoint their choice from the list. 

 

Tudalen 210



174

 

 

 

 

Consideration and Decision of the IDC 

If the II has held a full hearing the IDC will limit their hearing to a consideration of the II’s report. They may decide to 
call witnesses for clarification. The Chief Executive and II should attend this meeting and both parties afforded the 
opportunity to summarise their case. The hearing should be conducted in accordance with the ACAS code of 
practice. 

If the II did not hear the case then the IDC should now afford the Chief Executive the opportunity for a hearing to allow 
the postholder to challenge the recommendations of the II, call witnesses etc. The same rule regarding costs of 
representation would apply in this context 

 

 

Report to full Council 

Following consideration by the IP a report should be presented to Council. This report should comprise the 
recommendation of the IDC, the II’s report and any comments on the recommendation for dismissal from the IP. In 
the light of this information Council should consider the recommendation to dismiss. The Chief Executive should be 
provided with a right of appeal against the decision and allowed to attend this meeting and address Council. The II 
may also be invited to attend to provide clarification if required. Following this consideration Council should either 
confirm or reject the recommendation to dismiss. It may at this stage impose a lesser sanction. This stage in the process 
constitutes the Chief Executive’s final right of appeal. 

 

 

Composition, role and process of the IP 

The IP should be a committee of the Council, appointed under section 102(4) of the Local Government Act 1972,  and 
should comprise  only independent persons (at least two) appointed under S28(7) of the Localism Act 2011. 
Appropriate training should be provided to these Independent members. Both parties should be present or 
represented* at the meeting.  The IP should receive any oral representations from the Chief Executive, in which case it 
should invite any response on behalf of the IDC to the points made, and may ask questions of either party.  The IP 
should review the decision and prepare a report for Council. This report should contain clear rationale if they disagree 
with the recommendation to dismiss. 

 

*  the IDC should nominate a person to attend on its behalf 

 

Recommendation to dismiss 

If there is a recommendation to dismiss, the reports of the IDC and the II should then be sent to Independent Panel (IP) 
for its consideration. The Chief Executive may make written representations to the IP 

 

Action short of dismissal 

A decision to take action short of dismissal should be communicated in writing to the Chf Exec with rationale for the 
decision. The Chf Exec has the right of appeal to the appeals committee against this decision 

 

No case to answer 

Tudalen 211



175

Appropriate communication should be prepared in agreement with the Chief Executive to ensure that as far as 
possible there is no damage to the postholder’s reputation. The IDC should consider reimbursement of any reasonable 
expenses incurred by the employee. 

 

Recommendations of the IDC 

Following either consideration of the report of the II or a full hearing of the case the IDC will essentially have three 
options 

1. No case to answer 
2. Disciplinary action short of dismissal 
3. Dismissal 

 

Tudalen 212



176

Appendix W5a 

 

WALES ONLY: Disciplinary Procedure for Local Authority Chief Executives 

 

 

RESOLVED 

To award no sanction or a lesser 

RESOLVED 

RESOLVED 

RESOLVED 

RESOLVED 

RESOLVED 

To confirm the action 

STANDING APPEALS COMMITTEE 

Appeal 

 

Action short of Dismissal 

No action 

Informal resolution or other appropriate procedures 

Require further investigation 

Unresolved 

No case to answer 

Informal resolution or other appropriate procedures 

Unresolved 

RESOLVED 

Lesser Penalty 

External Auditor consultation 

Authority’s procedure to agree terms for mutual termination of the 
employment contract 

DISMISSAL 

COUNCIL 

Tudalen 213



177

Proposal to Dismiss 

Range of actions that can be taken by Investigating & Disciplinary Committee on the outcome 
of report of the DIP 

DIP investigation and report 

Appoint Independent Person (DIP) 

Case to answer 

STANDING INVESTIGATING & DISCIPLINARY COMMITTEE 

Allegation(s) / issue(s) via Monitoring Officer (where appropriate) or according to alternative arrangements 
established by the Council 

Tudalen 214



178

Outline revised Model Disciplinary Procedure for Local Authority Chief Executives      
Appendix 5b 

Example of Relationship with the Council’s Sickness Procedure 

Tudalen 215



179

Appendix 5c 

Revised Model Disciplinary Procedure for Local Authority Chief Executives: Example of 
Relationship with the Council’s Capability / Performance Management Processes 

Tudalen 216



180

Appendix 5d 

APPENDIX 5dAppendix

A C T I O N R  E  A  S  O  N      F O R    T  E  R  M  I  N  A  T  I  O  N 

Misconduct Capability - 
Performance 

Capability – Ill health 

(Long term or, 
frequent intermittent 
absence) 

Some other 
Substantial Reason 

 

Capability-  
Permanent Ill Health 

Redundancy Expiry of Fixed 
Term Contract 

Dismissal 

 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 

Maybe – 

could be mutual 
termination 

 

Yes Yes 

England only: 

Independent Panel 

Required 

 

Wales only: 

Designated 
Independent Person 

 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 

No No Yes- 

If authority has 
given 
commitment to 
renew 

 

Required to 
follow 

ACAS Code of 
Practice 

 

Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 

Maybe – 

if dismissal 

No No 

Appropriate 

Procedure to 
follow 

JNC JNC JNC JNC 

 

Local (with 
Council 
approval) 

Local (with 
Council 
approval) 

Local (with 
Council 
approval) 

Tudalen 217



181

APPENDIX 6 

         (Wales only) 

 

1. DESIGNATED INDEPENDENT PERSONS 

 

1.1 This joint guidance provides a commentary on the role of Designated  
Independent Persons (DIPs). While it is contained in the Handbook it is not intended 
that it be incorporated into the conditions of service of Chief Executives, but rather 
that it be regarded as a stand-alone document to assist DIPs. 

 

2. THE ROLE 

 

2.1 A designated independent person (“DIP”) is someone external to and  
Independent of an employing authority, who is individually appointed  when that 
authority makes allegations of a disciplinary or capability  nature against either the 
head of paid service, the monitoring officer or  the section 151 chief financial 
officer. 

 

2.2 The DIP concept has its origins in the June 1986 Widdicombe report The 
Conduct of Local Authority Business (HMSO Cmnd 9797), and the  succeeding 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989. Section 20 of that Act made it a duty 
(for the first time in local government law) for local authorities to adopt certain 
procedural standing orders. Though the Act itself did not refer to DIPs, sufficiently 
wide powers were given to the  Secretary of State for such a requirement to be 
incorporated into the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) Regulations 1993, SI No 
202. The disciplinary provisions of those Regulations, which applied only to heads  
of paid service, remain partly in force (in respect of National Parks  Authorities in 
both England and Wales), for local authorities in Wales the similarly titled SI 2006 No 
1275 (W.121).  

 

2.3 The role of a DIP, set out in regulation 9(6) in Wales, is to report to the authority 
concerned as to whether (and if so, the extent to which) the evidence obtained 
supports any allegation of misconduct against the officer concerned, and to 
recommend any disciplinary action which the DIP thinks it would be appropriate 
for the authority accordingly to take. 

 

2.4 Disciplinary action is defined by regulation 2 to include any proposal for 
dismissal for any reason other than redundancy, permanent ill-health and (unless 

Tudalen 218



182

its renewal has been  promised) failure to renew a fixed term contract. On the issue 
of allegations of breakdown in trust and confidence, see paragraph 5.4.10 (c).    

 

2.5 Each DIP appointment should be agreed between the authority and the  
officer concerned, but in default of agreement the appropriate Welsh Minister will 
nominate a DIP for the authority to appoint. The authority must pay the DIP 
reasonable remuneration and all the associated costs that the DIP incurs (but are 
under no obligation to afford or pay for any legal or other representation to the 
employee whose conduct is being investigated). 

 2.6 DIPs are given a number of powers to facilitate their role, including  directions 
about continuing any suspension, inspection of relevant  documents, and 
requiring any employee (in Wales this also includes any councillor) to answer 
questions about the conduct of the person being  investigated. Regulation 9(7) of 
the 2006 Regulations in Wales require that the DIP is brought into an attempt 
mutually to agree a timetable for  the hearing, and given default powers 
accordingly in regulation 9(8). As to how they actually carry out the task of 
obtaining evidence about the relevant conduct DIPs are not given any 
procedural duties or directions by the Regulations: the process is at their general 
discretion, and they have no powers to award costs, direct that settlements be 
reached, or conduct conciliation or mediation roles.   

 

2.7 For those whose employment, however, is governed by the Conditions of 
Service agreed by the JNC for Chief  Executives, the statutory basis is augmented 
by their contractual terms. Those JNC Conditions of Service contain a general 
commentary in paragraph 13 on page 7 on procedures for discipline, capability, 
redundancy and other dismissals, accompanied by a model procedure at 
Appendix 5B (Wales).   DIPs are expected to operate in conformity with the 
principles that the JNC Conditions of Service set out. Accordingly the Joint 
Secretaries have in addition drafted and published this further commentary on 
DIPs, and the guidance at paragraph 3, in the light both of experience of how 
these Regulations have worked previously and how the JNC now envisages their 
future working.  

 

2.8 Paragraph 8.3.2, while explicitly acknowledging the DIP’s formal role only to 
make recommendations about any possible disciplinary action, adds that a DIP 
“may wish to comment on potential options for the way forward for the DIP 
process.” This is intended to be used where a DIP considers that, notwithstanding 
that either no or only limited disciplinary  action would be appropriate, the realities 
of the situation and the interests of those concerned (including the public interest) 
require a different kind of outcome to be achieved. 

 

2.9 A DIP is not a judge, nor a substitute for an Employment Tribunal. While  a 
statutory appointment in one sense, a DIP is given none of the personal immunities 

Tudalen 219



183

or powers of enforcement that they have. The role is best understood as an 
independent element of what remains essentially an internal and confidential 
process of the authority. While the Council cannot exceed the degree of severity 
of any disciplinary action  recommended by the DIP, it is the view of the JNC that 
there is no obligation either to comply with any recommendation, e.g. the 
authority having considered the evidence and submissions of the chief executive 
might decide that the recommendation of the DIP is too severe in all the 
circumstances of the case. The decision reached remains that of the  authority, 
who must maintain contractual appeal rights and will in principle be answerable 
to an Employment Tribunal in just the same way as with any other employee.  

 

  3. GUIDANCE 

 

3.1 DIPs are given wide discretion as to the procedure they adopt, although the 
2006 Regulations in Wales contain timetabling provisions. Accordingly,  while there 
are no formal powers for DIPs to be given directions by  anyone, this guidance has 
been drafted to assist DIPs in addressing issues and making the decisions likely to 
be required. It can do no more than inform those matters, but it is based on the 
experience of other DIP hearings that have been held. 

 

3.2 Paragraph 7 advises on practical matters including the resources, the working 
arrangements, the power to extend suspension beyond two months, and the need 
for  confidential but co-ordinated contact with the authority. 

 

 The Degree of Formality 

 

3.3 As stated above, a DIP is neither a judge nor a substitute for an  Employment 
Tribunal. While a statutory appointment, a DIP is given none  of the personal 
immunities or powers of enforcement that they have.  The role is best understood 
as an independent element of what remains essentially an internal and 
confidential process of the authority. Nevertheless, an investigation by a DIP is a 
statutory process, and that requires structure and a mode of conduct appropriate 
to the seriousness of the matter for the parties involved. Some useful principles can 
be taken from the practice and procedure applied at Employment Tribunal 
Hearings. 

 

3.4 Rule 2 of schedule 1 to the Employment Tribunals (Constitution and Rules of 
Procedure) Regulations 2013 SI No. 1237 (as amended) – schedule 1 comprises the 
Employment Tribunal Rules of Procedure – sets out the overriding objective to deal 
with cases fairly and justly including avoiding delays and dealing with cases in 

Tudalen 220



184

ways which are proportionate to the complexity and importance of the issues. 
Further, Rule 41 states that “ The tribunal shall seek to avoid undue formality  and 
may itself question the parties or any witnesses so far as appropriate in order to 
clarify the issues or elicit evidence. The tribunal is not bound by any rule of law 
relating to the admissibility of evidence in proceedings before the  courts.” Rule  
43 states inter alia that “The tribunal may exclude from the hearing any person 
who is to appear as a witness in the proceedings until such time as they give 
evidence if it considers it in the interests of justice to do so.”  The Joint Secretaries 
consider that a similar approach by the DIP will usually be appropriate, meeting 
the over-riding objective “to deal with cases justly” 

 

3.5 Paragraph 7.2.3 expresses the view that the JNC believes that the DIP “should 
operate on the basis of a combination of independent investigation using his / her 
powers to access information, and a formal hearing, at which details of the 
allegations and supporting evidence are stated by the authority’s representative 
and where the chief executive is given the opportunity to respond.” This may well 
depend on the nature of the case given the wide scope of the Standing Orders 
Regulations to apply to different circumstances of potential discipline or dismissal. 
It may be, for example, that in some cases a more inquisitorial investigation may 
be appropriate rather than an adversarial challenge of allegations, eg, 
considering the evidence for and implications of long-term ill health. 

 

 The Degree of Confidentiality 

 

3.6 With very limited exceptions, rule 5 of schedule 2 to the 2013 Regulations (as 
amended) provides for Employment Tribunal hearings to be public (although 
preliminary hearings must generally be held in private under rule 56. Here there is 
a distinct difference for the DIP process. Though there is no explicit bar to this in the 
Standing Orders Regulations, local authority hearings into disciplinary and 
capability matters are customarily held in private, and anyone the subject of a DIP 
hearing is likely to expect the same. The Joint Secretaries expect confidentiality 
also to be observed in these hearings.   

 

3.7 If either side wishes to call two or more witnesses, the DIP will need to  consider 
carefully whether they should be allowed to hear each other’s  evidence (as is 
usually the case in a criminal trial), or whether each  witness should be heard 
separately with no-one else present not required or mutually agreed. The latter is 
the usual practice in local authority disciplinary hearings, and the Joint Secretaries 
assume that this will also be the norm in DIP hearings. 

 

3.8 Whether to allow the press and media or others to be present is a  separate 
matter from the joint presence of witnesses. No case is known  to the Joint 

Tudalen 221



185

Secretaries where this has been agreed, and so they expect DIPs to refuse any 
such request if unacceptable to either side. A refusal is not considered to infringe 
human rights law provisions about open hearings, because as stated above a DIP 
hearing is an independent  element of what remains essentially an internal and 
confidential process of the authority. 

 

3.9 This latter point is emphasised by paragraph 7.4.2 that during the investigation 
the DIP “will as a matter of principle, make every attempt to ensure the 
appropriate confidentiality of any information obtained and discussed.” 

 

Access to the DIP’s Report 

 

3.10 The DIP’s functions end with the submission of the report to the  appointing 
authority. A copy must be sent to the person investigated (regulation 9(6)(e) of SI 
2006 No. 1275 in Wales), but there is no further obligation on anyone’s part to 
supply or publish it. No one other than the authority has the legal right to do so. The 
Joint Secretaries consider DIP reports to be exempt from freedom of information 
disclosure by virtue of section 40 of the Freedom of information Act 2000, ie. 
because of the potential to breach the data protection principles set out in 
schedule 1 to the Data Protection Act 1998. 

3.11 The Joint Secretaries also consider that the DIP should seek clarity before 
submission of the report about access to or publication of all or any of it. The report 
could be drafted to include a short statement of the outcome intended for 
publication even where the rest of the report itself is to be kept confidential. DIPs 
should bear in mind that where material is published without approval, it may be 
unjust for there to be no lawful way for a response to be made or, in a case of 
selective publication, for the balance of the report to be restored. 

 

3.12 The law of defamation must also be considered in relation to the publication 
of any DIP report. The Joint Secretaries consider that qualified privilege will attach 
to publication to the Council itself, but may well not cover wider publication or 
distribution. 

 

 Costs 

 

3.13 DIPs have no power to award costs. Section 13A of the Employment  Tribunals 
Act 1996 gave power for rules to be made for the award of  costs in such Tribunals, 
but DIPs have no equivalent power. They will no doubt bear in mind the impact 
that any imbalance in the representational resources available to the person 

Tudalen 222



186

being investigated and to the employing authority may have on the conduct and 
outcome of any investigation. 

 

 Indemnity 

 

3.14 A DIP is not an employee of the appointing local authority, so cannot be 
legally protected as such. While in addition to reasonable remuneration a local 
authority must pay “any costs incurred by him in, or in connection with, the 
discharge of his functions,” it is not unequivocally established  that this requirement 
covers any costs arising out of any claim for  damages made as a consequence 
of the investigation or anything contained in the report (particularly if the claim 
were made by the appointing authority). DIPs will no doubt want to be satisfied on 
appointment that they have either an adequate indemnity from the authority or 
appropriate insurance cover. Paragraph 6.2.2(b), referring to the indemnity issue, 
concluded by noting the CLG opinion that regulation 9(10) of the 2006 Regulations 
is wide enough to both allow and require the employing authority to meet the 
DIP’s costs in this respect. 

Tudalen 223



187

APPENDIX 7 

 
Model Grievance Procedures 

 

1. Introduction 

 

1.1 These procedures covers the following circumstances: 

 

 where an employee raises a grievance against the chief executive 
 where a chief executive raises a grievance – by definition this will be against an 
individual elected member(s) or the employing council generally. 

 

1.2  Section 1.3 of the guidance to the model disciplinary procedure covers some 
of this ground and references to this section are made below where appropriate. 

 

1.3  The procedure in paragraph 2 below is set out in as a flow chart.  

 

2.  Procedure for dealing with a grievance raised by an employee against the chief 
executive 

 

2.1  An employee raising a grievance against the chief executive should do so 
using the grievance procedure provided for in his or her contract of employment. 
However, while operating within the context of the employee’s grievance 
procedure, it is only the mandatory stages of a grievance procedure (i.e. the 
formal stages, as referred to in paragraph 2.2) that can resolve the grievance 
when the person complained of is the chief executive.  With this in mind, the JNC 
has agreed the following advice. 

 

2.2  Under the ACAS code the internal procedure to be followed by an aggrieved 
employee should comprise at least two formal stages. After the initial filtering and 
any attempt at informal resolution, if the matter remains unresolved, then a panel 
of elected members (the Grievance Committee) will hear the grievance on behalf 

Tudalen 224



188

of the employer (Formal Stage 1). It is here that the power exists to resolve a 
grievance against the chief executive. The panel can either uphold or dismiss the 
grievance. If the outcome of the Stage 1 investigation is that the grievance is not 
upheld, then the complainant has the right to appeal (Formal Stage 2) to a panel 
of elected members (the Appeal Panel). 

 

2.3 Employers and employees should raise and deal with issues promptly and 
should not unreasonably delay meetings, decisions or confirmation of those 
decisions. 

 

2.4 There is a statutory right for the aggrieved employee to be accompanied 
by a fellow worker, a trade union representative, or an official employed by 
a trade union at any meeting that deals with the grievance. 

Initial filtering of grievances 

 

2.5  Where an employee raises a grievance against the chief executive it would 
be appropriate for an initial filtering to take place, as procedures need to be in 
place which can filter out and deal with ‘allegations’ against the chief executive 
which are clearly unfounded or trivial or can best be dealt with under some other 
procedure. For example, allegations and complaints that are directed at the chief 
executive, but are actually complaints about a particular service, should be dealt 
with through the Council’s general complaints procedure. If the matter is a serious 
complaint against the chief executive’s personal behaviour such as sexual or 
racial harassment, the matter would potentially be one that would be appropriate 
for an investigation under the disciplinary procedure. 

 

2.6 To enable this process to happen the Council should nominate an officer who 
would be the recipient of any grievance raised against the chief executive 
(referred to below as the Receiving Officer). This would most appropriately be the 
Council’s Monitoring Officer. If the Monitoring Officer is the person bringing the 
grievance against the chief executive or is otherwise involved in the grievance, 
then another appropriate chief officer and / or a Monitoring Officer from a 
neighbouring authority should be commissioned to act as the Receiving Officer.  

 

2.7 A meeting should be held between the Receiving Officer and the complainant 
without unreasonable delay after a grievance is received. The employee should 
be allowed to explain the grievance and how it could be resolved. Consideration 
should be given to adjourning the meeting for any investigation that may be 
necessary. 

  

Tudalen 225



189

2.8  The principle of an initial filtering is already acknowledged in relation to 
disciplinary procedures. The Receiving Officer is responsible for the filtering process, 
the outcome of which could include the following: 

   

i. the Receiving Officer decides that the grievance is actually about a council 
service, rather than a complaint against the chief executive personally. In this case 
the Receiving Officer would refer the matter back to the aggrieved employee, or 
their line manager, and indicate that the matter is one that they could raise under 
the appropriate complaints process for the council. 

 

ii. the Receiving Officer decides that there are other formal appeal procedures 
that apply rather than the grievance procedure eg, in cases of redundancy. 

 

iii. the Receiving Officer decides that the grievance should not be directed at the 
chief executive as it does not relate to a specific action of the chief executive or 
a specific omission of the chief executive and so should be directed to an 
intermediate manager. 

iv. the Receiving Officer decides that the grievance is either patently frivolous or 
clearly unfounded. Individual grievances can be deeply held so a decision that it 
is frivolous or unfounded and will not be taken any further should not be taken 
lightly. To some extent this judgement may be informed by whether the individual 
employee has a history of submitting frivolous or unfounded grievances. Where 
that is not the case then the Receiving Officer may want to err on the side of 
caution, particularly if the substance of the grievance is something that could be 
pursued to an Employment Tribunal. This would probably require the Receiving 
Officer to check whether other procedures were more apt, but that does not 
necessarily compromise the Receiving Officer from dealing with the case as 
suggested below.  

 

Resolving grievances informally 

 

2.9 Where the Receiving Officer is satisfied that the grievance is neither 
procedurally flawed nor patently frivolous or clearly unfounded (such as a 
complaint about the organisation, process, provision of facilities, inadequate IT 
equipment, failure of consultation between departments etc) then there may be 
some value in an attempt being made to resolve the matter informally. This might 
be through internally-facilitated informal joint discussions or informal joint 
discussions facilitated externally by an external mediator.  

  

3. Resolving grievances formally  

Tudalen 226



190

 

Formal Stage 1   

 

The Grievance Investigation  

 

3.1  Where informal attempts at resolution are considered inappropriate or have 
been tried and failed, then the Receiving Officer should manage the Stage 1 
investigation. In most cases it will be appropriate for an independent investigator 
to be commissioned to carry out the investigation.  

 

3.2  If the outcome of the investigation is in favour of the complainant, a solution 
should be proposed, taking into account the remedy requested by the 
complainant and the Receiving Officer’s assessment of what would be 
appropriate in all the circumstances. If the chief executive is unwilling to accept 
these proposals, the matter will be referred to the Grievance Committee for it to 
resolve.  

 

3.3  Just as the model disciplinary procedure recommends that Councils annually 
establish an Investigation and Disciplinary Committee and an Appeal Committee 
so that they are available if needed, so it is necessary for Councils annually to 
establish a Grievance Committee of 3 to 5 members with political proportionality, 
who are not members of the Investigation and Disciplinary Committee or the 
Appeal Committee.  

Tudalen 227



191

The Grievance Committee hearing 

 

3.4  The Grievance Committee will hear the case and reach its conclusion. 

 

The Committee upholds the grievance 

 

3.5  Where the Committee upholds the grievance this may include a decision or 
recommendation on how the issue can best be resolved to the satisfaction of the 
aggrieved employee. 

 

3.6 Where the Committee upholds the grievance and also decides that it is a 
matter of a serious nature then it may decide to refer the matter to the 
Investigation and Disciplinary Committee. That Committee would then have to 
consider under section 5 of Appendix 5 whether there was a case to answer, and, 
if so, would commission an independent investigation under the disciplinary 
procedure and the matter would proceed as laid down in Appendix 5. 

  

3.7 The Committee dismisses the grievance – the right to appeal 

 

Formal Stage 2  

 

3.8 If the Committee finds against the complainant then that person has a right of 
appeal to a member Appeal Committee (or other such body established by the 
Council for this purpose), and the chief executive should be immediately informed 
that this has happened. The Appeal Committee will then be responsible for 
considering the appeal with appropriate technical and procedural advice from 
the Receiving Officer. 

 

3.9 Where the Appeal Committee upholds the appeal, this may include a decision 
or recommendation on how the issue can best be resolved to the satisfaction of 
the aggrieved employee. 

 

3.10 Where the Appeal Committee upholds the appeal and also decides that it is 
a matter of a serious nature, then it may decide to refer the matter to the 
Investigation and Disciplinary Committee. That Committee should consider 

Tudalen 228



192

commissioning an independent investigation to determine whether there was a 
case to answer, and if so what sanction was appropriate.  

 

3.11  Where the Appeal Committee dismisses the appeal, then the matter would 
be regarded as having been concluded. 

 

4  Procedure for dealing with grievances raised by the chief executive  

 

4.1  Where the chief executive raises a grievance, then similar principles need to 
apply, namely: 

 

 Informal attempts at resolution should be regarded as preferable to immediate 
recourse to formal procedures 

 

 There should be two stages available to the aggrieved employee, in this case 
the chief executive. 

 

4.2  A chief executive cannot take out a grievance against another member of 
staff, as any cause for such concern would constitute grounds for disciplinary 
action and as head of the paid service the chief executive could initiate such 
action against any other employee. A chief executive grievance has to be against 
one or more member(s) and the Council’s Monitoring Officer should act as 
Receiving Officer.  

 

4.3  Where the chief executive raises a grievance, then this should be referred to 
the Receiving Officer in the first instance who should establish, through discussions 
with the appropriate parties, whether there is any prospect of resolving the matter 
informally. This might be through internally-facilitated informal joint discussions or 
informal joint discussions facilitated externally by an external mediator. 

 

4.4  In the event that informal resolution is neither appropriate nor successful, the 
Receiving Officer should refer the matter to the Council’s Grievance Committee. 
If the Grievance Committee considers it appropriate, having come to its 
conclusions, it might refer a matter about the conduct or behaviour of an elected 
member to the council’s Standards Committee or other appropriate 
arrangements. 

Tudalen 229



193

 

4.5  An appeal by the Chief Executive against the outcome of the Grievance 
Committee’s deliberations should be to the full Council. 

 

5 Grievances raised by the chief executive during disciplinary proceedings 

 

5.1 Where a chief executive is the subject of a disciplinary / capability investigation 
and raises a grievance relating to the case, the Investigating and Disciplinary 
Committee will decide how to deal with the grievance. This will depend on the 
facts of the case, the stage of the disciplinary procedure reached and the nature 
of the grievance raised. In some cases it may be appropriate to hear the 
grievance before continuing with the disciplinary / capability investigation. In 
other cases it will be appropriate to deal with the issues raised in the grievance as 
part of the wider disciplinary / capability investigation. 

Tudalen 230



194

 

Tudalen 231



195

 

  
 
 

Tudalen 232



196

Appendix L - Joint Negotiating Committee for Local Authority Chief 
Officer Conditions of Service Handbook

JOINT NEGOTIATING COMMITTEE
for

LOCAL AUTHORITY CHIEF OFFICERS

CONDITIONS OF SERVICE
HANDBOOK

UPDATED 8 August 2017

 

 
 

Employers’ Secretary: 
 

Officers’ Side Secretary: 
 

SIMON PANNELL 
LGA, Layden House 
76-86 Turnmill Street 
London EC1M 5LG 
 
Tel:  020 7187 7373 
email: info@local.gov.uk 
 

REHANA AZAM GMB 22 Stephenson Way 
London NW1 2HD 
 
Tel: 020 7391 6700 
email: info@gmb.org.uk  

Tudalen 233

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
mailto:info@gmb.org.uk


197

The Joint Negotiating Committee (JNC) for Chief Officers of Local Authorities is the 
national negotiating body for the pay and conditions of service of chief officers in 
England and Wales. 
 
The Authorities’ Side consists of elected members nominated by the Local 
Government Association and the Welsh Local Government Association. The Staff 
Side consists representatives of GMB and UNISON. 
 
CONTENTS 
 
PART 1 - CONSTITUTION 
                   
1 Title ………………………………………………………. 3 
2 Scope ……………………………………………………....  3 
3 Membership ………………………………………………. 3 
7 Functions ……………………………………………….  4 
8 Procedure ………………………………………………. 4 
15 Finance ………………………………………………. 5 
16 Arbitration ………………………………………………. 5 
17 Amendments ……………………………………………….  5 
 
PART 2 – CONDITIONS OF SERVICE 
 
1 Application of Terms & Conditions Generally………..…  6 
2 Questions of Interpretation …………………………….…  6 
3 Periods of Notice to Terminate Employment……………  6 
4 Annual Leave……………….……………………………...  6 
5 Honorarium Payments………………………………….…  6 
6 Relocation Expenses……...………………………………  6 
7 Setting Remuneration Levels…………………….………  7 
8 Performance Appraisal……………………………………  7 
9 Restrictions on Re-Employment…………………………  8 
10 Salary……………………………………………………….  8 
11 Returning Officer Fees……………………………………  9 
12 Official Conduct……………………………………………  9 
 
PART 3 – DISCIPLINE, CAPABILITY AND REDUNDANCY 
 
1 Specific Statutory Officers…………………………………  11 
2 Chief Officers other than Statutory Officers…...…………  11 
3 Redundancy…………………………………………………  12 
         
Annex 1 Joint Guidance on Appraisal of the Chief Officer  14 
 
NB: All hyperlinks and email addresses contained in this Agreement are correct at 
the time of publication. Please notify the Joint Secretaries of any discrepancies by 
emailing them at the addresses shown on the cover page. 
 
 

Tudalen 234



198

PART 1 - CONSTITUTION 
 
TITLE 
 
1 The Committee shall be known as the Joint Negotiating Committee for Chief 
Officers of Local Authorities (hereinafter referred to as “the Committee”). 
 
SCOPE 
 
2 The Committee shall have within their scope any officer of a local authority in 
England and Wales who 
 
a is a chief officer designated by the employing authority as the administrative 
and executive head 
 
  either  i of a separate department 
 
  or ii of a particular function or service 
 
which in either case is regarded by the authority as important in relation to the 
total activities of the authority; or 
 
b is designated by the authority as a recognised deputy to any chief officer 
covered by (a) above including an officer of deputy status but whose post may 
carry a different title. 
 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
3 The Committee shall consist of 36 members, appointed as follows:- 
 
 Representing local authorities: 
 
  Local Government Association   9 
  Welsh Local Government Association 1 
  
Representing officers: 
 
  GMB                  23 
  Unison        3 
        
 
4 If any of the organisations named in paragraph 3 hereof fail to appoint the 
number of representatives provided for by the Constitution, such failure to appoint 
shall not vitiate the decisions of the Committee always providing the quorum 
referred to in paragraph 13 is met. In the event of any member of the Committee 
or any sub-committee thereof being unable to attend any meeting of the 
Committee or of the sub-

Tudalen 235



199

committee, as the case may be, the organisation represented by such member 
shall be entitled to appoint another representative to attend and vote in his/her 
place. 
 
5 A member of the Committee shall automatically retire on ceasing to be a 
member of the organisation which he/she represents. 
 
6 On the occurrence of a casual vacancy, a new member shall be appointed by 
the organisation in whose representation the vacancy occurs and shall sit until the 
end of the period for which his/her predecessor was appointed. 
 
FUNCTIONS 
 
7 The functions of the Committee shall be to secure the largest possible measure 
of joint action in respect of the salaries and service conditions of officers within the 
scope of the Committee; and to seek to resolve any differences between a local 
authority and its officers which may be referred to the Committee, in accordance 
with procedures to be determined by the committee from time to time.  
 
PROCEDURE 
 
8 Sub-Committees The Committee may appoint from their own members such sub-
committees as they may consider necessary and with such authorities as they may 
from time to time determine. The reports of all sub-committees shall be submitted 
to the full Committee. 
 
9 Chair and Vice-Chair The Committee shall appoint annually a Chair and Vice-
Chair.  When the Chair is a member of the Authorities’ Side, the Vice-Chair shall be 
appointed from the Officers’ Side and vice versa. The Chair shall be held in 
alternate years by a member of the Authorities’ Side and a member of the Officers’ 
Side. The Chair, or in his/her absence, the Vice-Chair, shall preside at all meetings 
of the Committee. In the absence of both the Chair and Vice-Chair at any 
meeting, a chair shall be elected to preside. In no case shall a Chair have a 
second or casting vote.  
 
10 Officers The Committee shall appoint joint secretaries and a treasurer. 
 
11 Meetings Meetings of the Committee shall be held as often as may be 
necessary, and the Chair shall call a special meeting if so requested by one-third 
of either side of the Committee. The notice summoning any special meeting shall 
state the nature of the business proposed to be transacted thereat, and no other 
matters shall be discussed. A special meeting shall take place within fourteen days 
after the request has been received. 
 

Tudalen 236



200

12 Voting Voting in the Committee and in sub-committees shall be by show of 
hands or otherwise as the Committee or sub-committee, as the case may be, shall 
determine. No resolution shall be regarded as carried unless it has been approved 
by a majority of the members entitled to vote present on each side of the 
Committee or sub-committee, as the case may be. 
 
13 Quorum The quorum of the Committee shall be 10, consisting of 4 
representatives of local authorities and 6 of the officers. In the absence of a 
quorum the Chair shall vacate the chair, and the business then under 
consideration shall be the first business to be discussed either at the next ordinary 
meeting or at a further special meeting to be held within fourteen days after the 
date fixed for the first special meeting, as the case may be. The quorum of a sub-
committee shall, subject to any directions given by the Committee, be determined 
by the sub-committee. 
 
14 Notices of meetings All notices of meetings of the Committee and of any sub-
committee thereof shall be sent to the respective members at least seven clear 
days before the date of the meeting. 
 
FINANCE 
 
15 The expenses of the Committee, excluding any necessary travelling or 
subsistence expenses incurred by the members, shall be shared equally by the two 
sides. 
 
ARBITRATION 
 
16 In the event of a dispute over terms and conditions of employment arising 
between the two sides of the Committee on any matter of general application to 
staff or of application to particular classes of staff, the dispute shall, at the request 
of either side, be reported to the Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service by 
the Joint Secretaries with a request that the matter be referred for settlement by 
arbitration.  The arbitration award shall be accepted by the two sides, and shall 
be treated as though it were an agreement between the two sides. 
 
AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTION 
 
17 Alterations in the Constitution of the Committee shall be made as follows: 
 
a in paragraph 3 of this Constitution any change to the organisations represented 
on each Side, shall be a matter for each Side to determine. 
 
b all other clauses can only be changed with the assent of both Sides. 
 

Tudalen 237



201

PART 2 – CONDITIONS OF SERVICE 
  
1. APPLICATION OF TERMS AND CONDITIONS GENERALLY 
 
 A chief officer shall enjoy terms and conditions in other respects not less 
favourable than those accorded to other employees of the local authority. Where 
terms and conditions are not specified locally, ‘Green Book’ provisions shall apply. 
Such terms and conditions may include: 
 
Adoption Scheme 
Car Allowances 
Continuous Service 
Grievance 
Health, Safety & Welfare 
Maternity / Paternity Scheme 
Reimbursement of Expenditure 
Sickness Scheme 
Training & Development 
 
2. QUESTIONS OF INTERPRETATION 
 
 Any questions concerning the interpretation of the paragraphs of this booklet shall 
be referred to the Joint Secretaries who if necessary, may agree to refer it to the 
Joint Negotiating Committee for determination. 
 
3. PERIODS OF NOTICE TO TERMINATE EMPLOYMENT 
 
 The period of notice on either side will normally be three months, but this can be 
changed by mutual agreement. 
 
4. ANNUAL LEAVE 
 
 The chief officer shall be entitled to a minimum of 30 days’ annual leave (in 
addition to statutory and other public holidays but inclusive of any long service 
leave, extra statutory and local holidays). In exceptional circumstances and by 
mutual agreement annual leave may be carried forward to the next leave year. 
 
5. HONORARIUM PAYMENTS 
 
 A local authority may consider granting an honorarium (of an amount dependent 
upon the circumstances of each case) to an officer within purview of this 
Committee who performs duties outside the scope of his/her post over an 
extended period.  
 
6. RELOCATION EXPENSES 
 
 In the case of officers being relocated it is the practice of some authorities to 
contribute towards the approved costs of removal 

Tudalen 238



202

expenses and of other incidental expenses reasonably attributable to the removal; 
it would be in the best interests of local government and facilitate movement of 
officers if this practice were more widely followed. 
 
7.  SETTING REMUNERATION LEVELS 
 
7.1 The Localism Act 2011 requires local authorities to produce and publish a pay 
policy statement. According to the Act and statutory guidance published in 2012 
and 2013, the statement should include the local authority’s policy on specific 
aspects of chief officers’ remuneration: remuneration on recruitment, increases 
and additions to remuneration, use of performance-related pay and bonuses, 
termination payments, and transparency arrangements. It should also set out the 
approach to be adopted towards pay dispersion, (i.e. differentials). In addition, 
the Local Government Transparency Code 2015 requires local authorities to 
publish the differential between the taxable benefits of senior managers and the 
median taxable earnings figure for the local authority’s whole workforce, and 
details of senior employee salaries (above £50,000), names (with the option for 
individuals to refuse to consent for their name to be published), job descriptions, 
responsibilities, budgets and numbers of staff. 
 
7.2 In this context it is essential for good governance that local authorities can 
demonstrate that decisions on pay and reward packages for chief officers have 
been made in an open and accountable way.   
 
7.3 One option is for a local authority to establish a remuneration committee. The 
establishment of a remuneration committee is of course optional and different 
models may well suit individual authorities. What is clear though is that more than 
lip service must be paid to the notion of providing a verifiable and accountable 
process for recommending the remuneration level of the most highly-paid officials. 
 
7.4  The issues that local authorities will need to consider if they set up such a 
committee are set out at Appendix 3 of the JNC Conditions of Service Handbook 
for local authority Chief Executives. 
 
8. PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL 
 
8.1 Chief officers’ responsibilities and accountabilities should be set out in writing 
at the appointment stage. Where this has not been done at the appointment 
stage it should be agreed with the individual officer concerned prior to the 
implementation of the performance appraisal scheme. Subsequently, there 
should be an annual process of performance appraisal linked to those 
responsibilities and accountabilities. 
 
8.2 The performance appraisal process is separate from any scheme relating to 
either pay or performance related pay. 

Tudalen 239



203

8.3 The performance appraisal process should involve the setting of both general 
and specific objectives for the year ahead and the review of performance in 
achieving previously set objectives. The focus of the process should be on clarifying 
what the chief officer will be expected to achieve and on identifying any 
continuing personal development needs to maintain a high level of performance. 
 
8.4 The authority will provide training for all parties involved in the process, including 
elected members if involved. 
 
8.5 The setting of objectives should be by consensus between the chief officer and 
his/her line manager, and/or the chief executive, and if desired an appropriate 
elected member. The result of the performance appraisal process will be to 
identify agreed objectives that are relevant and challenging but achievable and 
realistic in the light of available resources and time.  (Joint Secretaries guidance 
on appraisal of chief officers is set out in full at Annex 1)  
 
9. RESTRICTIONS ON RE-EMPLOYMENT 
 
9.1 After termination of the chief officer’s employment he/she: 
 
a will not divulge any information to any third party which is confidential to the 
authority. 
 
b will not, without the consent of the authority, which will not unreasonably be 
withheld, within a period of 12 months take up employment with or provide 
services for reward to any body: 
 
i if during the chief officer’s last two years of employment with the authority the 
officer has been directly involved in transactions with that body for which the offer 
of employment or provision of services could reasonably be regarded as a reward 
 
ii which is likely to benefit from commercially sensitive information which is known 
to the chief officer by virtue of his/her past employment by the authority. 
 
9.2 These provisions would not apply if the termination of employment with the 
local authority arose as the result of redundancy or the externalisation of work and 
consequent transfer to a new employer. 
 
10. SALARY 
 
 The salary paid to a chief officer will be that determined by the employing local 
authority. Salaries shall be deemed to be inclusive, and all other fees and 
emoluments, unless they are covered by Paragraph 11 or the authority expressly 
agrees that they shall be 

Tudalen 240



204

retained by the officer, shall be paid by the officer into the local authority’s 
accounts. 
 
11. RETURNING OFFICER FEES 
 
 The chief officer shall be entitled to receive and retain the personal fees arising 
from such of the duties of returning officer, acting returning officer, deputy 
returning officer or deputy acting returning officer and similar positions as he or she 
performs subject to the payment of pension contributions thereon, where 
appropriate, unless a specific term has been included in the chief officer’s 
contract referring to alternative arrangements. 
 
12. OFFICIAL CONDUCT 
 
12.1 The public is entitled to demand of a local government officer conduct of the 
highest standard. 
 
12.2 An officer’s off-duty hours are his/her personal concern but he/she should not 
subordinate his/her duty to his/her private interests nor put himself/herself in a 
position where his/her duty and his/her private interests conflict, or where public 
confidence in the conduct of the authority’s business would be weakened. 
 
12.3 Officers within purview of this Committee shall devote their whole-time service 
to the work of the local authority and shall not engage in any other business or 
take up any other additional appointment without the express consent of the local 
authority. 
 
12.4 An officer shall not be required to advise any political group of the local 
authority, either as to the work of the group or as to the work of the local authority, 
neither shall he/she be required to attend any meetings of any political group. This 
shall be without prejudice to any arrangements to the contrary which may be 
made in agreement with any officer and which includes adequate safeguards to 
preserve the political neutrality of the officer in relation to the affairs of the local 
authority. 
 
12.5 No officer shall communicate to the public the proceedings of any committee 
meeting nor the contents of any document relating to the authority which in either 
case is regarded by the authority as confidential unless required by law or expressly 
authorised to do so. 
 
12.6 If it comes to the knowledge of an officer that a contract in which he/she has 
any pecuniary interest, whether direct or indirect (not being a contract to which 
he/she is himself/herself a party), has been or is proposed to be, entered into by 
the authority, he/she shall, as soon as practicable, given notice in writing to the 
chief executive of the authority of the fact that he/she is interested therein.  
(Attention is 

Tudalen 241



205

drawn to the provisions of the Local Government Act 1972 Section117). 
 
12.7 Information concerning an officer’s private affairs shall not be supplied to any 
person unless the consent of such officer is first obtained. 
 
 PART 3 - DISCIPLINE, CAPABILITY AND REDUNDANCY 
 
1. SPECIFIC STATUTORY OFFICERS 
 
1.1 Where disciplinary action against the Monitoring Officer or s151 Officer or, in 
Wales, the Head of Democratic Services is contemplated, the Local Authorities 
(Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 (as amended by the Local 
Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2015) in 
England, and the Local Authorities Standing Orders (Wales) Regulations 2006 in 
Wales, provide a degree of protection for these officers against unwarranted 
political interference in their statutory role within local authorities. 
 
1.2 (England) Paragraph 13 and 13A and Appendix 5A of the Conditions of Service 
Handbook of the Joint Negotiating Committee for Local Authority Chief 
Executives, which give effect to these statutory requirements, can be used as a 
reference guide in circumstances where disciplinary action against the Monitoring 
Officer or s151 Officer is contemplated. 
 
1.3  (Wales)  Paragraph 13 and 13B and Appendix 5B of the Conditions of Service 
Handbook of the Joint Negotiating Committee for Local Authority Chief 
Executives, which give effect to these statutory requirements, can be used as a 
reference guide in circumstances where disciplinary action against the Head of 
Democratic Services is contemplated. 
 
2. CHIEF OFFICERS OTHER THAN SPECIFIC STATUTORY OFFICERS 
 
2.1      The size and structure of local authorities varies greatly and it is therefore 
difficult to set out single disciplinary and capability procedures which would fit all 
authorities. However, authorities will have local procedures to deal with such issues. 
 
2.2      In general, informal conciliation is to be preferred to formal disciplinary and 
capability procedures if it can bring about a mutually agreed solution to the 
problems that have arisen. Such solutions should make it clear what specific 
changes in behaviour and/or performance are expected and within what 
timescales. However, provision is required to undertake more formal action where 
necessary. 
 
2.3      The principles of natural justice and good management practice must 
govern the conduct of any proceedings against a chief officer on the grounds of 
either alleged misconduct (i.e. ‘discipline’) or an alleged inability to carry out their 
role (i.e. ‘capability’). Authorities should have full regard to the principles and 
standards set out in the ACAS Code of Practice on Disciplinary Procedures. 
 

Tudalen 242



206

2.4  A particular consideration for Chief Officers is that the procedures must take 
account of an officer’s position in the hierarchy when determining who conducts 
investigations, undertakes disciplinary/capability hearings taking any appropriate 
action and who hears appeals. Depending on the structure of the authority and 
the circumstances of the case these functions should normally be undertaken by 
officers as appropriate but in some cases may require a committee of members 
to be involved in hearings or appeals. 
 
2.5 Where the chief officer’s continuing presence at work compromises an 
investigation or impairs the efficient exercise of the local authority’s functions, the 
chief officer may (subject to whatever consultation or approval may be required 
under the authority’s standing orders) be suspended from duty. The Council, or 
appropriate committee or senior officer, acting under delegated powers, may 
carry out such suspension on full pay. Written notice stating the reasons for any 
such suspension shall be given at the earliest opportunity possible. 
 
2.6 Suspension protocols regarding communication and matters such as annual 
leave and sickness should be agreed. The necessity for the chief officer to remain 
suspended should be reviewed at regular intervals and where possible lengthy 
periods of suspension should be avoided. 
 
2.7   In England, where an authority operates a mayor or leader cabinet executive 
system and as a result of disciplinary proceedings there is a recommendation to 
dismiss, they should check whether the executive objections procedure set out in 
schedule 1, part I, paragraph 6 and part II, paragraph 6 of the Local Authorities 
(Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 applies, and if so ensure it is followed 
before the chief officer is dismissed.   
 
2.8 Where the chief officer in question is a Director of Public Health in England then 
the authority should ensure that it complies with section 73A of the National Health 
Act 2006, which provides that before terminating the appointment of its Director 
of Public Health, a local authority must consult the Secretary of State for Health. 
Further information on this is available in the Department of Health’s guidance, 
Directors of Public Health in Local Government: Roles, responsibilities and context. 
 
2.9      The Joint Secretaries (or their representatives) are available to act in an 
impartial conciliation role, whether formal or informal if required to do so by the 
local parties. 
 
3. REDUNDANCY 
 
3.1 Employing authorities should consult with any chief officer affected at the 
earliest possible stage when there is a suggestion that the chief officer’s post might 
be abolished or proposed for abolition. 

Tudalen 243

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/213007/DsPH-in-local-government-i-roles-and-responsibilities.pdf


207

 
3.2 If after such consultation a proposal is formulated to abolish the chief officer’s 
post, and that is part of a proposal to dismiss 20 or more employees from one 
establishment within 90 days the procedure of Section 188 of the Trade Union and 
Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992, requiring consultation with trade unions, 
should be followed, the required statutory information being sent to the chief 
officer and to each independent trade union recognised by the employers for 
collective bargaining purposes for the chief officer. Where the provisions of the Act 
do not apply in any event a period of not less than twenty-eight days should be 
allowed for the individual consultation process. The chief officer and a trade union 
representative should also be afforded an opportunity of making oral 
representations to the Committee or Council meeting concerned before a final 
decision is made. 
 
3.3 If following such consultations the authority decide that the post must 
nevertheless be abolished, the officer should be offered any suitable alternative 
employment that may be available or which may become available in 
consequence of the re-organisation giving rise to the abolition of the chief officer’s 
post. 
 
3.4 The authority should also bear in mind the possible application of discretionary 
powers of premature retirement, and permissible enhancement of benefits or 
redundancy payments, and the possibilities of providing an alternative post or of 
extending the period of notice to assist the chief officer in finding other 
employment. 
 
3.5 Where the chief officer in question is a Director of Public Health in England then 
the authority should ensure that it complies with section 73A of the National Health 
Act 2006, which provides that before terminating the appointment of its Director 
of Public Health, a local authority must consult the Secretary of State for Health. 
Further information on this is available in the Department of Health’s guidance, 
Directors of Public Health in Local Government: Roles, responsibilities and context. 
 

Tudalen 244

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/213007/DsPH-in-local-government-i-roles-and-responsibilities.pdf


208

ANNEX 1 
 
JOINT GUIDANCE ON APPRAISAL OF THE CHIEF OFFICER 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 This guidance is intended for use by senior officers, elected members and the 
chief executive when agreeing a process for appraising the performance of the 
chief officer. The focus of this process should be on clarifying what the chief officer 
is expected to achieve and on identifying any continuing developmental needs 
which, if met, would maintain a high level of performance. The process of setting 
objectives should be by agreement and the result should be to identify objectives 
which are relevant and challenging but achievable. 

 
1.2 The process should not become complex. At all times it needs to focus clearly 
on a few basic issues: what the chief officer’s job is; what has been done well; what 
could have been done better; the major issues over the next year; and what 
developmental needs the process clearly identifies. 
 
2. RESPONSIBILITY FOR APPRAISAL 
 
2.1 The responsibility for appraising a chief officer lies primarily with their line 
manager and/or chief executive. It is a contractual obligation on the part of both 
the chief officer and the employing local authority to engage in a regular process 
of appraisal. 
 
2.2 It will be for local decision in the light of local circumstances whether the 
appraisal should include any input from elected members representing all political 
groups or by a senior representative or representatives of the controlling group. 
Whichever approach is adopted, those conducting the appraisal need to bear in 
mind at all times that the chief officer is employed by the local authority as a 
whole, not by the controlling group, and is therefore required to serve all of the 
local authority. 
 
3. AIMS OF APPRAISAL 
 
 To identify and clarify the key objectives, priorities and targets of the local 
authority and appropriate timescales for their achievement over the next (e.g. 
twelve) months 
 
 Agree what the chief officer should personally achieve over the next (e.g. 
twelve) months and identify required standards of performance, in order to help 
deliver the local authority’s key objectives, priorities and targets. Wherever possible 
standards of performance should be expressed in ways which can be monitored 
objectively 

 Discuss positive achievements over the past (e.g. twelve) months and identify 
reasons for good performance 

Tudalen 245



209

 
 Discuss instances over the past (e.g. twelve) months where targets have not 
been met, identifying the factors preventing the achievements of agreed goals 

 
 Discuss developmental requirements. The chief officer will have strengths and 
weaknesses and the parties should identify the professional development 
necessary to equip the chief officer with the requisite skills to meet the local 
authority’s objectives. The parties should be proactive and anticipate future 
developmental needs in the context of the local authority’s changing priorities. 
This discussion could lead to the design of a formal programme of continuous 
professional development (CPD). Equally this discussion may lead to agreement 
on changes to the working relationship between the chief officer and the chief 
executive.  It should not be assumed that it is only the chief officer who may need 
to adjust his / her approach to the working relationship 

 
3.1 Appraisal should be set in the context of the local authority’s objectives, 
priorities and targets, generally expressed in corporate plans. Appraisal targets 
when taken as a whole should be related to agreed targets for the local authority 
as a whole. 
 
4. THE APPRAISAL CYCLE 
 
 Appraisal should take place on a predetermined date, at least annually, backed 
up by regular monitoring meetings at which targets can be reviewed for 
continuing relevance. A formal system of appraisal should not prevent the 
continuous review of progress and performance. 
 
5. KEY ELEMENTS OF THE APPRAISAL PROCESS 
 
 Continuous two-way monitoring of performance against objectives 

 
 Preparation for an appraisal interview 

 
 An appraisal interview where recent and current performance, future objectives 
and development needs are discussed 

 
 Agreement on action required from either party to ensure required performance 
is achievable 

 
 A continuing process of informal discussion regarding performance 

 

Tudalen 246



210

6. THE APPRAISAL INTERVIEW AND AFTERWARDS 

 
 Both parties should be well informed and prepared for the interview 

 
 The process should be two-way 

 
 The interview should be free from interruptions, and notes should be taken when 
necessary 

 
 The parties should concentrate as far as possible on established facts rather than 
unsubstantiated opinions 

 
 Targets which are realistic and capable of being monitored should be agreed 

 
 Any agreed personal development plans should be implemented within the 
agreed timescale 

 
 The chief officer should be given a reasonable opportunity to correct any 
shortfalls in performance 

 
 A date for the next review should be agreed 

 
7. OTHER MATTERS 
 
 The detailed content of appraisal interviews should normally be treated as 
confidential to the participants, unless both parties agree that it would be helpful 
for the targets agreed for the ensuing period to be shared more widely. However, 
it may be useful to report to an appropriate committee meeting that an appraisal 
interview has taken place. 

Tudalen 247



211

Datganiad 
Ysgrifenedig 
o Fanylion

Appendix M – Sample Written Statement of Particulars

Statement 
of Particulars

Tudalen 248



212

Annwyl Gydweithiwr

Yn y ddogfen hon cyfeirir at weithwyr sydd o fewn cwmpas cyfrifoldeb corff 
llywodraethu ysgol fel "gweithwyr ysgol". Nid yw'r term hwn yn cynnwys staff arlwyo a 
glanhau sy'n gweithio mewn ysgolion, ond a gyflogir yn uniongyrchol gan y Cyngor. 

MAN GWAITH

Cadarnheir eich gweithle dynodedig ar gyfer y swydd hon ar ffurflen TOE. 

Mae'r Awdurdod yn cadw'r hawl i newid eich man gwaith gan bennu unrhyw fan 
gwaith yn ardal y Cyngor, yn unol ag anghenion y gwasanaeth, heb roi tâl am unrhyw 
amser teithio ychwanegol, cyhyd ag y rhoddir rhybudd priodol ichi ynghylch gofyniad 
o'r fath.

Os ydych wedi'ch cyflogi fel gweithiwr teithiol, nid oes gennych fan gwaith sefydlog.  
Cyfeiriad y Cyngor yw Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin SA31 1JP. 

Mae Gwasanaeth Gofal Cartref Cyngor Sir Caerfyrddin yn gweithredu ledled y sir ac 
rydych yn cael eich cyflogi i weithio gyda'n pobl i gyd ym mhob rhan o'r sir yn ôl yr 
angen.

Gweithwyr Ysgol

Mae'r llywodraethwyr yn cadw'r hawl i ofyn eich bod yn gweithio ar unrhyw ran o 
safle cyfredol yr ysgol neu ei safle yn y dyfodol, gan gynnwys ar safleoedd ysgol 
ychwanegol o dan drefniadau Cydweithio neu Ffedereiddio yn unol ag anghenion y 
gwasanaeth, heb dderbyn tâl am unrhyw amser teithio ychwanegol, cyhyd ag y 
rhoddir rhybudd priodol i chi ynghylch gofyniad o'r fath.

STATWS CYFLOGEDIG 

Cadarnheir eich statws cyflogedig ar ffurflen ToE1.

Os ydych wedi eich cyflogi dros dro neu am gyfnod penodol, cadarnheir hynny ar 
ffurflen TOE. Bydd y penodiad yn dod i ben ar y dyddiad a nodir ar ffurflen ToE1 am 
y rheswm a bennir ar ffurflen TOE neu pan fydd deilydd y swydd yn dychwelyd at ei 
(d)dyletswyddau, p'un bynnag fydd yn digwydd gyntaf.

Tudalen 249



213

Fodd bynnag, gall y naill ochr neu’r llall ddod â’r penodiad hwn i ben cyn y dyddiad a 
nodir neu cyn i’r hyn y cyfeirir ato uchod ddigwydd ar yr amod bod y rhybudd priodol 
yn cael ei roi.  

Mae gennych hawl i apelio yn erbyn terfynu contract dros dro neu gyfnod penodol.  
Dylid cyflwyno'r apêl yn ysgrifenedig lle bynnag y bo modd, gan nodi'r sail ar gyfer yr 
apêl a sicrhau ei fod yn cael ei derbyn o leiaf 7 niwrnod cyn y dyddiad terfynu. Dylid 
cyfeirio'r apêl at y Prif Weithredwr Cynorthwyol (Rheoli Pobl), Adeilad 14, Parc Dewi 
Sant, Heol Ffynnon Job, Caerfyrddin SA31 3HB. 

Dylid cyfeirio apeliadau unrhyw weithwyr ysgol at Gadeirydd y corff llywodraethu.

CYFLOGAETH DDI-FWLCH

Bydd dyddiad dechrau eich gwasanaeth di-fwlch ym maes Llywodraeth Leol at 
ddibenion rhai hawliau cyflogaeth statudol penodol (h.y. lwfansau salwch, hawl i 
wyliau blynyddol) yn unol â'r hyn a nodir ar ffurflen TOE.
Bydd hyn yn cynnwys unrhyw wasanaeth di-fwlch blaenorol gydag unrhyw gorff a 
gwmpesir gan Orchmynion Taliadau Colli Swydd (Parhad Cyflogaeth ym maes 
Llywodraeth Leol ac ati) (Addasiad) 1999, neu unrhyw ddeddfwriaeth wellhaol 
ddilynol, sy'n cwmpasu awdurdodau lleol a chyrff cysylltiedig. 

 

CYFNOD PRAWF (Ac eithrio gweithwyr ysgol)  

Os ydych yn ymuno â gwasanaeth y Cyngor, mae'r penodiad yn destun cyfnod prawf 
o 6 mis o leiaf. Yn achos gweithwyr cymdeithasol newydd gymhwyso a rhai 
gweithwyr gofal plant bydd y cyfnod prawf yn 12 mis o leiaf. Yn ystod y cyfnod prawf 
hwn, caiff eich perfformiad ei fonitro’n ofalus ac asesir a ydych yn addas ar gyfer y 
swydd.  Parheir i’ch cyflogi ar yr amod bod yr adroddiadau hyn yn foddhaol.  Os 
derbynnir adroddiadau anffafriol ar unrhyw adeg yn ystod y cyfnod prawf, gall y 
Cyngor derfynu’ch contract trwy roi’r cyfnod o rybudd sy’n ddyledus i chi. Cyfeiriwch 
at y Polisi Rheoli Gweithwyr sydd ar Gyfnod Prawf (sydd ar gael ar gais) i gael rhagor 
o fanylion.

Tudalen 250



214

TELERAU AC AMODAU CYFLOGAETH 

Bydd eich telerau a'ch amodau cyflogaeth yn unol â chydgytundebau a gyd-drafodir 
ac a newidir o bryd i'w gilydd gan y corff cyd-drafod/llywodraethu, fel y nodwyd ar 
ffurflen TOE, a dylid eu darllen ochr yn ochr â'r paragraff priodol isod.

Y Cyd-Gyngor Cenedlaethol ar gyfer Gwasanaethau Llywodraeth Leol 
(NJCCCC)

Bydd eich telerau a’ch amodau cyflogaeth yn unol â chydgytundebau a gyd-drafodir 
ac a newidir o bryd i’w gilydd gan y Cyd-gyngor Cenedlaethol ar gyfer Gwasanaethau 
Llywodraeth Leol ac a nodir yn y Cytundeb Cenedlaethol ynghylch Cyflogau ac 
Amodau Gwasanaeth, peirianwaith cyd-drafod Cyngor Cyswllt Cymru, a Rheolau 
Sefydlog, rheolau a phenderfyniadau’r Cyngor, a’r cydgytundebau lleol â’r Undebau 
Llafur sy’n cael eu cydnabod gan y Cyngor.  Mae copïau o'r dogfennau hyn ar gael 
i'w harchwilio gan eich Prif Swyddog neu gan is-adran Rheoli Pobl y Prif Weithredwr, 
adeilad 14, Parc Dewi Sant, Heol Ffynnon Job Caerfyrddin, SA31 3HB neu ar 
fewnrwyd y Cyngor.

Y Cyd-gyngor Cyd-drafod ar gyfer Gweithwyr Ieuenctid a Chymunedol 
(Y&CWSC)

Bydd eich telerau a’ch amodau cyflogaeth yn unol â chydgytundebau a gyd-drafodir 
ac a newidir o bryd i’w gilydd gan y Cyd-gyngor Cenedlaethol ar gyfer Gweithwyr 
Ieuenctid a Chymunedol ac a nodir yn y Cytundeb Cenedlaethol ynghylch Cyflogau 
ac Amodau Gwasanaeth, peirianwaith cyd-drafod Cyngor Cyswllt Cymru, a Rheolau 
Sefydlog, rheolau a phenderfyniadau’r Cyngor, a’r cydgytundebau lleol gyda’r 
Undebau Llafur sy’n cael eu cydnabod gan y Cyngor.  Mae copïau o’r dogfennau hyn 
ar gael i’w harchwilio oddi wrth eich Prif Swyddog neu o Is-adran Rheoli Pobl Adran y 
Prif Weithredwr, Adeilad 14, Parc Dewi Sant, Heol Ffynnon Job, Caerfyrddin SA31 
3HB, neu ar fewnrwyd y Cyngor

Pwyllgor Soulbury (SOULB-SC)

Bydd eich telerau a'ch amodau cyflogaeth yn unol â'r cydgytundebau a gyd-drafodir 
ac a newidir o bryd i'w gilydd gan Bwyllgor Soulbury ac a nodir yn adroddiad Pwyllgor 
Soulbury ynghylch Graddfeydd Cyflogau ac Amodau Gwasanaeth Gweithwyr 
Proffesiynol ym maes Gwella Addysg, Seicolegwyr Addysg a Rheolwyr 
Gwasanaethau Ieuenctid/Cymunedol.

Tudalen 251



215

Bydd telerau ac amodau cyflogaeth ychwanegol yn unol â'r cydgytundebau a gyd-
drafodir ac a newidir o bryd i’w gilydd gan y Cyd-gyngor Cenedlaethol ar gyfer 
Gwasanaethau Llywodraeth Leol ac a nodir yn y Cytundeb Cenedlaethol ynghylch 
Cyflogau ac Amodau Gwasanaeth, peirianwaith cyd-drafod Cyngor Cyswllt Cymru, a 
Rheolau Sefydlog, rheolau a phenderfyniadau’r Cyngor, a’r cydgytundebau lleol â’r 
Undebau Llafur sy’n cael eu cydnabod gan y Cyngor.  Mae copïau o'r dogfennau hyn 
ar gael i'w harchwilio oddi wrth eich Prif Swyddog neu o Is-adran Rheoli Pobl Adran y 
Prif Weithredwr, Adeilad 14, Parc Dewi Sant, Heol Ffynnon Job, Caerfyrddin SA31 
3HB, os nad oes modd arall ichi weld copi ohonynt. 

Y Cyd-gyngor Cenedlaethol ar gyfer Prif Swyddogion Awdurdodau Lleol (CO-
SC)

Bydd eich amodau gwasanaeth yn unol ag amodau'r Cyd-gyngor Cenedlaethol ar 
gyfer Prif Swyddogion Awdurdodau Lleol, ac ychwanegiadau atynt yn sgil 
penderfyniadau lleol.

DEDDF MEWNFUDO, LLOCHES A CHENEDLIGRWYDD 2006 

Mae eich cyflogaeth yn amodol ar y cyfyngiadau a roddwyd ar eich hawl i barhau yn y 
DU a'r gofynion statudol i gydymffurfio â Deddf Mewnfudo, Lloches a Chenedligrwydd 
2006 a Chodau Ymarfer Asiantaeth Ffiniau'r DU. Bydd eich cyflogaeth barhaus felly 
yn cael ei hadolygu, ac yn dibynnu ar a fyddwch yn sicrhau caniatâd dilys yn y dyfodol 
i aros yn y DU ac i gyflawni'r math o waith sy'n cael ei gynnig ar hyn o bryd.  

TÂL 

Nodir pa mor aml y cewch eich talu a'ch grŵp tâl ar ffurflen TOE, y dylid ei darllen 
ochr yn ochr â'r paragraffau priodol isod.

Gweithwyr a delir bob pedair wythnos  (Grwpiau Tâl 9, 16) 

Ôl-delir eich cyflog bob pedair wythnos trwy gredyd banc i gyfrif banc o’ch dewis.  

Gweithwyr a delir yn fisol (Grŵp Tâl 11)

Ôl-delir eich cyflog ichi ar y 27ain o bob mis yn gynhwysol o fis Ionawr i fis Tachwedd 
(neu ar y diwrnod gwaith agosaf os yw'r 27ain ar y penwythnos neu ar Ŵyl Banc). 

Tudalen 252



216

Dyddiad taliad mis Rhagfyr fydd y 24ain neu'r diwrnod bancio olaf cyn 25ain Rhagfyr.  
Telir y cyflog drwy gredyd banc i gyfrif banc o'ch dewis chi.

Gweithwyr a delir yn fisol (Grŵp Tâl 15)

Ôl-delir eich cyflog ichi ar ddiwrnod gwaith olaf pob mis. Fodd bynnag, os bydd 
diwrnod gwaith olaf y mis yn ddydd Llun neu'n ddydd Mawrth, cewch eich talu ar y 
dydd Gwener blaenorol. Telir y cyflog drwy gredyd banc i gyfrif banc o'ch dewis chi.

Bydd eich cyflog cychwynnol y flwyddyn a’ch graddfa gyflog/gradd fel y nodir ar 
ffurflen  TOE.

Lle bo hynny’n briodol, bydd eich cyflog yn codi o fewn y radd mewn cynyddrannau 
blynyddol hyd at bwynt uchaf y radd. Telir unrhyw gynyddrannau ar 1af Ebrill bob 
blwyddyn ac eithrio yn achos y gweithwyr hynny sy'n cychwyn ar eu dyletswyddau 
rhwng 2il Hydref a 31ain Mawrth mewn unrhyw flwyddyn, a fydd yn derbyn eu 
cynyddran cyflog cyntaf 6 mis ar ôl dechrau gweithio i'r Awdurdod. 

Tiwtoriaid

Bydd eich tâl yr awr am eich cyrsiau fel a nodir ar ffurflen ToE1.

Prif Swyddogion

Mae'r dilyniant ar hyd raddfa gynyddrannol y radd berthnasol yn amodol ar 
berfformiad boddhaol a asesir yn flynyddol. Nid yw'r Cyngor yn gwneud taliadau 
bonws nac ar sail perfformiad.

Gordaliadau

Os cewch eich gordalu am unrhyw reswm, bydd y swm a ordalwyd yn cael ei dynnu 
o daliad(au) cyflog dilynol neu unrhyw daliad arall sy’n ddyledus i chi oddi wrth y 
Cyngor; neu trwy anfoneb dyledwyr.  Awdurdodir adain y gyflogres i dynnu 10% o’ch 
cyflog misol gros i adennill y gordaliad. Bydd hyn yn parhau hyd nes y bydd y swm 
llawn wedi’i adennill. Os byddwch am ad-dalu symiau mwy, cysylltwch ag adain y 
gyflogres a fydd yn gwneud y trefniadau angenrheidiol ar eich rhan.  

ABSENOLDEB HEB EI AWDURDODI

Mae'r Awdurdod yn cadw'r hawl i wrthod talu neu i ddidynnu o gyflog dâl diwrnod am 
bob diwrnod o absenoldeb heb ei awdurdodi. Gwneir unrhyw benderfyniad ynghylch 
y mater hwn gan Bennaeth y Gwasanaeth / y Corff Llywodraethu  neu'r sawl a 

Tudalen 253



217

enwebir ganddo / ganddi. Gall absenoldeb heb ei awdurdodi arwain at gamau 
disgyblu.

ORIAU GWAITH  

Yr oriau swyddfa arferol yw dydd Llun i ddydd Iau 8.45 tan 17:00 a dydd Gwener 
8.45 tan 16.30. Bydd eich rheolwr llinell/Pennaeth yr ysgol yn darparu eich patrwm 
gwaith a'ch oriau gwaith arferol fesul wythnos, heb gynnwys egwyl bwyd. Mae'r 
Awdurdod yn gweithredu ystod o wahanol batrymau shifftiau sydd yn cael eu 
datblygu ac, o bryd i'w gilydd, yn cael eu diwygio er mwyn diwallu anghenion y 
gwasanaeth. 
Mae eich oriau ar ddyletswydd i'w gweithio yn unol ag anghenion y gwasanaeth ac 
yn ôl cyfarwyddyd y Pennaeth / Cyfarwyddwr yr Adran neu'r sawl a enwebwyd i'w 
g/chynrychioli.

Prif Swyddogion

Dylid nod fod yr ystod gyflog yn rhoi ystyriaeth i'r ffaith na ellir cyflawni 
dyletswyddau'r swydd hon yn foddhaol yn ystod wythnos waith sefydlog a bod yn 
rhaid gweithio rhai oriau anghymdeithasol er mwyn cyflawni'r dyletswyddau'n briodol. 

Gyrwyr

Rhaid i yrwyr gymryd seibiannau di-dâl yn unol â rheolau’r Undeb Ewropeaidd ac 
AETR ynghylch oriau gyrwyr.

Gweithwyr yn ystod y tymor

Os yw natur eich rôl yn gofyn eich bod wedi'ch cyflogi i weithio yn ystod y tymor yn 
unig, bydd gofyn eich bod yn gweithio wythnosau yn ystod y tymor, gan gynnwys 
diwrnodau HMS.  Mae nifer yr wythnosau ac oriau tymor y byddwch yn eu gweithio 
bob wythnos yn unol â’r contract, heb gynnwys egwyliau prydau bwyd, fel y nodir ar 
ffurflen TOE.

Sylwer – os byddwch yn gweithio yn ystod wythnosau'r tymor yn unig, yr oriau 
contract a nodir ar eich TOE fydd eich union oriau gwaith wythnosol (gan gynnwys 
gwyliau gyda thâl), wedi eu nodi ar gyfartaledd ar draws blwyddyn gyfan, er mwyn 
eich galluogi i dderbyn taliadau cyflog cyfartal ar hyd y flwyddyn. Telir lwfans o 4% ar 
ben y cyflog sylfaenol i gydnabod bod y gwaith yn ystod y tymor yn unig.  Mae'r 
lwfans hwn yn daladwy i'r aelodau hynny o’r staff yn unig sy’n gweithio yn ystod y 
tymor mewn ysgolion neu lle bo’r gwaith yn gyfyngedig i’r tymor. Cynhwysir y 4% yn 
y cyfrifiadau cyflog at ddibenion salwch a gwyliau blynyddol.  

Tudalen 254



218

Tiwtoriaid

Mae oriau gwaith y contract yn amrywiol. Bydd yr oriau a bennir bob tymor neu 
flwyddyn academaidd yn dibynnu ar amrywiol ffactorau: amgylchiadau lleol, nifer y 
myfyrwyr sy'n cofrestru, y cyrsiau a gynigir ac ystyriaethau'n ymwneud â'r gyllideb. 
Bydd eich wythnos waith arferol yn seiliedig ar anghenion pob cwrs a gall amrywio yn 
ôl anghenion y cwrs a'r adeg o'r flwyddyn.

Os bydd nifer y myfyrwyr sy'n mynychu'r cwrs yn gostwng yn is na'r hyn sy'n 
dderbyniol gan arwain at ganslo'r dosbarth, ni chewch eich talu ar ôl dyddiad y 
dosbarth olaf a gynhaliwyd. Yr Awdurdod fydd yn penderfynu pa gyrsiau a ddarperir 
ac unrhyw newidiadau.

Gwasanaethau Gofal Cartref

Mae oriau gwaith y contract wedi eu seilio ar rota gylchol, sydd yn cael ei chyfrifo yn 
unol ag anghenion y gwasanaeth, heb gynnwys egwyliau prydau bwyd. I gyflawni 
eich rhwymedigaethau o dan y contract, mae’n rhaid ichi dderbyn yr oriau gwaith a 
gynigiwyd ar eich dyddiau gwaith ar y rota.

Staff Arlwyo

Er mwyn darparu ar gyfer yr amrywiad yn nifer y prydau a ddarperir/yr incwm a 
gynhyrchir, gellir amrywio oriau'r contract. Bydd y Rheolwr Arlwyo yn rhoi gwybod am 
unrhyw ostyngiad neu gynnydd yn yr oriau, gan roi wythnos o rybudd, ac yn eu 
gweithredu'n unol â hynny. 

Staff Cynorthwyydd Teithwyr 
Er mwyn diwallu'r amrywiad yn nifer y plant sy'n cael eu cludo, gallai oriau'r contract 
amrywio. Bydd Rheolwr y Rhwydwaith yn rhoi gwybod am unrhyw ostyngiadau neu 
gynnydd yn yr oriau gydag un wythnos o rybudd a byddant yn cael eu gweithredu yn 
unol â hynny.
Os byddwch yn gadael eich swydd ran o'r ffordd drwy'r flwyddyn, gwneir cyfrifiad i 
sicrhau nad ydych wedi derbyn gormod neu ddim digon o dâl. Gwneir unrhyw 
addasiad angenrheidiol yn eich pecyn cyflog olaf.

Contract Oriau Blynyddol (yn berthnasol i weithwyr sydd yn gweithio yn ôl patrwm 
busnes brig cytunedig yn unig)

Tudalen 255



219

Mae oriau gwaith eich contract yr wythnos ar gyfartaledd, heb gynnwys egwyliau 
prydau bwyd, fel y nodir ar ffurflen TOE. Bydd yr oriau gwaith a gadarnheir gan 
drefniadau gwaith cytunedig yr Adran wedi eu llunio i ddarparu ar gyfer anghenion y 
busnes yn ystod cyfnodau'r haf a'r gaeaf. Bydd gofyn i chi weithio mwy o oriau yn 
ystod cyfnod yr haf, a llai o oriau yn ystod cyfnod y gaeaf. Eich Prif Swyddog fydd yn 
penderfynu ynghylch caniatáu oriau gweithio hyblyg neu beidio. Caiff goramser ei 
dalu’n unol ag amodau’r Cyd-gyngor Cenedlaethol ar gyfer yr holl oriau a weithir dros 
yr uchafswm penodedig a gytunwyd am gyfnod yr Haf a’r uchafswm penodedig a 
gytunwyd ar gyfer cyfnod y Gaeaf. 

Os byddwch yn gadael eich swydd ran o'r ffordd drwy'r flwyddyn, gwneir cyfrifiad i 
sicrhau nad ydych wedi derbyn gormod neu ddim digon o dâl. Gwneir unrhyw 
addasiad angenrheidiol yn eich pecyn cyflog olaf.

Cysgu i mewn

Mae gan weithwyr y mae’n ofynnol iddynt ‘gysgu i mewn’ ar y safle, hawl i gael y 
lwfans a nodir yng Nghylchlythyr y Cyd-gyngor Cenedlaethol ynghylch Lwfansau. 
Mae'r lwfans cysgu i mewn yn cwmpasu'r rheidrwydd i gysgu i mewn ynghyd ag 
ymateb i alwad am hyd at 30 munud yn ystod y nos. Os yw'n ofynnol i unigolyn 
weithio am fwy na 30 munud bydd yn cael ei gyfradd arferol (ynghyd â goramser lle 
bo hynny'n berthnasol) gan gynnwys unrhyw dâl ychwanegol am weithio yn ystod y 
nos (lle bo hynny'n berthnasol). I fod yn gymwys i gael cyfradd amser a thraean am 
weithio yn ystod y nos, nid oes yn rhaid i'r tair awr a weithir yn ystod yr un sifft fod yn 
oriau olynol.

Gwaith nos

Gall staff sy'n gweithio isafswm o 3 awr o nosau effro rhwng 11pm a 6am fel rhan o'r 
wythnos waith arferol hawlio taliad uwch o amser a thraean am eu horiau sylfaenol. 

Gweithio ar y penwythnos  

I gydnabod gweithio ar y penwythnos, bydd ychwanegiad o 8% i’r cyflog sylfaenol am 
yr holl oriau a weithir yn cael ei dalu i ddeiliaid swyddi y mae’n ofynnol iddynt weithio 
o leiaf ddau ddiwrnod/shifft penwythnos ym mhob pedair wythnos fel rhan o’u patrwm 
gweithio arferol (yn rheolaidd/ar rota). Cynhwysir yr 8% yn y cyfrifiadau cyflog at 
ddibenion salwch a gwyliau blynyddol.  

Gwaith Wrth Gefn a Galw Allan

Lle bo natur y gwaith yn galw am gyflawni dyletswyddau ychwanegol y tu allan i'r 
oriau gwaith arferol, gall y Rheolwr Llinell drefnu rota wrth gefn yn unol ag anghenion 
y gwasanaeth. Rhaid bod modd cysylltu â gweithiwr wrth gefn bob amser yn ystod y 
cyfnod wrth gefn a nodwyd, a rhaid iddo/iddi fod yn barod, ac mewn cyflwr, i 
ddychwelyd i'r gwaith os bydd y sefyllfa yn galw am hynny. Hysbysir am unrhyw 
newidiadau i drefniadau wrth gefn contractiol o fewn un mis i'r newid. Bydd gweithwyr 

Tudalen 256



220

y mae gofyn iddynt gyflawni dyletswyddau wrth gefn yn derbyn tâl cytunedig yr 
Awdurdod ar gyfer gwaith wrth gefn am y sesiwn. Os cânt eu galw allan, bydd y 
cyfraddau arferol yr awr yn daladwy am yr oriau a weithiwyd, a hefyd gyfraddau 
uwch/goramser lle bo hynny'n briodol. 

Goramser/Gweithio y tu allan i Oriau Arferol

Yr oriau gwaith safonol llawn amser yw 37 awr yr wythnos. Ni fydd disgwyl i chi 
weithio goramser yn rheolaidd. Fodd bynnag, os bydd gofyn, ac os ydych wedi'ch 
awdurdodi i weithio dros ben yr oriau gwaith safonol ar gyfer wythnos, ac os bydd 
unrhyw waith o'r fath yn digwydd y tu allan i'r oriau gweithio hyblyg, gallwch dderbyn 
tâl amdanynt ar y gyfradd briodol ar gyfer goramser.

Os yw eich contract yn pennu oriau blynyddol neu waith ar rota dreigl, telir gordal am 
yr oriau gwaith a weithir dros ben y 37 awr ar gyfartaledd yng nghyfnod y contract.

 

Sylwer y bydd yr Awdurdod/y Corff Llywodraethu yn gweithredu'r Rheoliadau Amser 
Gweithio wrth ddyrannu oriau ychwanegol ac y bydd disgwyl i'r holl staff roi gwybod 
i'w Rheolwr Llinell/Pennaeth am waith ychwanegol a wnaed, gan gynnwys swyddi 
eraill a all fod ganddynt mewn adain arall o'r Awdurdod neu ymrwymiadau gwaith i 
gyrff eraill. 

Gweler y Côd Ymddygiad ynghylch hysbysu'r Awdurdod am Waith Cyflogedig arall 
(heb gynnwys staff ysgolion).

 

Yn achos yr holl oriau a weithir dros ben 37 awr yr wythnos mewn swydd benodol 
sydd wedi eu cymeradwyo ymlaen llaw gan eich Rheolwr Llinell / Pennaeth, telir 
ychwanegiad o 50% ar ben y gyfradd sylfaenol yr awr.

PENSIWN

Yn unol â'r Rheoliadau Cynllun Pensiwn Llywodraeth Leol, bydd pob gweithiwr 
newydd yn mynd yn aelod o'r Cynllun Pensiwn Llywodraeth Leol (LGPS) yn 
awtomatig. Os dymunwch ddewis peidio â bod yn aelod o'r Cynllun Pensiwn 
Llywodraeth Leol, mae Ffurflen Dewis Peidio â Bod yn Aelod ar gael ar wefan Cronfa 
Bensiwn Dyfed: www.cronfabensiwndyfed.org.uk. Neu cysylltwch â: Cronfa Bensiwn 
Dyfed, Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin SA31 1JP.

Tudalen 257

http://www.dyfedpensionfund.org.uk/


221

Dylech fod wedi cael Canllaw i Weithwyr ynghylch y Cynllun Pensiwn Llywodraeth 
Leol (LGPS) sy'n crynhoi manteision y cynllun pensiwn. Mae rhagor o fanylion ar 
gael ar wefan Cronfa Bensiwn Dyfed – www.cronfabensiwndyfed.org.uk.

Bydd eich cyfradd gyfrannu'n cael ei hasesu'n unol â'ch cyflog pensiynadwy 
gwirioneddol, fel y nodwyd ar y ffurflen TOE. 

Mae tablau'r bandiau pensiwn yn cael eu hadolygu'n rheolaidd ac o ganlyniad gallai 
eich band pensiwn gynyddu neu leihau'n awtomatig. Hefyd gallai eich band pensiwn 
gynyddu yn sgil codiad cyflog gan gynnwys unrhyw godiadau cyflog cynyddrannol. 
Bydd cyfraniadau pensiwn yn daladwy ar eich holl gyflog trethadwy.

GWYLIAU

Gweithwyr Ysgol A Gweithwyr Ieuenctid a Chymunedol

Bydd y flwyddyn wyliau yn weithredol o 1 Ebrill tan 31 Mawrth. Bydd gwyliau’r 
gweithwyr hynny sy’n dechrau neu’n gorffen gweithio yn ystod y flwyddyn yn dibynnu 
ar nifer y misoedd o wasanaeth a gwblhawyd yn ystod y flwyddyn honno. 

Tiwtoriaid Dysgu Cymunedol

Bydd y flwyddyn wyliau yn weithredol o 1 Medi tan 31 Awst. Bydd gwyliau’r 
gweithwyr hynny sy’n dechrau neu’n gorffen gweithio yn ystod y flwyddyn yn dibynnu 
ar nifer y misoedd o wasanaeth a gwblhawyd yn ystod y flwyddyn honno. 

Staff Arlwyo a Glanhau

Bydd y flwyddyn wyliau yn weithredol o 1 Ionawr tan 31 Rhagfyr. Bydd gwyliau’r 
gweithwyr hynny sy’n dechrau neu’n gorffen gweithio yn ystod y flwyddyn yn dibynnu 
ar nifer y misoedd o wasanaeth a gwblhawyd yn ystod y flwyddyn honno. Sylwer, yn 
achos ysgolion, nad yw gwyliau i gael eu cymryd yn ystod y tymor.

Yn achos pob gweithiwr arall

Bydd y flwyddyn wyliau yn weithredol o ddyddiad eich pen-blwydd. Bydd gan y 
gweithwyr hynny sy’n dechrau neu’n gorffen eu cyflogaeth yn ystod y flwyddyn hawl i 
dderbyn gwyliau sy'n gymesur â'u gwasanaeth yn ystod y flwyddyn honno.

Cyfrifir eich gwyliau blynyddol ar sail bob awr pro rata yn ystod y flwyddyn ar gyfer 
gweithwyr rhan amser. 

Tudalen 258

http://www.dyfedpensionfund.org.uk/


222

Bydd eich hawl i dderbyn gwyliau blynyddol yn ystod y flwyddyn wyliau hon ar sail 
pro rata; dylech drefnu cyfarfod â'ch rheolwr llinell/Pennaeth i gadarnhau’r hyn y 
gallwch ei hawlio. Gall fod gofyn i chi gymryd eich gwyliau blynyddol pan fydd eich 
sefydliad/gweithle ar gau ar gyfer cyfnodau penodol o wyliau, neu am unrhyw reswm 
arall, fel y bydd eich Rheolwr Llinell yn eich hysbysu.

Cyfrifir eich hawl i wyliau ar sail eich gwasanaeth di-fwlch, fel y nodir isod:

0 – 5 o flynyddoedd o wasanaeth            26 diwrnod                

5 – 10 o flynyddoedd o wasanaeth 31 diwrnod                

                   10 neu fwy o flynyddoedd o wasanaeth      34 diwrnod     

Gweithwyr Ieuenctid a Chymunedol

Cyfrifir eich hawl i wyliau ar sail eich gwasanaeth di-fwlch, fel y nodir isod:

 0 – 5 o flynyddoedd o wasanaeth 32 diwrnod                

5 neu fwy o flynyddoedd o wasanaeth 37 diwrnod                

Ni fydd gweithiwr yn derbyn tâl yn lle gwyliau contractiol a gronnwyd (a didynnir swm 
o’r cyflog lle bo hynny’n briodol) os terfynir swydd oherwydd camymddwyn difrifol neu 
os yw’r gweithiwr yn rhoi rhybudd annigonol i derfynu swydd, neu os yw’n gadael cyn 
diwedd y cyfnod contractiol. Ystyr gwyliau contractiol i’r dibenion hyn fydd pob 
gwyliau blynyddol a ddarperir yng nghontract y gweithiwr uwchlaw’r cyfnod gwyliau 
statudol sylfaenol a bennir yn Rheoliadau Amser Gweithio 1998 (h.y. 5.6 wythnos 
neu uchafswm o 28 niwrnod) oni bai bod eich Gwasanaeth/eich Pennaeth o’r farn 
bod amgylchiadau eithriadol wedi eich rhwystro rhag cymryd gwyliau.   

Os yw gweithwyr sy’n gadael gwasanaeth llywodraeth leol wedi cymryd mwy o 
ddiwrnodau o wyliau nag y mae ganddynt hawl iddynt yr adeg honno, tynnir tâl sy’n 
cyfateb i’r nifer hwnnw o ddyddiau o’u taliad cyflog olaf neu unrhyw daliad arall sy’n 
ddyledus gan yr Awdurdod.  

Dylech wneud cais am wyliau blynyddol i'ch rheolwr llinell/Pennaeth, ac mae'n 
amodol ar gytundeb yr Adran/Pennaeth.

Ar gyfer gweithwyr mewn sefydliadau sydd â chyfnodau gwyliau penodol.   

Tudalen 259



223

Bydd gofyn eich bod yn cymryd eich holl wyliau blynyddol pan fydd eich 
sefydliad/gweithle ar gau ar gyfer cyfnodau penodol o wyliau, neu am unrhyw reswm 
arall, fel y bydd eich Rheolwr Llinell/Pennaeth yn eich hysbysu. 

 

Gwyliau Banc/Cyhoeddus

Mae 8 diwrnod wedi eu dynodi fel gwyliau banc cyhoeddus gan yr Awdurdod. Cyfrifir 
hyn ar sail oriau pro rataf y flwyddyn ar gyfer gweithwyr rhan amser. Os ydych ar yr 
amserlen i weithio ar wyliau banc, neu os oes gofyn eich bod yn gwneud hynny, telir 
amser dwbl i chi (h.y. amser ac amser eto) am yr holl oriau a weithiwyd mewn 
gwirionedd, i wneud iawn yn llawn am yr holl oriau a weithiwyd.

ABSENOLDEB SALWCH

Mae eich hawliau yn ystod unrhyw gyfnod pan fyddwch yn absennol oherwydd 
afiechyd neu anaf yn cael eu nodi yn amodau’r Cyd-Gyngor Cenedlaethol Rhan 2 
Adran 10.  

Yn ystod y flwyddyn 1af o wasanaeth, 1 mis ar gyflog llawn (ac ar ôl cwblhau 4 mis 
o wasanaeth) 2 fis ar hanner cyflog

Yn ystod yr 2il flwyddyn o wasanaeth, 2 fis ar gyflog llawn, a 2 fis ar hanner cyflog

Yn ystod y 3edd flwyddyn o wasanaeth, 4 mis ar gyflog llawn, a 4 mis ar hanner 
cyflog

Yn ystod y 4edd a'r 5ed flwyddyn o wasanaeth, 5 mis ar gyflog llawn, a 5 mis ar 
hanner cyflog

Ar ôl 5 mlynedd o wasanaeth, 6 mis ar gyflog llawn a 6 mis ar hanner cyflog

Os nad ydych yn gallu dod i’r gwaith oherwydd afiechyd neu anaf, rhaid i chi 
hysbysu’ch rheolwr llinell/Pennaeth cyn gynted ag y bo modd ar y diwrnod cyntaf y 
byddwch yn absennol gan roi’r rheswm dros eich absenoldeb, ac am faint o amser y 
bydd yn debygol o barhau.

Mae'n ofynnol ichi hunan-ardystio eich absenoldeb salwch am 7 niwrnod calendr  
cyntaf yr absenoldeb (gan gynnwys dydd Sadwrn a dydd Sul) drwy lenwi ffurflen 
SA128 (Datganiad Hunan-ardystio ynghylch Absenoldeb). Dylid gwneud hynny ar 
unwaith wrth ichi ddychwelyd i'r gwaith, neu cyn gynted â phosibl, os yw'r 
absenoldeb yn un tymor hir.  

Os ydych yn absennol oherwydd afiechyd am fwy na 7 diwrnod, rhaid cyflwyno 
Tystysgrif Ffitrwydd i Weithio gan Feddyg Teulu i’ch rheolwr llinell erbyn 8fed diwrnod 
yr absenoldeb.

Tudalen 260



224

I gael rhagor o fanylion, gweler y Wybodaeth i Weithwyr ynghylch Absenoldeb 
Salwch a'r Weithdrefn Rheoli Absenoldeb Salwch (sydd ar gael ar gais).

Gweithwyr Ysgol

Dylai gweithwyr ysgol gyfeirio at Bolisi a Gweithdrefn Rheoli Absenoldeb Salwch yr 
ysgol, sydd ar gael yn swyddfa'r ysgol, ynghyd ag unrhyw drefniadau sydd gan yr 
ysgol o ran rhoi gwybod.

RHYBUDD

(i)Bydd yr Awdurdod yn rhoi un wythnos o rybudd i derfynu contract cyflogaeth yn 
ystod cyfnod prawf. Yn dilyn y cyfnod prawf, bydd gennych hawl i dderbyn isafswm o 
1 wythnos o rybudd gan y Cyngor neu fel y nodir isod, p'un bynnag yw'r hwyaf:-  

Cyfnod o Wasanaeth Di-fwlch Isafswm y Rhybudd

1 mis neu ragor ond llai na 2 flynedd 1 wythnos

2 flynedd neu ragor ond llai na 12 mlynedd 1 wythnos am bob 
blwyddyn o wasanaeth 
di-fwlch 

12 mlynedd neu fwy 12 wythnos

Gofynion Gweithwyr Ieuenctid a Chymunedol o ran rhoi rhybudd                                    

Cyfnod o Wasanaeth Di-Fwlch                                  Isafswm y Rhybudd      

Llai na 9 mlynedd o wasanaeth di-fwlch                        Dau fis

gyda'r un cyflogwr  

9 mlynedd neu fwy ond llai na 12 mlynedd 1 wythnos am bob blwyddyn o                       
gyda'r un cyflogwr                                                         wasanaeth di-fwlch

Tudalen 261



225

12 mlynedd neu fwy o wasanaeth di-fwlch12 wythnosgyda'r un cyflogwr                        

(ii) Mae’n rhaid ichi roi un wythnos o rybudd i derfynu contract cyflogaeth yn ystod 
eich cyfnod prawf. Yn dilyn y cyfnod prawf, isafswm y cyfnod o rybudd y mae’n rhaid i 
chi ei roi i derfynu’ch cyflogaeth fydd;

Gradd A-K – 1 mis

Gradd L – O – 3 mis

Prif Swyddogion – 3 mis

Gall y cyflogwr derfynu eich cyflogaeth heb rybudd na thâl yn lle rhybudd mewn 
achos o gamymddygiad difrifol.

TÂL YN LLE RHYBUDD

Gall yr Awdurdod roi tâl yn lle rhybudd am y cyfan neu am unrhyw ran o’ch cyfnod 
rhybudd pan derfynir eich cyflogaeth (yn hytrach na’ch bod chi’n gweithio eich cyfnod 
rhybudd). Mae’r ddarpariaeth hon, sydd yn ôl disgresiwn yr Awdurdod, yn berthnasol 
boed y rhybudd i derfynu’r contract wedi ei roi gennych chi neu gan yr Awdurdod.

CEIR/TEITHIO 

Sylwer, os ydych wedi eich awdurdodi i ddefnyddio'ch car at ddibenion gwaith, y 
dylech sicrhau eich bod yn ffit ac wedi'ch awdurdodi i yrru, a bod gennych yswiriant 
busnes priodol. Mae'r Awdurdod hefyd yn cadw'r hawl i sicrhau ar unrhyw adeg fod 
gennych y dogfennau priodol (MOT, yswiriant car a'r drwydded yrru briodol).

Ad-delir costau teithiau car awdurdodedig yng nghyswllt y gwaith ar gyfradd lwfans 
defnyddiwr car yr Awdurdod. 

Tudalen 262



226

Ar gyfer Gweithwyr Teithiol yn unig 

Os ydych wedi'ch cyflogi fel gweithiwr teithiol heb fan gwaith sefydlog, ad-delir 
milltiroedd busnes awdurdodedig i chi yn achos teithio dros 10 milltir o'ch cartref i 
leoliad y swydd gyntaf, ac o leoliad y swydd olaf adref (20 milltir y dydd). Fodd 
bynnag, os ydych yn gweithio shifft ranedig, telir unrhyw filltiroedd ychwanegol yn 
llawn. 

CYFRINACHEDD 

Ni chewch, yn ystod eich cyflogaeth nac ar ôl i'ch cyflogaeth gyda'r Cyngor gael ei 
therfynu, ddatgelu i neb ac eithrio wrth gyflawni priod ddyletswyddau eich swydd, 
unrhyw wybodaeth gyfrinachol am yr Ysgol, y Cyngor na'i fusnes. Mae cyfrinachedd 
y wybodaeth hon yn berthnasol yn ystod oriau gwaith ac oriau y tu allan i'r gwaith. 
Gallwch gael eich diswyddo ar unwaith am dorri'r cymal hwn. 

CYFYNGIADAU AR WAITH ARALL

Cyn cytuno i gyflawni gwaith arall (am dâl neu heb dâl) y tu allan i'r Cyngor, rhaid 
ceisio caniatâd gan y Pennaeth Gwasanaeth/Rheolwr Llinell priodol yn unol â'r Côd 
Ymddygiad - Gweithwyr (sydd ar gael ar gais). (Sylwer – nid yw hyn yn berthnasol i 
staff ysgol sydd yn cael eu cwmpasu gan gyfrifoldebau'r corff llywodraethu.)

Prif Swyddogion

Rydych i roi’ch gwasanaeth llawn amser i waith y Cyngor ac eithrio pan ganiateir fel 
arall. Tynnir eich sylw yn benodol at y Côd Ymddygiad - Gweithwyr (ar gael ar gais), 
ynghyd â pharagraff 56 o Amodau Gwasanaeth y Cyd-gyngor Cenedlaethol ar gyfer 
Prif Swyddogion Awdurdodau Lleol

GOFYNION CYFFREDINOL DEILIAD Y SWYDD

Chi fydd yn gyfrifol am sicrhau fod cyfrifoldebau’ch swydd (Proffil Swydd ar gael ar 
gais) yn cael eu cyflawni ac mae’n bosibl y bydd eich perfformiad yn cael ei asesu o 
bryd i’w gilydd. Byddwch yn gwneud y cyfryw waith a dyletswyddau ag sy'n arferol 
neu'n angenrheidiol mewn perthynas â'ch penodiad, neu'r cyfryw waith ag y gellir yn 
rhesymol ei fynnu gennych. Mae gofyn eich bod yn defnyddio prosesau a 

Tudalen 263



227

gweithdrefnau sefydledig y Cyngor/yr Ysgol i herio a rhoi gwybod am ymddygiad ac 
arfer peryglus, camdriniol, camwahaniaethol neu gamfanteisiol. Chi fydd yn gyfrifol 
am eich gweithredoedd eich hun, eich ymddygiad ac unrhyw ganlyniadau yn eu sgil. 
Disgwylir i bob gweithiwr gydnabod terfynau eu gallu, a bod yn gyfrifol am gyfyngu eu 
gweithredoedd i'r rhai y maent yn teimlo'n alluog i'w cyflawni. Byddwch yn rhoi sylw 
dyledus i fod yn ddiwastraff a defnyddio adnoddau, ond gan gynnal safonau bob 
amser.

Disgwylir i chi gynnal bob amser werthoedd craidd y Cyngor/yr Ysgol a sicrhau nad 
yw eich ymddygiad yn dwyn gwarth ar y Cyngor/yr Ysgol yn fwriadol.

Mae’r Cyngor yn cadw’r hawl i geisio gwiriad Gwasanaeth Datgelu a Gwahardd ar 
gyfer pob gweithiwr mewn swyddi sydd â chyfrifoldebau diogelu.

Mae'n ofynnol ichi roi gwybod i'ch Rheolwr/Pennaeth/Cyfarwyddwr a/neu eich adain 
Adnoddau Dynol cyn gynted ag y bo modd os ydych yn destun ymchwiliad i 
dramgwydd droseddol neu os cawsoch eich euogfarnu am gyflawni tramgwydd 
droseddol (gan gynnwys rhybuddion a gorchmynion rhwymo).   Sylwer y bydd pob 
datganiad yn cael ei drin yn gwbl gyfrinachol ac na fydd o reidrwydd yn effeithio ar eich 
gallu i wneud eich swydd. Os na fyddwch yn hysbysu'r Cyngor am faterion o'r fath, gall 
arwain at gamau disgyblu.

Lle bo angen, byddwch yn cynnal aelodaeth o gyrff proffesiynol priodol

Ar gyfer gweithwyr Gofal Cymdeithasol

Os ydych wedi'ch cyflogi yn y sector Gofal Cymdeithasol, mae hefyd yn ofynnol i chi 
lynu at egwyddorion y Côd Ymarfer Proffesiynol, a welir yn y ddogfen a gyhoeddwyd 
gan Gyngor Gofal Cymru (sydd ar gael ar gais). Gallwch lawrlwytho copi o 
www.ccwales.org.uk. Bydd rhwymedigaeth arnoch hefyd i gofrestru gyda Chyngor 
Gofal Cymru a chynnal y cofrestriad hwnnw yn ôl y galw. 

POLISI A GWEITHDREFN DISGYBLU

Mae’r Polisi a Gweithdrefn Disgyblu'r Awdurdod ar gael ar gais . Os byddwch yn 
anfodlon ar unrhyw benderfyniad disgyblu, mae gennych hawl i apelio. Dylid cyfeirio'r 
apêl at y Prif Weithredwr Cynorthwyol (Rheoli Pobl), Adeilad 14, Parc Dewi Sant, Heol 
Ffynnon Job, Caerfyrddin SA31 3HB. 

Tudalen 264

http://www.ccwales.org.uk/


228

Staff Ysgol

Nodir y rheolau disgyblu sy'n berthnasol i chi ym Mholisi a Gweithdrefn Disgyblu'r 
Ysgol  (mae polisi’r ysgol ar gael o swyddfa'r ysgol). Os ydych yn anfodlon ar unrhyw 
benderfyniad disgyblu, mae gennych hawl i apelio yn unol â'r ddarpariaeth briodol yn 
y polisi.  Mae manylion llawn ar gael oddi wrth eich Pennaeth neu Glerc Corff 
Llywodraethu yr ysgol.  

Prif Swyddogion

Nodir y gweithdrefnau disgyblu sy'n berthnasol i chi yn Amodau Gwasanaeth y Cyd-
gyngor Cenedlaethol ar gyfer Prif Swyddogion Awdurdodau Lleol.

Y WEITHDREFN GWYNO

Os oes gennych gŵyn ynghylch eich cyflogaeth, dylech drafod y mater yn y lle cyntaf 
gyda’ch goruchwylydd uniongyrchol yn unol â’r polisi a’r weithdrefn gwyno (sydd ar 
gael ar gais). Mae’n esbonio’r camau a fydd yn agored i chi o fewn y weithdrefn 
honno os byddwch yn anfodlon ar y canlyniad.  Sylwer bod polisi ar wahân ar gyfer 
ymdrin ag achwyniadau ynghylch bwlio ac aflonyddu; Polisi Urddas yn y Gweithle (ar 
gael ar gais).

Staff Ysgol

Os oes gennych gŵyn ynghylch eich cyflogaeth, dylech drafod y mater yn y lle cyntaf 
gyda’ch rheolwr llinell/pennaeth yn unol â’r polisi a’r weithdrefn gwyno (mae polisi’r 
ysgol ar gael o swyddfa'r ysgol). Mae’n esbonio’r camau a fydd yn agored i chi o 
fewn y weithdrefn honno.  

DISWYDDO

Os cewch eich diswyddo o'ch cyflogaeth gyda'r Awdurdod, rhoddir y rheswm dros 
wneud hynny ichi a chynigir cyfle ichi apelio yn unol â thelerau’r polisi priodol (ac 
eithrio yn ystod eich cyfnod prawf pan fydd y Polisi Rheoli Gweithwyr sydd ar Gyfnod 
Prawf yn weithredol), fel a ganlyn:

Iechyd                        Polisi Rheoli Absenoldeb Salwch

Tudalen 265



229

Dileu swyddi         Polisi Dileu Swyddi

Perfformiad                               Polisi Gallu

Ymddygiad                               Polisi Disgyblu 

CYFYNGIADAU GWLEIDYDDOL 

Os cawsoch eich hysbysu ar ffurflen TOE fod cyfyngiadau gwleidyddol ar eich 
swydd, cyfeiriwch at y telerau a amlinellwyd yn y ddogfen cyfyngiadau gwleidyddol, 
os gwelwch yn dda (mae copi o'r ddogfen hon ar gael ar gais).

DYSGU A DATBLYGU

Mae’n amod o’ch cyflogaeth eich bod yn ymgymryd â’r holl ddysgu a datblygu 
priodol.  Bydd hyn yn cynnwys unrhyw ddatblygiad a nodwyd i ychwanegu at eich 
sgiliau, er mwyn eich galluogi i gyflawni eich dyletswyddau’n llawn (gan gynnwys 
dyletswyddau ychwanegol y byddai’n rhesymol gofyn ichi eu cyflawni). Gellir nodi 
datblygiad o’r fath mewn Cytundeb Dysgu pan fyddwch yn dechrau yn eich swydd.   
Bydd y cytundeb hwn yn cynnwys unrhyw amserlen a bennwyd. 

IECHYD A DIOGELWCH

Mae'n ofynnol ichi gydymffurfio â Rheolau Iechyd a Diogelwch priodol yr Awdurdod. 
Os ydych yn dal swydd sy'n destun goruchwyliaeth iechyd, disgwylir i chi gael 
archwiliadau meddygol yn ôl y galw. 

Mae'r Datganiad Ysgrifenedig hwn o Fanylion yn disodli unrhyw Ddatganiad 
Ysgrifenedig blaenorol o Fanylion.  

Gofynnir i chi nodi eich bod yn derbyn y penodiad hwn ar sail y telerau a’r amodau 
uchod trwy lofnodi’r ddau gopi o'r Telerau Cyflogaeth (Ffurflen ToE1) a dychwelyd un 
copi ataf fi. 

Yn gywir

Tudalen 266



230

Mr Paul Thomas

Prif Weithredwr Cynorthwyol (Rheoli Pobl)

Mae croeso i chi gysylltu gyda’r Cyngor trwy gyfrwng y Gymraeg neu’r Saesneg. 

You are welcome to contact the Council through the medium of Welsh or English.

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

DOGFENNAU A PHOLISÏAU – Mae'r polisïau ar gael ar fewnrwyd yr Awdurdod. Neu 
yn achos staff ysgol - Mae'r holl bolisïau ar gael o swyddfa’r ysgol.

Tudalen 267



231

Sample Written 
Statement 
of Particulars

Tudalen 268



232

Dear Colleague

Employees who come within the responsibility of a school governing body are 
referred to in this document as “school employees”.  This term does not include 
catering and cleaning staff working in schools who are directly employed by the 
Council.

PLACE OF WORK

Your designated workplace for this post is confirmed in form TOE. 

The Authority reserves the right to change your place of work anywhere within the 
Council’s area in accordance with the needs of the service without any additional 
paid travelling time on giving appropriate prior notice of such requirement.

If you are employed as a peripatetic worker you have no fixed place of work.  The 
Council’s address is County Hall, Carmarthen SA31 1JP. 

Carmarthenshire County Council’s Domiciliary Care Service is a county wide service 
and you are employed to work with all our people covering all areas of the county as 
required. 

School employees

The governors reserve the right to require you to work on any part of the current or 
future school site, including additional school sites under Collaboration or Federation 
arrangements in accordance with the needs of the service.  This will be without any 
additional paid travelling time on giving appropriate prior notice of such requirement.

EMPLOYMENT STATUS 

Your employment status is confirmed in form TOE.

If you are employed on a temporary or fixed term basis this will be confirmed in form 
ToE1. The appointment will terminate on the date specified in form ToE1 for the 

Tudalen 269



233

reason specified in form ToE1 or when the post holder returns to duty, which ever 
occurs first.

The appointment may, however, be terminated by either side before the specified 
date or before the occurrence of the event specified above provided appropriate 
notice is given. 

You have a right of appeal against the termination of a temporary or fixed term 
contract.  The appeal should be made in writing where possible, stating your grounds 
of appeal and to be received at least 7 days before the date of termination. The 
appeal should be addressed to the Assistant Chief Executive (People Management), 
Building 14 St David’s Park, Job’s Well Road, Carmarthen SA31 3HB.  

Appeals for school employees should be addressed to the Chair of the governing 
body.

CONTINUOUS EMPLOYMENT

Your continuous Local Government service start date for the purpose of certain 
statutory employment rights (i.e. sickness allowances, annual leave entitlement) is as 
specified in form ToE1
This will include any previous continuous service with any organisation covered by 
the Redundancy Payments (Continuity of Employment in Local Government etc) 
(Modification) Order 1999, or any subsequent amending legislation, which covers 
local authorities and related bodies. 

 

PROBATION PERIOD (Excludes school employees)

If you are joining the Council’s service, the appointment is subject to a probationary 
period of a minimum of 6 months. For newly qualified social workers and some child 
care workers this will be a minimum of 12 months.  During this probationary period 
your performance will be carefully monitored and your suitability for the post 
assessed.  Your continued employment will be subject to satisfactory reports.  If at 
any time during the probationary period adverse reports are received the Council 
may terminate your contract by giving the period of notice to which you are entitled. 
Please refer to the Management of Probationary Employees Policy, (available on 
request) for further information.

Tudalen 270



234

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT 

Your terms and conditions of employment will be in accordance with collective 
agreements negotiated and amended from time to time by the negotiating/governing 
body as specified in form ToE1 and should be read in conjunction with the 
appropriate paragraph below.

National Joint Council for Local Government Services (NJCCCC)

Your terms and conditions of employment will be in accordance with collective 
agreements negotiated and amended from time to time by the National Joint Council 
for Local Government Services set out in the National Agreement on Pay and 
Conditions of Service, the negotiating machinery of Joint Council for Wales and the 
Council’s Standing Orders, rules, decisions and local collective agreements reached 
with Trade Unions recognised by the Council.  Copies of these documents are 
available for inspection from your Chief Officer or the Chief Executive’s People 
Management division, bldg. 14, St David’s Park, Job’s Well Road, Carmarthen, SA31 
3HB or on the Council’s intranet site.
Joint Negotiating Committee for Youth & Community Workers (Y&CWSC)

Your terms and conditions of employment will be in accordance with collective 
agreements negotiated and amended from time to time by the Joint Negotiating 
Committee for Youth & Community Workers set out in the National Agreement on 
Pay and Conditions of Service, the negotiating machinery of Joint Council for Wales 
and the Council’s Standing Orders, rules, decisions and local collective agreements 
reached with Trade Unions recognised by the Council.  Copies of these documents 
are available for inspection from your Chief Officer or the Chief Executive’s People 
Management Section, Building 14, St. David’s Park, Job’s Well Road, Carmarthen, 
SA31 3HN, or on the Council’s intranet site

Soulbury Committee (SOULB-SC)

Your terms and conditions of employment will be in accordance with collective 
agreements negotiated and amended from time to time by the Soulbury Committee 
set out in the report of the Soulbury Committee on the Salary Scales and Service 
Conditions of Educational Improvement Professionals, Educational Psychologists 
and Young People’s/Community Service Managers.

Tudalen 271



235

Additional terms and conditions of employment will be in accordance with collective 
agreements negotiated and amended from time to time by the National Joint Council 
for Local Government Services set out in the National Agreement on Pay and 
Conditions of Service, the negotiating machinery of Joint Council for Wales and the 
Council’s Standing Orders, rules, decisions and local collective agreements reached 
with Trade Unions recognised by the Council.  Copies of these documents are 
available for inspection from your Chief Officer or the Chief Executive’s People 
Management and Performance Division, Building 14, St David’s Park, Job’s Well 
Road, Carmarthen SA31 3HB if you cannot otherwise see a copy. 

J.N.C. for Chief Officers of Local Authorities (CO-SC)

Your conditions of service will be in accordance with the J.N.C. for Chief Officers of 
Local Authorities, as supplemented by local decisions.

IMMIGRATION, ASYLUM AND NATIONALITY ACT 2006 

Your employment is subject to the restrictions placed on your time to remain in the UK 
and the statutory requirements to comply with the Immigration, Asylum and Nationality 
Act 2006 and the UK Borders Agency Codes of Practice. Your continued employment 
will therefore be reviewed and dependant on you obtaining future and valid 
permissions to remain in the UK and to undertake the type of work currently offered.

PAY 

Your pay frequency and pay group are specified in form TOE and should be read in 
conjunction with the appropriate paragraphs below.

Four weekly paid employees (Pay Groups 9, 16) 

Your pay will be paid four weekly in arrears by bank credit to a bank account of your 
choice.  

Monthly paid employees (Pay Group 11)

Your salary will be paid in arrears on the 27th of each month for January to November 
inclusive (or the nearest working day if 27th falls on a weekend or bank holiday) for 
the month of December the pay date is the 24th or the last banking day prior to 25th 
December.  Payment is by bank credit to a bank account of your choice.

Tudalen 272



236

Monthly paid employees (Pay Group 15)

Your salary will be paid in arrears on the last working day of each month. However if 
the last working day falls on a Monday or Tuesday, you will be paid on the previous 
Friday. Payment is by bank credit to a bank account of your choice.

Your starting salary per annum and salary scale/grade is as specified within form 
TOE.

Where appropriate your salary will rise within the grade by annual increments up to 
the maximum point of the grade. Increments will be paid on 1st April every year 
unless you commenced duties between 2nd October and 31st March in any year, in 
which you will receive your first salary increment 6 months from the date on which 
you commenced duties.

Tutors

Your rate of pay per hour for courses is as specified in form TOE.

Chief Officers

Progression through the incremental scale of the relevant grade is subject to 
satisfactory performance assessed on an annual basis. The Council does not pay 
bonus or performance related pay.

Overpayments

Should you for any reason be overpaid, the full amount will be deducted from 
subsequent salary payment(s) or any other payment due to you from the Council; or 
via debtors invoice. The payroll department is authorised to deduct 10% of your 
gross monthly salary to recover the overpayment and will continue until the full 
amount has been retrieved. Should you wish to make repayments in larger 
denominations please contact the payroll section who will make the appropriate 
adjustment for you.

UNAUTHORISED ABSENCE

The Authority reserves the right to withhold payment or deduct from salary a day's 
pay for each day of unauthorised absence. Any decision concerning this matter will 
be made by the Head of Service/Governing Body or his/her nominated 
representative. Unauthorised absence may result in disciplinary action being taken.

Tudalen 273



237

HOURS OF WORK  

Normal office hours are Monday to Thursday 8.45 to 17.00 and Friday 8.45 to 16.30. 
Your work pattern and normal working hours per week exclusive of meal breaks will 
be provided to you by your line manager/Head Teacher. The Authority operates a 
range of different shift patterns which are developed and from time to time amended 
to meet the needs of the service. 
Your hours of duty are to be worked in accordance with the needs of the service and 
at the direction of the Head Teacher/Director of the Department or his/her nominated 
representative.

Chief Officers

It should be noted that the salary range takes account of the fact that the duties of 
this post cannot be satisfactorily undertaken within a fixed working week and that 
some elements of unsocial hours will be required for the proper performance of 
duties.

Drivers 

Drivers must take unpaid breaks in accordance to EU & AETR rules on driver’ hours. 

Term Time Employees

If the nature of your role requires you to be employed on term time only working, you 
will be required to work term time weeks including INSET days.  The number of 
weeks and term time hours you are contracted to work per week exclusive of meal 
breaks are as specified in form TOE.

Please note - if you work term time weeks only, the contracted hours shown on your 
ToE1 will be your actual weekly working hours (inclusive of paid holidays), averaged 
over the year, to enable you to receive equal salary payments throughout the year. A 
4% allowance on basic pay will be paid to recognise the term time nature of the work.  
This allowance is only payable to staff who work term time in schools or where the 
nature of the work is restricted to term time only.  The 4% will be included in pay 
calculations for the purposes of sickness and annual leave.  

Tutors

The contracted hours of work are variable. The setting of hours each academic term 
or year reflects varying factors, local circumstances, student enrolment, courses 

Tudalen 274



238

offered and budgetary considerations. A normal working week will be based on the 
needs of each course and may fluctuate depending on the needs of the course and 
the time of year.

Should student attendance fall below an acceptable level resulting in the cancellation 
of the class then you will not be paid beyond the date of the last class presented. The 
provision of courses and any changes will be at the discretion of the Authority.

Domiciliary Services

The contract hours of work (exclusive of meal breaks) as specified in form ToE1 are 
allocated on a rota in accordance with the needs of the service. You are obliged to 
accept hours of work offered on your rota’d working days, to meet your contractual 
obligation.

Catering staff

In order to accommodate the fluctuation in number of meals provided/income 
generated, the contracted hours may be varied. Reductions or increases in hours will 
be notified by the Catering Manager with one week’s notice and implemented 
accordingly. 

Passenger Assistant staff 
In order to accommodate the fluctuation in the number of children being transported, 
the contracted hours may be varied. Reductions or increases in hours will be notified 
by the Network manager with one week’s notice and implemented accordingly.
If you leave your job part way through the year, a calculation will be undertaken to 
ensure that you have not been under or overpaid.  Any adjustment necessary will be 
made in your last salary.

Annualised Hours Contract (only applicable to employees working to agreed peak 
business working pattern).

Your average contracted hours worked per week exclusive of meal breaks are as 
specified in form TOE. The working hours confirmed by the Departmental agreed 
working arrangements will be designed to accommodate the needs of the business 
during summer and winter periods. You will be required to work increased hours 
during the summer period and decreased hours during the winter period. The 
implementation of flexible working hours is at the discretion of your Chief Officer.  
Overtime will be paid in accordance with NJC conditions for all hours worked over the 
agreed set maximum in the Summer Period and the agreed set maximum hours in 
the Winter Period.

Tudalen 275



239

If you leave your job part way through the year, a calculation will be undertaken to 
ensure that you have not been under or overpaid.  Any adjustment necessary will be 
made in your last salary.

Sleeping In

Employees required to ‘sleep in’ on the premises are entitled to the allowance as set 
out in the National Joint Council Circular on Allowances. Sleeping in allowance 
covers the requirement to sleep in and up to 30 minutes call out per night. If an 
individual is required to work in excess of 30 minutes they will be paid at their normal 
rate of pay (overtime if applicable) including any night time enhancement (if 
applicable). To qualify for the night time enhancement of time and a third, the three 
working hours worked during one shift do not have to be consecutive hours.

Night Work

Staff who work a minimum of 3 hours waking nights between the hours of 11pm and 
6am as part of the normal working week are entitled to an enhanced payment of time 
and a third on their basic hourly rate.

Weekend Working 

In recognition of weekend working, an 8% enhancement on basic pay for all hours 
worked will be paid to post holders who are required to work a minimum of two 
weekend days/shifts in every four weeks as part of their normal working pattern (on a 
regular basis/rota). The 8% will be included in pay calculations for the purposes of 
sickness and annual leave.  

Standby and Call Out

Where the nature of the work requires additional duties to be carried out outside of 
normal working hours a standby rota may be operated by the Line Manager as and 
when required by the service. An employee on standby must be contactable at all 
times during the stated period of standby, and must be prepared, and be in a 
condition, to return to work if the situation warrants it. Any changes to contractual 
standby will be notified within one month of the change. Employees required to work 
standby duties will be paid the Authority’s agreed standby rate for the session. If 

Tudalen 276



240

called out, normal hourly rates for the hours worked will apply plus 
overtime/enhanced rates if appropriate.

Overtime/Work Outside of normal hours

The full time standard working hours are 37 per week. You will not be expected to 
work overtime on a regular basis. However, if you are required and authorised to 
work in excess of the standard working hours per week and any such work falls 
outside the flexible working hours you may if duly authorised be paid at the 
appropriate overtime rate.

 

If you are contracted to work on annualised hours or on a rolling rota, overtime rates 
are only payable for hours worked over the average of 37 hours in the contracted 
period.

Please note that the Authority/Governing Body will implement the Working Time 
Regulations in allocating additional hours and all staff are required to inform their 
Line Manager/Head Teacher of additional work undertaken including other posts that 
they may have in other sections of the Authority or work commitments undertaken for 
other organisations. 

Please see Code of Conduct in relation to notifying the Authority of other employment 
(excludes school staff). 

For all hours worked beyond 37 hours per week in a particular post which have 
previously been approved by your Line Manager / Head Teacher will be paid at the 
basic hourly rate plus 50%.

PENSION

In accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations all new 
employees will automatically become a member of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS).  Should you wish to opt out of LGPS membership an Opt Out Form 
is available from Dyfed Pension Fund website: www.dyfedpensionfund.org.uk. 
Alternatively contact Dyfed Pension Fund, County Hall, Carmarthen SA31 1JP.

You should have received an employee guide on the LGPS summarising the benefits 
of the pension scheme. Further details are available on the Dyfed Pension fund 
website – www.dyfedpensionfund.org.uk.

Tudalen 277

http://www.dyfedpensionfund.org.uk/
http://www.dyfedpensionfund.org.uk/


241

Your contribution rate will be assessed in accordance with your actual pensionable 
pay, as specified in form TOE.

The pension banding tables are reviewed periodically and as a result there may be 
an automatic increase or decrease in your pension banding.  Your pension banding 
may also increase as a result of a pay increase including any incremental pay rises.  
Pension contributions will be payable on all of your taxable pay.  

HOLIDAYS

School employees AND Youth workers and Community workers

The leave year will be operative from 1 April to 31 March. Those employees 
commencing or terminating employment during the year are entitled to leave 
proportional to the number of completed months’ service during that year. 

Community Learning Tutors

The leave year will be operative from 1 September to 31 August. Those employees 
commencing or terminating employment during the year are entitled to leave 
proportional to the number of completed months’ service during that year. 

Catering and Cleaning staff

The leave year will be operative from 1 January to 31 December. Those employees 
commencing or terminating employment during the year are entitled to leave 
proportional to the number of completed months’ service during that year. Please 
note for school based establishments no leave is to be taken during term time.

For all other employees

The leave year will be operative from your birthday. Those employees commencing 
or terminating employment during the year are entitled to leave proportional to your 
service during that year.

Your annual leave is calculated on a pro rata hourly basis during the year for part 
time employees. 
Your annual leave entitlement for this leave year will be on a pro rata basis; please 
see your line manager/Head Teacher to confirm your entitlement. You may be 

Tudalen 278



242

required to take your annual leave entitlement when your establishment/workplace is 
closed for specific holiday periods or for any other reason as advised by your Line 
Manager.

Leave entitlement is calculated on the basis of length of continuous service as 
indicated below:

0 - 5 completed years service 26 days                

5 - 10 completed years service 31 days                

                    10 Plus  completed years service 34 days     

Youth worker and Community workers

Leave entitlement is calculated on the basis of length of continuous service as 
indicated below:

 0 - 5 completed years service 32 days                

5 Plus completed years service 37 days                

No payment in lieu of accrued contractual holiday will be made to the employee (and 
where appropriate a deduction will be made from salary) in the event of his/her 
termination for gross misconduct or in the event of the employee giving inadequate 
notice of termination or leaving before the contractual notice period has expired. 
Contractual holiday for these purposes mean all and any leave entitlement provided 
for in the employee's contract that is over and above the minimum statutory leave 
period provided for in the Working Time Regulations 1998 (i.e. 5.6 weeks or a 
maximum of 28 days) unless your Service Director/Head Teacher believes there are 
exceptional circumstances which have prevented leave from being taken.

Employees leaving local government service having taken leave beyond their 
entitlement at that point, will have the corresponding number of days pay deducted 
from their final salary payment or any other payment due from the Authority.  

Annual leave should be requested from your line manager/Head Teacher and is 
subject to the agreement of the Department/Head Teacher.

For employees in establishments with fixed holiday periods.   

Tudalen 279



243

You will be required to take all of your annual leave entitlement when your 
establishment/workplace is closed for specific holiday periods or for any other reason 
as advised by your Line Manager/Head Teacher. 

 

Bank/Public Holidays

There are 8 days designated as public bank holidays by the Authority. This is 
calculated on a pro rata hourly basis during the year for part time employees. If you 
are scheduled or required to work a bank holiday, you will be paid at double time (i.e. 
time plus time) for all hours physically worked, in complete recompense for all hours 
worked.

SICKNESS ABSENCE

Your entitlements during any absence due to sickness or injury are as indicated in 
the National Joint Council conditions Part 2 Section 10.  

During 1st year of service 1 month full pay (and after completing 4 months service) 
2 months half pay

During 2nd year of service 2 months full pay and 2 months half pay

During 3rd year of service 4 months full pay and 4 months half pay

During 4th and 5th year of service 5 months full pay and 5 months half pay

After 5 years service 6 months full pay and 6 months half pay

If you are unable to attend work as a result of illness or injury you must notify your 
line manager/Head Teacher as soon as practicable on the first day of absence of the 
reason for, and likely duration of, the absence.

You are required to self certify your sickness absence for the first 7 calendar days of 
absence (including Saturday and Sunday) by completing form SA128 (Self 
Certification Statement of Absence). This should be done immediately upon your 
return to work or as soon as possible if the absence is long term.  

If your sickness absence is longer than 7 days you must submit to your line manager 
a General Practitioner’s Fitness for Work Certificate by the 8th day of absence.

Tudalen 280



244

For further details please see Sickness Absence Employee Information and Sickness 
Absence Management Procedure (available on request).

School employees

School employees should refer to the schools Sickness Absence Management Policy 
and Procedure which is available in the school office along with any school reporting 
arrangements.

NOTICE

(i) The Authority will give you one week's notice to terminate the contract of 
employment during your probationary period. Following the probationary period, 
the minimum period of notice to which you will be entitled from the Council is 1 
week or as shown below, whichever is the longer :- 

Period of Continuous Service Minimum Notice

1 month or more but less than 2 years 1 week

2 years or more but less than 12 years 1 week for each year of 
continuous service 

12 years or more 12 weeks

Youth and Community Workers notice requirements                                    

Period of Continuous Service                                           Minimum Notice      

Less than 9 years continuous service                                  Two months

with the same employer  

9 years or more but less than 12 years                               1 week for each year of                       

with the same employer                                                       continuous service

12 years or more continuous service

with the same employer                                                      12 weeks

Tudalen 281



245

You are required to give one week's notice to terminate the contract of employment 
during your probationary period. Following the probationary period, minimum period 
of notice you are required to give to terminate your employment will be; 

Grade A – K – 1 month

Grade L – O – 3 months

Chief Officers - 3 months

Your employment may be terminated by the employer without notice or payment in 
lieu of notice in the event of serious misconduct.

PAY IN LIEU OF NOTICE

The Authority may make a payment in lieu of notice for all or any part of your notice 
period on termination of your employment (rather than you working out your notice 
period). This provision, which is at the Authority's discretion, applies whether notice 
to terminate the contract is given by you or by the Authority.

CARS/TRAVEL 

Please note if you are authorised to use your car for work purposes you should 
ensure that you are fit and authorised to drive and that you are covered by the 
appropriate business insurance. The Authority also reserves the right to ensure at 
any time that you are covered by the appropriate documents (MOT, car insurance 
and the appropriate driving licence.)

Authorised work related car journeys are reimbursed at the Authority’s car user 
allowance rate. 

For Peripatetic workers only 

If you are employed as a peripatetic worker with no fixed place of work you will be 
reimbursed authorised business mileage incurred in excess of 10 miles from home to 
the first job location and from the last job location to home (20 miles per day). If 
however, you are working a split shift, any additional mileage will be paid in full. 

CONFIDENTIALITY 

Tudalen 282



246

You may not, during or after the termination of your employment with the Council, 
disclose to anyone other than in the proper course of your employment, any 
information of a confidential nature relating to the School, the Council or its business.  
This confidentiality of information applies during working and non-working hours. 
Breach of this clause may lead to your summary dismissal. 

RESTRICTIONS ON OTHER EMPLOYMENT

Prior to agreeing to undertake other work (paid or unpaid) outside of the Council, 
permission must be sought from the appropriate Head of Service/ Line Manager as 
per the Code of Conduct – Employees (available on request).  (Please note – this is 
not applicable to school staff within the responsibility of the governing body.)

Chief Officers

You are to devote your whole time service to the work of the Council except where 
otherwise authorised. Your attention is particularly drawn to the Code of Conduct – 
Employees (available on request), together with paragraph 56 of JNC for Chief 
Officers of Local Authorities Conditions of Service. 

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS OF THE POSTHOLDER

You will be held responsible for ensuring that the accountabilities of your post (Job 
Profile available on request) are fulfilled and your performance in doing so may be 
assessed from time to time. You will carry out such work and duties as are usual or 
necessary in connection with your appointment or such work as may reasonably be 
required. You are required to invoke the Council’s/School’s established processes 
and procedures to challenge and report dangerous, abusive, discriminatory or 
exploitive behaviour and practice. You will be responsible for your own actions, 
behaviour and any subsequent consequences. All employees are expected to 
recognise the limits of their competence and be responsible for limiting their actions 
to those which they feel competent to undertake. You will have due regard for 
economy and use of resources whilst maintaining standards at all times.

You are expected to uphold at all times the core values of the Council/School and 
ensure that your behaviour does not deliberately bring the Council/School into 
disrepute.

The Council reserves the right to seek a Disclosure and Barring Service check for all 
employees in posts that have safeguarding responsibilities.

Tudalen 283



247

You are required to inform your Manager/Head Teacher/Director and/or your Human 
Resources section at the earliest opportunity if you are under investigation for a 
criminal offence or are convicted of a criminal offence (including cautions and bind over 
orders).   Please note that all declarations will be treated in strictest confidence and 
will not necessarily affect your ability to carry out your post.  Failure to report such 
matters may result in disciplinary proceedings.

Where required you will maintain membership of appropriate professional bodies.

For employees within Social Care

If you are employed within the Social Care Sector, you are also required to abide by 
the principles of the Code of Professional Practice as per the document published by 
the Care Council for Wales.  You can download a copy at www.ccwales.org.uk . You 
will also be obliged to register and maintain registration with the Care Council for 
Wales when it is required.

DISCIPLINARY POLICY AND PROCEDURE

The Authority’s Disciplinary Policy and Procedure is available on request. If you are 
dissatisfied with any disciplinary decision you have the right of appeal. The appeal 
should be addressed to the Assistant Chief Executive (People Management), Building 
14 St David’s Park, Job’s Well Road, Carmarthen SA31 3HB.

School staff

The disciplinary rules applicable to you are set out in the School’s Disciplinary Policy 
and Procedure (the school’s policy is available from the school office).    If you are 
dissatisfied with any disciplinary decision you have the right to appeal in accordance 
with the appropriate provision of the policy.  Full details are available from your head 
teacher or Clerk to the Governing Body of the school. 

Chief Officers

The disciplinary procedures applicable to you are set out in the J.N.C. for Chief 
Officers of Local Authorities Conditions of Service.

Tudalen 284

http://www.ccwales.org.uk/


248

GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

If you have a grievance relating to your employment you should discuss the matter in 
the first instance with your immediate supervisor in accordance with the Grievance 
Policy and Procedure (available on request). This explains the stages of the 
procedure available to you should you be dissatisfied with the outcome.  Please note 
that there is a separate policy dealing with grievances of bullying and harassment; 
Dignity at Work Policy (available on request).

School staff

If you have a grievance relating to your employment you should discuss the matter in 
the first instance with your line manager/Head Teacher in accordance with the 
grievance policy and procedure (the school’s policy is available from the school 
office). This explains the stages of the procedure available to you.  

DISMISSAL

If you are dismissed from the employment of the Authority, you will be advised of the 
reason and offered a right of appeal in accordance with the terms of the appropriate 
policy (except during your probationary period when the Managing Probationary 
Employees Policy applies to staff except those employed by schools), as follows:

Health                    Sickness Absence Management Policy

Redundancy          Redundancy Policy

Performance          Capability Policy

Conduct                 Disciplinary Policy

POLITICAL RESTRICTION 

If you have been advised in form TOE that your post is a ‘politically restricted post’ 
please refer to the terms outlined in the political restriction document (available on 
request).

LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT

Tudalen 285



249

It is a condition of your employment that you undertake all appropriate learning and 
development.  This will include any development identified to build your skills in order 
to enable you to perform your duties fully (including additional duties you may be 
reasonably required to perform). Such development may be specified within a 
Learning Agreement on your commencement.   This agreement will include any 
specified timeframe. 

HEALTH AND SAFETY

You are required to abide by the appropriate Health and Safety Rules of the Authority. 
If you occupy a post that is subject to health surveillance you are expected to attend 
for medical examination as and when required.

This Written Statement of Particulars supersedes any previous Written Statement of 
Particulars.  

Please signify your acceptance of the appointment on the above terms and 
conditions by signing both copies of the Terms of Employment (Form ToE1) and 
returning one copy to me. 

Yours sincerely

Mr Paul Thomas

Assistant Chief Executive (People Management and Performance)

Mae croeso i chi gysylltu gyda’r Cyngor trwy gyfrwng y Gymraeg neu’r Saesneg. 

You are welcome to contact the Council through the medium of Welsh or English.

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

DOCUMENTS & POLICIES – are available on the Authority’s intranet site.

Or for school staff – All policies are available from the school office.

Tudalen 286



21

 

Tudalen 287



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Y CYNGOR SIR
7FED MAWRTH 2018

GOSTYNGIADAU'R DRETH GYNGOR I'R SAWL SY'N GADAEL GOFAL
Pwrpas:    
Mae'r adroddiad hwn yn argymell polisi ar gyfer caniatáu gostyngiadau'r Dreth Gyngor yn ôl 
disgresiwn er mwyn i'r rhai sy'n gadael gofal gael eu heithrio rhag talu'r Dreth Gyngor, yn weithredol o 
2018/19.
ARGYMHELLION Y BWRDD GWEITHREDOL:
Argymhellir bod y Cyngor yn mabwysiadu polisi sy'n eithrio'r rhai sy'n gadael gofal, o 18 hyd at 25 
oed, rhag talu'r Dreth Gyngor, fel y nodir yn yr adroddiad manwl amgaeedig. 

Y Rhesymau: 
1. Yng nghyfarfod y Cyngor a gynhaliwyd ar 10 Ionawr 2018 cytunodd yr Aelodau yn unfrydol ar y 

Rhybudd o Gynnig canlynol a gyflwynwyd gan y Cynghorydd Glynog Davies.
 

“EITHRIO'R SAWL SY'N GADAEL GOFAL RHAG Y DRETH GYNGOR
Mae'r sawl sy'n gadael gofal y gofalwyd amdanynt gan yr Awdurdod Lleol ymysg y grwpiau mwyaf 
agored i niwed yn ein cymuned.  Fel rhan o'n rôl rhianta corfforaethol, credwn y dylai Cyngor Sir 
Caerfyrddin geisio cadw pobl ifanc yn ddiogel a gwella eu cyfleoedd bywyd. 

Mae gennym ddyletswydd i'r sawl sy'n gadael gofal. Rydym yn credu bod cyfrifoldeb arnom i 
sicrhau, pan fydd pobl ifanc yn symud o ofal i fywyd fel oedolyn, fod y broses mor esmwyth â 
phosibl ac i wneud popeth a allwn i liniaru'r newidiadau sydd yn aml yn arwain at broblemau dyled 
i'r sawl sy'n gadael gofal wrth iddynt ddechrau rheoli eu harian eu hunain. 

Rydym yn cynnig y rhybudd o gynnig canlynol: ‘Dylai pawb sy'n gadael gofal gael eu heithrio rhag 
y dreth gyngor hyd at 21 oed (gyda'r dewis o gynyddu'r oedran i 25 mewn amgylchiadau 
eithriadol).

2. Bydd y polisi a nodir yn yr adroddiad manwl a amgaeir yn cyflawni'r amcan uchod.
Angen ymgynghori â'r Pwyllgor Craffu perthnasol - Amherthnasol        
 Angen i’r Bwrdd Gweithredol wneud penderfyniad? -   OES

Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad? -  OES 

YR AELOD O'R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:-
Y Cyng. David Jenkins (Adnoddau)
Y Gyfarwyddiaeth:
Y Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol 
Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth:
Helen L Pugh
Awdur yr Adroddiad:
John Gravelle

Swyddi:

Pennaeth Refeniw a 
Chydymffurfio Ariannol

Rheolwr y Gwasanaethau 
Refeniw

Rhifau ffôn / Cyfeiriadau e-bost:
HLPugh@sirgar.gov.uk 
01267 246223
JGravelle@sirgar.gov.uk 
01267 228740

 

Tudalen 289

Eitem Rhif  11.1

mailto:HLPugh@sirgar.gov.uk
mailto:JGravelle@carmarhenshire.gov.uk


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

COUNTY COUNCIL

7TH MARCH 2018

COUNCIL TAX DISCOUNTS FOR CARE LEAVERS

1. Council has discretionary powers whereby it can reduce or waive the Council Tax payable 
in individual “one-off” cases or for a particular class of case. These powers are contained 
in Section 13A of the Local Government Act 1992 (introduced in 2004). 

2. Council has never determined a class of case where relief would be automatically granted, 
but individual, ad hoc requests are currently decided by the Executive Board Member for 
Resources. 

3. However it would be possible under Section 13A for the Council to adopt a policy whereby 
Care Leavers could be relieved of their Council Tax liability (after any other reliefs or 
discounts) but without any need for means testing. 

4. The lost income would be borne by the County Council but based on the likely numbers, 
the loss will not be significant as the total number of care leavers aged between from 18 
up to 25 years of age, is currently in the region of 82, but the significant majority are not 
liable to pay any charges, either due to Council Tax Reduction (Benefit) entitlement, or 
some other form of exemption.

5. The attached detailed report provides additional information, and recommends a policy for 
waiving any Council Tax liability faced by care leavers.

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? Yes

Tudalen 290



IMPLICATIONS
I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this 
report :
Signed:          C Moore           Director of Corporate Services                                          
Policy, Crime & 
Disorder and 
Equalities

Legal Finance ICT Risk 
Management 
Issues 

Staffing 
Implications

Physical 
Assets  

YES YES YES NONE NONE NONE NONE 
1. Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities
The policy is being introduced in response to a motion put forward to Council on 10th January 
2018 and which was unanimously supported by Members.

The recommendation is for the policy to be introduced initially for 2018/19 to allow its 
effectiveness to be monitored.

It is anticipated that the assistance it will provide will have a positive impact on the limited 
number of care leavers that are in scope and it is not therefore considered necessary to 
undertake a consultation exercise.
2. Legal  

Under the provisions of Section 13a of the Local Government Act 1992 Council has the 
discretionary power to reduce or waive in full, the Council Tax payable in individual “one-off” 
cases or for a particular class of case.
 
It would be possible under these provisions for the Council to adopt a policy whereby Care 
Leavers could be relieved of their Council Tax liability.

3.  Finance  

The cost of providing the discount (net of other discounts and exemptions which might apply, 
such as Single Person Discounts and Council Tax Reduction (Benefit)) is estimated to be in the 
region of £6,000 - £8,000 per annum.

The cost of the scheme would be borne entirely by the Council but given the relatively low 
number of cases the loss can be accommodated within the “collection rate” within the Council 
Tax Base calculation and would not impact on revenue, or on precepting bodies. 

Tudalen 291



CONSULTATIONS

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below
Signed:       C Moore           Director of Corporate Services                                          

1. Scrutiny Committee  - n/a
2. 2.Local Member(s)  -  n/a
3. 3.Community / Town Council  - n/a
4. 4.Relevant Partners  
5. 5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations

No consultation exercise has been undertaken in respect of this proposal. However it is 
proposed that a review is undertaken to assess the effectiveness of the on-going 
scheme during the course of 2018/19.

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW     
Title of Document File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection 

Various related documents Council File Plan: 
Finance/Local Taxation/Council Tax - Policy for 
Reductions for Care Leavers

Tudalen 292



1

Council Tax Discounts for Care Leavers – Detailed Report

1. Introduction

1.1.A Notice of Motion submitted by Councillor Glynog Davies at Council on 10th 
January 2018, proposing that “all care leavers should be exempt from 
council tax up to the age of 21 (with the discretion of extending the age 
up to 25 in exceptional circumstances)” was unanimously approved by 
Members. 

1.2.The Council seeks to support young people that have left its care in order that 
they may live independently as adults. Providing Council Tax discretionary 
discounts which waives any Council Tax liability faced by care leavers and 
therefore ensures the care leaver does not face potential Council Tax debt, will   
support this objective. This report offers Members options with regard to the 
adoption of a scheme to provide such relief.

1.3.Under the provisions of Section 13a of the Local Government Act 1992, the 
Authority has the discretionary power to reduce the amount which a council 
tax-payer is liable, to such extent as it thinks fit. The power may be exercised 
in relation to particular cases or by determining a class of case in which liability 
is to be reduced. This provision may therefore be used to apply a policy for 
waiving the Council Tax liability of Care Leavers (and in certain circumstances, 
reducing the Council Tax payable by the householder where the Care Leaver 
is residing with a third party).

2. Care Leavers Liable to Pay Council Tax 

2.1.According to data provided by the Council’s Department for Education and 
Children, there are currently some 82 care leavers aged 18 to 24 inclusive, 
living in Carmarthenshire and for whom the Council had corporate parenting 
responsibilities. 

[It should be noted that at present there are only 7 care leavers aged over 21 
still engaged with the Corporate Parenting service, all of whom are 22 years of 
age. Above the age of 21 on-going engagement is “optional”]

2.2.Of the 82 care leavers only 12 are currently liable to pay an element of Council 
Tax. The remainder are either in receipt of full Council Tax Reduction 
(Benefit), are otherwise exempt, or are living in accommodation where they 
are not personally responsible for the Council Tax bill. E.g. 

 Foster Care / When I’m Ready (CC provision)
 Family or living with others who are already paying council tax
 Mental Health provision
 In Custody

Tudalen 293



2

2.3.This is only a snapshot and the figures may change from day to day, 
however it does give an indication as to the likely volumes involved and 
confirms that the potential cost, i.e. lost income, will be minimal.

2.4. In addition there may be a very small number of Care Leavers that have 
moved into the county but a different authority had corporate parenting 
responsibility at the point at which they left care. Carmarthenshire’s 
corporate parenting service will not have any record of these cases making 
identification difficult.

3. Proposed Council Tax Discount Scheme for Care Leavers

3.1. It is proposed that the following discount scheme will initially operate for the 
period 1st April 2018 to 31st March 2019 but will be monitored and reviewed 
during that period to assess its suitability and effectiveness.

3.2.The Council Tax Discount Scheme for Care Leavers will be administered 
by the Council Tax Section of the Revenues and Financial Compliance 
Division which will work with colleagues in Children’s Services to develop 
processes for the appropriate exchange of data and the “registering” of care 
leavers for this discount, to make the awarding of the discount as seamless as 
possible.

3.3.The discount will be granted to care leavers aged from 18 up to 25 (i.e. up to 
their 25th birthday) for whom the Council had corporate parenting responsibility 
at the point at which they left care and that are still engaged with the corporate 
parenting team.

3.4.The amount of discount will be the care leaver’s Council Tax liability, net of 
any discounts or other reductions and will also include any joint and several 
liability [i.e. where the care leaver is living with another person or persons, and 
they are both/all responsible for the bill] This means that a non-Care Leaver 
may also benefit but it ensures that the care leaver has no liability or potential 
for debt.

3.5.The relief will be granted automatically i.e. it will not be means tested and will 
apply for any period during which the care leaver resides in Carmarthenshire 
up to the date they reach the age of 25.

3.6.Where a care leaver is not personally liable to pay Council Tax but the 
householder would attract the 25% Sole Occupier Discount were the care 
leaver not residing at the property, the care leaver will be disregarded when 
counting the number of residents and a 25% discretionary discount applied. 

3.7.Where a Care Leaver has moved into the county and is personally liable to 
pay Council Tax, but a different authority had corporate parenting 
responsibility at the point at which they left care, the decision on whether to 
grant a discount and if so, the level of reduction, will be made by the Executive 
Board Member for Resources, based upon the individual circumstances and 
by means of application.

Tudalen 294



3

4. Potential Cost

4.1.Although it is difficult to make a precise calculation of the cost of the proposed 
scheme as specified in paragraphs 3.1 to 3.5 above, on the basis of the 
numbers outlined in paragraph (2) above, it is estimated that the cost would 
not exceed £6k p.a.

4.2.A broad assessment of the potential number of cases that would arise under 
paragraph 3.6 would suggest there would be very few instances, with the cost 
of the relief unlikely to exceed say, £2k.

4.3.As the Council does not have any data in relation to Care Leavers that have 
moved into the county but a different Authority had corporate parenting 
responsibility, it is not possible to estimate the potential cost of including that 
option 3.7, but it is likely to be insignificant

4.4.The Council will bear the full cost of the scheme which can be met from the 
allowance for losses which is built into the annual Tax Base calculation. 

5. Recommendation

5.1. It is recommended that the Council Tax Discount Scheme for Care Leavers 
detailed in Section 3 above, be adopted for the financial year 2018/19.

Tudalen 295



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol


	Agenda
	4 LLOFNODI YN GOFNOD CYWIR COFNODION CYFARFOD Y CYNGOR A GYNHALIWYD AR YR 14EG CHWEFROR, 2018
	9 PENNU TRETH Y CYNGOR AM FLWYDDYN ARIANNOL 2018/19
	Adroddiad

	10 DATGANIAD POLISI TALIADAU 2018-2019
	Adroddiad

	11.1 GOSTYNGIADAU'R DRETH GYNGOR I'R SAWL SY'N GADAEL GOFAL
	Adroddiad


